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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ("MD&A") - MAY 19, 2̂ 010 
Overview 

The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy 
or the "Fund") for the year ended March 31, 2010, and has been prepared with all information available up to and 
This analysis should be read in conjunctran with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended M^rch 
financial information contained herein has been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accoun jng 
All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Quarterly reports, the annual report and suppiementaiy inforr lat 
" reports and filings" on our corporate website at www.justenergy.com. Additional infomiation can b& found on SEPAR 

Ir come Fund C'Jtist tnetgy" 
including ft4y:i9,2010. 

31,201Q;The' 
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ion can b&'f&rd^under 
atwvtfw,sedac<»m. 

Just Energy is an open-ended, limited-purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hcrid secunties and ts ' 

distribute the income of its directly or mdirectfy owned operating subsWiaries and affiliates: Just Energy Ontario I P. ("JE Onterp"),, 

Just Energy Manitoba L.P. {"JE Manitoba"), Just Energy Quebec LP. ("JE Quebec"), Just Energy {B,C.) Limited Part lership i*;c)t%C.% ' 

Just Energy Alberta L.P. {"JE Alberta"), Alberta Energy Savings L.P. ("AESLP"), Just Energy Illinois Corp. ("JEIC"). Just Errergy Mew/YoitCofp.-

("JENYC"), Just Energy Indiana Corp. ("JE Indiana"), Just Energy Texas L.P. ("JE Texas"). Just Energy Exchange Coi p. ("JEECj; Onivetsah. 

Energy Corp. {"UEC"). Universal Gas and Electric Corporation ("UGStE"), Commerce Energy, Inc. ("Commerce"), National Energ^Coip. 

{"NEC") operating under the trade name of National Home SeA'tces ("NHS"), and Tenra Gram Fuels Inc. ("TGF"). Icollectively, the 

"Just Energy Group". | -\'}^-j^^ -. 

Just Energy's business prrmarily mvolves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial cu:tomers4jr^flc«ig-term . 

fixed-price and price-protected contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-pnce or prce-protect^pn^rarp:': -^' 

contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy's customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of tl lese esseritiai:C6mrtrioditteS.' 

Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between tpe fixed price atwhfch ftjs 

able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the associated volumes fro n its suppliers; In addition,; 

through NHS, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters. TGF, an ethanol producer, ope4tes an ethanol'facility in ' . ' 

Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. Subsequent to year-end. Just Energy acquired Hudson Energy Services, LLC ("Hudsor^"), a m a r ^ ^ o f natural.. : 

gas and electricity who sells primarily to commercial customers in New York, New Jersey, Illinois and Texas. [ 

The Fund also offers green products through its JustGreen program, formerly known as the Green Ener^ Optbn or "GEO". Ttie electricity 
JustGreen product offers customers the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green source such as 
wind, run of the river hydro or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits, which wili allow (justomers.to reduce or 
eliminate the carbon footprint of their home or business. Management believes that these new products will not bnly add to profits but vwl! 
also increase sales receptivity and improve nsnewal rates. 

Forward-looking informat ion 

This MD&A contains certain fonA/ard-looking information pertaining to customer additions and renewals, customer conajfr^atiori 

distributable cash and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes. These statements are based on current 

number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ frcMTi those anticipated. These risks include 

to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, rates of customer additions and renewals, fluctuat 

electricity prices, changes in regulatory regimes and decisions by regulatory autfiorities, competition and depende nee 

Additional information on these and other factors that could affect the Fund's operations, financial results or dist ib 

in the Fund's Annual Information Form and other reports on file with Canadian security regulatory authorities'wffch 

corporate website at www.justenergycom or through the SEDAR website atwww.sedar.com. 
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Key terms 

"Attrition" means customers \Miose contracts were terminated primarily due to relocation or death, or cancelled 
delinquent accounts. 

"Delivered volume" represents the actual volume of gas or electricity provided on behalf of customers to the 

"Failed to renew" means customers who did not renew expiring contracts at the end of their term. 

"Gross margin per RCE" represents the gross margin realized on Just Energy's customer base, including both low 

acquired through various acquisitions and gams/losses from the sale of excess commodity supply. 

"LDC" means a local distribution company, the natural gas orelectrkriy distributor for a regulatory or governmentally defined geographic area 

"RCE" means residential customer equivalent or the "customer", which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a 
regards natural gas, 2,815 m^ (or 106 GJs or 1,000 Therms or 1,025 CCFs) of natural gas on an annual base and 
10 MWh (or 10,000 kWh) of electricity on an annual basis, which represents the approximate amount of gas and 
used by a typical household in Ontario. 

3yJustEnei^ydueto 

LDOs for the period. 

margin custtwriers 
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JUST ENERGY INCOME fUND » /»mW(5 i f l ^0 in : iSOlQ t7 

http://www.justenergy.com
http://www.justenergycom
http://atwww.sedar.com
file:///Miose


MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Non-GAAP financial measures 

All non-GAAP financial measures do not have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparahteitO' 

similar measures presented by other Issuers. 

Seasonally adjusted sales and seasonally adjusted gross margin 
Management believes the best basis for analyzing both the Fund's results and the amount available for distribution '& tc focus 6ft''^i^untsj 
actually received ("seasonally adjusted") because this figure provides the margin earned on all deliveries to the utititffiS- jeasorraf^'ayjus^i 
sales and gross margin are not defined perfonnance measures under Canadian GAAR Seasonally adjusted analysis appljes solely "to t f e & ^ ' 
markets and specifically to Ontario, Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan. 

No seasonal adjustment is required for electricity as tfie supply is balanced daily. In the other gas markets, payments for 

are aligned with customer consurnption.: 

Cash Available for Distribution 

"Distributable cash after marketing expense" refers to the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders. Seasonally 

margin is the principal contributor to Cash Available for Distributbn. Distributable cash is calculated by the Fund as 

gross margin, adjusted for cash, items including general and administrative expenses, marketing expenses, bad debt 

expense, corporate taxes, capital taxes and other items. This non-GAAP measure may not be comparable to other incotrie 

supply by the.lDCs 

adjusiedgtms 

adjus^d 

Interest * 

funds. . 

sea^nally 

expsnse, 

" Distributable cash after gross margin replacement" represents the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders a<j defined ^ v e . 
However, only the marketing expensM;associated with maintaining the Fund's gross margin at a stable level equal to thpt In place atthe 
beginning of the period are deducted. Management believes that this is more representative of the ongoing operating performance of the ' 
Fund because it includes all expenditures^necessary for the retention of existing customers and the additbn of new mar jin to replace thosê  
of customers that have not been renewed. This non-GAAP measure may not be comparable to other income funds. 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities, please refer to the "Cash Available for Distribution and distributions" analysis on page. 22. 

EBITDA 

"EBITDA" represents earnings before interest taxes, depreciation and amortization. This is a non-GAAP measure which 
profitability of the business. 

reflects the pce-t^t 

Adjusted net income (loss) I 

"Adjusted net income (loss)" represents the net income (loss) excluding the impact of mark to market gains (losses) arlsjng fronr derwative 

financial instruments on our future supply. Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protects by entering into fix^d-price supply 

contracts. In accordance with GAAP, the associated customer contracts are not marked to market, but there is a requirejnent to mark to 

market the future supply contracts. This Creates unrealized gains (tosses) that are not offset by the related customer gairis (losses). 

Management believes that these short-term mark to market non-cash gains (losses) do not impact the long-tenn f inane al performance of 

the Fund. The related future supply has been sold under long-tenn customer contracts at fixed prices; therefore, theanfual movennent in 

the theoretical value of this future supply is not an appropriate measure of current or future operating performance. 

Embedded gross margin 

Embedded gross margin is a rolling five-year measure of management's estimate of future contracted gross margin. It i^ the difference 
between existing customer contract prices and the cost of supply for the remainder of term, with appropriate assumptk ms for customer 
attrition and renewals. It is assumed that expiring contracts will be renewed at target margin and renewal rates. 

Standardized Distributable Cash • , * 

Standardized Distnbutable Cash is a non-GAAP measure developed to provide a consistent and comparable measurement of distributable 

cash across entities and is defined as cash flows from operating activities, as reported in accordance with GAAP, less an Adjustment for tot^ 

capital expenditures as reported in accordance with GAAP and restrictions on distributions arising from compliance witq financial covenants 

restrictive at the date of Itie calculation of Standardized Distributable Cash. I 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities, please refer to the "Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available for Distribution" 
analysis on page 24. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DiSCUSStONANCVAMALYStS 

F inanc ia l h i g h l i g h t s 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

Fiscal 2010 Fiscal 2009 

$ Per unit^ 
Per unit 
change* $ Pcsr unit* 

2,299,231 

231,496 

425,882 

230,000 

197.033 

187,418 

160.722 

88,423 

8 1 % 

95% 

$ 17.77 

$ 1.79 

t 3.29 

4 % 1,899,213 $ 17.03 

NMPS (1,107,473) $(10.03) 

Fi5c^2008 

Per t init 
Change" $ Peruntt^ 

1.78 

1.52 

1.45 

1.24 

0.68 

16% 

2% 

0% 

4 % 

0% 

28% 

315,193 $ 2.83 

195,520 

169,353 

156,604 

138.030 

59,586 

80% 
92% 

1.75 

1.52 

1.40 

1.24 

0.53 

m 
MVtF^ 

l fe% 

1 ^ % 

1P% 
<1E|)% 

r% 
15% 

1,738,690' $16.04 

152,76.1 $ 1.41 

272,180 $ 2.51 

70% 

82% 

7 1 % 

82% 

-169.^7 ' 

152;834: 

173.531 

128,840 

51.638 

1.57 

: i . 4 i 

1.60 

1.19 

0.48 

; f 0 2 ^ ^ 

Sales 

Net income (loss)^ 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted)^ 

Distributable cash 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Distributions {including Special Distribution)^ 

Distributions {excluding Special Distribution) 

General and administratis^ 

Distributable cash payout ratio 

(including Special Distribution) 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing:e)q3ense: 

Distributable cash payout ratio^ 

(excluding Special Distribution) 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense^ 

^ Net income (loss) indudes the impaa of unrealized gahis (tosses) which represent the mark to market of future commodity supp yacqufeed to cover future 
customer demand. The supply has been soki to customers at fixed prices minimizing aiy impact of quarter-end mark t j market jains and losKS. 

^ See discussion of non-GAAP financial measures on page 18. 

^ Management targets an annual payout ratio after all marketing ejqswises, exduding any Special Distribution, of less than 100^ 

*The per unit calculation reflects a fully diluted basis. Year over year change Is calculated on a per unit basis. The diluted we^ihta I average numbeFof units Is 
129.4 million far fiscal 2010,111.5 million for fiscal 2009 and 108.4 million for fiscal 2008, with the exception of net income fqr fiscal 2009 wWch viss 
calculated using an anti-dilutive unit figure of 110.5 million. 

^ Not a meaningful number 

^ In calendar 2009,2008 and 2007, the Fund under-distributed its taxable income and the Board of Directors conduded that a Special DistritKJHon txfpffld to 
ensure that all taxable irxiome would tK distributed Refer to "Spedal Distribution" on page 35 for furtfier information. 

/T^% 

8 4 % 

Reconc i l i a t i on o f n e t I n c o m e (loss) t o a d j u s t e d n e t i n c o m e 

Net income (loss) 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Tax impact on change in fajr value of derivative instruments 

Adjusted net income , 

Fiscal 2010 

$ 231,496 

1,282 

(47,511) 

Fiscal :K)<^ Bscal-2a08 

1(1,107,473) $ 152,761 

1,336.976^; • - ' '831 

(59,574) - - 3,1-30 

$ 185,267 a , 169,929 $ 156,722 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Acquisit ion of UniversalEnergy Group 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common shares of Universal Energy Gr^up Ltd. ("UEG" or 

"Universal") pursuant to a plan of an-angement (the "Arrangement"). Under the Arrangement UEG shareholders received 0.58 of an 

exchangeable share ("Exchangeable Share") of JEEC, a subsidiary of Just Energy, for each UEG common share held. In a jgregate, 

21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the An-angement. Each Exchangeable Share is exchangeable 1 or a trust tjnit on a 

one-for-one basis at any time al the option of the holder and entitles the holder to a monthly dividend equal to 6 6 ^ % 3f the monfily.-

distribution and/or Special Distribution paid byJust Energy on a trust unit. JEEC also assumed all the covenants and obligations of OEG in. 

respect of UEG's outstanding 6% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the "Debentures"). On conversion of the Debentures, 

holders will be entitled to receive 0.58 of an Exchangeable Share in lieu of each UEG common share that the holder wa^ previously entitted' 

to receive on conversion. 

The acquisition of UEG was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase firice 

identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows (thousands of doltars): 

Net assets acquired; j 

Working capital (including cash of $10,319) I 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships j 
Gas contracts and customer relationships \ 

Water heater contracts and customer relationsh^s 

Other intangible assets 

Goodv\flll 

Property, plant and equipment 

Future tax liabilities 

Other liabilities - current 

Other liabilities ~ long-term 

Long-term debt 
Non-controlling interest 

to the 

$ 74.314 
229,586 
243,34^ 

, 22,700 
2,721 

66;794 
171.693 
^<5a475) 
(164.148) 

(140,857) 

{18i079) 
(22.697) 

$ 249,898 

Consideration: 

Transaction costs 

Exchangeable Shares 
$ 9.952 

239.946 

$ 249,^8 

All contracts, customer relationships and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. Tne gas 

and electricity contracts, including customer relationships, acquired are amortized over periods ranging from eight to 57|months. The water 

heater contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 174 months and the, other intangible assets are amortized over six months. 

The non-controlling interest represents 33.3% ow/nershippf TGF Held by Ellis Don Corporation. Tfie purchase price allocation is considered 

preliminary and as a result may be adjusted duringthe iS-month^peribd following the acquisition. j 

Operations • - r - ' ' / J ' ^ - -% ">"'"/^:;:'"'J . I 

Gas _ ;; ; ' ' ; "- ^ , ^'': ;;:,./> ' -';• i-yi:^\^;-[ \ 

In each of the markets that Just Energy operates, itis required to delivergasto^the LDCs fpr itsicustomers thnaughout the ̂ r . Gas customers; 

are charged a fixed price for the full term of their corj|ract. Just Energy-purchases glas"supf3ly in advance of mariceting for retidential cuskjrriers 

and generally concurrently with the execution of acph&ract forciSmmerCial customers. The LdC provides historical customer usage to enable 

Just Energy to purchase an approximation of estimated 5uppjhjt;FUrthemiore,riii;many"markek Energy mitigates exposure to customer 

usage by purchasing options that cover pptential differences in custOifier consuniptipirrfij^to virea variations. The cost of this strategy is -

incorporated in the price to the customer.To the ~^eht that Slan^^^ the options purch^ed, Ju4 Energy bears the 

financial responsibility for fluctuations in custometu^ge. Xfelume varî n̂ceS mayTestilt in either excess or short supply. Exc^ supply is sold In 

the spot market resulting in either a gain or loss coi*np r̂erf to the weighted average ccst"of supply In the case of greater tf^n eapected gas 

consumption. Just Energy must purchase the short supply at the rnarket price, which may reduce or increase the customer press margin 

typically realized. Under some commeicial contract tenns, this balancing may be passed on to the customer. ' 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010 



MANAGEMEWrS DlSCUS5tOR-e*JE> ANALYSIS 

Ontario, Quebec, British Columbta and Michigan 

In Ontario, Quebec, British.Columbia and Michigan, the volumes delivered for a customer typical^ remain constant 

Just Energy does not recpgroze sales until the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, §« is 

which is greater than delivery and in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer coreumption. Just 

the LDCs as the gas is delivered, which is even throughout the year. 

Manitoba and Aiberta 

In Manitoba and Alberta, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month; 

delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequentfy. cash received from < 

higher in the winter months. 

thftjughait the year-

is consuriied'ata rate' 

Energy rec^ves c ^ from 

trierefore, t l ^ anf«xmt of gas 

oistomers'K^ LDdsvifiH be 

New York, ifh'nois, Indiana, Ohio and Cafifornia 

in New York, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio and California, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consunjption and storage 

requirements for each month. Therefore, the amount of gas delivered in vwnter months is higher than in the ̂ r i ig and summer niohtJ^s. 

Consequentfy, cash flow received from these states is normal^ greatest during the third and fourth (winter) quarter as cash.is received fmm 

the LDCs in the same period as customer consumption. | * • 

Electricity I 
Ontario, Alberta, New YorK Texas, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Michigan and CaHfomia : ; " 

Just Energy does not bear the risk for variatrons in residential customer consumption in any of the electricity rrtario ts in w h k h % p p ^ ( ^ ' 
other than for certain customers in Texas and Alberta and the customers acquired in the Universal acquisition (cusi omers located in ' 

Pennsylvania, New Jersey,. Maryland, Michigan and California). In Ontario and New York, Just Ener^ provides cust Jmers wtth'ptep^tection 

for the majority of their eiectricity requirements. The customers experience either a small balancing charge or cred; t on eacff bill due to 
f\uciuaf\ons In prices applicable to their volume requirements not cover^J by a fixed price. To the extent possft)!© gjiv«n the<x>rr^tith« natun? 

anci market knowledge of customers, future offerings for Texas customers will be a load balanced product, and Ju t Enei^ wHl not bear tfie 

risk for variations in.customer consumption. . . • -' -

Cash flow from electricity operations Is greatest during the second and fourth mmrters (summer and Wmi&r), as«lectricffy^on^Mnt^tJon is 

typically highest duringthese-periods. ', ''] " [ ) ' ' ' - ' 

Home services division . . ' / / / , ',. -' 

NEC began operations in y^iril 2008 and operates under the trade name of National Home Sen/ices ("NHS"). Mew ten Home COm.ftjrt'i,R-,.' .; 

("NHCLP"), a partnership Ipetween Just Energy and Newten Home Comfort Inc., an arm's length third party hokJirg 20% oftl^^^rtnership, 

commenced providing Ontario residential customers with a Jong-term water heater rental program in the summo" of ZOOB f̂lihe^nXiucts " 

offered included high efficiency conventional and power vented tanks and tankless water heaters. On July 2, 2009, NEC, a wrfiollyCHwied 

home services subsidiary of UEG, acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc. Accordingly, NHCLP became a wholly own< d suhsidiaty otJust Etie^gy* 

On September 30, 2009, NEC acquired substantially all of the assets of NHCLP, including all of NHCLP's customer <vater heater-rentaf; 

agreements. NHCLP and Newten Home Comfort Inc. were subsequent^ wound up. NEC began offering the renta 

furnaces to Ontario residents in the fourth quarter of fiscal 201D. See page 32 for additional infomiation on NffS. 

of air cmtM^^dr\4 

Ethanol division 

Just Energy also owns a 66.7% interest in TGF, a 150-million-litre capacity wheat-based ethanol plant located tn ieile Plaine, Saskatchewan'., 

The plant produces wheat-based ethanol and high protein distillers dried grain ("DDG"). See page 33 for addltiofisl information on TGF. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Cash Available fo r Distr lbutioh and distr ibutions 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars, except per uriit amounts) 

Reconciliation t o statements o f cash f l ow 

Cash inflow from operations 

Add: 

Increase (decrease) in non<ash working capital 

Tax adjustments 

Cash Available for Distr ibution 

Cash Available for Distr ibution 

Gross margin per financial statements 

Adjustments required to reflect net cash 

receipts from gas sales 

Seasonally adjusted gross margin 

Less: 

General and administrative 

Capital tax expense 

Bad debt expense 

Income tax recovery (expense) 

Interest expense 

Other items 

— 

$ 

i 

$ 

$ 

Fiscal 2010 

158,273 

35,523 

3,237 

197,033 

415,333 $ 

10,549 

425.882 $ 

(88,423) 

(522) 

(17,940) 

(18,517) 

(16.134) 

8,447 

Per unit 

3.21 

3.29 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Fiscal 2009 

172,767 

(6,181) 

2,767 

169.353 

322.816 $ 

(7,523) 

315,193 % 

(59,586) 

(220) 

(13,887) 

(3,861) 

(3,857) 

3,664 

Perurtit 

2.90 

2.S3 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

fiscal 2 ^ ' 

136.l|07 

11,f 79 

4,948 

1 5 2 . ^ 4 

1 
j 

274,800 

f 
a ^ 2 0 ) 

272,1180 

i 
(51,638) 

m?) 
(6,951) 

^57 

(5,346) 

TISO 

.• j^ ' j i j^^i l^ l^i-
^:i>?'f%^"|•'F^;^ 

i^Mkwm 
i;;ji^>;S''f5?|i#§" 

irSs;@%;t' 
^j^'^H'^SM 
\-ZS'^'}}:^:"P-i 

:-lf:'^'0t£Si 

*:-:P'™^;"::C>^*L 

i3sm .*i;H,Si'--r̂ m-
••̂ E'f:::'':î 0% 

'imm^f 

;:;=::>;• fl:|I^?j:lp 

\:f:i^r^^jfi 
r"JK"fK--^-:'i'^l 

UU:, i^h:^^^^^ 

Distributable cash before marketing Expenses 
Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin 

Distributable cash after gross 
margin replacement 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin 

Cash Available for Distribution 

(133,089) 

292,793 
(62,793) 

230,000 
(32,967) 

$ 

$ 

2.27 

1.78 

(77.747) 

237.446 
(41,926) 

195.520 
(25.167) 

$ 

$ 

2.13 

1.75 

osxis) """"'KiiSSI 
208,SS5 "MmyS?-^. 

169.̂ 7 i |HM|i;B 
(i7,ik3) ^^iSftHl 

$ 197,033 $ 1.52 $ 169.353 $ 1.52 $ 152.8B4 S i l ^ ^ 
'^I'^iM-l-f; 

Distributions (includes Special Distribution) 
Unitholder distributions $ 177,733 
Class A preference share distributions 7,579 
Unit appreciation rights and deferred 
unit grants distributions 2,106 

Total distributions 

$ 147,399 
7,660 

1.545 

158,4l 
13,^9 

i 
1,321 

$ 187,418 $ 1.45 $ 156,604 .40 173,531 
""' 1 • 

^I';::'̂ ;:;q^d: 

Distributions (excludes Special Distribution) 
Unitholder distributions $ 152,386 
Class A preference share distributions 6,526 
Unit appreciation rights and deferred 
unit grants distributions 1,810 

Total distributions 

129,872 

6,791 

1,367 

117,720 
10,130 

9P0 

$ 160,722 $ 1.24 $ 138,030 $ 1.24 $ 128,8|IQ i :1^l^f 

Diluted average number of units outstanding 129.4m 111,5m ;1©i4m 
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MANAGEMENl '5 DISCUSSION-AND'ANALYSIS 

adjust 3d 

Distributable cash 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement for the current year ended March 31,2010, was $230.0 millioh 

18% from $195.5 million ($1.75 per unit) in fiscal 2009. The growth reflects a 35% increase in seasonally ai 

contributing to margin growth include a 28% year over year increase in total customers, which was a result of a 

customer additions and 430,000 acquired customers from Universal. Increased distributable cash was the result < 

customers, higher margin per customer due to opportunistic pricing, and continued strong acceptance of the" 

improved supply management,; particularly in Texas. This growth was offset by a 4% year over year dedine in tht 

taxes and interest expenses.:pn:a per unit basis (reflecting the additional units issued to acquire Universal), 

margin replacement was,upi2% and seasonally adjusted gross margin increased by 16%, reflecting higher 

by the anticipated drap in margin from customers acquired from Universal that were not expected to renew as v^e 

of the Universal merger. The largest contributor in the disparity between distrtoutable cash and gross margin 

general and administrative costs versus fiscal 2009 due to the inclusion of costs associated \Mth the start-up 

businesses did not generate distributable cash in fiscal 2010 but added $149 million to genera! andadministratijffi 

are expected to contribute to distributable cash in fiscal 2011. 

The fiscal 2010 costs reflect general and administrative levels which do not reflect the full synergies that will be r jalized In the,Universat 
acquisition. Management initially estimated that these savings would be $10 million per year and actual savings "Vill exceedltiiS amount 
The benefit will be reflected in lower general and administrative cost grow/th in future years. | • 

($1.78 per un^, up . ; 

gross margin. Factors 

record505^)00new ' ' •' 

the acqufeed Univrersai *" 

Ju^reen pfo^uctasweil ^ 

.IJ.S. dollaiv^^befinaaiie 

dtstri^utable'.c4^:after'gross , 

gro^lmargin perciBtpmef offset 

I as nion-Tecun-ing costs 

was ah Increase in - . , , 

atTGF and NHS. These . 

cc&is. Both bustn^ses 

grisArth 

pha|e 

in addition, higher general and administrative costs reflect increased staffing expenses to support future growth; in̂  
professional fee expenditures on review of potential acquisitions and the Fund's conversion plan. International Finai 
("IFRS") and other coiporate development activities. Bad debt expense increased in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal', 
higher volumes in those markets where the Fund bears the credit risk as well as continued weak economic conditio 
income tax expense was up in fiscal 2010 due to the Universal entities and tax liabilities in the U.S. in the distributal 
current tax provision of $0.7 million has been deducted as it relates to a reserve amount which, in management's v 
in the next year. Interest expense also increased by $12.3 million over the prior year due to the Universal debentu 

Just Energy spent $52.8 million in marketing expenses to maintain its current level of gross margin, which rep 

marketing expense for the year; A further $33.0 million was spent to generate gross margin grow/th in future ye 

expenditures to maintain gross margin, resulted in a record 505,000 gross RCE additions and 73,000 net RCE adi 

reased coBectibn cfets'and. 
cial Reporting Standards ,' 
009primafiV^"^t^fhe 
is In the U,S. markets." 
e cash cafcuiation,;a 
w, wiH notJikely be paid' , 
and TGF credtt facilities.' 

nts66%ofthetotar/: 

rs, which, comttned with 
rtions in the current year. 

Management's estimate of the future embedded gross margin is as follows: 

(in millions of dollars) 
Mard^ 31, 

2010 

Canada (CAO$) $ 783.1 

United States {US$) 414.5 

Total (CAD$) $ 1,204.3 

$ 

$ 

Excluding the Special Distribution, the payout ratio after deduction of all marketing expenses for the current year 

and prior year. 

For further information on the changes in the grass margin, please refer to "Sales and gross margin - Seasonally 

"General and administrative expenses", "Marketing expenses", "Bad debt expense" and "Interest expense" are 

pages 34 to 35. 

lvlarch31. • • 
2009 ' incr^se 

697.1 • . -• 12%-

278.5 4 9 % 

1,020.3: - 18% 

was 82% fpr the current 
' • - ' 

-

adjusted" on parie2S and 
furtherdarifiedon-

Fiscal 2010 

Discussion of distributions 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Cash flow from operations^ (A) 

Net income (loss) (B) 

Total distributions^ (C) 

Excess (shortfall) of cash flows from operating activities over 

distributions paid (A-C) 

Excess (shortfall) of net income over distributions paid (B-C) 

^ indudes nonosh working capiial t)alances. 

^Indudes Spedal Distributions of $26 7 million in fiscal 2010, $18.6 riHliion in fiscal 2009 and $44.7 million in fiscal 2008. 

158,273 

231,495 

187,418 

a9,145) 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 20C» 

172,767 $ 136,007 

(1.107,473) 

156,604 

16,163 

44.078 11,264,077) 

152,761 

173.531-

(37,524) 

(20,770) 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AMD ANALYSIS 

Net income (loss) includes non-cash gains and tosses associated with the changes in the current market valueof Just Energy's derivative , 

instruments. These instruments form part of the Fund's requirement to pi;rchase commodity according to estimated demand and, as 

such, changes in value do not impact the distribution policy or the long-term financial performance of the Fund. Effectiw July 1,200S, 

Just Energy elected to discontinue the practice of hedge accounting and all gains and losses on derivative Instrument have been r e c o r d ; "• 

in the change in fair value of derivative/fnstruments. | ^ . ; 

The change in fair value associated with, these derivatives included in the net income for the 2010 fiscal year was a toss i f $1-3 m i l o n - : ' 

versus a loss o f $ 1.3 billion last year. In fiscal 2009, Just Energy moved away from hedge accounting during a time o f sroiificant c o m m o d ^ 

market price movement; the combinaSon of these events resulted in a $1.3 billion loss reported in the statement o f piont and io^Si^fttflscafc-

2010, there was no change in poHc^. and although there has been volatility in commodiiy prices during the year, the yea| over yeairlthaqge 

in these prices was not nearly as significant to the portfolio. In fiscal 2008, the change in fair value for the year was $76.19 million, o f which 

$0.8 million was reportedln the Statement of Operations. The remaining amount was reported in the statement of combrehensive income.. 

The Fund has. in the past paid out distributions that were higher than both financiat statement net income and operatindcash flow. In the _ 

view of management distributable.cash, the non-GAAP measure, is an appfOpriatQ measure of the Fund's ability w dtstrloute ^nds , -K ihe 

cost of carrying incremental working capital necessary for the growth of the business has been deducted in the dtstributable cash cafculatioR.-

Further, investment in the addition of new customers intencted to increase cash flow is expensed in the finandal statements while the original 

customer base was capitalized, Capite' expenses at NEC are related to the growth of productive capacity o f that business fri that thecapMtal 

cost will i3e more than offset by the rental contract margins in future periods. NEC has reached a new agreement with Hope Trust Company . 

to separately finance its water heaters. See page 39 for further discussion on this financing. In addition, the caprtal expencjitures for TGf-are • 

funded through its credit facility and debt instruments. Management believes that the current $1.24 f ^ r unit annual level of distributions is 

sustainable in the foreseeable future both as a trust and, subsequently, as a dividend following conversion to a corporate structure. 

The timing differences between distributions and cash flow from operations created by the cost of canying incremental y^orkmg capilai cJue 

to business seasonality and expansion are funded by the operating credit facility. • 
1 

Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available f o r Distr ibution 

For the years encJed March 3 i \ 

(thousands o f dollars, except per unit amounts) \ 

FiscaJ2010 Fiscal 2C(09 Fiscal 2003 

Reconciliation to statements of cash flow 

Cash inflow from operations 
Capital expenditures^ 

Standardized Distributable Cash: 

$ 158,273 $ 

(41,20^ 
172.7b 

(6.3^5) 

117,066 166,422 

% 136,(K)7 

(7;842) 

128,165 

Adjustments t o Standardized Distributable Cash 

Change in non-cash working capi^iV 

Tax adjustments^ 

Capital expenditures' 

Cash Available for Distr ibut ion 

35,523 
3,237 

41,207 

11,879 

4,^48 

7,842 

$ T97.033 $ 169,353 $ 152,834 

0.91 

0.90 

160% 

137% 83% 

1.19 

,1.18 

135% 

100% 

Standardized Distributable Cash - per unit basic 

Standardized Distributable Cash - p e r unit diluted 

Payout ratio based on Standardized Distributable Cash (includes Special Distribution)^ 

Payout ratio based on Standardized Distributable Cash (excludes Special Distribution) 
! 

^ Capital expenditures incurred in the yew were etfectivdy funded csjt of ihe credit fadiity. The vast majwity of capital exp&ndiiur& re/ate (q the fHjniiase Of . 
water heaters for subsequent rental. These expenditures expand the praduclive capad^ of the business. Effective January 2010, water heater capital purchases 
arc now financed through a separate financing secured by the water heaters and assodated contracts. I 

^ Change in non-cash working capital is exduded from the calculation of Cash Available for Distribution as the Fund has a $250.0 miion c r ^ t fadKty wfiidi Is, 
available for use to fund working capital requirements. This eliminates the potential impact of lmr\q distortions relating to the respective l^ms. 

^ The amount ir\du<iei> payrnents to the holders of Class A preference shares and is equivalent to distrilMjtions. The numfser of Class A preferfenoe shares 
outstanding is induded in the denominator of any pex unit calculation. Also indudes a cun'ent lax provision amount of $0.7 million relatfidltoa « ^ v e thatvwlf 
not likely be paid in the next fiscal year ' 

" The Speoal Distribution relating to calendar 2009,2008 and 2007 has incteased the payout ratios for both comparable periods. Refer to "^pecial Oiscribution" 
on page 35 for further details. I 
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MANAGEMENT S DISCUSStOH A l ^ ANALYSIS 

In accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") July 2007 interpretive release, Stari(|cffdized 
in Income Trusts and Other Fbw-Through Entities, the Fund has presented the distributable 3sh calculation to cor form 
summary, for the purposes of the Fund, Standardized Distributable Cash is defined as the periodic cash flows from operating 
including the effects of changes in non-cash working capital less total capital expenditures as reported in the GAA 

Financing strategy 

The Fund's $250.0 million credit facility will be sufficient to meet the Fund's short-tenn working capital and caprt|af expenditure 

requirements for the gas and electricity businesses. As part of the acquisition of Universal, additional credit fadli 

and are explained further on page 38. Working capital requirements can vary widely due to seasonal fluctuationsland 

grovrth. In the long term,; the Fund may be required to access the equity or debt markets in order to fund signific snt 

reached a new agreement with Home Trust Company to separately finance its water heaters. See page 39 for further 

financing. TGF has a separate credit facility, debenture and a term loan for their funding requirements which are 

D^li%)ut^Ie Cash 
to tNs.guidance. In 

activities, 
> financiat'siatements. 

arid deptwe^.fecprded 

pfarined uA*-related 

acquisttlons. NEC has 

discussion-on tiis 

fetaited on p^e 38. 

Productive capacity j 

Just Energy's business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers tender long-term, fisced-price 

and price-protected contracts. In addition, through NHS, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and tankless wa^er heaters. TGF, an ethanol 

producer, operates an ethanol facility in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. As such, the Fund's productive capacity & defcermined by tlie gross 

margin earned from the contract price and the related supply cost on energy contracts. Also included would be the gross margin earned on 

water heater rentals and ethanol sales after deducting production-related costs. j • " 

The productive capacity of Just Energy is achieved through the retention of existing customers and the addition (rf new customers to replace 

those that have not been renewed. The productive capacity is maintained and grows through independent contractors, call centre renewal 

effori^, Internet marketing and various mail campaigns. The Fund has entered into an agreement with MomentisIcanada Corporation and 

Momentis U.S. Corporation under which their independent representatives will market natural gas and electricity contracts on behalf of 

Just Energy Management believes that this arrangement will further expand the productive capacity of the energ ̂  business. 

Effectively all of the marketing costs related to energy customer contracts are expensed immediately but fall into wo categories. The first 
represents marketing expenses to maintain gross margin at pre-existing levels, and by definition, maintain pnDductivec4>acity. The second _ • 
category is marketing expenditures to add new margin, which therefore expands productive capacity. j 

The vast majority of capital expenditures incurred by Just Energy relate to the purchase of water heaters which ar^ subsequently rented on 3 
long-term basis under customer contracts. These capital expenditures are funded by non-recourse bonowings wt ich have as 3ecur% the 
Water heaters and the contracts. As such, these capital expenditures increase the productive capacity of the Fund 

Selected consolidated financiat data 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

The consolidated financial statements of the Fund are prepared in acconJance with Canadian GAAP and are e x p r ^ d In CanatSarrdollars. 
The following table provides selected financial information for the last three fiscal years. 

Statements of operation's data 
For the years ended March 31 

2010 2009 2(W8 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 

Net income (loss) 

Net income (loss) per unit - basic 

Net income (loss) per unit - diluted 

Balance sheet data 

As at March 31 

Total assets 
Long-term liabilities 

$ 2,344,172 

425,882 
231,496 

1.81 

1.79 

$ il ,888,733 . 

j 315,193 
(p,107,473) 

1 (10.03) 

! (10.03) 

$ 1,730,605 
272,180 
152.761 

1.42 

1.41 

2010 2009 2008 

$ 1,353,095 $ 

824,393 

535,755 $ 

480,602 

709,115 

246.248 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

2010 compared with 2009 

Sales increased by 24% in fiscal 2010 due to a 28% net increase in customers as a result of record new additions and th^ 

Universal. On July 1, 2009, the Fund completed the acquisition of 430,000 Universal customers in consideration for JEEC 

Shares valued at $239.9 million. For further information on the acquisition, see page 20. Seasonally adjusted gross margih 

$425.9 million, or 35%, over fiscal;2009 due to higher margin per customer, continued strong acceptance of the JustGreien 

as improved supply management. 

The change in net income relates:primarily to the change in fair value of the derivative instruments, which has improved 

the $1.3 billion loss reconded last year. Also, an increase in the income tax recovery of $42.8 million relates to the Fund's 

taxable Canadian corporation in late calendar 2010 and the future tax benefits of the mark to market ItKses expected 

conversion. This increase is partially offset by higher current tax provision related to the Universal entities. 

Total assets increased by 153% to $1.4 billion in fiscal 2010. The largest components of this change relate to the propertk pJant atKJ 

equipment, intangible assets and goodwill recorded as part of the Universal acquisition. The TGF ethanol plant was acqui -ed totalling Over 

$j 55.2 million in capital assets on July 1, 2009. Also, future income tax assets of $114.3 million have been recorded related primari^tO'the 

conversion of the Fund expected to happen late in calendar 2010. 

Total long-term liabilities of $824.4 million represent a 72% increase over the prior fiscal year. On July 1,2009, in connedtion with the 

acquisition of UEG, Just Energy increased its credit facility fiom $170.0 million to $250.0 million. Also, as part of the Universal acquiation, 

the Fund acquired the debt obligations of TGF which comprises three separate facilities noted on page 38. Long-term Iiabifities have also 

increased in fiscal 2010primarily due to the change in mark to market valuation of our derivative instruments. j 

2009 compared with 2008 | 

The increase in sales and gross margin is primarily a result of the increase in the customer base, mainly in Texas and New Vprit, and improved 

contract prices. In addition, on August 14, 2008, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial and residential |:ustomer contracts 

(46,000 RCEs) of CEG Energy Options Inc. ("CEG") in British Columbia which contributed to Canadian sales and margin. 

acquisitipnof • 
Exchang^bfe -

increased to 
product as^well 

:;ul bstantiallyftOTt-

:(^version'fe a 

reafized post" to be 

The change in net income from a gain of $152.8 million to a loss of $1.1 billion relates primarily to the $1.3 billion loss 
change in fair value of the derivative instruments. These instruments reflect the Fund's requirement to purchase commoi 
estimated demand and, as such, changes in value do not impact the long-term financial performance of the Fund. Effect^e 
Just Energy elected to discontinue the practice of hedge accounting, and all gains and losses on derivative instruments 
in "Change in fair value of derivative instruments" on the Statement of Operations. In fiscal 2008, Just Energy had elected 
accounting and thus was able to book the changes in fair value predominantly to other comprehensive income. 

r< presenting the, 

4ty according to 

July t, 2008, 

been recorded 

to use hedge 

have 

Wits 

exfenses 

wtlth 

The increase in gross margin is due to an increase m number of customers and higher gross margin per customer. This 
increases in general and administrative costs, bad debt expenses and marketing expenses. Genera! and administrative 
were primarily staffing costs in our corporate office to support our cunent and future growth, U.S. exchange rates, impa<|t 
denominated costs, an increase incollectiwi costs, full year rent for our newcustomer service call centre and legal fees 
business operations in the U.S. Bad debt costs increasKi primari^ due to the large increase in total revenus for the yesr 
where Just Energy assumes the riskfor accounts receivable collections. In addition, the increase In the U.S. e«:hange rate^aid 
rates noted in the U.S. markets due to the recessionary conditions led to higher bad debt expense this fiscal year. During 
improved collection procedures had resulted in a significant excess resen/e for bad debt, which was released in that fiscal 
bad debt expense. Marketing costs were up due to the impact of the growth in customer additions, higher US. exchang^ 
based marketing costs and increased recruiting and corporate marketing overhead required to build our commercial sales 

offset fay 
increases 

onU.S,ddlar. . 
respect.in 

n the markets' 

highffl-ilef^tt 
iscal20(58;;' '•'. 
year lowering the 
on our U.Sl-
team. 

t i e 

Total assets decreased by 24% primarily as a result of the change in the other assets - long term. There had been a signif cant drc^ 
iorward gas and power prices related to our denvative instruments noted above. As a result, far more commodiiy contracts 
counterparties would have resulted in a gain in the prior year, if sold on the open market In fiscal 2009, the situation is 
whereby there are far more contracts with counterparties that would result in a loss if sold on the open market Therefore, 
long term amount has decreased and the other liabilities - long term amount has increased. Long-term liabilities increasep 
primarily due to the change in mark to market valuation of our derivative instruments ejqalained above. 

in the 
with 
0i:̂ xJsHfi 

the other assets r 
in fscalrZOCS' 
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MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSÊ IANO ANALYSIS 

Summary of quarterly results 

(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Fiscal 2010 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) 

GnDSs margin (seasonally adjusted) 

General and administrative expense 
: : . : ; . ' •-,. ' Net income (loss) , '̂  

; . Net income (loss) per unit-basiff 

; Net income (loss) per unit-diluted 
:V.f Amount available for distribufioh 

, • J:;. : - After gross margin replacement 

" r ;: : After marketing expense . 
'•'iv--- i^:['''/ Payout ratio^ 

i;; ' -';;-, -̂ ' ^ ' After gross margin replacement 

!' *' :. After marketing expense 

Fiscal 2009 

Sales (seasonally adjusted)̂  ;; 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 
General and administrative expense 
Net income (loss) 

Net income (loss) per unit- basic 

Net income (loss) per unit- diluted 

Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin replacement 
After marketing expense 

Payout ratio^ 

After gross margin replacement 
After marketing expense 

$ 432,565 
74,769 

15,617 

102,627 

0.92 

0.91 

42,219 

36,087 

83% 
97% 

Q1 

$ 401,826 
59,703 

13,447 
34,232 

0.31 
0.31 

31,046 

30,282 

108% 

111% 

$ 562,133 
107,519 

25,634 

110,690 

0.83 

0.82 

52,303 

41,345 

82% 
104% 

Q2 

$ 386,158 
61,793 

13,236 

(923.990) 

(8.33) 
(8.33) 

34,755 
28,394 

100% 
122% 

$ 654,686 $ 

121,722 
24,767 

97,390 

0.73 

0.73 

69,455 

61,242 

98%' 
111%' 

1 

03 
$ 510,801 $ 

87.554 

14,753 
(49.094) 

(0.44) 

(0.44) 

57.475 
48.162 

93%' 
111%' 

694,788 
121,872 

22,405 

(79,211) 

(0.59) 

(0.59) 

66,023 

58,359 

63% 
71% 

04 

589,948 

106,143 
18,150 

(168,621) 
(1.57) 

(1.57) 

72,244 

62,515 

48% 
56% 

$2,344,172 

425,882 

88.423 

231,496 

1.81 

1.79 

230,000 

197,033 

81% 

95% 

Total 

$1,888,733 
315,193 

59,586 

(1,107,473) 
(10.03) 

(10.03) 

195,520 

169.353 

80% 

92% 

' Indudes a one-time Spedal Distribution of $26.7 million in fiscal 2010 and $18.6 million in fiscal 2009, 

The Fund's results reflect seasonality as consumption is greatest during the third and fourth quarters (winter qyarjiers), 
quarterly comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters will vary materially. The main impact of this will be higher 
lower payout ratio in the third and fourth quarters and \awer distributable cash with a higher payout ratio in the 
excluding any Special Distribiitiori. 

White^ar over year 
distribut^te'ca^ with a 
'irst and second cjuarters 

Analysis of the fourth quarter 

Sales are typically higher-in the third and fourth quarters because gas and electricity consumption are both high 
The overall customer base is currently 50% gas and 50% electricity. The fourth quarter increase in seasonally 
compared to the prior year comparable quarter ts primarily attrtoutabte to record customer additions through 
United States) and the acquisition of Universal. Seasonally adjusted gross margin increased by 15%. or $15.7 milli( 
fiscal 2010 as compared to the same period last year. Total customers were 143 54% in the fourth quarter of fisca 
period last year. However, the growth of both sales and margin was dampened by a 21 % decline in the U.S. 
the quarter, 42% of Just Energy's sales and 51% of margin were from the United States. The distributable cash 
replacement was $65.0 million, down 9% from $72.2 million in the prior comparable quarter. The increase in 
acquired with Universal, net customer additions through marketing and higher per customer margins were more 
consumption effects of a record warm winter in Just Energy's key gas markets. The fouri:h quarter of fiscal 2010 
Canada and 5% warmer in the U.S. than fiscal 2009. Also, the 21 % drop in the exchange rate on the U.S. dollar 
negatively during the current quarter. In addition, the Fund saw higher general and administrative costs due 
costs of TGF and NHS in fiscal 2010, as well as higher tax provisions and interest expense. 

gross 

Distributable cash after marketing expenses was $58.4 million, a decrease of 7% from $62.5 millbn in the prior <omparable qiiarter;^, ' 
Distributions for the quarter were $41.5 million, up 19% over the same period last year reflecting a higher numb jr of units due to the 
Universal acquisition and the maintenance of annual $1.24 distributions per unit in both periods. The payout rati^ for the fourth"tpjarter 
of fiscal 2010 after all marketing expenses was 71 %, up fi^m 56% in the prior year comparable period. I 

quring this time period, 
adjtstedsalesof 18% 
ma keting (pgrjkularly tn the 

1, in the fourth quarter of 
2010 versi^ the'same 

dollar quarter CN&, quarter. In 
a fter customer grc^ margin 

margin .iirom custonfieifs 
than offset by the g ^ 

^ s over IS^warmer^in 
impacted gfoss matins . 

largely to the inclusion df the 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Gas and electricity marketing 

Sales and gross margin - Per financial statements 
For the years ended March 31 
(thousands of dollars) 

Sales 

Gas 

Electricity 

Fiscal 2010 
Canada United States Total Canada UnitedSl 

788,661 

537,580 

$ 425.975 

381.674 

$ 1.214.636 
1,019.254 

814,275 $ 

518,388 

$i;42?,241 $ 807,649 $2,233,390 $ 1.332,663 $ 

Bsptaoog' 
Tdtai-

$:t,;iS8:i64' 

741,649 

$ 1,^9.213. 

Increase 7% 43% 18% 

Fiscal 2010 
Gross margin 

Gas 

Electricity 

Canada United States Total Canada United Stmes 

$ ;154,105 $ 
107,042 

81.520 

91,107 
205,625 
198,149 

154,171 $ 

77,549 

Bscal7Q(^ 

Tbtal 

64,1118 
26,^78 

$ 218^89 
104,527 

$:^:2^1,147 $ 172.627 $ 403,774 $ 231,720 $ 91.(^6 $ -322,816 

Increase 90% 25% 

Canada : j ; ; , : ^ ^ - " - l'..̂  

Sales anrKiunted to $1.4 billion for the year, ended Maith 31, 2010, up 7% from the same period in fiscal 2009. Gross margin was 

$231.1 million for fiscal 2010, effectively unchanged, fipm $231.7 million in the prior comparable year. 

United States 

Sales and gross margin in the U.S. were $807.6 million and $172.6 million for the current year, an increase of 43% and 90%, respectively, 
from fiscal 2009. , / ^ | 

Sales and gross margin - Seasonally adjusted' ! 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Sales 

Gas 

Adjustments' 

Electricity 

Increase 

Grossmargin 

Gas 

Adjustments' 

Electricity 

Increase 

Canada 

$ 788,661 

40,935 

829,595 

: 0 637,580 

C $1.46^176 

';; '''-u.^-'':.--^ n% 

; ' : Canada 

$ 124,105 
• : 10,804 

- 134,909 
107,042 

$ .241,951 

8% 

United States 

$ 

$ 

425,975 

4,005 

429,980 
381.674 

811,654 

43% 

United States 

$ 

$ 

81,520 

(255) 

81,265 

91,107 

172,372 

89% 

Fiscal 2010 

Total 

$ 1.214.636 

44.940 

1,259.576 
1,019,254 

$ 2,278,830 

21% 

Fiscal 2010 

Total 

$ 205,625 
10.549 

216,174 

198,149 

$ 414,323 

31% 

$ 

Canada 

814,275 
(10,480) 

803,795 

518,388 

$1,322,183 

$ 

$ 

Canada 

154,171 

(7,623) 

146,548 

77,549 

224,097 

United Sties 

$ 

$ 

343,^9 

343,8^9 

222,6fel 

566,5^0 
1 

1 

United Sta 

$ 

$ 

64,1 

64,1 

26,9 

Fiscal :̂ K)9 

Total-

$ 1,158.164 

(10,480) 

1,147,584 

741,049 

$ 1.888.733 

Fiscal 2009 

t ^ Total 

18 $ 218.289 
(7.623) 

18 210,666 

78 104.527 

91,0P5 $ 315,193 

For Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan gas markets. 
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MANAGEMENT S DISCU^ON AND ANALYSIS 

On a seasonally adjusted basis, total sales and gross margin increased by 21 % and 31 %, r^pectively, to $2.3 
the year ended March 31, 2010, over the same period last year. The 21 % increase in seasonally adjusted sales 
in customers due to record customer aggregation and the acquisition of Universal offset by a 4% year over year 
and unfavourable weather-based reduced gas consumption in all significant provinces and states. Gross margin 
than sales due to higher realized margin per customer, particularly in the U.S. 

billon 
WJiS 

andMl4.3%Bii<mf6r 

due t b a ^ ^ increase 

I lecilne in tl^'t^S.idolter 

il icreased at a greater rate 

Canada 

Seasonally adjusted sales were $1.5 billion for the year, up 11% from $1.3 billion for the year ended March 31.2|CK)9. Seasonally a#iSt^d 

gross margins were $242.0 million for the year of fiscal 2010, an increase of 8% from $224.1 million in fiscal 20^9 

k<y 

Gas 

Seasonally adjusted gas sales increased by 3% in fiscal 2010 to $829.6 million and seasonally adjusted gross margir 

$ 134.9 million versus the prior year. The lower margin was due to record warm winter conditions in Just Energy's 

to a colder than average .winter infisCal 2009. The excess gas supply was sokj into very weak spot prices reducing 

In fiscal 2009, the shortfall of Supp^Jfe purchased at low spot prices and sold for full margin to customers. After 

average gross margin per customersCGM/RCE") for the yearended March 31,2010, amounted to $191/RCE, dow^ 

$210/RCE from the prk>r comparable year. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt 

decreased by 8% to 

gas markets cor^red 

Margin from ©(pected lewis. 

llpwance for balandng, 

9% con^ared to-

ekiense in Alberta. 

Electricity 

Electricity saies were $637.6 fniltiori for the current year, an increase of 23% fsom fiscal 2009. The increased sa 

increase in customers. Gross margin increased by 38% from the prior year to $107.0 million due to the increase i 

margin per customer, resulting from steady inaeases in new customer contract margins in past periods, and the 

customers acquired from Universal had generally higher margins, after excluding the JustGreen product, than 

new customers under the higher margin JustGreen progtam ate making up a higher proportion of the overall ele^cily 

^Q attril?Mtable;tq.a 3 1 % 

I'custCBTreis-.̂ piS increased, [ 

Isctthatttre'ilkWcity 

of Just En^rgj; As Vtfell, • 

book. 
those 

Average gross margin per customer after all balandng for the year ended March 31,2010, in Canada amounted 

$131/RCE from the prior comparable year. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for the bad deb 

United States 

Seasonally adjusted sales for the year ended March 31, 2010, were $811.7 million, an increase of 43% from $55^.6 million in the prior 

year Seasonally adjusted gross margin was $172.4 million, up 89% from $91.1 million from fiscal 2009. 

Gas 
fiscal 

lowffir 

pef 

Seasonally adjusted gas sales in the U.S. increased by 25% from $343.9 million to $430.0 million for the 2010 

adjusted sales increase reflects record customer additions through marketing of 171,000 (up from 90,000 in fisca I 

120,000 customers acquired as part of the Universal transaction offset by a 4% decline in the U.S. dollar and 

adjusted gas margin increased 27% for the current year to $81.3 million from $64.1 million. U.S. gas margins 

three reasons: the customers acquired from Universal were at lower margins than those of Just Energy; there wa^a 

dollar; and wanner than normal weather in the northern U.S. required the sate of excess supply into a low-price 

there were Universal customers whichwere not eiqaected to renew (and therefore not included in long-term customer 

expired during the third and fourth (quarters. The negative impact of this tost margin on the third and fourth qia^ers 

time of the Universal acquisition and discussed in the MD&A for the second quarter of fiscal 2010. 

Average gross margin after all balancing costs for the year ended March 31.2010, was $212/RCE, down from $2j59/RCE noted in tiie prior 

year comparable period. The GIVI/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for bad debt expense in Illinois. 

Blectricity 

Electricity sales and gross margin for the current year were $381.7 million and $91.1 million, respectively, versus 

fiscal 2009 in which sales and gross margin amounted to $222.7 million and $27.0 million, respectively Electricitj 

57% with a record 216,000 custorriers added (up from 168,000 in fiscal 2009), dnving the 71% sales growth. 

Universal acquisition contributed only .̂OOO of the 127,000 year over year net additions. 
Un 

The adjusted gross margin increase of 238% reflects the growth in customers and higher margins per customer. 

largest impact of the growing consumption of JustGreen is evident. Since the overall book is relatively small, high 

higher margins has a greater impact on the overall margin per customer. In addition, Texas benefited from high 

low cost commodity while New York profitability rose due to continued improvements in our supply managemen', 

Average gross margin per customer for electricity during the current year was $238/RCE compared to $133/RCE 1|rom the prior comparable 
year. The GM/RCE value for Texas includes an appropriate altowance for the bad debt expense. 

to $149/RCE compared to 
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year. TtreseasonaHy 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Customer aggregation 

Long-term customers 

April 1,2009 Additions Acquired Attrition 
Failed 

to renew 
f^rchai, 

2fi10 
%»ijTCasei 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas 

743,000 

235,000 

978.000 

46,000 
171,000 

217,000 

93,000 
120,000 

213.000 

(81,000) 
(110.000) 

(191,000) 

(67.000) 

(8,000) 

(75,000) 

734,C 00 

408,C00 

1,142,(00 . 

. (1)% 
' ' 74% 

: f7% 

=.. 
Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Total electricity 

Combined 

578,000 

234000 

72.000 

216,000 

215,000 

2,000 

(94,000) 
(52,000) 

(11,000) 760.d00 

(9,000) 391.doO 4̂  
31% 

67% 

812,000 288.000 217.000 (146,000) (20,000) 1.151.()0Q 42% 

1,790,000 505,000 430.000 (337.000) (95,000) 2,293,Ck)0 28% 

GnDSS customer additions through marketing for the year were 505,000, up 21 % from the 418,000 customers added thjough marketing 
during fiscal 2009. Total net customer additions for the year ended March 31,2010, were 73,000, down from 103,0(K) Bet customer" 
additions last year due to higher attrition noted on the larger customer base. Record additions through marketing were offset by ttw 
continuing effects of the weak U.S.economy. The high customer loss in the U.S. market reflects continuMi high foredosere rates arid, 
credit cut-offs. ;-: \ / " ••' 

Including the Universal acquisition^ there was a 28% net increase in total customers at March 31,2010, versus the samelperiod lKtyear..As 
part of the Universal acquisition" Jpst Energy acquired 430,000 customers and also gained a further 145,000 customers that were uri l ik^ 
to renew as they were variable in natur&or located in regions that were not in Just Energy's current expansion plans. As et.Mafch S1» 2010. 
50,000 of these customers remain uhdercontract 

The fourth quarter also saw a substantial increase in customer additions compared to the prior year. On an RCE basis, 13n,000 gross-. 
customers were added in the quarter, up 54% from the fourth quarter additions of 85,000 in fiscal 2009. Net customer.edditions in the 

fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 were 13.000 compared to 15.000 in the same period in fiscal 2009, again reflecting the impact of the weak : 
U.S. economy on customer attrition. i -

I 
Just Energy's major marketing challenge remains in the Canadian markets where the di^arity between spot prices and tiie five-^r prtces 

continues to impact sales. This has hurt both new customer additions and renewals. Under these conditions. Just Energyls marketir^^force 

has concentrated on the sale of JustGreen and related products. Acceptance of these products was strong but combinin(| their premium • 

price with a continued generally weak economy, created sales that were insufficient to offset attrition In the Canadian gas and etectricity 

business. The recent upward movement in energy prices has begun to slow attrition in some markets. Solid customer adqitbns were seen 

across the U.S., with Texas and New York electricity being particularly strong. 

JustGreen 

Sales of the JustGreen products continue to support and reaffirm the strong demand for the green energy products in a^ markets. The . 

JustGreen program allows customers to choose to purchase units of green energy in the form of renewable energy orca bon offsets, in -

an effort to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy, it creates a contractu*il obligatbnitir • 

Just Energy to purchase a supply of green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer's purchase. A reNiewyi/as 

conducted by Grant Thornton LLP of Just Energy's/?enevv36te£nergyanrfCa/t>onOj%e£s5a/esarK/Pu/ic/?asesreportfor the periodttom 

Januaryl, 2009 through December :31, 2009, validating the Fund's renewables and cartion offset purchases. 

The Fund currently sells JustGreen gas in Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta, Michigan, New York, Ohio and Illinois and Ji stGreeai electricity 
in Ontario, Aiberta, New York and Texas. JustGreen sales are expanding into the remaining markets over the coming qua ters. Of all, •" 
customers who contracted with Just Energy in the year, 39% took JustGreen for some or all of their aiergy needs. On awerage,:these; - ' 
customers elected to purchase 81 % of their consumption as green supply. ' ' 

Overall, green supply now makes up 2%:of our overall gas portfolio, up from 1 % a year ago. JustGrem supply makes uf ̂  5% erf our 
electricity portfolio, up from 2% from the same period last year. For this reason, the margins on new customer additions continued to 
exceed target levels despite certain focused price discounts to stimulate saies in markets with very low utility prices result ng in high five-
year premiums. i . . 
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MANAGEMENT ̂  DBCUSSON AND AHAL̂ SiS 

At t r i t ion 

Natural gas 

The trailing 12-month natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% for the year, consistent with management's target 

attrition for the trailing 12 months was 30%, above management's annual target of 20%. High U.S. gas attritior 

continued North American recession leading to home foreclosures and the necessary aggressive custoner 

services policies utilized by Just Energy 

Electricity 

The trailing 12-month electricity attrition rate in Canada forthe year wasl3%,above management's target of 16%, 

attrition was a function of a clean-up of the acquired Universal book of customers which resuhed in a stronger, h ghe 

customers going forward. Electricity attrition in the United States was 16% over the last year, below managemerffs 

ofl0%.lntheU.S..9a5 

is an effect of the 

cut-offlor forced return to default 

Higher than ̂ rgeted 

rmSH-ginbookof 

target of 20%. 

Failed t o renew 

The Just Energy renewal process is a multi-faceted program and aims to maximize the number of customers w^ojchotKe to ̂ gtv a new 

contract prtoT to the end of their existing contract term. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance allowing a cusiorrwr to re-csntract for an 

additional four or five years. j 

The trailing 12-month renewal rate for all Canadian gas customers was 61 %. In the Ontario gas market customers who do not positively • 

elect to renew or terminate their contract receive a one-year fixed price for the ensuing year. Of the total Canadie n gas customers reneyved " 

in fisca! 2010,16% were renewed for a one-year term. Canadian gas was the only market in which renewals lagoed the 2010'target of ," 

70%. This was due to the high spread between the Just Energy five-year price and the utility sp<^ price, Manageifient anticipates cbn^oed 

focus in this area and a return to rising market pricing should result in an impro\fement in Canadian gas renewal lates to target levefe. 

The eiectricity renewal rate for Canadian customers was 73% for the trailing }2 months. In the Ontario electrfci% market there fe no 

opportunity to renew a residential or small volume customer for a one-year term should the customer fail to positively reftev̂ f or terminate 

his or her contract. There has been solid take-up of Justfireen prc«lucts witiiin Canadian electricity renewals ieadr ig to higher than target *-

renewal rates. Management targets a renewal rate for electricity customers of 65%. _ ,, ' 

In the U.S. markets, Just Energy currently only has Illinois gas snd Texas electridty customers up for renewal. Gas Renewals forthe-tJ5. vtfere 

67%, above our target of 5(5%. The Texas electricity renewal rate was 79%, significantly better than our target rite of60%* 

In the table below, managernent outlines the expected annualized attrition and renewal rates for fiscal 2011. The high US, awithh rates 

reflect an expectation of continued economic weakness in those markets. ; 

Targets for fiscal 2011: 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Attrftion 
fiscal 2011- fisc^aoii 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

10% . 
30^fe, ^ 

10% 

20% 

70% 

75% 

- 70% 

75% 

Gas and elect ricity contract renewals 

This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in 

2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 

Beyond 2014 

Total 

each of the following years: 

Canada -
^ s 

29% 

2 1 % 

21% 

14% 
15% 

100% 

Canada-
electridty 

19% 
24% 
26% 

16% . 

15% 

1CK)% • 

Just Energy continuously monitors its customer renewal rates and continues to modify its offering to existing custc 
maximize the number of customers who renew their contracts. 

JUST EHKGYIMCOME 

U.S.V'. • •̂  ,. 

^ \ : - ' 
14%;-;.';'" 

1 7 % •' • 

28% , •_, 
1 4 % - ' ' * 

27% -. 

1 0 0 % ; : •••: 

mersinorderto 

• 

':\ VS.-
'^Wd^_ 

9% 

- , a% 
11% 

/ ; 2 7 % : 

- '45% 

. W% 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Gross margin earned through n e w marketing efforts 

Annual gross margin per customer for new and renewed customers (includes JustGreen impact) 

During fisca! 2010, the Fund continued to see the positive impact of continued efforts to maintain strong margin per cusbmer duri'ng 

challenging marketing periods. Overall, average gross margin per RCE increased by 5 % year over year primarily due to t h ; compound 

impact of higher per customer margins on new contracts in past quarters offset by a lower U.S. dollar reducing the margfn on existiog t;I.S, 

contracts. These higher margins on past;contracts have been a function of strong JustGreen program sales, opportunistic pridng in'a falling 

market and improved supply management. 

i 

The table betow depicts the annual nfiargins on contracts of customers signed and renewed m the year. This table reflectslthe comtaned 

margins on both "brown" energy purchased by customers and the JustGreen program. Sales of the JustGreen products t^ve been very 

strong with approximalely 39% of all customers added in the past year taking some or all green energy supply. Those w f i ) purchased the 

green products elect on average to purchase 81 % of their consumption as green supply j 

Annual gross margin per customer' 

Customers added in the year 

Canada - gas 

Canada - electricity 

United States - gas 

United States - electricity 

Customers lost in the year 

Canada - gas 

Canada-electricity 

United States - gas 

United States - electricity 

' Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working capital. 

Fiscal 2E»10 
Annual target 

fiscjd 2010 

l | '5 

1^5 

208 

2?9 

i i i 
i?o 
247 

120 

170 

143 

170 

143 

Annual margin on 505,000 newcustomersaddedin theyear including the impactof JustGreen was $208 and margin earned on 166,0(K) 

renewing customers was $168. Annual margin on customers tost during theyear was $179. 

National Home Services division 

NHS was acquired on July 1, 2009. as part of the Universal acquisition. On July 2, 2009, NHS acquired Newten Home Corjlfort Inc. and on 

September 30, 2009, acquired substantially ail of the assets of NHCLP (see page 20 for additional information). NHS provides Ontario 

residential customers long-term water heater rental programs offering conventional tanks, power vented tanks and tankkss water heaters 

in a variety of sizes, in addition to now offering furnaces and air conditioners. The combined installed water heater base 0n July 1,2009 

was 38,000. NHS continues to ramp up its operafions and, as at March 31,2010, had a cumulative installed base of 77.0 )0 water heaters . 

in residential homes. NHS earns revenue from its installed base. 

Because NHS is a high-growth, relatively capital-intensive business. Just Energy's management believes that, in order to m aintain - S t ^ i % o f 

distributions, separate non-recourse financing of this capital was appropriate. On January 18,2010, NEC entered into a idng-term financing 

agreement with Home Trust Company for the funding of the water heaters for NHS. Under the agreement, NHS will receile an amount 

equal to the five-year cash flow of the water heater contract discounted at an agreed upon rate. Home Trust Company will then in return , ^ 

receive the customer payments on the water heaters for the next five years. The initial funding received up to March 31,2010, was 

$65.4 million and total funding is expected to be approximately $90 million over the next year. ; 

Selected financial informat ion 

(thousands of doilars) 

Sales per financial statements 

Cost of sales 

GnDSS margin 

Selling expenses 

General and administrative expense 

Interest expense 

Capital expenditures 

Amortization 

Total number of water heaters instalted 
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Data of acqtjisltron (iuly 1,2009) 
toM^cft31,26lO 

^.886 

1.837 

7.049 
2,824 

. 'sjsa 
818 

,24,544 

•1,975 

77,000 



MANAGEMENT 

Results of operations 

Just Energy has owned NHS since July 1,2009. and therefore, results reflect only the nine months of operation 

the nine months ended March 31, 2010, NHS had sates of $8.9 million and gross margin of $7.1 million. The co^ 

$1.8 million and represents the amortizatton of the installed water heaters for the customer contracts signed to 

fiscal 2010 were $2.8 million and include the amortizatton of commission costs paid to the independent ^ents, 

advertising and promotion, and telecom and office supplies expenses. General and administrative costs, which 

administrative staff compensation and warehouse expenses, amounted to $5.8 million for theyear ended March 

expenditures, including installation costs, amounted to $24.5 million. Amortization costs were $2.0 million for 

not only the depreciation on capital assets noted above but also the amortization of the water heater contracts 

acquired in the purchases of Universal and Newten Home Comfort Inc. 

5 DiSCUSSIONAî 'ANALYSiS 

eliding Mandi.31,, 2pf10; For 

of s a ^ fodthe^rvi/as 

S e l l l n ^ ' ^ i r i ^ for 

lutomdis.leil^t'cE^, 

prirnarilyto'* • 

31, 2010,^Capital̂ . 

cun-erit:yeffi'and'indude 

customer i^atbrahips 

cate, 

re ate 

^ i 

aid 

The growth of NHS has been rapid and, combined with the Home Trust Company financing, is expected to be sejf-Sustaining on a cash flow 

basis. A number of independent sales contractors, previously marketing gas and electricity, have been redeployed to water heatera resultfeig 

in lower Ontario customer additions in energy marketing. Overall, management believes this is the best utilizatloii of the salK force b the 

Ontario market given the existing gas and electricity market conditions. j 

I 
Ethanol division (TGF) j 

TGF continues to improve plant production and run time of the Belle Plaine wheat-based ethanol facility For the year ended March 31, , 
2010, the plant had achieved an average production capadty of 62% with capacity expected to rise upon conpl^t'ion of the gratri-milling 

upgrade discussed below. • 
I 
I 

The ethanol division has separate non-recourse financing in place such that capital requirements and operating Icjsses will not impact 
distributable cash from Just Energ/s core business. <. 

i 
Selected financial information j 
(thousands of dollars) | 

! 
D^e of acquisition Uuly 1,2009) 

tE>March31,2Q1'0 
Sales per financial statements 

Cost of sales 

Gross margin 

General and administrative expense 
Interest expense 
Capital ejg^enditures 

Amortization 

$\ 56,455 
51,945 

4,510 
9,089 
5,107 
4,599 
1.079 

Results of operations 

Just Energy has owned 66.7% of TGF since July 1, 2009, and therefore results reflect only the nine months of op orations to Match 31, .. 

2010. During fiscal 2010, TGF had sales of $56.5 million and realized gross margin of $4.5 million. During the cu "rent year, the plant 

produced 69.4 million litres of ethanol and 66,487 metric tonnes of distillers dried grain. Forthe nine months em led March 3 l , 2010, 

TGF incurred $9.1 million in general and administrative expenses and $5.1 million in interest charges. Production l̂ ^els werebekwythe 

150-million-litre annual plant design capacity as a result of production bottlenecks pnmarily in grain milling until ate in the-fourtbquarter: 

The first phase of the installation of the new grain milling equipment was completed on March 1,2010, to address this bottienec); and* 

enable production to achieve the design capacity. For the months of March and April 2010, production capadty i icreased to.73%. Coital 

expenditures, including installation costs, for the year amounted to $4.6 million and include the assets related to the graln-millWg project; 

TGF receives a federal subsidy related to an agreement signed on Februaiy 17,2009, teased on the volume of eth ano! produced.-During, 
the nine months ended March 31,2010, the subsidy was 10 cents per litre on ethanol produced. Through fiscal ^011, this subsidy will be 
9 cents per litre on ethanol produced- This amount dedines through time to 5 cents per litre of ethanol producet̂  in fiscal 2015, the last 
year of the agreement. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Overall consolidated results 

General and administrative expenses 1 

General and administrative costs v\^re $88.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2010, representing a 48% increase fi^m $59.6 millit^ in 

fiscal 2009. This was primarily due to the inclusion of administrative costs for NHS and TGF as well as the addition of a pijirtion of 

Universal's energy marketing administrative costs. 

Fiscal 2010 fiscal 20D9 Wiance 

Energy marketing 

NHS 

TGF 

Total general and administrative expenses 

73,545 
5,789 
9,089 

$ 59,535 

$ 88,423 $ 59,536 $ 28.837 

$ • .13.959; 
! 5.789 

Overall, energy marketing general and administrative costs were up 23% in fiscal 2010 versus last year to support the 28% increase in total 
customers. The increased costs include additional collection costs, staff and professional fee expenditures on review of pdtential acquisitions 
and the Fund's conversion plan, IFRS and other corporate development activities. Total corporate headcount increased byj28% to a total of 
900 full-time employees. Both NHS and TGF are in the start-up phase and management is confident that they both will cffset thea* start-up 
costs with distributable cash in future periods. Overall, after integrating Universal, management expected to reduce combined Just Energy, 
and Universal general and administrativecosts by $10 million per year on an ongoing basis. This target has been exceeddd on a current run -
rate basis and the rate of grovirth in general and administrative costs should slow in fiscal 2011 through achievai synergies. -

Marketing expenses | 

Marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors for signing new customers, expend to operate the . 

regional sales offices and an allocation of copsorate marketing costs, were $95.8 million, an increase of 41 % from $68.1 millton in fiscal 2009. 

This reflects increased customer addittons of 28% versus the same period last year and increased recruiting costs resulting in 52% more 

active independent sales contractors, tn addition, higher sales office expenses resulting from expansion and further develiiipment of the 

commercial product offerings, increased the costs in fiscal 2010. j , -

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of gross margin tost from attrition as comfjared to the g ro^ . . 

margin signed from new and renewed customers during the year. Mariceting expenses to maintain gross margin increased by 50% to - ^ 

$62.8 million in fiscal 2010, as compared to $41.9 million last year. The increase resulted from higher customer attrition driven fc^a • 

continued weak U.S. economy and a greater number of renewals and associated costs versus last year. | 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of net new gross margin earned on the customers signed;, 
less attrition, as compared to the gross margin signed from new and renewed customers during the ̂ r . Marketing expê nses to add new 
grossmargin in fiscal 2010 totalled $33.0 million, an incrcaseof 26% from $25.2 million in the prior year. 

The actual aggregation costs per customer added were as follows: 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas 

Electricity 
Canada 
United States 
Total electricity 

Fiscal 2mQ Rscai '2Q<B 

$ 215/RCE 

174/RtE 

182/RtE $ 194/RCE 

$ 1S8/RCE 

leimb 
168/RCE $ 156/RCE 

Actual total aggregation costs for gas and electridty customers for fiscal 2010 were $182 per customer for gas and $168[per customer for 

electricity. The main contributor to lower costs in the U.S. was the 4% decline in the U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollsjr year ove r^K 

The increase in per customer aggregafion cost in Canada is due to two reasons: a JustGreen customer generates a higher]commission 

commensurate with its higher margin, and secondly, increased commission rates stimulate sales in heavily penetrated Canadian markets. 
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MANAGEMEWlfS U/SCUSSIDN AND AiStAlVSIS 
( - -
i - • • • " . 

Unit based compensation 

Compensation in the form of units (non-cash) granted by the Fund to the directors, offers, fulhtime emploĵ ees fend seivice provfd^ of- te 

subsidiaries and affiliates pursuant to the 20Q1 unit option plan, the 2004 unit appreciation rights planand the rffeectors'deferred 

compensation plan amounted to $4.8 mil/ion, an increase of 16% from the $4.1 million paid in fiscal 2009. The ̂ Tcnsased es ĵense.lsa 

result of the increase in the number of fully paid unit appreciation nghts awarded fo employees in fiscal 2010. i 
- • . , I • 

Bad debt expense j 

In Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland and California, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated wth the coliecflon of all 

customer accounts, in addition, for large direct-billed accounts in B.C. and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad d^rfefc. fmdit 

review processes have been established to manage the customer defauft rate. Management facWis default from Ciedit r l ^ mtd Hsmstgln. 

expectations for a// of the abbve-hdited markets. I . 

Bad debt expense for fiscal 2010 was $17,3 million, up 29% from $13.9 miflion expensed last year. The bad debj expense hicre^e vvas 

mainly due to the 19% increaseintota/revenues where JtJSt Energy assumes the risk for accounts rsceivaWe coll^'omand.higher •• • 

percentage losses in Texas. For the year erKled Mafth 31, 2010, the bad debt expense of $17.9 mil/Ion represents at^noximale^'2.8% of -

$649.3 million in revenues. In ffscal 2009, the total bad debt expense was $13.9 million, or 2.6%, of $543.5 rrnWm in m^nue. 

Management integrates Its default rate for bad debts within its margin tafigets and continuousy reviews and moj^ltois the aedit appio\®f • 

process to mitigate customer delinquenq'. ! 

Overall, bad debt expense ts expected to remain near the upper end of the 2% fo 3% target until there is a sust^ned t ^ d m M J t ^ ^ estate 

recovery in the U.S. As dlKUSsed eaftier. management has taken an aggressive position with regards to returning fcustomer^ fo u&T% default 

services or disconnecting delinquent customers to ensure that bad debt expense is managed through the heavy fa t i ng se^or?. Bad debt as 

a percentage of revenue has declined from 3.3% in the thinJ quarter to 2.8% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 20lq. 

For each of Just Energy's other markets, the LDCs provide collection senrices and assume the rek of any bad debfrowing from Just Energy's 
customers for a fee. t . 

Interest expense ; 

Total interest expense for the year ended March 31,2010, amounted to $16.1 million, up from $3.9 million In ffs^l2009; Tlwiarge 

increase noted In the year primarily relates to the $5.0 mil/ion in interest expense relating fo the Universal conver^ie d^entom.ai^^. interest 

payments of $5,1 milffon made on debt associated with TGF .' 

Foreign exchange I 

Just Energy has an exposure to U.S. dollar exchange rates as a result of Its U.S. operatwns arid any changes in tha applicsb^exd^nije rale 

may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income (loss) for fiscal 2010. For the year, a foreign exchange urlr^iff id gain of 

$26.6 million was reported iri othejf comprehensive Income {loss) versus a $1.9 million unrealized toss reported in^he prlcjryear. In ̂ e fftst 

quarter of fiscal 201D, a total of $23.0 million in U.S. funds was repatriated back to Canada. , - . 

The Fund retains sufficient funds in the U-S, to support ongoing growth and suiplus cash Is repatriated to Car^m. 0.S. cross boftfer cash 

flow is forecasted annually, and hedges for cross border cash flow are entered into when it is determined that any surplus U;S.,cash K not 

required for new acquisition opportunities. Overall, a weak U.S. dollar decreases safes and gross margin but tftcs is parttslfe -̂pffeet \3y lower 

operating costs denominated in US.=dollars. 

Class A preference share distributions 

The remaining holder of the Just Energy Coip. ("JEC") ClaK A preference shares {which are exchangeable into unife on s T:1 base) fe'^ntitled 

to receive, on a quarterly basis, a payment equal to the amount paid or payable to a Unitholder on an equal number of units. Ttietotal 

amount paid for the year ended March 31. 2010, including tax and the Special Oistributlcwi amounted to $7.6 millton versus |7.7 mdlibn paW 

in fiscal 2009. These distributions on the Class A preference shares are reflected in the Statement of Unitholders' tm\ty of the Fund's 

consolidated financial statements, net of tax. j 

Special Distribution I *, , -

The Fund under-distributed its taxable income in calendar 2009 and 2008 and would have been subject to tax at i?6% fe^any'ondB&fbuled 

taxable Income. In order to ensure that all of the taxabte income is distributed to its Unitholders, the Board of Oir^ois conc l i ^^ that if 

would be preferable to pay out a Special Oistribution fo effectively allocate all of the taxable income to the Unitholders..TfJe.5p^*af • 

Oistrlbijtion was $26.7 million {$0.20 per unit) and was paid as 100% cash fo the holders of unfts, unit appreciaam rights ("UARs"?, 

defen^d unit grants (" DUGs"). Class A preference shares and JEEC Exchangeable Shares. The amount was funded by oper&tmQcash flow-

and the Fund's credit facility and was paid on January 30, 2010. In fiscal 2009, a Special Distribution of $ 1S,6 mil/ion {$0.1SS perunit) was 

declared In the third quarter. 
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Recovery of income tax 

For Ihe years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Current income tax expense 
Amount credited to Unitholders' equity 

Future tax recovery 

Recovery of income tax 

Fiscal 2t 10 

$ 19.S3 $ 
2,551 

(T22,dl4) 

Fiscal EIQS 

,3,861 

2.767 

<k,088)'. 

$ (100,250) $ (57,460) 

The Fund recorded a current income tax expense of $19.3 million for the year versus $3.9 million of expense in fiscal 2009. The change is 

due to income tax expense incurred by the Universal entities. 

, Also included in the income tax provision is an amount relating to the tax impact of the distributions paid to the Class A j )reference 
shareholder of JEC. In accordance with EIC 151, Exchangeable SecuritiK Issued by Subsidiaries of Income Trusts, all Class A preference 
shares are included as part of Unitholders' equity and the distributions paid to the shareholders are included as distfibutic ns on the , 
Statement of Unitholders' equity, net of tax. For the year ended March 31,2010, the tax impact of these distributions, b^sed on a tax rate= 
;0f 33%, amounted to $2.5 million as compared to $2.8 million in fiscal 2009. During the cunent and pastyear, the Fundj had significant 
temporary differences attributed to mark to market losses from finandal derivatives, among which a substantial portibn E ; expected to be 
realised subsequent to 2010. As the Fund will convert to a taxable Canadian corporation after 2010 (hereinafter defined as tiie 
"Conversion"), as per its announcement in January 2010, it is now recording the future tax benefits of these mark to mallet losses which 
are expected to be realized post Conversion. As a resuU, a future tax recovery of $122.0 million has been recorded in fiscM 2010. 

After the Conversion during the fourth quarter of calendar 2010, the Fund will be taxed as a taxable Canadian corporati(«from.that date -

onwards. Therefore, the future tax asset or liability associated with Canadian liabilities and assets recorded on the balana; sheet as at that 

date will be realized over time as the temporary differences between the carrying value of assets in the consolidated financial statemente 

and their respective tax bases are realized. Current Canadian income taxes will be accrued at that time to the extent that there is taxable 
income in the Fund or its underiying operating entities, 

I 

The U.S.-based corporate subsidiaries are subject to U.S. income taxes on their taxable income detennined under U,S. income tax rules and 
regulations. During the year, the U.S. subsidiaries (other than the newly acquired UG&E and Commerce) had fully utilized!their combined 
operating losses for tax purposes carried over from prior years, and after taking these tax losses into effect, rea>rded a $d.9 million current 
U.S. federal income tax for the year. These U.S. entities had also recorded a combined U.S. state income tax of $2.0 milli4n for the year. 
Both UG&E and Commerce had no operating losses carried forward and generated taxable income during the ̂ ar, and e s a r^ult inoJme 
tax expense of $1.4 million and $2.8 million were recorded for these entities respectively during the year, which have be^i inciuded.fei the 
current income tax expense amounts as noted above. 

The Fund follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and asets 
estimated tax consequence atuibutable to the temporary differences tetween the carrying value of the assets and liabilities 
financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income tax rates. A valuation altowance is 
future income tax asset if it is not more likely than not that the asset will be realized in the foreseeable future. The effect of a 
income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income during the period that the 

Liquidity and capital resources 

Summary of cash flows 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Operating activities 

Investing activities 
Financing activities, excluding distributions 

Gain (loss) on foreign exchange translation 

Increase in cash before distributions 

Distributions {cash payments) 

Increase (decrease) in cash 
Cash - beginning of year 

Cash -end of year 

are recognized' forthe. 
On the consolidated 

recc rded agamst a 
change in the , 
:hangeoa!Jr5.* • 

Fiscal 2^<i 

$ 15a2i73 1 

(37,4^6) 

46.6^6 
(3,8^1) 

Fiscal 2009 

172,757 
(8,187) 
2330, 

, 2 ^ 9 1 -

163,6p 
(162,574) 

%mmv 

1,0^8 
59,oU 

31,784 

27,310 

$ 60.1B2 $ 59,094 
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSC^ AND ANADrSiS 

Operating activities ! 

Cash flow from operating activities forthe yearended March 31,2010, was $158.8 million, a decrease from $172.8 [million m-^prtor, 
comparable year The decrease is primarily attrfcutable to an increase in gross margin during f jsca) 2010 that was paip'afiy offset i:̂ ^ higher " 
amortization on the acquired customer contracts from Unii/ersal and unrealized income related to the financial instruments reaartfedfti t f i e ^ r . 

Investing activities 1 

The Fund purchased capital and recorded intangible assets totalling $37.5 million during the year, an increase fro n $8.2 miKlon in the prior 

year. Capita! asset purchases and intangibles amounted to $476 million for fiscal 2010, compared with $6.3 mill on last year. During tfie 

year, a total of $24.5 millionwas spent on wafer heater purchases for NEC. During the second quarter of Fiscal 2' )10, the Fund completed 

the acquisition of Universalincbnsideration for JEEC Exchangeable Shares valued at $239.9 million. For further fr formation onthe 

acquisition see page 20. On̂ Jufy 2, 2009, NEC acquired ̂ tewten Home Comfort Inc., an ann's length third party i hat held'a 20% interest of 

NHCLP. Accordingly. NHCLP became a who% owned subsidiary of Just Energy. NEC, which began opera^ns \nPp^'^ 2008, operat^ under 

the trade name of National Home Services. In the second quarter of fiscal 2009. Just Energy purchased substantia 1^ all of the commerdal -

and residential customer contracts of CEG in British Columbia for $1.8 million. CEG was a western Canadian mai teter of natural g ^ whc% 

owned by SemCanada Energy Company, both of which filed for creditor protection under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act on' 

July 30,2008. As welt, iri.fiscai,2009, the Fund entered into a limited partnership to form NHCLP for an investmept of $0.5 millibn'. 

Financing activities j , , 

Financing activities, excluding distributions, relate primarily to the drawdown of the operating line for working capital requirements as wefl 

as borrowing requirements for TGF. See page 38 for an additional discussion on "Long-term debt and finandng"; 

The Fund's liquidity requirements are driven by the delay from the time that a customer contract is signed until cap flow is g^r^rated. ' , 

Approximately 50% of an independent sales contractor's commission payment is made following reaffirmation a verbal w r i ^ t h t r b f ihe 

customer contract with most of the remaining 50% being paid after the energy commcxiity begins flowing to the customer. " . . 

The elapsed period between the times when a customer is signed to when the first payment is received from the rustomer vgs'ies With each \ 
market. The time delays per market are approximately two to nine months. T h ^ periods reflect the time requirep by the varfcius LDCs to 
enroll, flow the commodity bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy In Alberta and Tfexas, Just Energy recedes-p^melnt • 

directly from the customer. | 

Distributions (cash payments) 

Investors should note that due to the institution of a distribution reinvestment program ("DRIP") in 2007, a portion of dividends tfecl^red* 

are not paid in cash. Under the program. Unitholders can elect to receive their distributions in units at a 2% discciiOtto the:|3i^lffTg 

market price rather than the cash equivalent ' ' • ' . • ' ' • . 

During the year, the Fund made cash distributions to its Unitholders in the amount of $162.6 mil/ion, compared t^ $137.8 miWm'm the 

prior year, an increase pf :18%. The increase m distributions is a result of the JEEC Exchangeable Shares that were 

during the last three quarters of the fiscal year as well as the dividends paid on the Exchangeable Shares. 

converted frito unite 

Just Energy wif( continue to utifee its cash resources for expansion into new markets, growth in its existing custonlier base, arid-distributions 
to its Unitholders. 

At the end of the year, the artnual rate for distributions per unit was $ 1.24. The Fund intends to make distributions to its Uriithdiders,' based 

upon cash receipts of the Fund, excluding proceeds from the issuance of additional Fund units, adjusted for costs and e)q3enses.Df the Fund. 

The Fund's intention is for Unitholders of record on the 15th day of each month to receive distributions at the end of the month. 

i 
Balance sheet as a t iWarch 31 , 2010, compared to M£iK:h 31 , 2009 i 
Cash increased from $59.1 million as at March 31, 2009, to $60.1 million at March 31, 2010. Long-term debt excluding the current portion 
has increased to $231.8 million from $76.5 million as a result of the Universal acquisition and is detailed on page p . The \ m t E r m ^ 
original credit facility decreased to $57.5 million and relates fo the normal injection of gas into storage 3r)d variou > other worktngi capital 
requirements. Working capital requirements in the US. and Alberta result from the timing difference between customercCBisuniptibn and 
cash receipts. For electridty, working capital is required to fund the lag between settlements with the si^ipliersand se t t ^a i tw i tb the -
LDCs. Restricted cash has increased to $18.7 million from $76 miffion as at Mareh 31,2009, diie to additional ca!;h collateral ̂ aosBn^ 
related to supply procurement and credit support for the Universal, Commerce and TGF entities. '' \ •' 

The increase in accounts receivable from $249.5 million to $348.9 million is primarily attributable to the increase ih sales during ,ih,e|^rrod 

as a result of the Universal acquisition and customer growth. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities has also increased from $.1 ̂ .Rmillion 

to $227.0 million relating to added consumption as a result of the 430,000 Universal customers acquired on July', 2009, and current year 

net customer additions of 73,000. I 
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Gas in storage has decreased from $6.7 million to $4.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2010. This balance reflects iijections info 

storage for the Illinois, New York and Indiana customer base, which occur from y^^ril to November. 

At the end of the year, customers in Ontario, Manitoba and Quebec had consumed more gas than was supplied to the ihCs for thdruse. 

Since Just Energy is paid for this gas when delivered yet recognizes revenue when the gas is consumed t^ the customer, the result on the 

balance sheet is the unbilled revenue amount of $20.8 million and accrued gas accounts payable of $15.1 million. As at f̂iarch 31, ;2bD97 

Just Energy had unbilled revenues amounting to $57.8 million and accrued gas accounts payable of $41.4 million. 

Prepaid expenses have increased from $2.0 million to $20.0 million for the current year. The increased balance relates to lax, rent and 

various prepayments from the Commerce, Universal, TGF and NEC entitles. j 

Future income tax assets of $ 1143 million recorded in fiscal 2010 primarily related to the conversion of Just Energy to a taxable Canadian 
corporation late in calendar 2010. 

Property, plant and equipment increased to $218.6 million from $20.0 million last year primarily due to the acquisition of 

inclusion of the plant assets from TGF and water heater purch^es made in fiscal 2010. Intangible assets and goodwi! 

current year again relate to the acquisition of Universal on July 1,2009. 

Long-term debt and financing 

As at March 31 

; (thousands of dollars) 

Universal and ttie 

in the trHreases 

Fiscal 2010 Fiscal 2009 

Original credit facility 

TGF credit facility 
TGF debentures 

TGF term loan 

JEEC convertible debentures 
NEC Home Trust Company financing 

$ 57,500 
41,313 
37,031 
10,0)0 
83,417 
65,455 

$250 

of 

Original credit facility 

On July 1, 2009, in connection with theacquisitionof UEG, Just Energy increased its credit facility from $170 million to 

part of the increase in the credit facility, Socî t6 G^n^rale and Alberta Treasury Branches joined Canadian Imperial Bank 

Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada and Bank of Nova Scotia as the syndicate of the lenders thereunder. UndertN 

credit facility, effective July 1, 2009, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and UBOR advances at stamping 

prime rate advances at Canadian and U.S. prime plus 3.0%, and letters of credit at 4.0%. Just Energy's obligations undei 

are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a pledge of the assets of JiBt Eneigy ane 

operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just̂ Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit faci 

at March 31, 2010 and 2009, all of these covenants have been met 

$ . 76,500 

millioni P^ 

Commerce, Royal 

r^w terms of. the-

fees of 40%,, 

tfie credft.fe6li^.. 

themajofi^of'its' 

tyagreern^ik^As': 

TGF credit facility 

A credit facility of up to $50.0 million, established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union, wa^ an̂ anged to 
finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The fadiity was further revised on March 18, 2009, and was convated to a fixed 
repayment term of ten years commencing March 1,2009, which indudes interest costs at a rate of prime plus 2%, with j)rlncipal 
repayments commencing on March 1,2010. The credit fadiity is secured by a demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest 
on all assets and undertakings of TGF and a general security interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF The Credit facility ~. -
includes certain financial covenants, themore significant of which relate to cunent ratio, debt to equity ratio, debtservic* coverage and 
minimum shareholders' equity. The lenders have deferred complence with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011. This fadiity was 
further revised on March 31, 2010, postponing the principal payments due for April 1 to June 1, 2010, and to amortize tiem over the 
six-month period commencing October T, 2010 and ending March 31, 2011. '• 

TGF debentures I 

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40.0 millicai agg^gate principal •' 
amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. The interest rate is 10.5% per annum, compounded annually and p ^ ^ l e quarterly. 
Interest is to be paid quarterly with quarterly principal payments commencing October 1,2009, in the amount of $1.0 miion per quarfer. . 
The agreement includes certain financial covenants the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capilalizalion ratio, ddrt 
service coverage, debt to EBfTDA and minimum shareholders' equity. The lender has deferred compliance with the financial covenants untir 
April 1,2011. On March 31, 2010, TGF entered into an agreement with the holders of the debentures to defor scheduled principal 
payments owing under the debenture until April 1, 2011. '• 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Critical accounting estimates 

The consolidated financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Certain accoui 

management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost of sale; 

general and administrative expenses. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates indude the allowance foi 

estimates of the useful life and estimated fair value of prqijerty, plant and equipment, and impairments thereon valuation ol 

intangibles and the impairment thereon, valuation allowance for future tax assets, the determination of the fair value of fim nciai 

as the aggregate fair value amounts represent point in time estimates only and shcwld not be interpreted as being reaBzabte 

settlement of the supply contracts, and the determination of unit based compensatiai. Estimates arc based on historic^ eqierience, 

information and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The emergence of 

and changed circumstances may result irt actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materiaih^ from current 

The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. The Fund might realize different 

application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making bodies. 

policies require 

marfcetirg and 

doubtful aoDounls, 

goodwill md 

ir^trumehts, -

inanimrt^diate..'' 

current 

informatidfii 

iStimatesr 
rew 

results from the 

Uhbilied revenues/Accrued gas accounts payable 

Unbilled revenues result when custorners consume more gas than has been delivered by Just Energy to the UDCs. These dstimatK,are.stated 
at net realizable value. Accrued gas accounts payable represents Just Energy's obligation to the LDC with respect to gas c onsumed jay 
customers in excess of that delivered. This obligation is also valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for tN; gas business unit 
only, since electridty is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract arice andtiie 
current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. i 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption/Deferred revenues i 

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections from IDCS 
in advance of their consumption results in deferred revenues which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate is reqjjlred for tiie gas 
business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average custofner contract price 
and the current average supply costas a basis for the valuation. • 

' ^ - i • 

Allowance for doubtful accounts | 

Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of customers' accounts in Alberta, Illinois, Texas, Penns^nia, Maryland 

and California. In addition, for large direct-billed accounts in B.C. and Ontario, the Fund is responsible forthe bad debt ribk. Management 

estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts in these markets based on the financial conditions of each jurisdiction, thej aging of the 

receivables, customer and industry concentrations, the current business environment and historical experience. 

fiow. 

Goodwill 

In assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Just Energy's future cash 

change in the future, the Fund may be required to record impainfnent charges related to goodwill. An impairment review 

performed during fiscal 2010 and aŝ a result of the review, it was determined that no impairment of goodwill existed at 

If the estirnates 

of gobdwaiwas--, 

r larch 31,2010. ,• 

Fair value of derivative financial instruments and risk management 

The Fund has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments effectively all related to future supply contracts as fiart of the business 
of purchasing and selling gas, electridty and the JustGreen energy option. Just Energy enters into contracts with customers to provide 
electricity and gas at fixed prices and to provide comfort to certain customers that a specified amount of energy will be d jrlved from greeh-
generation. These customer contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reiluce ttieotpdsure 
to the commodity market price changes, Just Energy uses derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixed^ricepmmodity 
supply to match its estimated delivery or green commitn^ent obligations. 

The Fund's business model's objective is to minimize commodity risk other than consumption changes, usually attributable to weather. 
Accordingly, it is Just Energy's policy to hedge the estimated requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of natural gas, eiectricity, 
renewable energy certificates and carbon offsets at fixed prices for tenns equal to those of the customer contracts. The cish flow froni 
these supply contracts is expected to be effective in offsetting the Fund's price exposure and serves to fix acquisition cost? of gas, electricity 
and renewables to be delivered under the fixed-price or price-protected customer contracts. Just Energy's policy is not to bse derivative 
instruments for speculative purposes. 

The financial statements are in compliance with Section 3855 of the CICA Handbook, whkrh requires a determination of air value fw all ' -
derivative financial instruments. Up to June 30, 2008, the financial statements also applied Sectbn 3865 of the CICA Har dbook which 
pennitted a further calculation for qualified and designated accounting hedges to determine the effective and ineffective portbn of the 
hedge. This calculation permitted the change in fair value to be predominantly accounted for in the statement of other c<fimprehensive -
income. As of July 1.2008, management decided that the increasing complexity and costs of maintaining this treatment outweighed the 
benefits. This fair value (and when it was applicable, the ineffectiveness) is determined using market infonnation at the end of each quarter. 
Management believes the Fund remains'economically hedged operationally across all jurisdictions. j 
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MANAGEMH\ltjS DlSCUS^ Î̂ MyDANAC^S 

Preference shares of JEC and trust units 

As at May 19, 2010, there were 5,253,728 Class A preference shares of JEC outstanding and 124,857,455 unite bf the Fundputstartding. 

JEEC Exchangeable Shares 

A total of 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares of JEEC were issued on July 1, 2009. for the purchase of Universal, i l 
voting rights equivalent to the Fund's Unitholders and their shares are exchangeable on a 1:1 basis. As at May IE 
had been converted and there vyere 4,305,257 Exchangeable Shares outstanding. 

Taxability o f distr ibutions 

Cash and unit distrtoutions received in calendar 2009 were allocated as 100% other income. Additional information 

website at www.justenergy.com; Management estimates the distributbns for calendar 2010 to be allocated in a 

Adopt ion of new accounting policies 

As of Apri! 1, 2009,:the Fund adopted a new accounting standard that was issued by CICA in Handbook Section 

Intangible Assets, vi/hich establishes revised standards for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 

assets. Just Energy adopted this standard retroactively as required by the standanis. 

EC shareholders have 
2010,16,966;547 shares 

an be foutid on our 

simS ar manner k>-that of 2009. 

3064. Ge^d»#-^^ ;-
3f goodwill md iht^n^ibte 

In June 2009. CICA amended,Hahdbciok Section 3862, Financial Instruments ~ Disclosures, to Kiopt the amendmenis recent^.macfe by the-

International Accounting Standards Board ("lASB") to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments - Disclosures. The amendmen ts require enhanced 

disclosure requirements about the fair value measurement, including the relative reliabilily of the inputs used in tfiose measur©Tientsand 

about the liquidity risk of financial instruments. The amendments are effective for annual financial statements ret iting to fiscal years ending 

after September 30, 2009; therefore, the Fund has induded these additional disclosures for the year ended March 31,2010. As this 

standard only addresses disclosure requirements, there is no impact on the financial position of the Fund. 1 

i 

Recently Issued accounting standards [ 

The following are new standards, not yet in effect, which are required to be adopted by the Fund on the effective date: 

Business Combinations I 

In October 2008, CICA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations ("CICA 1582"), concurrently with CICA Handbook Section 

1501, Consolidated Financial Statements ("CICA 1601"), and CICA Handbook Section 1602, Non-controlling tnteiest("CCA 1602"). CICA 

1582. which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standanJs for the measi rement of a business 

combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. CICA 1601, which 

Section 1600, carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the preparation of consolidated finandal statements 

subsequent to acquisition other than non-controlling interests. CICA 1602 establishes guidance for the treatmeni of non-controjling 

interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These new standards are effective for fiscal i ears beginning on or after 

January 1, 2011. The Fund has not yet determined the impact of these standards on its consolidated finandal staifflnents. 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

In Februatv 2008, CICA announced that GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by IFRS for 

after January 1,2011. IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to GAAP but there are significant differences on 

and disclosures. 

replaces CiCA Handbook 

fj^aiyeam^beginnit^ <m or 
recognitbn,. me^rement 

under IFRS for the ̂ ree^. Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1, 2011, and intends to issue its first interim financial statements 

month period ending June 30,2011, and a complete set of financial statements under IFRS for the year ending Inarch 31,2012. 
r 

Based on the initial assessment of the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS relevant to the Fund, an internal project team was 

assembled and a conversion plan was developed in March 2009 to manage the transition to IFRS. Project status r iporting is provided to 

senior executive management and to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. We have also engaged an external advisee. 

Our project consists of three phases: IFRS diagnostic assessment, solution devebpment and implementation. The 
was completed in 2009, involved a high-level review and the identification of major accounting differences betw^n 
GAAP and IFRS applicable to Just Energy.The Fund has recently completed phase 2, the solution developmeit 
completion of all policy papers which have been discussed with the external auditors. The IFRS project team is cu 
implementation phase, which is'the finahphase of the project.This phase involves approval of the accounting pol 
collection of data required to prepare the finandal staterhents, implementing changes to systems and business 
financial reporting, key personnel training andthe monitonngof standarcis currently being amended by thelASB 
commenced analysis of IFRS financial statement presentatiori arKl disclcsure requirements. T h ^ assessments wil 
analyzed and evaluated throughout the implementation phase of the Fund's project. 

diagnostk phase, vtrhich 
cun^ t Cariadian 

e, including substantial 
rently engaged in Ihe 
cy choices, completing the 
x:essK relating to 
Just Energy has aisp 
need to be further 

phjas 
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The initial assessment phase determined that the areas with the highest potential to significantly impact the fund include! but are-lodf' 

limited to, property, plant and equipment, impairment of assets, accounting for income taxes, financial instruments, employee betiefj^^', 

well as the first time adoption of IFRS ("IFRS 1"). 

The Fund has selected IFRS 1 elective exemptions which are practical and provide the most relevant presentation on 
The primary result of the exemptions selected is to apply certain IFRS differences protectively, minimizing adjustm^ts 
balance sheet. 

It is ej^ected that several transitional adjustments and changes in accounting policies will be made on the transition to W ̂ . The tPK^ t̂BMral 
adjustments and subsequent accounting may result in other business impacts such as impacts on the debt covenants and capital 
requirements disclosure. The Fund is currently determining the directbn of changes and quantifying the adjustmentswhii:h cannot be 
reasonably detennined at this time. ? 

Ba^d on the work completed to date, the transition is expected to have minimal impact on infonnation technology and 
over financial reporting of the Fund. : 
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Risk factors 

Described below are the principal risks and uncertainties that Just Energy can foresee. It is not an exhaustive list, some fu1|ure r(Sksjfr%^b6. 

as yet unknown, and other risks, cunentiy regarcied as immaterial, could turn out to be material 

Credit, commodity and other market-related risks 

Availability of supply 

The risk of supply default is mitigated through credit and supply diversity anangements. The Just Energy business model Is bised on 

contracting for supply to lock in margin. There is a risk that counterparties could not deliver due to business failure, supply shortage orbe ' 

otherwise unable to perform their obligations under their agreements with Just Energy, or that Just Energy couW not identifj atternatiyesto' 

existing counterparties. Just Energy continues to investigate opportunities to identify or secure additional gas suppliers and e ectricit^ suf^liers. 

Just Energy's commodity contracts are predominantly with Shell, BR Bruce Power, Constellation, Soci6t6 Generate, Sempra a ^ CP Ener^ 

Marketing (formerly and also knowm as "EPCOR"). Other suppliers represent less than 1 % of our gas and 2% of our electrk?ty supfrfy 

Volatility of commodity prices - Enforcement | 

A key risk to the Just Energy's business model is a sudden and significant drop in the market price of gas or electricity resijlting in some -
customers renouncing their contracts. Just Energy may encounter difficulty or political resistance for enforcement of liquidated damages 
and/or enactment of force majeure provisions in such a situation and be exposed to spot prices with a material advCTse irnpact to cash fkRW. 
Continual monitoring of margin and exposure allows management of Just Energy time to adjust strategies, pricing and cc fnmunicatbns to. 
mitigate this risk. 

Availability of credit 

In several of the markets in which Just- Energy operates, payment is provided by LDCs only when the customer has paid fo r the consumed r T 

commodity {rather than when the commodity is delivered). Also, in some markets. Just Energy must inject gas inventoty tr to stors^e ki\ 

advance of payment These factors, along with the seasonality of customer consumption, create working capital rcquirem irits neces^tatir^ 
the use of Just Energy's available credit. In additbn, some of Just Energy's subsidiaries and affiliates are required to prcsrid i credit assurance, 

by means of providing guarantees or posting collateral, in connectbn with commodity supply contracts, license obligation; 
owed to certain LDCs. Cash flow and distributions could be impacted by the ability of just Energy to fund such rcquir^nepts 

other satisfactory credit assurance for such obligations. To mitigate credit availability risk and its potential impact to cash 

has security arrangements in place pursuant to which commodity suppliers and the lenders under the credit facility hold security 
substantially ail of the assets of Just Energy {other than AESLP, NEC and TGF). AESLR in turn, has similar arrangements in 

EPCOR. Other commodity suppliers'security requirements are met through cash margining, guarantees and letters of crecfit 
significant assets of Just Energy consist of its contracts with customers, which may not be suitable as security for some creditors 
commodity suppliers. To date, the credit facility and related security agreements have met the collateral posting and opra-atbnat 

requirements of the business. Just Energy continues to monitor its credit and security requirements. Just Ener^'s business may be advei^^ 

affected if it is unable to meet cash obligations for operational requirements or its collateral posting requirements. 
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MANAGEMENT S DKCUSStON̂ Ŝ ÂNALN̂ IS 

Market risk 

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a partiojlar instrument of 

commodity. Although Just Energy manages its estimated customer requirements, net of contracted commodity tc zero, itjs'e^iosed to 

market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements do r ot match'aCtaatci^tomer 

requirements or where it has not been able to exactly purchase the estimated customer requirement. Just Energy is also eî KJsed to interest 

rates assodated with its credit facility and foreign currency exchange rates associated with the repatriation of US\ dollar denominated funds 

for Canadian dollar denominated distributions. Just Energy's exposure to market risk is affected by a number of fktors, including accuracy 

of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of markets, and the absokiteand relative . 

levels of interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in ordeijto manage fficposUresto 

changes in commodity prices and foreign currency rates; current exposure to interest rates does not economically warrantthe.use of 

derivative instruments. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimat id customer <»mmodily 

demand and thereby fix margins such that Unitholder distributbns can be appropriately established. Derivative instrument are general^ 

transacted over the counter. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above-market risks 

adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy 
coukJ have a material 

Market risk governance 

Just Energy has adopted a corporate-wide Risk Management Policy governing its market risk management and at|y dwivative trading' 

activities. An internal Risk Committee, consisting of senior officers of Just Energy monitors company-wide energy risk management activities 

as well as foreign exchange and interest rate activities. There is also a Risk Committee of the Board that oversees nanagement,The Risk 

Office and the internal Risk Committee monitor the results and ensure compliance with the Risk Management Po icy. The Risk Office is 

responsible for ensuring that Just Energy manages the market, credit and operational risks witiiin limitations impc sed by the Soafd of 

Directors in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. Market risks are monitored by the Risk Office and intern il Risk Conirhteee utilizing 

industry-accepted mark to market techniques and analytical methodologies in addition to company-specific m^s|ifes. The Risk Office 

operates and reports independently of the traders. The failure or inability of Just Energy to comply with and moni 

Policy could have an adverse effect on the operations and cash ffow of Just Energy 

or its Risk Man^ement 

Energy trading inherent risks : [ .. ' 

Energy trading subjects Just Energy to someinherent risks associated with future contractual commitments. incluc|ing marfcetand 
operational risks, counterparty credit risk, product'loGation cjifferences, market liquidity and volatility. There is conjinuous monitoring and 
reporting of the valuation of identified risks tothe interhal RiskCommittee, Executive Committee and the Risk Ccjmmittee of the Board of 
Directors. The failure or inability of Just Energy to monitor and addrea the energy trading inherent risks could ha\^ a material adverse effect 
on its operations and cash flow. ; . -, 

Customer credit risk I 

In Alberta, Pennsylvania, Maryland, California, Texas and Illinois, credit review processes have been implemented to manage customer 

default as Just Energy has credit risk in these markets. The processes are also applied to commercial customers in bther Juri^ictbns. In 

addition, there is a credit policy that has been established to govern these processes. If a significant number of residential cusfexners or a 

collection of larger commercial customers for which Just Energy has the credit risk were to default on their paymejnts, it could havea 

material adverse affect on the operations and cash ftow of Just Energy Management factors default from credit r ^ in its matgin , 

expectations for all customers in Illinois, Pennsylvania and Alberta and commercial customers where Just Energy hks the credit.risk. 

For the remaining customers, the LDCs provide collection seA'ices and assume the risk of ar^ bad debts owing frtfn Jusf Energy*s customers, 
for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. Theje is no assurance that the 
LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future. i _ • 

Counterparty credit risk 1 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under itfe contractual obligations. 
This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting the related customer 
margin or replacing contracted foreign exchange at prevailing Tnarket rates impacting the related Canadian dollarjdenominated 
distributions. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exception to these limit^ requires approval from 
the Board of Directors of JEC. The Risk Office and internal Risk Committee monitor current and potential credit ©daosure to individual 
counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. The failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obfigatbns 
could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy i 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Electridly supply - Balancing risk 

It is Just Energy's policy to procure the estimated electricity r^uirements of its customers with offsetting electricity sw ; ^ 

obtaining customers. Depending on several factors, induding weather. Just Energy's customers may use more or less elec tr jd^thsn-.^: 

volume purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy is able to invoice some of its existing eiectricity custonjers 

charges or credits when the amount of energy used is greater than or less than the amount of energy that Just Energy 

certain Texas and commercial customers. Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy 

consumption and has a balancing and pricing strategy to accommodate the estimated associated costs. In certain circumitances, 

be balancing issues for which Just Energy is responsible when customer aggregation forecasts are not realized. 
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Natural gas supply - Balancing risk 

It is Just Energy's policy to procure the estimated gas requirements of its customers with offsetting gas physical forwanis 

obtaining customers. Depending on several factors including weather. Just Energy's customers me^ use more or less gas 

purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy does not in\roice its natural gas Customers for balancing and, 

the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors gas consultation and has an options strategy that 

differences in customer consumption due to weather variations as well as forecast LDC balancing requirements. The costlof 

incorporated in the price to the customer. To the extent that forecast balandng requirements are outside the options purchased 

will bear financing responsibility, be exposed to market risk and, furthermore, may also be exposed to penalties by the 

failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor these balandng risks could haw a materia! adverse effect on its c r̂atitMHsJartd 

addition, for certain commercial customers. Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy 

consumption and has a balancing and pricing strategy to accommodate for the estimated associated costs. 
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Operational risks 
Information technology systems 

Just Energy operates in a high volume business with an extensive an-ay of data interchanges and market rea^uirements. Jufet Energy is-
dependent on its management information systems to track, monitor and correct or othenwise verify a high volume of da ta to ensure the 
reported financial results are accurate. Management also relies on its management information ^ e m s to prowde its ind Jfwnd^t; 
contractors with compensation informatbn and to electronically record each customer telephone interaction. Just Energyls information 
systems also help management forecast new customer enrolments and their energy requirements, which help ensure thatthe Fund% able* 
to supply its new customers' estimated average energy requirements without exposing the Fund to the spot market beyo id the risk 
tolerances established by the Risk Management Policy. The failure of Just Energy to install and maintain these systems cot Id have a material 

. adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy j 

Reliance on third party service providers ! 

In all jurisdictions in which Just Energy operates, the LDCs currently perfonn billing and collection services except as folloii«: in tiie province 

of AlberiB and state of Texas, where Just Energy is required to invoice and receive payments directly from its customers; ir Illinois, vtfhere 

Just Energy is responsible for collection of defaulted amounts; in British Columbia and California, where Just Energy is rec uired to invoice ^ 

and receive payments from certain commercial customers and in Ontario, where Just Energy would be responsible for col ection of • • 

defaulted amounts in respect of certain large volume users in one utilily territory To date, no defaults have been experier ced in this fest-' 

category. In 2005, Just Energy entered into a five-year agreement with EPCOR for the provision of billing and collection s* nricesfor all of 

Just Energy's customers in Alberta which was amended and extended in December 2008. Pursuant to the amended agreisnent EPCOR will 

continue to provide biliing and collection services for AESLP until November 30, 2011, with respect to AESLP's existing cu itomers. Iri the late 

summer of 2009, Just Energy began billing and collectbn services directly for ail new customers signed and renewed cusi 3mers.ll thel'DCs' 

cease to perform these services. Just Energy would have to seek a third party billing provider or develop internal systems 1 o pa^rmthese • -

functions. There is no assurance thatthe LDCs will continue to provide these sendees in the future. 

Outsourcing and offshoring arrangements 

Just Energy has outsource arrangements prKlominantly to support the call centre's requirements for business continuity fitarK and 
independence for regulatory purposes. Contract data input is also outsourced as is some business continuity and disaster recovery. Some of 
the outsourcing contracts are offshore. As with any contractual relationship, there are inherent risks to be mitigated and fiese are actively 
managed, predominantly through quality control measures and regular reporting. 

Competition 

A number of companies {including Direct Energy Superior Energy and MX Energy) and incumt>ent utility ̂ bsidiaries compete witii,Just Energy-
in the residential, commercial and small industrial market. It is possible that new entrants may enter the market as marketers and compete 
directly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing or reducing its market share. If the LDCs are permitted by changes in the 
current regulatory framework to sell natural gas at prices other than cost, their existing customer bases could provide therrj with a significant 
competitive advantage. This may limit the number of customers available for marketers including Just Energy 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAl REPORT 2010 



MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSON ^ m ' m m B S 

Dependence on independent sales contractors 

Just Energy must retain qualified independent sales contractors despite competition among Just Energy's competitors, 

unable to attract a sufficient number of independent sates contractors. Just Energy's customer additions and rem wals 

the Fund may not be able to execute its business strategy The continued growth of Just Energy is reliant on distri aution 

the services of its independent sales contractors. There can be no assurance that competitive conditions will allow' 

contractors, who are not employees of Just Energy or its affiliates, to achieve these customer additions. Lack of success 

programs would limit future growth of the cash fkiw of Just Energy 

• If Jus tg i ^ r ^ . i s . . ; 
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Just Energy has consistently taken the position that its independent sales contractors act independently pursuant jto their contracts for * 

service, which provide that Just Energy does not control how. where or wrhen they provide their sen/ices. On occa sion, a l indepenctept 

contractor may make a claim that they are entitled to a benefit pursuant to legislation even though they have eni ered into a contiactywth . 

Just Energy that provides that they are not entitled to benefits normally available to empbyees and Just Energy rr ust respond t o tiiese 

claims. Just Energy's position has been confirmed by regulatory bodira in many instances, but Just Energy is curre itiy appeattrig the;findings-

of two regulatory bodies {one in Canada and one in the U.S.). Should Just Energy be unsuccessful in its appeals, Just Energy wouW be 

required to remit unpaid tax amounts plus interest and might be assessed a penalty. It could also mean that Just ^ n e r ^ vrould have.to 

reassess its position in respect of other regulatory matters affecting its Independent sales contractors such as i n c c ^ e t e t r ^ t n ^ r r t ; $uch a 

decision could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash f b w of Just Energy. 

Electricity and gas contract renewals and a t t r i t ion rates 

As at March 31,2010, Just Energy held long-term electricity and gas contracts reflecting approximately 2 , 2 9 3 , ( ^ l i ng - te rmrH^ ,^ | i . ; t f i& 

renewal schedule for the contracts is noted on page 31 . Just Energy has ©cperienced contract attritbn rates of apps jximately 13'%..i!i,(C9fiada, 

and 16% in the U.S. for electricity with rates of 10% and 30% being realized for Canada and the U.S., respectiveyforgas.,Mai^'^i ient ' 

forecasts using a combination of experienced and expected attrition per year; however, there can be no assurance that ftese rates of annual 

attrition will not increase in tiie future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing electricity and gas contrai ts at the expiryof their 

terms. Changes in customer behaviour, government regulation or increased competition may affect (potentially advur^ l ^ attritbn a i d renewal-

rates in the future, and these changes could adversely impact the future cash ffciw of Just Energy See page 31 for f I trther discus^n ori "Failed • 

to renew". Just Energy's experience is that approximatdy 73% and ^ % of its Canadian and U.S. electricity custom srs, respective^, and 6 1 % 

and 67% of its Canadian and U.S. gas customers, respertively have renewed at the ej^iry of the term of tiieir conti set. . . ' ' ' • 

Cash distributions are not guaranteed and wi l l f luctuate w i th the performance of Just Energy ' - . 

Although Just Energy intends to distribute the interest and other income it earns less expenses and amounts, if artiy paki i ^ Just Etjergyin^ 

connection with the redemption of units, there can be no assurance regarding tfie amounts of income to be gen^ated by the Fund's 

affiliates and paid, directly or indirectly to the Fund. The ability to distribute and the actual amount distributed in respect of the units will 

depend upon numerous factors, including profitability, fluctuations in working capital, debt sen/ice requirements {including compliance with 

credit facility obligations), the sustainability of margins, the ability of Just Energy to procure, at favourable prices, t̂s estimated commitment 

to supply natural gas and electricity to its customers, the ability of Just Energy to secure additional gas and electri :(ty contracts and cfthef 

factors beyond the control of Just Energy Management of Just Energy cannot make any assurances that the Fum 's affiliates Wfllltffi'able to 

pass any additional costs arising from legislative changes (or any amendments) on to customers. Cash distributior s are not guaranteed and * 

wil! fluctuate with the performance of the Fund's affiliates and other factors. 

Earnings volat i l i ty 

Just Energy's business is seasonal in nature. In addition to regular seasonal fluctuations in its earnings, there e sighificant volatility in lis 

earnings associated with the requirement to mark its commcxiity contracts to market. The earnings volatility asscjclated with seascmality ard 

mark to market accounting may be misconstrued as instability thereby impacting access to capital. Management i 

disclosure for both the mark to market and seasonality to mitigate this risk. 

ensures there is adequate 

Model risk j 

The approach to calculation of market value and customer forecasts requires data-intensive modelling used in coAjunction'with certE^n 

assumptions when independently verifiable informatbn is not available, /^though Just Energy us« industry standard approad ies^d 

validates its internally developed models, results could change significantly should underlying assumptions prcwe iicorrect Of 'm emb«ided 

modelling error goes undetected in the vetting process. j 

i 
Commodity alternatives | 

To the extent that natural gas and electridty enjoy a price advantage over other forms of energy such price advarjtage may be transitory 

and consumers may switch to the use of another form of energy The inherent volatility of natural gas and electricily priCK could result in 

these other sources of energy providing more significant competitbn to Just Energy ! 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Capital asset and replacement risk 

The retail business does not invest in a significant capital asset program; however, the water heater business and the ethinol 

capital-intensive businesses. The risk associated with water heater replacement is considered minimal as there are severe 

efficiency tanks to source replacements, and individually the units are not material. The risk associated with the caprtal 

plant are more significant as parts are not standard, components have a significant value associated and capital asset 

significantly impact operations during periods of upgrade or repair. Management monitors this risk in the ethanol business 

continuity of operations as demonstrated through the recent hammer mill project that replaced the roller mill technology 

a^e& 
rcpboemente 

Tie 

Credit facilities and other debt arrangements 

The credit facility maintained by Just Energy LP and Just Energy (U.S.) Corp. ("JEUS") is In the amount of $250 million 
Such credit facility together with certain of the suppliers of Just Energy and its affiliates are parties to an intercreditor agPiwnent 
security agreements which provide for a joint security interest over all customer contracts (except for tho^ owned by AE L̂P) 
various covenants pursuant to the credit facility that govern the activities of the Fund and its subsidiaries and affiliate, 
required to submit monthly reports;addressing, amor^ other things, mark to market exposure, their bonowing base and 
projection. To date, the Fund's subsidiaries have met the requirements of the credit facility; however, should these subsid 
the credit facility and it becomes unavailable, it could have a significant material adverse effect on the business of those; 
the results of operations and financial perfonnance of the Fund if it is not able to obtain other financing on satisfactory t^rms 

The 

TGF also hasacreditfacilityof up to $50 million and a debenture purchase agreement providing for the issuance of up t i $40mi8iort * 
associated with the Belle Plaine facility. Security for these facilities includes a first priority security interest on all as^ts anc an undertaldrtgctf • 
TGF. These facilities include certain financial covenants of which certain requirements have not been met within the last j sar and havebeeri * 
waived by the lenders for fiscal 2011,. The lenders have also agreed to defer certain principal payments during fiscal 2011. In addition, tiere 
is a term loan for $10 million and a vrorking capital operating line of $7 million. The tenn loan is secured by liquid investments on (fê pOSt 
with the lender There is a risk that these credit facilities, including the debenture purchase agreement, may not continue to be available on 
the same terms or at all given the compliance issues that TGF experienced under the facilities in 2009, which could resultjin the Belte Plaine 
fadiity ceasing to operate and a loss of the security pledged by TGF as security for advances under such credit facilities. 

plant are more 

sL^piiefSG îHigh. 
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The Fund has guaranteed JEEC's obligatbns under the JEEC debentures tn connection with the Universal acquisition. R i ^ 
these debentures include dilution to Unitholders in the event they are converted into JEEC Exchangeable Shares, or JEEC 
are issued to satisfy JEEC's obligations upon maturity or redemption, and such JEEC Exchangeable Shares aresubsKjuen 

Associated With 
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NHS has also entered into a long-tenti financing agreement with respect to the installation of water heaters (see page 3£J for more 

information). In the event this finandhg becomes unavailable, it could have a material adverse affect on the Fund's homd service busine^. 

Disruptions to infrastructure ' 

Customers are reliant upon the LDCs to deliver their contracted commodity LDCs are reliant upon the continuing availda lity of the 

distribution infrastructure. Any disruptions in this infrastructure would result in counterparties, and thereafter, Just Energ) enacting the^ 

force majeure clauses of their contracts. Under such severe circumstances there would be no revenue or associated cost ̂ f sales to report- '• 

for the affected areas. 

Expansion strategy and future acquisitions 

The Fund plans to grow its business by expansion into additional deregulated markets tiirough organic growth and acquisitions. The 

expansion into additional markets is subject to a number of risks, any of which could prevent the Fund from realizing its Ijjusiness strategy. 

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any one of which could hann the Fund's business, including difficulties in integratind the operations, 
technologies, products, existing contracts, accounting processes and personnel of the target and realizing the anticipated synergies of the 
combined businesses; difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers, if any or assets of the target company may € sKeed the value 
the Fund realizes, or the value it could have realized if it had allocated the purchase price or other resources to another o sportuni^ risks of 
entering new markets or areas in which Just Energy has limited or no experience or are outside its core competencies; poltentia! kjsSOf k^ 
employees, customers and strategic alliances from either Just Energy's current business or the business of the target; assi mption of-
unanticipated problems or latent liabilities, such as problems witii the quality of the products of the target; and inability Ip generate 
suffident revenue to offset acquisition costs. 

Future acquisitions or expansion could result in the incurrence of additbnal debt and related interest expense, as well as 
liabilities, all of which couid have a material adverse effect on the Fund's business, results of operatbns and financial 
to successfully evaluate and execute acquisitions or othenwise adequately address the risks associated with acquisitions 
material adverse effect on Just Energy's business, results of operations and financial condition. Just Energy may require 
should an appropriate acquisition be identified and it may not have access to the funding required for the expansion of 
funding may not be available to Just Energy on acceptable terms. There is no assurance that Just Energy will determine 
acquisition or that such an opportunity, if pursued, will be successful. 
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MANAGEMENirS DtSCUSSON AND ANALYSIS 

Legal, regulatory and securities risks 

Legislative and regulatory environment 

Just Energy operates in the highly regulated natural gas and electricity retail sales industry in the provinces of Onfeno, Manftol^'Quebec, 

British Columbia and Alberta and in the states of Illinois, Indiana, New York, Michigan, Ohio, California, Penns^ ania, NewJers^,,^ferytand. 

and Texas. It must comply with the legislation and regulations in these jurisdictions in onjer to maintain its license d statusan^toeonttntie 

its operations. There is potential for change to this legislation and these regulatory measures that may, favourabt; -or unfawurat%, impact 

Just Energy's business model. As part of doing business as a door-to-door marketing company. Just Energy receiv sscomplalnts from' 

consumers which may involve sanctions from regulatoiy and legal authorities induding those which issue market ng lichees..Similar^, 

changes to consumer proteaion legislation in those provinces and states where Just Energy markets to non-comi nerdal cusKj^n^rmay 

favourably or unfavourably, impact Just Energy's business model. Just Energy has a dedicated team of in-house Rgufatory advisofs.to emute 

adequate knowledge of the legislation and regulations in order that operations may be advised of regulations pusuant to whi(^ jwcedures 

are required to be implemehfed and monitored to maintain licence stetus- When new markets are entered, the team assess^ the market 

and determines if additional expertise (internal or external) is required. There is also a team that monitors and addresses compbflils^with a 

view to mitigating underl/ing causes of complainte. 

In addition to the complaints and class actions referenced herein and litigation in the ordinary course of Isusiness. 
future be subject to dass anions, other litigation and other actions arising in relation to its consumer contracts ani 
See the "Legal proceedings" section on page 51 of this report. This litigation is. and any such additional litigation 
and expensive and cbuld^distractour executive team from the conduct of Just Ener^s daily business. The adverse 
lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on our ability to favcwrabV resolve other lawsuits and could adversely 
condition and liquidity. , " ' ' 

.ust Energy-B^lfime. - - • 
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Investment eligibility 

Just Energy will endeavour to ensure that the units continue to be qualified investments for registered retirement savings plans, deferred 

profit sharing plans, registered retirement income funds and registered education savings plans. The Tax Act impc ses pen^ties for tiie 

acquisition or holding of non-qualified or ineligible investments and there is no assurance that the conditions pr^cribed for such qualified 

or eligible investments will be adhered to at any particular time. 

Nature of units, convertible debentures and exchangeable shares 
Securities such as the units, convertible debentures and exchangeable shares are hybrids in that tiiey share certaiî i attributes common to 
both equity securities and debt instruments. The units, convertible debentures and exchangeable shares do not r̂  present a direct 
investment in the natural gas or electricity wholesale business and should not be viewed t^ investors as ^ares or securities in ahy'<l̂ ;tiie-
Fund's affiliates. As holders of units, subject to the Trust Beneficiaries' Uability Act, 2004, Unitholders do not havi: tiie statutory rights 
normally associated with ownership of shares of a company including, for example, the right to bring "oppressivfi" or "derivative" actbns. 
The units represent a fractional interest in the Fund. The Fund's primary assets are its direct and indirect intermits n the seointiesof its 
affiliates. The price per unit is, among other things, a function of anticipated distributable income. 

Redemption right 

It is antidpated that the redemption right will not be the primary mechanism for Unitholders to liquidate their inv^tments 
of OESC Exchangeco II Inc. ("Exchangeco 11"), a wholly owned sii)sidiary of the Fund, and the Fund notes (of whlcft 
may be distributed /n specie to Unitholders in connectbn witii a redemption and will not be listed on any stocdc 
market is expected to develop for such JEC notes, Exchangeco tl notes and the Fund notes. Cash redemptions are 

Unitholder limited liability: 

The Declaration of Trust provides that no Unitholder will be subject to any liability in connectbn with the Fund or 

and in the event that a court determines that Unitholders arc subject to any such liabilities, the liabilities will be 

and will be satisfied only out of, the Unitholders' share of the Fund's assets. 

The Declaration of Trust further provides that the trustee and the Fund shall make all reasonable efforts to indudi, as a spedfic tenn of any 
obligations or liabilities being incurred by the Fund or the trustee on behalf of the Fund, a contractual provision to the effect that neither 
the Unitholders nor the trustee have any personal liability or obligatbns in respect thereof. The Administration Ac reement contain? such 
provisions. Personal liability may also arise in respect of claims against the Fund that do not arise under contracts,!including -ciairns in tort, 
claims for taxes and possibly certain other statutory liabilities. As the Fund's activities are generally limited to inventing in securities issued by 
its affiliates, the possibility of any personal liability of this nature arising is considered remote. [ 

JEC notes; notes 

none are outstanding) 

exchange and .no established 

: lubject to tbiifetions. 

its assets or obligatbns, 

ehforceable on^ against. 
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On December 16,2004, the Government of Ontario passed the Trust Beneficiaries' Liability Act 2004, whk:h limits the liabi ily of holder of ' 
trust units, in a manner similar to that afforded to holders of shares of Ontario incorporated limited liability corporaticjns, Th; legislatidn.." 
provides that the beneficiaries of a trust are not as beneficiaries, liable for any act, default, obligation or liability of the trust sr any of iis 
trustees that arises after the act became law if, when the act or default occurs or the obligatbn or liability arises: (a) the tru<|t is a reporting , 
issuer under the Securities Act (Ontario); and (b) the trust is governed by the laws of Ontario. The Fund is a reporting issuer Under tiieSecurlties 
Act (Ontario) and is governed by the laws of Ontario. However, the courts have not yet had an opportunity to consider this egislatbn. 

The operations of the Fund will be conducted, upon the advice of counsel, in such a way and in such jurisdictions as to a^id as far as 

possible any material risk of liability on the Unitholders for claims against the Fund. [ 

Distribution of common shares and notes on termination of the Fund [ 

Upon termination of the Fund, thetrustee may distribute the common shares, Exchangeco common shares, JEC notes, Eichangeco H notK 
and the Fund notes directly to the Unitholders, subject to obtaining all required regulatory approvals. There is cun-ently n© marketforthe' 
common shares, Exchangeco common shares,: Exchangeco II notes, JEC notes, or the Fund notes. In additbn, the commdn shares, 
Exchangeco common shares, Exchangeco ll.ndtes, JEC notes and the Fund notes are not freely tradable and are not currently listed on 
any stock exchange, 

Jhe Fund may issue additional unitsdiluting existing Unitholders' interests 

The Dedaration of Trust authorizes JEC;as administrator to cause the Fund to issue an unlimited number of units for such < onsideraiipn and; 
on such terms and conditions as shairbe established by tiie Administrator without the ̂ proval of any Unitholders. Addltic nal units have, 
been and will be issued by the Fund on the exercise of the Exchangeco II Exchange Rights relating to the Class A preference»shares. 

Restrictions on potential growrth 

The payout by the Fund's affiliates of the Vast majority of all of their operating cash flow will make additional capital and 

expenditures dependent on increased cash flow or additional finandng in the future. Lack of such funds couid limit the 
Just Energy and its cash fiow. 

operating 

f kure growtii of 

Changes in securities legislation 

There can be no assurance that the treatment of mutual fund trusts will not be changed in a manner which adversely affect? UnithddorS. If the 
Fund ceases to qualify as a "mutual fund trust" underthe Tax Act the units vAW cease to î e qualified investments for registered retirernent 
savings plans, defen-ed profit sharing plans, registered retirement income funds and registered education savings plans. j 

Find 

Risks relating to certain of the Fund's subsidiaries 

Ihe following risk factors relate to the respective businesses conducted by TGF and NHS, subsidiaries of the Fund acquired! 

Universal acquisition, and are in additbn to the risk factors set forth above and in the Annual Information Circular. The 

are immaterial to the total result of the business. TGF and NHS had a net loss of $9.7 million versus the total net income 

realized by the Fund for the year ended March 31,2010. In addition, TGF and NHS generated 2.8% of the gross margin 

March 31,2010, and held 19% of the total assets. 

pursuant to the 

s subsid i^ies 

$231.5 million 
or theyear ended 

Leverage and restrictive covenants r I - • 
TGF's use of debt financing makes it moredifficult for it to operate because it must make principal and interest payments on the • 
indebtedness and abide by covenants contained in its debt financing agreements. The level of TGF's debt may have implilations onTGF's 
operations, including, among otiier things: (0 limiting TGF's ability to obtain additbnal debt financing; (ii) making TG.FvuRierable to' 
increases in prevailing interest rates; (iii) requiring TGF to dedicate a substantial portbn of its cash flow from operations to tnter-Kt and: 
principal payments tn respect of its indebteclness, thereby reducing the availability of cash flow for working capital, capita I expendiftjres and 
other general corporate expenditures; (iv) pladng TGF at a competitive disadvantage tiecause it may be substantially mort leveraged t̂han 
some of its competitors; (v) subjecting all or substantially all of TGF's assets to liens, which means that there may be no a; sets left for the 
Fund in the event of a liquidation; (vi) limiting TGF's ability to adjust to changing market conditbns, which couid make it nore vutnerEtele to 
a downturn in the general economic conditions of its business; and (vii) iimiti'ng TGF's ability to make business and operational decisions, 
induding, without limitation, limitingTGF's ability to pay dividends, make capital improvements, sell or purchase assets oij engage in 
transactions TGF deems to be appropriate and in its best interest. 

TGF's ability to make payments on and refinance its indebtedness wil! depend on its ability to generate cash from its futufe 
TGF's ability to generate cash from future operations is subject, in large part, to general economic, competitive, legislative and 
factors and other factors that are beyond TGF's control. If TGF is unable to comply with applicable restrictive covenants oi 
TGF may lose control of its business and be forced to reduce or delay planned capital expenditures, sell assets, restructure 
or submit to foreclosure proceedings, all of which could result in a material adverse effect upon TGF's business, results of 
financial condition. TGF's future debt arrangements may also indude subordinated debt, which may contain even more 
on less favourable terms than TGF's existing senior debt and subordinated debt. 
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Reliance on proprietary technology; risk of daims for infringement 
The ability of TGF to operate its Belle Plaine facility and for it to be economically viable depend on intellectual prcbertyandj^rapHietay 
technology (collectively "propnetary technology") licensed from third parties. No assurance can be given that th? prc^rfetarytechnotogy 

may not be circumvented, misappropriated, disclosed, infringed of required to be licensed to others. TGF's rights are m -̂euarlusfee-and 
accordingly others may use the proprietary technotogy to conduct a competitive ethanol production busine^. Thi xi parties may claim that 

the use of the proprietary technology has infringed their rights or may directly or indirect^ challenge TGF's right p the proprietary 

technology It is possible that litigation by TGF or others may be required to protect the proprietary technology or 

determine the validity or scope of the rights of others. Such litigation can be time consuming and expensive, caw. e delays m TGF's 

operations or require TGF to enter into licensing arrangements that may require the payment of license fees or rc^ties to others. Such 

royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to TGF. 

pri :es. 

Dependence on commodity prices 

TGF's results of operations, financial position and business outlook are substantially dependent on commodity 

wheat, natural gas, ethanol and distillers grains. Prices for these commodities are generally s u b j ^ to significant ̂ olatilfly and 

As a result. TGF's results may fluctuate substantially and TGF may experience periods of declining prices for TGFi 

costs for TGF's raw materials, which couJd result in opiating tosses. TGF may attempt to offset a portbn of the 

by entering into forward contracts to simply ethanol or to purchase wheat, natural gas or other items or by eng^ittg 

transactions; however, the amount and duration of these hedging and other risk mitigatton activities may vary substantial^. 

addition, these activities involve substantial costs and substantial risks and may be ineffective to mitigate these 

TGF's right to use.it or to' 

, espetialV.IS'bes for 

IRoductSi^d'ifea^rig' 

#eds of such -Wtjauat/ons-

in other hedging 

,overtimf;in' 

ffijctijatbns. - ' 

Sensitivity to gasoline pr ic^ and demand 
Ethanol is marketed both as a fuel additive to reduce vehicle emissions from gasoline and as an octane enhancer to improve fih^cct^* 
rating of gasoline with which it is blended. As a resuft, ethanol prices are influenced by the supply end demand f(̂ r gasoline ̂ hicfi is itseff 
influenced by the supply and demand for crude oil). 

Sensitivity to wheat prices and supply 

Wheat is the principal raw material TGF will use to produce ethanol and distillers grains. As a result changes in tNe price of wheafcan 
significantly affect TGF's business. At certain levels, wheat prices would make ethanol uneconomical to use in fue maritets. The price of 
wheat is influenced by local and international weather conditions (induding droughts) and other factors affecting!crop yields, farmer 
planting decisions and general economic, market and regulatory factors, including government policies and subsidies vtnth respect to 
agriculture and international trade, and glc±iat and local supply and demand. The significance and relative effect cf these facers on the 
price of wheat is difficult to predict. Any event that tends to negatively affect the supply of viAieat, such as advers ? weath^or crop cfisease, 
could increase wheat prices and potentially hanm TGF's business. The price of wheat has fluctuated significant^ ir the past md may 
fluctuate significantly in the future. 

TGF may aiso have difficulty frOm time to time in purchasing wheat on economic terms due to supply shortages. J ̂ ny suRjfy shc^t^e could 

require TGF to suspend operations until wheat became available on economic temis. ' '< , 

Sensitivity to natural gas prices and supply I , ' 
TGF relies upon third parties for TGF's supply of natural gas, which feconsumed in the manufacture of ethanol. The prices for and 
availability of natural gas are subject to volatile market conditions. These market conditions are affected by factors beyond JGPs control 
such as weather conditions (induding hurricanes), overall economic conditions and foreign and dbmestic govemmental regiifatiott and • " 
relations. Significant disruptions in the supply of natural gas could impair TGF's ability to manufacture ethanol forjTGF's cu'^omers.. 

Sensitivity of distillers grain prices to the price of other commodity products j 

Distillers grains compete with other protein-based animal feed products. The price of distillers grains may decrease when the price of 
competing feed products decrease. The prices of competing animal feed products are based in part on the prices ̂ f the commodities from 
which they are derived. Downward pressure on commodity prices, such as soybeans, will generally cause the price of competing animal 
feed products to decline, resulting in downward pressure on the price of distillers grains. Because the price of distfilers grains is not tied to 
production costs, decreases in the price of distillers grains will result in TGF generating less revenue and bwer profit mar^r^s. 

I 
Dependence on federal and provincial legislation and regulation I 

Various laws, regulations and programs of the United States federal government and certain provincial ar^ state gcjvernments are intended 
to lead 10 increased use of ethanol in gasoline. For example, certain existing and proposed laws, regufatbns and programs pFOWde(or If 
implemented will provide) economic incentives to ethanol producers and users; however, existing and proposed lavifsmaybelnfluencCKi 
by those who believe that the use of ethanol does not create the benefits suggested by proponents of incre^ed etpnol usage. These 
existing and proposed laws, regulations and programs are constantly changing. In both the U.S. and Canada, (egislitorsand environmental 
regulators could adc^f or modify existing or proposed lave, regulations or programs that could adversely affect the!use of ethanol. 
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There can be no assurance that existing laws, regulations or prc^rams will continue in tiie future, or that proposed \a\NS 
programs will be adopted or implemented as currently anticipated or at all. In addition, certain jurisdictbnal governments 
use of ethanol because those jurisdictions might have to acquire ethanol from other jurisdictions, which could increase 

those jurisdictions. 

nsgulatbnsor ' 

Ttay oppose-the 

ine pri<^-|n-v -gasoii 

Environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and liabilities 

TGF owns the land on which it has built the Belle Plaine facility. TGF is subject to various federal, pK>vincial and local envi 

and regulations, including those relating to the discharge of materials into the air, water and ground, the generation, 

use, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials, and the health and safely of TGF's empbyees. These laws and 

TGF to maintain and comply with numerous environmental permits to operate its Belle Plaine facility These laws, regulatifiHis 

can often require expensive pollution control equipment or operatbnai changes to limit actoal or potential impacts on 

A vblation of these laws, regulations or permit conditions can result in substantial fines, natural resource damages, 

permit revocations and/or facility shutdowms. 

Environmentel issues, such as contamtnstion and compliance with applk:able environmenla! standards could arise at any 

operation of the Belle Plaine facility. If this occurs, it could require TGF to spend significant resources to remedy the 

material adverse impact on the operatioh of the Belle Plaine facility 

onmenta! laws 

hancil^, 

rfgulatbnslequire 

and pemiits 

environrnent 

crimiifial sanctions; 

s to^e . 

ths 

Jmeduririgjthe _ 

issues and mayt i fe a 

there Is a risk of liability forthe investigation and cleanup of environmental contamination at each of the properties that rGF0wr^:dr \ ' • 
operates. If hazardous substances have been or are disposed of or released at sites that undergo investigation and/or remjediation W: 
regulatory agencies, TGF may be responsible under environmental laws for all or part of the costs of investigatbn and/or remed?atta^;and 
for damages to natural resources. TGF may also be subject to related claims by private parties, including TGF's empioyeesi^d prc^erty 
owners or residents near the Belle Plaine facility, alleging properly damage and personal injury due to exposure to hazardous or other- ^ - •" 
materials at or from its Belle Plaine facility. Additionally empkoyees, property owmers or residents near the Belle Plaine facility could ofc^t to 
the air emissions or water discharges from the Belle Plaine fadiity. Ethanol production has been known to produce an unpleasant odour. 
Environmental and public nuisance claims or toxic tort daims could be brought against TGF as a result of this odour or TGF's other re l ^s^ 
to the air or water. Some of these matters may require TGF to expend significant resources for investigatbn, cleanup, ins^llatbn of control 
technologies or other compliance-related items, or other costs. '. 

In addition, new laws, new interpretations of existing laws, increased governmental enforcement of environmental laws or dther devefopments 
could require TGF to make additional significant expenditures. Continued government and public emphasis on erwiranment^l issues may result 
in increased future investments for environmental controls at the Belle Plaine fadiity. For example, federal and state environmental authoritiK 
have recently been investigating alleged excess volatile organic compounds and other air emissbns from certain U.S. ethano) plants, w^ich 
could also occur in Canada. Present and future environmental laws and regulations (and interpretations thereoO applicable to TGF's operations, 
more vigorous enforcement policies and discovery of cunently unknown conditicnris m ^ r^uire substantial capital and other ej^endibJres. 

The hazards and risks associated with producing and transporting TGF's products (such as fires, natural disasters, exptosic^s, and ^nbrmal 

pressures and blowouts) may also result in personal injury claims by employees, third parties or damage to prc^rty d w n ^ by TGF or fc^' 

third parties. As protection against operating hazanjs, TGF maintains insurance coverage against some, but not all, potential tosscs,-

However, TGF could sustain losses for urtinsurabie or uninsured events, or in amounts in excess of existing insurance covetage. 

Disruptions to infrastructure or in the supply of fuel or natural gas 

TGF's business depends on the continuing availabilrty of rail, road, storage and distribution infrastructure. Any disruption n this 

infrastructure network, whether caused by rail car shortage, earthquakes, storms, other natural disasters or human error or malfeasance," 

could have a material adverse effect on TGF's business. TGF relies upon third parties to maintain the rail lines from the Belle Plaine facility to 

the national rail network, and any failure on their part to provide rail cars or maintain the lines could impede TGPs deliveiy of productions, 

impose additional costs on TGF and could have a material adverse effect on TGF's business, results of operations and financial condition. 

TGF's business also depends on the continuing availability of raw materials, including fuel and natural gas. The productior^ of ethanol, from 
the planting of wheat to the distribution of ethanol to refiners, is highly energy intensive. Significant amounts of fuel andjnatural gas are 
required for the growing, fertilizing and han^esting of wheat as well as for the fermentation, distillation and transportatidn of ethanol and 
the drying of distillers grains. A serious disruption in supplies of fuel or natural gas, or significant increases in the prices oft fuel or natiffal 
gas could significantly reduce the availability of raw materials at the Belle Plaine facility and increase TGF's production costs. 

Technological advances I 

TGF expects that technological advances in the processes and procedures for processing etiianol will continue to occur. It is pcKsible that 

those advances could make the processes and procedures that TGF intends to utilize at the Belle Plaine facility less effider^ or obsolete, or 

cause the ethanol TGF intends to produce to be of a lesser quality. These advances could also allow TGF's competitors to produce ethanol at 

a lower cost than TGF. if TGF is unable to adopt or incorporate technological advances, TGF's ethanol production methods and processes 

could be less efficient than those of its competitors, which could cause tiie Belle Plaine fadiity to become less competitive^ 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUNDS ANNUALREPORT 2010 

file:///a/NS


MANAGEMENTfS DISCUS^»^ /*H>ANALYSIS 

solW »vaste. 
Ethanol production methods are also constantly advancing. A current trend in ethanol production research is to 

of producing ethanol from cellulose-based biomass such as agricultural waste, forest residue and municipal 

ethanol production research is to produce ethanol through a chemical process rather than a fermentation process, 

increasing the ethanol yield per pound of feedstock. Although current technology does not allow these prod 

competitive, new technologies may devetop that would allow these methods to become viaWe means of ethanol 

TGF is unable to adopt or incorporate these advances into its operatbns, TGF's cost of producing ethanol could 

those of its competitors, which could make the Belle Plaine facility less competitive. 

qevetop an>ffpent method-

An'otiier trend in 

, tiiere(^si^fen%. -. 

ucti^iri methods to be 

production in ttie future. If 

t ^ significant higher than 

advances 
In addition, alternative fuels, additives and oxygenates are continually under development Alternative fuel additives 

ethanol may be developed, which may decrease the demand for ethanol. It is also possible that technobgical 

exhaust system design and performance could reduce the use of oxygenates, which would lower the demand foi 

TGF's business, results of operatbns and financial conditbn may be materially ad\«rsely affected. 

Buyouts and returns of Water heaters 

Just Energy's customers are permitted to purchase their rented water heaters at a price detenmined with referencfe to the price of the water 

heater at the time of installation or may tenninate their rental agreement writh NHS at any time. If customers cho 3se to buy theii" installed 

water heaters or tenninate their rental agreement, the number of installed water heaters and the compositbn of 

water heaters could change. 

that can replace 
in etigine and 

ethanol, in which case 

the portfolio of installed 

Social or technological changes affecting the water heater market 
Within Canada, the Ontario mai'ketplace is unfcjue in that the vast majority of homeowners rent their water h^t^rs; however, there can be' 

no assurance that NHS' customers will continue to renttheir wrater heaters. It is also possible that more economical or efficient w ^ r 

heating technology than that which is currently used by customers will be developed or that the eccsfiomic conditions in which the current 

technology is applied will change resulting in a reduction in the number of installed water heaters. | 
I 

Concentration of water heater suppliers and product faults 1 

Although there are a number of manufacturers of water heaters, NHS relies principally on GSW Inc. ("GSW") for iUs supply of water heaters. 

Should this supplier fail to deliver in a timely manner, delays or disruptions in the supply and installation of water hpaters coufci reajlt 

In addition, different water heater manufacturers may from time to time, source components from the same maijiufacture« for use in their 

water heaters. As a result, a parts defect relating to a commonly sourced component could affect water heaters laroduced by more than 

one manufacturer. Although NHS maintains what it believes to be suitable product liability insurance, there can b i no assurance that NHS 

will be able to maintain such instance on acceptable terms or that any such insurance will pro\flde adequate pro 

liabilities, including product recalls. 

;ectbn against potential 

Geographic concentration of the Cianadian water heater market 

The Canadian water heater rental market is primari^ limited to the province of Ontario. A pratonged downtum ir 

a corresponding slowdown in; new home construction could have an adverse effect on the demand for additbnal 

Legal proceedings 

On March 3. 2008, the Citizen's Utility Board, AARP and Citizen Action/Illinois filed a complaint before the Illinois 

("ICC") alleging that independent sales agents used deceptive practices in the sale of Just Energy cc^tracts to lllir ois 

October 14, 2009, the complaint proceeded to a hearing by the ICC. On April U . 2010, the ICC released its Qrd& finding 

had committed ten violations and imposed a penalty of $0.1 million. Pursuant to the order. Just Energy is requirec 

independent audit to confii-mits compliance with the regulations and to change certain saies and marketing processes, 

The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Regulatory Energy Commission ("FREC") ĉ 
electridty, including Commerce, a subsidiary of the Fund, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy 

Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging FREC's enforcement of its market-based rate sys tem. Although CEI did not 
own generation, the State of California is claiming that CEI was unjustly enriched by the run-up caused by the alli ̂ ged market manipulation 

by other market participants. The proceedings are cuffentty ongoing. On March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge grantffii the, 
motion to strike for all parties in one of the complaints holding that California did not prove that the reporting enors masked the 

accumulation of market power California has appealed the decisbn. | 

Just Energy will resolve or vigorously contest the claims in these matters and in any other non-material litigation njattiers. Management 
believes that the pending legal actions against JEIC and Commerce are not expected to have a material impact or̂  the finandal conditbn of 

the Fund at this time. ' 
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Controls and procedures 

Disclosure controls and procedures 

Except for the limitation on scope of design of discbsure. controls and procedures as noted below. Just Energy maintaii^ appropriate 

systems, procedures and conti-ols to ensure that information disclosed externally is complete, reliable and timely Just Ene rg/s Chief 

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, or caused an evaluation under their direct supervision of, the design and opefs^ng 

effectiveness of the Fund's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in National Instrument 52-109, Certificatbn of Disclosure in • 

Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings) as at March 31, 2010, and have concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were 

appropriately designed and were operating effectively. j . . 
i 

Internal control over financial reporting i 

Except for the limitation on scope of the internal controls over finandal reporting as noted below. Just Energy has established adequate 

interna! controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Fund's finandal i ^ r t i ng and the 

preparation of the f inancialstatements for external purposes in accordance with GAAR Just Energy's Chief Executive Offjcer and Chief -

Financial Officer assessed, or caused an aissessment under their direct supen/isbn of the design and operating effectiven^ of the Fund's 

internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Dia:i(Kure in Issuer's Annual and Int^im 

Filings) as at March 31, 20lO,,using the Internal Control over Financial Reporting-Guidance for Smaller Public Companies published fc^ _ 

The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"). Based on the assessment they con :luded that 

Just Energy's internal controls over financial reporting were appropriately designed and were operating effectively. 

It should be noted that a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not; bsolute, assurance 
that the objectives of the control systern are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no eraluation of contrc^can ..\\ 
provide absolute assurance that all control issues, including instances of fraud, if any have been detected. These inhereni limitations , -
include, among other items: (i) that mariagement's assumptions and judgments could ultimately prove to be incorrect ur^er varying 
conditions and circumstances; (ii) the impact of any undetected errors; and (iii) controls may be circumvented by the unauthorized acts of 
individuals, by collusion of two or more pec^le, or by management owrride. 

The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be 

no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated gcjals under al! potential future conditions. 

Changes in internal control over financial reporting 

There have been no changes in the Fund's policies and procedures that comprise its internal control over financial reporti ig tfiat have 

materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Fund's internal conti*ol over finandal reporting during the year ended 
March 31.2010. ; 

•SXi'/^Mi. 

Limitation on scope of design 

Section 3.3(1) of National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings, states that 

its design of disdosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting for a business that it acquired 

365 days before the end of the financial period to which the certificate relates. Under this section, the Fund's CEO and 

SGĈ e of the design, and subsequent evaluation, of disclosure contiois and procedures and internal controls over financial 

exclude controls, policies and procedures of the subsidiaries TGF and NHS acquired on July 1,2009 as part of the UEG acq ĵisition 

Fund may limit 

not more thari"-

have%iitgd|he 

porting ti^'. 

t ie 

CFI3 

Summary financial information pertaining to the UEG acquisition that was included in the consolidated financial statemeijits of theFund-is 
as follows; 

(thousands of dollars) 

Revenue* 
Net loss' 
Current assetŝ  
Non-current assets' 
Current liabilities' 
Non-current liabilities' 

Results from July 2, 2009 to March 31,2010. 

Balance sheet as at March 31 , 2010. 

TGF 

56.455 

(6,861) 

10,792 

150,236 

67,351 

37,358 

NNS 

S,S36 

(2,837) 
6,579 

34,9JI3 
12,574 
53,9120 

Tbtat 

65,341. 
(9,748) 
17^371 

235,149 

91,278 
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Corporate governance 

Just Energy is committed to transparency in our operations and our approach to governance meets all recommertded 
disclosure of our compliance with existing corporate governance rules is available on our website at www.justem ;i^ycomfar«i; 
the Fund's May 23, 2010 management proxy drcular. Just Energy actively monitors the corporate governance anp 
ensure timely compliance with current and futore requirements. 

Outloolc 

On April 19,2010, Just Eneî y announced the intent to purchase all of the shares of Hudson, a privately held confmercial 

company operating in New York, New Jersey, Illinois and Texas. The funding for the acquisition totalling $330 millfcn 

the sale of 6% convertible debentures to a syndicate of underwriters. The ti-ansaction dosed on May 7, 2010. 

Just Energy believes that Hudson is a strong strategic fit and will significantly accelerate Just Energy's developmei 

American energy marketing business. Hudson wil! add significant deptii and focus to Just Energy's growing commercial 

Eighty-five per cent of Hudson's customers are commercial while 65% of Just Energy customei^ are residaitial 

through its independent broker and contractor marketing channels. Just Energy has not meaningfully utilized the 

aggregation tool. With its Sales Portal technotogy, Hudson also has technology that enables more efficient sellbc 

commercial customers through the broker channel and through direct sales. Just Energy's management believes 

used in all of the jurisdictions in North America where Just Energy currentiy operates. 

The Hudson acquisition on a pro fonna basis was materially accretive to the combined company's EBITDA for theyear 
Management anticipates that this accretion will continue under combined operations. There will be some one-tirpe 
second and third quarters of fiscal 2011 but the transaction is expected to be accretive in fiscal 2011 after these 

Just Energy Income Fund has announced that it plans to reorganize its income trust structore into a high-divideni l-pa^ng cOijJoiatiOn-
Unitholders will be asked to approve by way of a plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement") the reorganization alt 
Special Meeting of Unitholders scheduled for June 29,2010. 

Upon completion of the reorganization, the Board intends to implement a dividend policy where monthly dividerjds will be'imtia%.S6t at 
$0.1033 per share {$ 1.24 annually) equal to the current distributions paid to Just Energy Unitholders. 

trusts The federal government'sannouncement on October 31,2006, of the pending imposition of a tax on income 
2011, caused Just Energy to analyze options which would maximize Unitholder value for the long tenn. The coni; 
that conversion to a high-dividend corporatbn was the optimal option available to the Fund. The proposed reorgjwiizatiwi 
of benefits: 

The conversion to a corporation will result in a lower overall tax burden versus payment of the trust tax after January 1 ,.201T. 

The unique nature of Just Energy as a growth company with high return on invested capital albws it to pay b 5th a substant^l ^ W 

and continue to grow. This remains true regardless of whether Just Energy is an income fund ora corporatbr 

The receipt of $1.24 per year in dividends wilt result in a substantially higher after-tax cash yield to shareholders than that of $1.24 in 
distributbns for most taxable Canadian Unitiiolders. 

As a corporation. Just Energy will have greater access to capital markets to the extent that issuance of equity ̂ hould be JKjUired for 
growrth through acquisition. 

standartte, fuK, 

fcindydediri' 

dlsclosureL^riviroriment to. 

enei^y marketing 

was completed ttitmjgh 

5t as a leading North 

marketing business; 
Fjudson genetates sales 

broker ch^nm^ as an []' 
of Hudsph^s pnsdWtstb' .-
:hat tills techr io l^ can be. 

ended M ^ ^ T , 2010.-

tranatiCRJ ccsts/Si' the 

ixpenses-O^^;--'/., 

the Fund's:Anr»iai and" 

effective January 1, 

usbn of the ana^is w ^ 

offers a -fibmber 

Limitations under the prpposed tax on undue e)^ansk)n of trusts and foreign owmership limitations on ti-usts 
to Just Energy 

AHU no longer̂  apply 

• The high-dividend yield as a corporation combined with Just Energy's growlh prospects will focus market attentbn on the value.of 
Just Energy shares. I 

In anticipation of need for conversion, the Fund has not increased its rate of distribution since early 2008 despitelsubstentialgrowth- In its 
business. Distributions have been maintained by Just Energy at $0.1033 per month ($1.24 annually) supplemented by annual Spedal 
Distributions ($0.20 payable January 31,2010, being the most recent). The decision not to continue distributbn ncreasesand the • . 
continued growth of Just Energy have given the Fund the flexibility to continue to pay a dividend equal to the cu Tent monthly disti-ibutiore 
following the reorganization. This ability makes full allowance for the payment of tax by Just Energy and does ncjt tely on a merger with 
tax-loss-bearing companies. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Management believes that Just Energy Will again grow its key operating measures during fiscal 2011. Overall, management 

return to targeted attrition rates as the U.S. economy recovers is a key factor in the level of Just Energy's grovrth going 

additions are at record levels but the benefit of this is absorbed by high attrition rates in the United States. Company 

are predicated on some recoveiyin the U.S. but not full recovery to pre-recession levels. The addition of Hudson will be 

Fund's growth on a fully diluted perunit basis, although this growth will be offset to a degree by one-time transition costs 

believes t̂hat a 

forward. Customer 

expectatbns 

teetlvetothe 
growth 

Management's best expectation is that distributable cash after gross margin replacement will grow by approximately 5%* to 10%, including 

the acquisition from Hudson. Total RCEs are expected to grow after all attrition and failure to renew over and above the * :ustomers brought" 

with Hudson. However, management is not in a position to provide guidance on the level of customer growth pending a :quisiticMi of the 

Hudson sales force and its integration into Just Energy Investors will be updated in future quarters on tiie customer grow thexpectatbns. 

Sales of the JustGreen products have been very strong with approximately 39% of all customers added in the cunent ye; r taking 8 1 % 

of green energy supply Although currentiy a small component of the overall customer book (2% of gas customers and S% of etectricity 

customers), continued sales of JustGreen products al these levels will alter the economfcs of Just Energy as green customers generate highei" 

per customer margins than the past five-year fixed-rate customers. As these new green customers become a higher and (ligher percentage 

of the overall Just Energy customer base, the results should be higher margins per customer and improved renewal rates. 

The Fund intends to continue its geographic expansion into new markets in the United States both through organic growth and focused 

acquisitions. The Fund intends to enter Massachusetts in the first quarter and Pennsylvania in the third quarter of fiscal 21H1. The Fund is , 

actively reviewing a n umber of further possible acquisitbns. Just Energy continues to monitor the progress of the deregulated markets in 

various jurisdictions. In addition. Just Energy is pursuing the devebpment of alternative sales channels to enhance its conj;inued grov^ 
in customer additions. 
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The accompanying consolidated financial statem^ts Of Just Energy Income Fund and all the information in this a*inual report are the 
responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors, 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian General Accepted Accounting 
Principles. The consolidated financial stetemehts include some amounts that are based on estimates and judgmerrts. Managemait has 
determined such amounts on a reasonable basis In-order to ensure that the consolidated financial statwnents are presented faiily, in aS 
material respects. Financial information presented elseWhiere in this annual report has been prepared on a consistent basis witii that in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Just Energy Income Fund maintains systems of internal accounting and administi'ative controls. These systems are designated to provide 
reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable arKl accurate and that the Fund's assets are properly accounted for 
and adequately safeguarded. 

The Board of Directors is r^ponsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately 
responsible for reviewing arid approving the consolidated fkiandal statements. Hie Board carries out this resporraNBty prindpally tbrojgh 
its Audit Committee. ' 

TTie Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of DiredcM's and is ctMnprised entirely of non-management directors. The Midit Committee 
meets periodically with management and the external auditors, to discuss auditing, internal controls, accounting policy and ffnandal 
reporting matters. The committee reviews the consolidated ftr#>cial statements with bothmanagemwit and the external aucfitws and 
reports its findings to the Board of Directors before sucH statements are approvsed by the Board. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMGILP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generaBy 
accepted auditing standards on behalf of the Unithbiders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee, with and 
without the presence of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the finandal reporting arwJ tfie 
effectiveness of the system of imernal controls. 

On behalf of Just Energy Income Fund by Just Energy Corp., as administrator. 

(signed) (signed) 

Ken Hartwick • • Beth Summers 
Chief Executive Officer and President Chief Financial (Sfficer 
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AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS 

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of JUst Energy Iricdlne Fund as at Warch'31,2010 and 2009 and the consolidated statement 

of operations, unitholders' equity, comprehensive incomeand cash flowsfor the years tiien:ended. These financial stetements are the 

responsibility of the Company's management Our responsibility iis to ©cpress an opinion on these finandal statements based on our audit 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standaixfs require that we plan and 

perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit indudes 

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also indudes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made bymanagement, as well as e\<^luating the overall finandal statemrait pre^ntation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated finandal statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 

March 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash fldvt/s for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles. 

(signed) 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Canada 

May 19, 2010 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
As at March 31 
(thousands of dollars) 

ASSETS 
CURRENT 

Cash 
Restricted cash (Note 4) 
Accounts receivable 
Gas delivered in excess of consumption 
Gas in storage 
Inventory , . 
Unbilled revenues 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 
Current portion of future income tax assets (No^S) 
Other assets - current fWote ?3a) .:.-

FUTURE INCOME TAX ASSETS {Wore=:S 
PROPERTY. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ((tote 6J 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS j?yc)fe/J 
GOODWILL 
LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE 
OTHER ASSETS - LONG TERM (Note 133) 

20)0 2009 

$ 60,132 
18,650 

348,892 
7,410 
4.058 
6,323 

20,793 
20,038 
29,139 
2,703 

518,138 
85.197 

218,616 
346,216 
177,887 

2,014 
5,027 

$ 1,353,095 

$ 8,236 
226,950 

13,182 
6.410 
6,776 
7,202 

15,093 
62,829 

685,200 

1.031,878 
231,837 

1,984 
590.572 

1.855,271 

20,603 

$(1,423,698) 
221.969 

(1,201.729) 
659,118 

18,832 

(523.779) 

S 1,353,095 

$ 59.094 
7,K)9 

249,480 
-

6,690 
257 

57,779 
2,020 

-
5,544 

388,473 
-

19.971 
5,097 

117,061 
-

5,153 

$ 535,755 

$ 
173,833 

10,977 
1,906 

-
_ 

41,379 
-

519,352 

747,447 
76,500 
2,382 

401,720 

1,228,049 

292 

$(1,470,277) 
364,566 

(1,105,711) 
398,454 
14,671 

(592,586) 

$ 535,755 

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT 

Sank indebtedness (Note 8b iv) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Unit distribution payable 
Corporate taxes payable 
Current portion ot future income tax liabilities (Note 9) 
Deferred revenue 
Accrued gas accounts payable 
Current portion of long-term debt ffJote 8) 
Other liabilities - current fNote I3s) 

LONG-TERM DEBT (Hote 8) 
DEFERRED LEASE INDUCEMENTS 
OTHER LIABILITIES - LONGTERM (P4ote 13a) 

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

UNITHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) 
Deficit 
Accumulated other comprehensm income (NQtelQ) 

Unitholders' capital 
Contributed surplus 

Unitholders' defidt 

Guarantees (Note 17) Commitments (Note 18) Contingencies i^ote \9) Subsequent event (Note 23) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

Approved on behalf of Just Energy Income Fur>d by Ju^ Energy Corp., as administrator. 

(signed) 

Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair 

(signed) 

Michael Kirby, Corporate Director 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF UNITHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 
For the years er\ded March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

2010 2009 

ACCUMULATED EARNINGS {DEFICIT) 
Accumulated earnings (deficit), beginning:df year • ; / 
Adjustment for change in accounting policy ' ' " ' " ^ " [ " ' . : ' : : . : [ - . \ ] : - X ' i . z . [ -

Net income (loss) • '..-:.:/'' '-.:::. \ ' ; / - ' ' ; - . 

Accumulated deficit, end of year > 

DISTRIBUTIONS 
Distributions, beginning of year 

Distributions and dividends on Exchangeable Shares 
Class A preference share distributions - net of income taxes of $2,501 (2009 - $2,767) 

Distributions, end of year 

DEFICIT 

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Note W) 

Accumulated othercomprehensive income, beginning of year 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 

Accumulated other comprehensive Income, enci of year 

UNITHOLDERS'CAPITAL ^ f e n j ; 

Unitholders'capital, beginning of year 

Trust units exchanged 
Trust units issued on: exercise/exchange of unit compensation (Note I2d) 
Trust units issued 
Exchangeable Shares issued ; 

Exchangeable Shares exchanged 
Repurchase and cancellation of units 
Class A preference shares exchanged 

Unitholders' capital, end o f year 

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (Notelld) 

Unitholders' deficit, end of year $ (523,779) $ (692,586) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements , 

CONSOLIDATED STATEIVIENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
For the years ended March 31 
(thousands of dollars) 

$^(712,427) 

-
231,496 

(480,931) 

(757,850) 

(179,839) 

(5,078) 

(942,757) 

(1,423,698) 

364,566 

(142,597) 

221,969 

398,454 

187,063 

682 
20,036 

239.946 

(187,063) 
_ 
-

659,118 

18,832 

$ 392,082 

2,964 

(1,107.473) 

(712,427) 

(504,013) 

(148,944) 

(4,893) 

(757,850) 

(1,470.277) 

40.789 

323,777 

364,566 

358,103 

3,606 

5,773 

41.176 
„ 

-
(6,603) 

(3,606) 

398,454 

14,671 

2010 2009 

NET INCOME (LOSS) 
Unrealized gain (loss) on translation of self-sustaining operations 
Unrealized and realized gain on derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges 
prior to July 1, 2008, net of incfwne taxes of $89^256 (̂ tote 13s) 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain of discontinued hedges, net of income taxes 
of $34,339 (2009 - $38,805) (Note ?5aJ 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) % \ 88.899 $ (783,696) 

See accompanying notK to consolidated financial statements 
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26.626 

-

(169.223) 

(142,597) 

$(1,107,473) 

(1,906) 

498,654 

(172,971) 

323,777 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the years ended March 31 
(thousands of dollars) 

2010 2009 

Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities 

OPERATING 
Net income (loss) 

Items not affecting cash 
Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts 
Amortization of property, plant and equipment 
Unit based compensation 
Non-controlling interest 
Future income taxes 
Financing charges, non-cash portion 
Other 
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Adjustments required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales (Not̂ 20) 

Changes in non-cash working capital (Note 21) 

Cash inflow from operations 

FINANCING 
Exercise of trust unit options (Note 12a} 
Distributions and dividends paid to Unitholders and holders of Exchangeable Shares 
Distributions to Class A preference shareholders 
Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholders 
Units purchased for cancellation 
Increase in bank indebtedness 
Issuance of long-term debt 
Repayment of long-term debt 
Funding from minority interest holder of TGF ; 
Restricted cash 

$ 231,496 $(1,107,473) 

58,548 
7,897 
4.7S4 

(3,648) 
(122.0T4) 

902 
4,030 
1,282 

3,594 
5.100 
4,098 

(58) 
(64.088) 

-
(3.940) 

1.335,976 

(48,249) 

10,549 

(35,523) 

158,273 

1,281.682 

(7.623) 

6,181 

172,767 

-
(157,495) 

(7,580) 
2,501 

-
8,236 

243,797 
(207,493) 

1.500 
626 

4.293 
(129,357) 

(8,460) 
2,767 
(6,603) 

-
87,726 
(85,731) 

-
(122) 

(115,908) (135,487) 

INVESTING 
Purchase of capital assets 

Water heater customer acquisition costs and other intangible assets 
Acquisitions (Wore 5) 
Proceeds from sale of customer contracts 

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash batences 

NET CASH INFLOW 

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

CASH, END OF YEAR 

(41.2Q7) 

(6,348) 
9,799 

290 

(37.466) 

(3.861) 

1.038 
59,094 

$ 60.132 $ 

(6,345) 

_ 
(1,842) 

-
(8,187) 

2,691 

31,784 

27,310 

59.094 

Supplemental information 
Interest paid 
income taxes paid 

$ 14,621 $ 

$ 27,836 $ 

4,009 

1,153 

See accompanying noies to consolidated financial statements 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended March 37, 2010 
(thousands o i doilars, except uWiere mdicated and per unit amounts) 

NOTE 1 ORGANRATION 
Just Energy Income Fund ("Just Energy" or the "l^und"), formerly known as Energy Savings Income h)n4. changed its name 

effective June 1,2Q09. 

)ust Energy is an open-ended, limited-purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontark) to hold securities and to 
distribute the income of its directly or indtrectly owned operating subsidiaries ̂ nd affiliates-. Just Energy Ontario l.P. ("JE Ontario"), 
Just Energy Manitoba LP. (" IE ManittAja"), Just Energy Quebec UP. ("JE Quebec"), Just Energy (B.C.) L imM Partnership {"it B.C."), 
Just Energy Alberta LP. ("JE Alberta"), Alberta Energy Savings L.P. ("AESLP"), Just Energy Ulinois Corp. ("JBC"), iust tmrg i 
New York Corp. ("3EHYC"), Just Energy Indiana Corp. ("JE Indiana"), Just Energy Texas LP. (" JE Texas"), Just Energy Exchange Corp. 
C'JEEC"), Unwersal Energy Corp. ("UECX Untve^al Gas and Electric Corporation ('*UG8iE"), Commerce Energy, Inc. ("Commsce"), 
National Energy Corp. ("NEC") operatirxg under the trad&hame of Hstior^al Home Services ("HHS"), and Terra Gre^ fu^slnc. 
("TGF"), coilectively, the "Just Energy Group^- r 

NOTE 2 OPERATIONS 
Just Energy's business involves the sale of riamrsl gas and/ta' electricity ta residential and commerdal cuSomere under long-term 
fixed-price and price-prcteaed contracts; By ffxirig the price of nat^ electricity under its fixed-price or price^otecsed 

program contracts for a period of upto five years, lusi Energy's customers offset the'tr exposure to changes in t^w price of these 
essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the drfferwftoe 
between the fixed t̂ itke at:wHch iifa abteto s^ltteccm\moti%sto te and tbe fvxed price aVv^\dh it pur^asesthe 

associated volumes from its suppAierS.:» 

The Fund also offers green prDiiuct5thrbugb.VtsJustGre^;prQ|ram;^The eiectricity JustGreen product otfei^ tlie customer the 

o'pi:\Qn of having all or a portion of his or her^Ktricit>? sourced frotfi renewable green sources such as vwnd, run of the river hydro 

or biomass. The gas JustGreerf product pffers:Cafbc«i^btfseteredit5^^ aSow the customer to reduce or ̂ iminate i}he 
carbon footprint for their Ŝ ome of business. M^n^ementbe^ie^esi^at products will not only add to profits but w i also 
Inaease sates receptivity and improve renewal rates,: 

\n addition, through KHS, the Fund seWs and rents high effidenc/ arid tanWess water heaters, furnaces and aif condiSoners and 

produces and sells wheat-based ethanol through Terra Grain E u ^ Inc 

NOTE 3(0 SUMMARY OF SlGNlHCANTACCOUMtlHGPOUClES 
is) principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements have fc^en prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Prindffes 
("GAAP"), and include the accounts of Just Energy Income Fund and its directly or indirectly owned suti^diaries and affiliates. 

Ih) Cash and cash equivalents 
AH highly liquid terfiporary cash investment with, an orlginat maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to 
be cash equivalents. 

ĉ) Unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable or gas delivececi in excess ot consumption/deferred rever^ues 

Unbilled revenues are stated at estimated realizable value and resuH when customers consume more gas'than has been deKvered 
by Just Energy to local distribution companies ("LDCs"). Accrued gas accounts payable represents the obligation to Ihe LDCs with 
respea to gas consumed by customers in excess of ̂ s t delWered to the U3Cs. 

Gas deiwered to IDCs in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and net t^ii^able value. CoHections 
from customers in advance of their consumption of Q K result in deferred revenues. 

Due to ̂ e seasonality of our operations, during the wnnter monihs, costumiers wiH have con^med more tHan v« t̂3t WK d ^ V E ^ 
resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable; however, in the summer mtinths, cuslonwre vM have 
consumed less than what was delivered, resul̂ ng in the recognttioffi of gas delivered in excess of consumptkm/defen^ revenues. 

These adjustments ate appkable steely to ̂ e Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan ̂ :&$ markets, , 
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MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(d) Gas in storage 

Gas in storage primarily represents the gas delivered tothe LDCs in the states of lljinois, Indiana and Mew York. The balance vwll 

fluctuate as gas is injected or withdrawn from storage. Injections typicallyioccur from Ajprilijirough NovCTni^r and Withdrawt^s 

occur from December through March: 

In addition, a portion of the gas iri storage relates to operations in the Province: of Alberta. In Alberta, there is a rnonth to m<mth 

carryover, which represents the difference between the gas deliveredtothe LDC within a mon#r and custtxner consumptiwi. T ^ 

delivery volumes in the following month are adjusted acco rd i r rg l y : : ; : 

Gas in storage is stated at the Ipwerofcostahdrietreafizabte value; : j : ; ^ 

(e) Inventory •- :\,^ '•' ' ':,/ 

Inventory consists of water heaters as vv^l as ethanol; ethanol in process and. grain inventory; ̂ t e r heaters are stated at the 

lower of cost and net realizable value with cost b^ng delHmbed on a vveghled average basis. Ethanol, e^anol in process and 

grain inventory are valued at the lower of cost and net realizabievalueiVtfitJh cost being; deterrhihed on a we^hted avera^ bass. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment: 

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Cost for water heaters, furnaces and air 

conditioners indudes the cost of installation. Amortization is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets, with the half 

year rule applied to additions, as follows: 

Asset Basis Rate 

Furniture and fixtures Declining balance 20% 

Office equipment Declining bcJance 20% 

Computer equipment Declining balance 30% 

Computer software Declining balance 100% 

Ethanol plant and equipment . . Straight line 25 years 

Commodity billing and settlementsystems Straightline Syears 

Water heaters / Straight line 15 years 

Furnaces and air conditioners Straight Khe 15 years 

Leasefiold improvements Straight line Term of lease 

Vehicles Straightline : Syears 

ig) Goodwil l 

Goodwill is the residual amount that results When f i e purchase price o f an acquired business exceeds the sum of the amounts 

allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired, less liability assumed, based bn their fair values. Goodwill is allocated as 

of the date of the business combination to the Fund's reporting units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of -^e 

business combination., , 

Goodwill is not amortized and tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circum^nces indicate 

that the asset might be impaired. The impainrtent test is carried out in two steps; in the first step, the carrying ar^iount of the 

reporting unit including goodwill is compared witi i its fair value. >Mien the fair value of a reporting unit including goodwill 

exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of ttie reporting unit is not considered to be impaired and the second stepi of the 

impairment test is unnecessary. The second step is carried out when the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, 

in which case the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount 

of the impairment loss, if any The implied fair value of goodwill is detennined in the same manner as the value of goodwH! is 

determined in a business combination. 

Effective April 1. 2009, the Fund adopted Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") Handbook Section 3064, 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets, as described in Note 3(ii). 

(h) Gas contracts and customer relationships 

Gas contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy ewiitf^eacquiiation: of: 

various gas contracts and expected renewals. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated remainrng life of up to: : 

five years on a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets. 

ti) Electricity contracts and customer relationships 

Electricity contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the 

acquisition of various electrici^ contracts and expected renew^s. T h ^ e contacts are amortized over their average estimated 

remaining life of up tosix years on a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATEO RNANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(j) Water heater contracts and customer relationships 

Water heater contracts represent the fair value of rental contracts on the acquisition of various water heater contracts^d expected 

renewals. These contracts are operating leases and are amortized over their average estimated remaining life of up to lSyearson 

a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets. 

{k) Impairment of long-lived assets 

Just Energy reviews long-lived assets, which include property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives, 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. 

Recoverability of assets to be h^d and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated 

undiscounted future cash f!ov« expected to be generated by the asset, through use and eventual dispowticm. If the earring 

aniount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flovtfs, an impainnent charge is recognized for the amoum by v^ ich tiie 

carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fairvalue of the asset. 

Other assets ( l iabi l i t ies)^ current/l6ng:term;:charige fn fair value of derivative inrtruments and 

other comprehensive income (loss) 

Just Energy's various derivative instrument have iMen accountedfor uiang OCA Handbook Section 3 ^ 5 , Financial feismjmai'K -

Recognition and Measurement Effeaive July 1.2008, the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. In acccB^ar>ce vwtti 

CICA Handbook Seaion 3865, Hedges, the Fund is amortizing the accumulated gains and losses to June.30,2008, fnam other 

comprehensive income in the same period in w^ich the original:hedged item affects the Statement of Operations. No reti'Ospectiv^ 

restatement is required for tiiis change. The derivative are measured at fair value and booked to tiie oonsolidated b^ance sheets. 

Effective July 1, 2008, all changes in fairvalue between periods are booked t o change in fairvalue of derivative instruments cm ti>e 

consolidated statements o f operations. : : : : ; ; : 

Prior to July 1,2008, financiaMnstrumehtsthatmethedgingrequiremerits were accounted for under QCA Handbook Section 

3865, HedgK. For derivative fnStrument5:actountedfor:undef C Handbook Section 3865, Just Energy fcffma% document^ 

the relationship between hedging instrumeritsand tiie hedgedStenis, as well ^J t s risk management objective and strategy for 

undertaking various hedge trarisaelibns. This processmdudecf linkir^:all derivative financial instruments to anticipated 

transactions. JtKt Energy afco formally assessed^ both at the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whethw the derivative 

financial instruments that w^re used in hedging ti-ahsactions were highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the 

hedged items. The derivatives weremeasLffed atfalr value and booked to the consolidated balance sheets. C h a n ^ fn fair value 

between periods were booked to other comprehensive income for the effective portion of the hedge vwth the remasiing change 

being booked to change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixed-price electricity and JustGreen elearidty sales by entering 

into fixed-for-floating electricity swap contracts and physical forward contracts, unforced capadty contracts, heat rate swap 

contracts, heat rate options, renewable energy certificates and financial and physical fon/vard gas contracts (to fulfill obligations 

under the heat rate swaps) with electricity and natural gas suppliers. These swaps and forwards are accounted for in accordance 

with CICA Handbook Section 3855. Prior to July 1,2008, they were accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 

3855 and, in some limited Circumstances, CICA Handbook Section 3855. 

Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relatffig to its fixed-price gas and JustGreen gas conti-acts by entering into a 

combination of physical gasforwards^ financiai;gas forwards, physical transportation fonwards, carbon offeet contracts and option 

contracts. Physical gas fonfl/ards and transportation forwardsare accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3S55. 

Prior to July 1,2008, they were accounted for In accordance vrfith CICA'Handbook Section 3865. Option contracts and finandal gas 

forwards are accounted for irr accordance witii CICA Handbook Section 3855. 

Just Energy enters into: hedgesfbir: its foreign exchange risk relating to; its antidpated repatriation of U.S.; denomtfjated currency by 

entering into foreign exchangeforvvard contracts vyith its lender. SinceApril 1, 2007, Just Energy has accounted for these fcrtward 

contracts in accordance with CICA Handbook Act ion 3855 by recording them on the ccmsolkiated balance s h ^ t as eitiwr other 

assets or other Habilities measured at fair vafue, wi th changes in fairvalue booked to change m fairvalue of derivatl^re instfuments. 

(m) Financial instruments 

Financial instruments are classified; into; a definedcategdiy, narriely, held-for-trading financial assets or finandal liabilities, held-to-

maturity investments, loans and r«:eivables; available-fot-sale financial assets, or other finandal liabilities. Finandal instruments are 

included on the Fund's balance sheet and measured at fair value, except for loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial 

assets and other finandal liabilities which are measured at cost or amortized cost. Finandal assets and finandal liabilities have 

been initially remeasured as at April 1, 2009, to take into account the appropriate credit risk and counterparty credit dsk (:ree 

Note 13c). Gains and losses on held-for-trading finandal assets and finandal liabilities are recognized in net earnings in tiie p^iod 

in which they arise. Unrealized gains and losses. Including those related to changes in foreign exchange rates on availabte-for-sale 
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financial assets, are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the finandal asset is derecognized or ctetemnined to 
be impaired, at which time any unrealized gains or losses are recorded in net earnings. Transaction costs otiier tiian those related 
to financial instruments classified as held-for-trading, Which are expensed as incurred, are amcH ẑed using tiie 0ffecti>^ interest 
method. The following dassifications have been applied: 

• cash and restricted cash as held-for-trading, which is measured at fairvalue; 

• accounts receivable are classified as loans arid receivables, Vtfhich are measured at amortized cost; and 

• long-term debt accounts payable and accrued liatMltties; ;unit distributbn:payable and bank indebtedness are classified as 
other finandal liabilities, which are measured atariiprtizecj cost. 

Electricity: -..':'':/::'"..'. 
Just Energy has entered into contracts witii customers to provide electridty and renewable energy at fixed prices ("oistomer 
electricity contracts"). Customer electridty contracts include requireirients contracts and contracts with fixed or variable volumes 
at fixed prices. The customer electridty conti-acts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of eiectricity, renewable energy 
certificates and consumption. To redueeits exposure to movements in commodity prices arising from the acqufeltion of electiidty 
and renewable energy certificates at floating rates* Just Energy uses electricrty derivative contracts ("electricity derivative 
contracts"). These electridty derivative contracts are fixed-for-floating swaps, physical electridty fonA/ard contracts, unforced 
capacity contracts, renewable energy certificates or a combination of heat rate swaps, heat rate options and physical orfinand^ 
forward gas contracts. 

Just Energy agrees to exchange the difference between the variable or indexed price and the fixed price on a notion^ quantr^ of 
electricity for a spedfied time frame in the fixed-for-floating contract arrangements. Just Energy takes titie to the renewable 
energy certificate volumes to satisfy customer contracts. Just Energy takes title to electridty at a fixed price for scheduling into the 
power grid under the fonward contracts. Just Energy agrees to pay for certain quantities of power based on tiie floating prke of 
natural gas under heat rate swaps. In order to cover the floating price of gas under these arrangements, prices for gas are fixed 
through either physical or finandal forward gas contracts, with a protection against weather variaticm achieved through the 
purchase of heat rate options. These contracts are expected to be effective as economic hedges of the electridty price exposure. 

The premiums and settlements for these derivative instruments are recognized in cost of sales, when incurred. 

The fair value of the electridty derivative contracts is reconjed in the consolidated balance sheet with changes in the fairvalue 
being recorded in change in fair vafue of derivative instruments on tiie consolidated statements of operations. Pî ior to Ju^ 1, 
2008, Just Energy monitored its effective hedging relationship between retail consumption and supply contractsiand evalu^d the 
effectiveness of the relationships on a quarterly basis to meet aiteria for hedge accounting. The changes in tiie fair value were 
recorded in other comprehensive income to the extent that tiie hedge measurement was effective vwth the remainder recorded in 
change in fair value of derivative instruments. Any electridty derivative contracts that did not qualify for hedge accounting or were 
de-designated as a hedge were recorded at fair market value with tiie changes in fair value recon^ed in current period income as a 
component of change in fair value of derivative instruments. After July 1, 200S, the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. 

Any gains or losses accumulated up tothe date that the eledxidty derivative contract was terminated or de-designated as a hedge 
were deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCl") then recorded in cost of sales when the hedged customer 
electricity contract affected income. 

Gas: 

Just Energy has entered into contracts with customers to provide gas and carbon offsets at fixed prices ("customer gas 
contracts"). Customer gas contracts indude requirements contracts and contracts witii fixed or variable volumes at fixed prices. 
The customer gas contracts expose Just Energy to changes in maricet prices of gas and consumption. To reduce its exposure to 
movements in commodity prices and usage. Just Energy uses carbon offset, options and gas physical and finandal contracts ("gas 
supply contracts"). These gas supply contracts are expected to be effective as econiamic hedges of the gas price exposure. 

Just Energy uses physical fonwards, carbon offset transportation forwards (together "physical gas supply conti-acts") and other gas 
financial instruments to fix the price of its gas supply. Under the physical gas supply contracts. Just Energy agrees to pay a 
specified price per volume of gas or transportation. Other financial instruments are comprised of finandal puts ^nd csMs that fix 
the price of gas in jurisdictions where Just Energy has scheduling responsibilities and therefore is exposed to commodity price risk 
on volumes above or below itSibase supf^. 
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The fair value of physical gas contracts is recorded in the consofidated balance sheet with changes in the fair value being recorded 
in change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of opwations. Prior to Xily 1, 2008, Just Energy 
monitored its effective hedging relationship between retail consumption and its supply contracts and evaluated tiieeffedi^mn^s 
of these relationships on a quarterly basis to meet the criteria of hedge accounting. The changes were recorded in other 
comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge measurement Was effective with the remainder recorded in change in fair 
value of derivative instruments. Any physical gas conti'act that did not qualify for hedge accounting or was de-designated as an 
accounting hedge together wflth the gas finandal instruments wa-e valued at fair market value v«th the changes in fairvalue 
recorded in current period income asa component of changein fair value of derivative instruments. Any gains or losses 
accumulated up to the date that the ph^ical gas supply contract was terminated or de-designated as a hedge were deferred in 
AOCl then recorded in cost of sates when tiie hedged customergas contract affected income. After July 1, 2£X38, the Fund ceased 
the utilization of hedge accounting. 

Foreign exchange: 

To reduce its exposure to movement in foreign exchange rates, Just Eneixiy uses foreign exchange fonwanis ("foreign exchange 
contracts"). These foreign exchange contracts were expected to be effective as hedges of the anticipated cross border cash flow 
but were found to be not effective under GAAP accounting requirements during fiscal 2007. 

Up until September 3Q, 2006, unrealized:gairis on foreign exchangje Contracts up to the date of de-desî nation of the hedging 
relationship were deferred to be reCogni2ed:GB/©r= itfie term of tiie contract based on the timing of the uriderlying hedged 
transactions. As of OGtpber;1v;2()£)5,:these|d^^ instruments h^e been recorded on the balance sheet as either 

other assets or other liiabilities; measured at fair value; witWciiirigesinfair value recognized in income as other irKome fesqwnse). 

The deferred gain was redassifiedJtoAOCIasd^/^rH 1/2007.. •:̂  

(n) Revenue recognition 

Just Ener^ delivers gas and/or electricity to end-use customers who have entered into long-term fixed-price contracts. Revenue Is 
recognized when the commodity is consumed by the entf-uset^stbmer or sold to third parties. The Fund asaimes credit risk in 
Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, Mar^and and California, and for large volume customers in British Columbia and Ontario. In 
these markets, the Fund ensures that credit review proc^sra are in place prior to commodity flowing to the customer. 

Just Energy recognizes revenue upon delivery to customers at terminals or other locations for ethanol and dried distillers grain. 

Just Energy recognizes water heater revenue from the monthly rental or sale commencing from the installation of the water heater. 

(o) Marketing expenses 
Commissions and various other costs related to obtaining and renewing customer contracts are charged to income in the 
period incurred. 

(p) Foreign currency translation 
The operations of the Fund's U.S:-based subsidiaries are self-sustaining. Accordingly, the assets and liabilittes of foreign 
subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars;at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expaises are 
translated at the average rate of exchange for;:the period. The resUltihg gains and losses are accumulated 3S a component of 
Unitholders'equity within AOCL 

(q) Per unit amounts' ' 
The computation of income per unitis based op the Weigfitedjayefage number of units outstanding during the year. Diluted 
earnings per unit iscortiputed ;in a sirhilarwaytb-basic earnings per unit except that the weighted average ursts outstanding are 
increased to indude additional units assurhirigttie; exercise of unit options, unit appredation ri^ts and deferred unit grants. 
exchangeable shares and conversion of convertible debentures, if dilutive. 

(r) Unit based compensation plans 
The Fund accounts for all of its unit based compensation awards using the fair value based method. 

Awards are valued at grant date and are not subsequently adjusted for changes in the prices of the underlying unit and otiier 
measurement assumptions. Compensation for awards Without performance conditions is recognized as an expense and a credit to 
contributed surplus oyer the related vesting period olthe awards. Compensation for awards with performance ccMiditions is 
recognized based on management's best estimate of whether theperformance condition wil! be actiievfd. 

When options, unit appreciation; rights ("UARs") and deferred unitgrants ("DUGs") are exercised or exchanged, the amounts 
previously credited to contributed surplus are reversed and credited to Unitholders' equity. The amoum of cash, if any, received 
from participants is also credited to Unitholders' equity. 
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is) Employee future benefits 

Just Energy established a long-term incentive plan (the "Plan") for the permanent full-time and part-time employees (working 

more than 20 hours per week) of Just Energy Corp. ("JEC"), JE BC, JE Alberta, JE Manitoba and JE Quebec. The Plan consKtS of 

two components, a Deferred Profit Sharing Plan ("DPSP") and an Employee Profit Sharing Plan ("EPSP"). 
i 

For participants of the DPSF̂ Just Energy contributes an amount equal to a maximum of 2% per annum of an ̂ mpk^ee's b^e 
earnings. For the EPSR Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 2% per annum of an CTiplc^e^'s base ^rnings 
towards the purchase of trust units of tiie Fund, on a matching one for one basis. 

For the U.S. employes, JustEnergy has established a 401(k) plan to provide employees the potential for future finandal security 
for retirement. Employees may participate in the 401(k) plan subject to alt the terms and conditions of the plan, They may join the 
plan on the first of any month, once they have completed six months of employment. The 401 (k) savings plan Is an employer 
matching plan. Just Energy will match an amount up to 4% of their base earnings. Employees may contribute from 1 % up to 
25% of their total salary with Just Energy on a beforehand-basis with a 2010 calendar year maximum of $17. • 

Participation in either plan in Canada or the U.S. is voluntary. The Plan has a two-year vesting period beginning from the later of 

the Plan's effective date and the employee's starting date. During the year. Just Energy contributed $1,096 (2009 - $739) to both 

plans, which was paid in full during the year and recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of operations. 

(t) Exchangeable securities 

Just Energy follows the recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee ("EIC") relating to the presentation of exdiffligeable 
securities, which includesthe Class A preference shares, issued by subsidiaries of income funds. The recommendations require that 
the exchangeable securities issued by a subsidiary of an income fund be presented on the consolidated balance sheet of the 
income fund as a partof Unitholders' equity if the foltowing criteria have been met: 

• the holders of the exchangeable securities are entitied to receive distributions of earnings economical^ equivalent to 
distributions received ori units of the income fund; and 

• the exchangealie securities ultimately are required to be exchanged for units of tiie income fund as a resist of the passage of 
fixed periods of timeor the non-transferability to tiiird parties of the exchangeable securities without first exchanging them for 

: units of the income fund. 

The exchangeable shares and Class A preference shares meet these criteria and have been dassified as Unitholders' equity. Ail 
distributions paid to JEEC sharehokiers are included in Unitholders' equi^. All distributions paid to the Class A preference 
shareholder must be receded in Unitholders' equity, net of tax. The management incentive program, which is a bonus ̂ ua l to 
the distribution amount received by a Unitholder, is additional compensation to senior management of JEC, a wholly owned 

subsidiary of the Fund. 

tu) Use of estimates 

The preparation of the finandal statemoits, in conformity vwth Canadian GAAP, requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the finandal statements and accompanying notes. Actual results'could differ from 
those estimates and assumptions. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates indude diowfflice for doubtful 
accounts, estimate of the useful life and estimated fair value of property, plant and equipment and impairments therein, valuaticsi of 
goodwill and intangibles and the impairment thereon, valuation allowances for future tax assets, tiie determinatit^ of the far values 
of financial instiijments, as tiie aggregate fairvalue amounts represent point in time estimates only and shcwid not be interpreted as 
being realizable in animmediate settlement of the supply contracts, and the determination of unit based compertation. 

(v) Income taxes 

The Fund is a taxable entity under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and is taxable on income that is not distributed or disti-ibutable to 
the Fund's Unitholders. Payments made between the Canadian operating entities and the Fund ultimately transfer both oirrent 
and future income tax liabilities to the Unitholders. 1 \ ^ future incwne tax liability assodated with Canadian as^ts recorded on the 
balance sheet is recovered over time through tiiese payments. 

Effective January 1, 20T1, the Fund will be subject to a Specified Investment Row-Through ("SIFT") emity tax qn distributions of 
Canadian taxable income that has not been subject to a Canadian corporate income tax in tiie Canadian qserslting entities. 
Therefore, the Fund has computed future income based on temporary differ^ces expected to reverse after December 31,2010 at 
the substantively enaaed tax rates and laws expected to apply for such periods. Currem Canadian income taxes will be accrued 
for only after December 3.\, 2010 to the extent that there is taxable income in tine Fund or its underiying operating entities. 

The U.S.-based corporate subsidiaries are subjea to U.S. income taxes on its taxable income determined under'U.S. kicome tax 
rules and regulations. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 4 RESTRICTED CASH 
Restricted cash and customer rebates payable represent: fO funds held as security for payment of certain mcmthly charges, C«) 
rebate monies received from local distribution companies in Ontario as provided by tiie Independent Electricity System Operator 
("lESO"), and (iii) funds held as security for a TGF credit fadiity. 

(i) Certain subsidiaries are required to post collateral to counterparties including pipelines, wire owners and local distribution 
companies to secure payment of future expected charges. Commerce has provided cash collateral with one supplier, and this 
security was in place prior to the acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd ("UEG") by Just Energy 

(ii) JE Ontario is obligated to disperse the monies to eligible end-use customers in accordance with the Ontario Power Generatieffi 

Rebate as part of Just Energy Ontario LR's Retailer License conditions. 

(iii) UEG provided cash collateral as security for a $10,000 term fadiity pro f̂lded to TGF. This fadii^ and liquid seturi^vras in place 

prior to the acquisition of UEG by Just Energy 

NOTE 5 ACQUISITIONS 

(a) Acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd. 
On July 1, 2009, Just EnCTgy completed the acquisition of allbfthe outstanding common shares of Universal Energy Group Ltd. 
("UEG") pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the "An-angement"). Under the An^ngement, UEG shareholders received 0.58 of an 
exchangeable share ("Exchangeable Share") of JEEC, a subsidiary of Just Energy, for each UEG common share held. In aggregate. 
21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the Arrangement Each Exchangeable Share is exchangeable for a trust 
unit on a one-for-one basis at any time at the option of tiie holder and entities tiie holder to a monthly dividend' equal to 66 ^ % 
of the monthly distribution paid by Just Energy on a trust unit JEEC also assumed all the covenants and obligations of UEG in 
respect of UEG's outstanding 5% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the "Debenture"). On conversion of the 
Debentures, holders will be entitied to receive 0.58 of an Exchangeable Share in lieu of each UEG commmi share that tiie holder 
was previously entitied to receive on conversion. 

The acquisition of UEG was accounted for using the purchase metiiod of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase price to Ihe 
identified assets and iiabilitiesacquiredbasedontheirfair values at the time of acquisition as follows: 

CADS 

Net assets acquired: 

Working capital (including cash of $10,319) $ 74,314 
Electridty contracts and customer relationships 229,5S^ 
Gas contracts and customer relationships 243,346 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 22,700 
Other intangible assets 2,721 
Goodwill 66,794 

Property, plant and equipment .̂ . 171,693 
Future tax liabilities (50,475) 
Other liabilities-current (164,148) 

Other liabilities-long-term (140,857) 
Long-term debt (183,079) 
Non-controlling interest (22,697) 

' " ^ ^ - ̂  ^ ' ^ ^ $ 249.898 

Consideration: 
Transaction costs $ 9,952 
Exchangeable Shares 239,945 

$ 249,898 

Non-controlling interest represents 33.3% ownership of TGF held by Slis Don Corporation. 

All contracts and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas and electiidty 
contracts and customer relationships are amortized over periods ranging from eight to 57 months. The water heater contracts and 
customer relationships are amortized over 174 months arid tiie intangible assets are amortized over six months. The FHJrdiase 
price allocation is considered preliminary and as a result it rhay be adjusted prior to July 1, 2010; 
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NOTE 7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

2010 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 

Electridty contracts and customer relationships 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 

Other intangible assets 

$ 

s 

$ 

cost 

228;827 

245,617 

23,081 

8,725 

506,250 

Cost 

2,223 

14,379 

16,502 

Accumulated 
amortization 

$ 63,434 

92,779 
1,2tfi 
2.553 

$ 160,034 

Accumulated 
amortization 

$ 710 

10,7Sl5 

$ 11.5Q5 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Net hnnk 
value 

165.343 

152,838 

21,863 

^5.172 

346.216 

Net book 
value 

1,513 

3,584 

5.097 

2009 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 

Electricity contraas and customer relationships 

NOTE 8 LONG-TERM DEBT A N D FINANCING 

Credit fadiity (a) 

TGF credit facility (b){i) ; 

TGF debentures {b)(ii) 

TGF operating fadlities (b)(iii) 

JEEC convertible debentures (c) 

NEC Home Trust Company finandng (d) 

Less: current portion 

2010 2009 

$ 57,500 $ 

41,313 

37,001 

10,000 

83,417 

65,435 

294,666 

(62,829) 

76,500 

_ 
-
-
-
_ 

76,500 
„ 

$ 231.837 $ 76,500 

Future annual minimum principal repayments are as follows: 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Credit fadiity (a) 

TGF credit fadiity (b)(i) 

TGF debentures (b)(ii) 

TGF operating fadlities (b){iii) 

JEEC convertible debentures (c) 

NEC HTC finandng (d) 

41,313 

10,000 

11,51-6 

57,500 

3,998 

12-470 

33,003 

13,504 

62,829 73^968 46,507 

33.417 
J4,623 

98;040 

13,322 

Total_ 

57.500 

41,313 

37,001 

10.000 

83,417 

65,435 

13,322 294,666 

The following table details the interest expense. Interest is expensed at the effective interest rate. 

2010 2009 

Credit facility (a) 

TGF credit fadiity (b)(i) 

TGF debentures (b)(ii) . 

TGF wheat production financing 

TGF operating facilities (b)(iii) 

JEEC convertible debentures (c) 

NEC HTC finandng (d) 

$ 5,258 $ 
1,365 
3,049 

10 
683 

4,953 
817 _ 

3.857 
-
-
-
-
-
-

$ 16,134 $ 3,857 
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(a) On July 1, 2009, in connection Vvith theacquisition of UEC Just Ê ^̂  increased its credit facility from $170 million to 
$250 million. The credit facility is available to Jast'Energy to meet working capital requirements. As part of the ircrsse in 
the credit fadiity, Societe G n̂(§ra|e and Alberta Treasury:Branches jcaned Canadian Imperial Bank of Commefoe, ftoyai Bank 
of Canada, National Bank of Canada and Sank Gf-NovaSco:̂ a:asthe 5,̂ ^ 

f ad lity is due on October 29.2O11.,,;: :\,; •:: 

Interest is payable on outstaridihg Ic^ns at rat^lhat vary withBankers' Acceptances. LIBOR, Canadkn bank prime rate or U.S. 
prime rate. Under the terms of the operating credit fadiity. Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and LIBC^ 
advances at stamping fees of 4.0%, prime rate advances at bank prime plus 3.0%. and letters of credit al 4.0%. As at 
March 31,2010, the Canadian prime rate was 2,2S% and the U.S. prime rate was 3.25%. As at M«-ch 31,2010, JustEnergy 
had drawn $57,500 (2009 - $76,500) against the facility and total letters of credit outstanding amounted to $49,444 (2009 -
$8,459). Just Energy has $143,0'56 of tiie fadiity remaining for future working capital and security requirements. Just Energy's 
obligations under the credit facili^ are supported by guarantees of Certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a fledge 
of the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a 
number of financial covenants under the credit fadiity agreerileht As at March 31,2010 and 2009, all of these covenant 
have been met 

(b) In connection with the acquisition of UEG on July 1,2009, tiie Fund acquired the debt obligatkjns of TGF, which curtentiy 

comprises three separate fadlities, outlined bdow: 

(i) TGF credit fadiity 

A credit facility of up to $50,000 was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Cohffi(Us Credit Unicffi and 
was arranged to finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was revised on March IS, 2009, Kid 
was converted to a fixed repayment term Pf ten years commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a rate 
of prime plus 2 % with principal repa^ents scheduled to commence on March 1,201 Ov The credit facility is secured by a 
demand debenture agreement a first priidrity security interest on all assets and undwtakings of T5F and a general security 
interest on all other current and acquired asseK of TGF. Asaresuit. tiie fadiity is fully dassified asa cunrent obligation. The 
credit facilityindudes certain finandai;eovenaritStHemore;signif!C3nt of which relates to current ratio, debt to eqiBty ratio, 
debt iservice coverage and^rtiiriimurn S^fehplcfcrs'eqiuity; :Tlie lenders have deferred compliance with the fBiarKial 
covenants until April T,2011:;Thefadlit|';iA^^ March 31,2010, to postpone tfie prindpa! payments due 

for April 1 to Junel.SCilb.andtoarnprtizethemGveWe's^^^^^ 
March 1, 2011 .As at March 31,2010. the amountowing under this fadiity amounted to $41,313. 

(ill TGF debentures-

A debenture purchase agreemem witii a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40,000 aggregate 
prindpal amourit of debentures was altered into in 2006. The interest rate Is 10.5% per annum, compounded annually 
and payable quarterly Interest is to be paid quarterly with quarterly prindpal payments commencing October 1,2009, in 
the amount of $1,000 per quarter.Tlie agreement indudes certain financial covenants the most Significant of which relates 
to current ratio, debt to c^italization ratio, debt service coverage, debt to EBITDA, and minimum shareholders' equity. The 
lender has deferred compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011. On March 31,2010, TGF entered into an 
agreement with the holders of the debenture to defer scheduled principal payments owing uncter the debenture until April 1, 
2011. As a result, the debentures are fully dassified as a long-term obligation. As at March 31, 2(|i10, the amount owing 
under this debenture agreement amountedto 537,001. 

(iii) TGF term/operating fadlities 

TGF maintains a term loan for $10,000 witii a third par^ lender bearing interest at prime plus 1 % dvje in fvrfl on D«:ember 31, 

2010. This fadiity is secured by liquid investrhents on deposit With the lender. As at March 31,2010, the amount owing 

under the fadiity amounted to $10.000.: 

(iv) TGF has a working capital operating line of $7,0CKD bearing int^est at rate of prime plus 1 % of which $3,239 was drawn 
via oyendraft. In addition, total letters of credit issued amounted to $1,600. 
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(c) In conjunction with the acquisition of UEG on July 1,2009, JEEC also acxiuiredthe obligations of the convertible unsecured 
subordinated debentures issued by UEG in October 2007. These instruments have a face value of $90,000and mature on 
September 30, 2014, unless converted prior to that date and bearinterestat an annual rateof 6% payable semi-armually on 
March 31 and September 30 of each year. Each $1,000 principal amount of the debentures is convertible at any time prior to 
maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, atthe opti'On of the holder, into approximate 27.3 Exchangeable Shares of 
Just Energy Exchange Corp., representing a conversion price of $36.53 per Exchangeable Share. During theyear, interest 
expense amounted to $4,952. 

The debentures are not redeemable prior to October 1,2010. On and after October 1,2010. but prior to Sefitember 30,2012, 
the debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the prindpal amount thereof, plus acmj«l arsJ u r ^ M 
interest, at the Fund's sole option on not more than 60 da^' and not less than 30 days' prior notice, provided that the currsit 
market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion prke. On and after 
September 30,2012, but prior to the maturity date, the debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at ^ price equ^ to 
the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpakJ interest, atthe Fund's sole option on not more than fO days' and not 
less than 30 days' prior notice. 

(d) On January 18, 2010, NEC entered into a tong-tenn finandng agreement for the funding of new and existing rental water 
heater contracts. Pursuant to the agreement. NEC will receive finandng equal to the present value of the first five years of 
monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon finandng rate of 7.99% and as settlement is requirKJ to remit all 
proceeds received from customers on the water fieater contracts for the first five years. As security for performance of Ihe 
obligation, NEC has pledged the water heaters subject to tiie financed rental agreement as collateral. 

The financing agreement is subject to a holdback provision, whereby 3% of the outstanding balance of the funded amount is 
deducted and deposited to a resen/e account in the event of default. Once all obligations of NEC are satisfied or expired, the 
remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be released to NEC. 

NEC has $65,435 owing under tiiis agreement induding $2,014 relating to the holdback provision as at March 31, 2010. The 
company is required to meet a number of covenant under the agreement. As at March 31, 2010, all of these covenant have 
been met. 

NOTE 9 INCOME TAXES 

The Fund is a mutual fund trust for income tax purpMes. Pursuant to its announcCTnent on February 3, 2010, it plans to 
reorganize its income trust strurture and convert into a corporation on orfaefore .^nuary 1,2011 ("ConvH^ion"). Until 
Conversion, the Fund is only subject to current income taxes on any taxableJncome not distributed to Unithc^d^s. Sute^uentto 
Conversion on or before January 1, 2011, the Fund will t3e subject to current income taxes on all of its taxable income. If the 
Fund's equity capita! grows beyond certain; dollar limits prior to January 1,2011, the Fund would become a SIFT and woukf 
commence in that year being subject to tax on income distributed. The Fund expects that its income distributed Will not be subject 
to tax prior to 2011 and intends to disti'ibute ail its t^able income earned prior to then. Accordingly, the Fund Has not provided 
for future income taxes on its temporary differerices, andtho^ of its flow-tiltough subsidiary trust and partnerships are expected 
to reverse prior to 2011 as it is considered tax-exernpttfqracGGyntmgip^rp^^ tax basis of the assets and liabiiities of the 

Fund related to such teniporary differences ©cpe(::tedtO res r̂se before 2d| Texceecf the financial statement carrying amounts by 
approximately $138,410 (2009>- $283,359X reffec^ng future t3>! dedudtioriSin excess of future taxable amounts. 

The Fund has recognized future inccHne taxes for the temporary differences;between the carrying amount and tax values of assets 
and liabilities in respect of the proportion of the Fund's inconie taxed direaly lb the Unitholders tiiat are expected to reverse In or 
after 2011. A valuation allowance has been provided against future tax assets of certain subsidiaries where the Fund has 
determined that it is more likely than not tiiat those future tax assets wil! not be realized in the foreseeable future. The valuation 
allowance may be reduced in future periods if the Fund detennines that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of these 
future tax assets will be realized. 

Canadian-based corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 33% {2009 - 33%). U.S.-based 
corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax ontheir taxable income at a rate of 40% (2009-40%). 

At March 31, 2010, the U.S. subsidiaries of Just Energy do not have operating losses canyover for tax purposes (20D9 - $3,147). 
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The following table reconciles the difference ttetween the income taxes that vjould resuft s o l ^ by app^hg statu^>fy tax rates to 

the pre-tax income for Just Energy and the income tax provisksn in the finandal statwrients. 

2010 20D9 

Income (loss) before income tax $ 127,568 

42,104 

(42,045) 

(100,459) 

140 

$(1,164,991) 

(384,448) 

(49,294) 

3^,070 

(3,729) 

(5,199) 

140 

Income tax expense at the combined basic rate of 33% (2009 - 33%) 

Taxes on income attributable to Unitholders 

Unrecognized tax benefit on mark to marketlosses on derivative instruments 

Recognized tax benefit on mark to market losses on derivative instruments 

Tax impact of corporate reorganization 

Benefit of U.S. tax losses and other tax assets not preflously recognized 

Non-deductible expenses 

Recovery of income tax S (100.260) $ (57,460) 

Components of Just Energy's income tax recowry are as follows: 

Income tax provision 

Amount credited to Unitholder'equity 

Current income tax provision 

Future tax recovery 

Recovery of income tax 

2010 

$ 19,253 3 
2.501 

21,754 
(122,014) 

2009 

3,861 
2,767 

6,628 
(64.088) 

$ (100,260) $ (57,460) 

Components of the Fund's net future income tax asset are as follows: 

Partnership income deferred for tax purposes and book carrying amount 

of investments in partnerships in excess of tax cost 

Excess of book basis over tax basis cwi customer cwitracts 

Excess of tax basis over book basis for U.S. c^erations 

Mark to market losses on derivative instiuments 

Less; valuation allowance 

Future income tax assets (net) 

2010 

183,253 

80,693 

2009 

$ (483) $ (598) 

. (84,840) 

. 28,339 13,037 

245,237 140,047 

152.436 

152.486 

$ 107,560 $ 

NOTE ID ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE I N C O M I 

2010 

Balance, beginning of year 

Unrealized foreign currency tianslation adjustment 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges 

after July 1, 2008, net of income taxes of ;$34i339 

foreign currency 
translation 
adjustment 

1.958 

26,626 

Cash flow 
hedges _ Totaj^ 

362,608 i 364,566 
26,526 

(169,223) (169,223) 

$ 23.584 $ 193,385 $ 221.969 

Balance, beginhing;of year-:- " • 1 ":]-

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment: • 

Unrealized gains on derivativeinstrijments d^igrtated as cash fioWhedges 

prior to July 1, 2008, net of income taxes; of $89,2^-

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discdntiVued hedges 

after July 1, 2008, net of income taxes of $38,805 

Edwigri currency 
; ;; trafislation 
; ; adjustment 

Cash flow 
hedges Total 

$ ; ;; 3,864 $ . 36.925 $ 40,789 
^ (1,^5) - (1,906) 

498,654 498,654 

(172,971) (172,971) 

1,958 $ 362,608 $ 364,566 

JUST ENERGY INCOMEIFUNO » ANNUALREPORT 2010 
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NOTE 11 UNITHOLDERS'CAPITAL 

Trust units of the Fund 
An unlimited number of units may be issued. Each unit is transferable, voting and represents an equtrf undivl(ted benefidal Intemst 
in any distributions from the Fund whether of net inccffhe, net realized capital gains or other amounts, and in the net assets of tiie 
Fund ir̂  the event of termination or windinig-up of the Fund. 

The Fund intends to make distrtoutions to its Unithokfers based on the cash receipts of the Fund, exduding pro^eds frtwn the 
issuance of additional Fund units, adiusted for costs and expense of tiie Fund, amount which m ^ be paid by th6 Fund in 
connection with any cash redemptions or repurchases of units and ar^ other amount that the Board of Directors considers 
necessary to provide for tine payment of any costs which have been or will be incurred in the activitfes and op^ations of the Fund. 
The Fund's intention is for Unitholders of record on tiie 15th day of each mcmth to receive distrtoutions at the ertid of the m<Kith, 
exduding any Special Distributions. 

Class A preference shares of Just Energy Corp. ("JEC") 
The terms of the unlimited Class A preference shares of JEC are non-voting, non-cumulative and exchangeable into trust units In 
accordance with the JEC shareholdeî ' agrewnent as restated and amended, with no priority on dissolution. Pursuant to the 
amended and restated Declaration of Trust which governs the Fund, the holders of Class A preference shares are entitled to vc^ HI 
all votes of Unitholders as if they were the holders Of the number of units that they would receive if they exercised tiieir ̂ areholder 
exchange rights. Class A preference shareholders have equal entitlement to distributions from the Fund as Unitbc^ers. 

Exchangeable Shares of JEEC 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of ailof the outstanding common shares of UEG pursuantto the 
Arrangement. Under the Arrangement UEG shareholders: received 0.58 of an exchangeable share of JEEC, for each UEG common 
share held. In aggregate, 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the Arrangement. Each Exchangeable Share is 
exchangeable for a trust unit on a one-for-one fcasis at any time at the option of the holder and entities tiie holder to a monthly 
dividend equal to 56 ̂ % of the monthly distribution.paidbyJuSt Energy on a trust unit 

... 2010 ^ ___̂  _ _ 20Op 
Issued and outstanding UnitsyShares Unitsfihares 

Trust units 
Balance, beginning of year 
Options exercised 

Unit based awards exercised/exchanged 
Distribution reinvestment plan 
Units issued 
Units cancelled 

Exchanged from Exchangeable Shares 
Exchanged from Class A preference shares 

Balance, end of year 

Class A preference shares 
Balance, beginning of year 
Exchanged into units 

Balance, end of year 

Exchangeable Shares 

Balance, beginning of year 

Exchangeable Shares issued 

Exchanged into units 

Balance, end of year 

Unitholders' capital, end of year 

106,138,523 $ 385,294 102,152,194 $ 341,337 

-
49.078 

1,554.074 

_ 
-

16,583,632 

-
124,325.307 

5,263,728 

-
5,263,728 

-
682 

20,036 

-
-

187,063 

-
593,075 

13.160 

-
13,160 

355,000 

65,03^ 
1,697,394 

1,336.115 

(909.700) 

-
1,442,484 

106,138,523 

6,706,212 

(1.442,484) 

5,263,728 

4,840 

938 

18.863 

22,313 

(6,603) 

-
3.606 

385,294 

16,766 

(3.606) 

13,160 

21,271,804 239,946 
(16,583.632) (187,063) 

4.588.172 52,383 

134,277,207 $ 559.118 111,402,251 $ 398.454 

74 JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REK>RT 2010 



HOJtS TOTHE CONSOUDATED FINANOAlSTATEMENTS 

Distribution reinvestment plan 
Under the Fund's distribution reinvestment plan ("DRIP"), Unitholders holding a minimum of 100 units Can elect to receive their 

distributions (both regular and spedal) in units rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average;closing priceof the units 

for five trading days preceding the applicable distribution payment date, providing the units are issued from treasury a i d not 

purchased on the open maricet. 

Units cancelled 
During the prior fisca! year, the Fund obtained approval from its Board of Directors to make a normal course issuer bid to fMirdiase 

up to 9,000,000 units, for the 12-month period commendng November 21 , 2008, and ending November 20,2009. A maximum 

of 44,754 units could he purchased during any trading day No units were purchased and cancelled during the year. During the 

prior fiscal year, the Fund purchased and cancelled 909,7CM) units for a cash consideration of $6,603. 

Units issued 
During the year ended March 31,:2010,;the Fund issued 16,583,632 units relating to the exchange of Exchange^e Shares. The 

Exchangeable Shares Were issued pursuantto Just Energy's acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd. 

During the prior ramparable year, the Fund issued 1,336,115 units resting to a portion of the Special Distribution dedared on 

December 31 , 2007, payable in units.: 

NOTE 12 UNIT BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

(a) U n i t o p t i o n p lan 

The Fund gi-ants awards under its 2001 unit Option pbn t o dlrKtorSf officers, full-time employees and sendee providers 

(non-employees) of Just Energy. In accbrdance wi th the unit option plan, the Fund may grant options to a maximum of 

11,300,000 units: As at March 31,2010, there were:951,666 options still availatjle for grant under the plan. Of the cations 

issued, 352,500 options remain outstanding at year-end. The exercise price of the unit options equals the dosing maricet price of 

the Fund's units on the last business day preceding tiie grant date. The unit options will vest over periods ranging from three to 

five years from the grant date and expire after five or ten years from the grant date. 

A summary of the changes in the Fund's option plan during the year and status at March 31, 2010, is outiined betow. 

Weighted 
Outstanding Range of average 

options __̂  . .^^ ' ' ^S^.PJI '^^ ejoanrise pries' 

Balance, beginning of year : 555,500 $11.25-518.70 $ 15.88 

Granted 

Forteited/cancelled 203,000 $12.69-$18.70 15.82 

Exercised - _ _ 

Balance, end of year ; , / , - \ 352,500 $15.09-$17.47 £ 15.92 

^ The weighted average exercise price is calculated by dividing the exerd^ price of options granted by the number of options granted. 

2010 Options outstanding Qptions eagffdsable 

Weigfited 
average Weighted Wel^ ted 

remaining av&age avwage 
Number contractual exerdse Number exercise 

Range of exercise prices outstanding life price ^yi^d^,?bje price 

$15.09-$15.63 ; 2 5 > ^ 5 G Q 0.49 $ 15.53 , ^)0,000 $ 15.63 

$16.65-$17.47 / \^^'^:;;^;r'T',.;::;;;:;^;: ::8poo::;;^^^^ ^̂  1.20 17.13 si.ooo 17.13 

Balance, end of year i f 352.500 : 0.66 $ 15.92 251.000 $ 15.94 

2009 Options outstanding C t̂ksns exerdsatrfe 

Weighted 
average Weighted Wfflghted 

remaining average avŝ age 
Number contractual exercise Number exercise 

Range of exercise prices outstanding life _ price, ^J?i?rcisabte^j ^ _ P''''̂ ^ 

$12.69-515.63 330,500 1.95 $ 15.05 158,7CK) $ 15.55 

$15.90-$18.70 225,000 1.76 17.10 l^^-O^^^ l ^ - Q l 

Balance, end of year 555.500 1.88 $ 15.88 312,700 $ 16.30 
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Options available for grant ^ - ^ ^ ? 5 ^ 

Balance, beginning of year 
Add: Cancelled/forfeited during the year 

Less: Granted during the year 

Balance, end of year 961,666 ^^^ -^^ 

The Fund uses a binomial option pridng model to estimate the fair vdues. The binomial model was chosen because of the yidd 
assodated with the units. Fair values of employee unit options are estimated at grant date. Fair values of non-eriiploy^ unit 
options are estimated and revalued each reporting period until a measurement date is achieved. The following weighted average 
assumptions have been used in the valuation for fiscal 2009: 

758.6*6 
203,000 

-

693,566 
110.000 
eo,(H)o) 

Risk-free rate 

Expected volatility 

Expected life 

Expected distributions 

3.13% 

27.31% 

Syears 

$1.24 per year 

(a) Unit appreciation rights 

The Fund grants awards under its 2004 unit appfedatbn rights ("UARs":) planTo senior officers, employees and senftce prowde-s 
of its subsidiaries and affiliates in the form of fully paidiUARs, On June 25,2009, the Unitholders of the Fund approved a 
1,000,000 increase in the number of UARs available for grant After this increase, in accordance with the unit appredaticffi rights 
plan, the Fund may grant UARs to a maximum of 3.000,000. As at March 31,20TO, therewere 74,472 (2009 -374,663) UARs 
still available for grant under the plan. Of the UARs issued. 2,640,723 UARs remain outstanding at March 31,2010. Except as 
otherA/jse provided (i) the UARs vest from one to five years from the grant date providing, in most cases, on theiapplicable vesting 
date the UAR grantee continues as a senior officer, employee or sen/ice provider of the fund or any affiliate thweof; 00 tiie UMs 
expire no later than ten years from the grant date; Oil) a holder of UARs is entitled to distributions as if a UAR were a unit; and (iv) 
when vested, the holder of a UAR may exchange one UAR for one unit. 

UARs available for grant 2010 2009 

Balance, beginning of year,: 
Less: Granted during theyear 

Add: Increase in UARs available for grant 
Add: Cancelled/forfeited during theyear 

Balance, end of year 74,472 374,668 

374.668 
(1,307,192) 

1,000,000 
6,996 

804,170 
(455.215) 

_ 
25,713 
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31,568 

100,000 

(23,320) 

56,537 

-
(24,969) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(c) Deferred unit grants 

The Fund grants awards under its 2004 Directors' deferredcompensation plan to all independent directors on the basis eadi 
director is required to annually receive $15 of hJs or her compensation entitiement in deferred unit grants ("DUGs"), and may 
elect to receive all or any portion of the bstanceof his annual compensation in DUGs. The holders of DUGs are also granted 
additional DUGs on a montNy basis equal to ihenionthly dlstiibution paid to Unitiiolders of the Fund. On June 25,2009, the 
Unitholders of the Fund approved â  100,000 increase in the number of DUGs available for grant. After this increase, m accordant^ 
with the deferred compensation plan, the Fund riiay grant DUGs to a maximum of 200,000. The DUGs i«st on tiie earner of the 
date of the director's resignation or three years following the date of grant and expire ten years followirig the date of grant As of 
March 31. 2010, tiiere were 108,248 (2009 - 31,568) DUGs available for grant under tiie \Aan. Of the ibuGs issued, 84.138 DUGs 
remain outstanding at March 31. 2010. • 

DUGs available for grant 3)10 2009 

Balance, beginning of year 
Add: Increase in DuGS available for grant 

Less: Granted during the year 

Balance, end of year : ^ 108,248 31,568 

td} Contributed surplus 
Amounts credited to contributed surplus include unit based compensation awards, UARs and DUGs. Amounts charged to 
contributed surplus are awards exerdsed during the year 

Contributed surplus 2010 2009 

Balance, beginning of year 
Add: Unit based compensation awards 

Non-cash deferred unitgrant distributions 
Less: Unit based awards exerdsed 

Balance, end of year ^ $ 13,332 $ 14.671 

Total amounts credited to Unitholdei^' capitalin respect of unit options and defened unit grants exerdsed or ©(changed during 
the year ended March 31, 2010. amounted to $682 (2009 - $5,778). 

Cash received from options exercised for tiie year ended March 31, 2010, amounted to $nil (2009 - $4,293). 

NOTE 13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) Fairvalue . ' 

The Fund has a variety of gaS:and electricity Supbly contracts that are captured under CICA Handbook S^ion 3855, Finandal 
Instruments - Measurement arid Recognitidh, Fair v l̂ueisthefestlriiî ^^^^ 
of these supply contracts in an arm's leng#transactipn between knowledgeable, wilfing parties who are under no compulsion to 
act. Management has estimated the value of electricity, unforced cajaacr̂ , tieat rates, heat rate options, r^ewali^e and gas swap 
and forward contracts using a discounted casb^flcwmethodiV^ich market fonward cur̂ res that are ati^r directly 
sourced from third parties: or are developed IntefnaHy based on third party market data. These curves cah be wjlatNe thus leading 
to volatility in the mark to market with; no impact iPcash floWs. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value model 
using the applicable market fon/vard cun^K and the implied volatili^^ from Other market traded gas options. 

Effective July 1,2008, the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, ̂ 1 the mark to maPket changes on the Fund's 
derivative instruments are recorded on a single line On tiie consolidated Statements of Operaticms. Due tothe commodity vEda^i^ and 
size of the Fund, the quarteriy swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the vc^atility in the Fund's Mrrwngs. 

$ 14,671 $ 

4,754 

89 
(682) 

12,004 

4.098 

55 
(1,486) 
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The following tables illustrate (gainsVlossesFefatetf to the fund's derivative firiandal instiuments classified as held-for-trading 

recorded against other assets and other liabilitieswith tiieir offsetting values recoiled in change in fair value derivative 

instruments for the year ended March 31 , 2010; 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 

Options (IV) 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricrty swaps (vii) 

Physical electricity forwards (viii) 

Unforced capadty fonward contracts (ix) . 

Unforced capadty physical contiacts (x) 

Renewable energy certificates (xi) 

Verified emissii^n-reductlon credits (xii) 

Options (xiii) 

Physical gas forward contracts (xiv) 

Transportation forward contracts (xv) 

Heat rate swaps (xvi) 

Fixed finandal swaps (xvii) 

Foreign exchange fonward contracts (xviii) 

Other 

Amortization of deferred unrealised gains of discoritiriued hedges 

Amortization of derivative financial: instruments related to 

Universal acquisition 

Change in fa ir value of derivative instruments 

Forthe 
year ended 

March 35, 
20t0 

$ 5,041 

(480) 

(9) 
(1,593) 

7p,S6S 

21,353 

11,295 

2,332 

(423) 

563 
1,856 

644 

1,082 

(30,742) 

1.303 

(4.264) 

34.201 

3.322 

(203,562) 

88,795 

$ 1,282 

Forthe 
year ended 

March 31. 
2010 (USD) 

$ n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 

11,761 

4,737 

(274) 

544 

1,744 

604 

879 
(25,350) 

1,287 

(3,965) 

33,370 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

For tiie 

March 31, 
2009 

$ 223.191 

527 

^ 
(4,847) 

771,300 

(5.059) 

96,031 

130,911 

5,243 

-
(104) 

8 
790 

335,831 

(5,2S2) 

(251) 

(242) 

9^8 

(211,776) 

~ 

$1,337,285 

Forthe 
yearended 
March 31. 

2tmmo) 

$ n/a 
n/a 
n/a 

n/a 

n/a 
n^ 

84,666 

116,115 

4,730 

_ 
(68) 

-
1,068 

299,516 

(4,992) 

(228) 

(19t) 

n/a 

n/a 

ri/a 
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The following taNe illustiates (gainsMosses representing the ineffective portion of the Fund's designated hadg^ prica-to i i i y 1,2CK18, 

recorded against other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in change in fairvalue of derivative instiximents: 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) . . 

United States 

Fixed-foF-fteating dectricity swaps (vii) 

Change in fa i rvalue of der i i^ t iye ir i^rUmeri l^ 

Forthe FcB-the Forthe For tiie 
yearended yearended yearended yearended 

March 31, March 31. March 31. March 31. 
2010 2010 (USD) 2009 20(^ (USD) 

n/a $ (476) $ 

167 

n/a 

164 

(309) 

Total change in fair value of derivative instmnnents 1,2S2 $ 1.336,976 

The following table illustrates (gainS)/losses to the Fund's designated hedges prior to July 1, 2008, recorded against 

and other liabiiities with their offsetting values recorded in other comprehensive income: 

Other comprehensive income 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 

Options (iv) 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (vii) 

Physical electricitytorwards (viii) / 

Unforced capacity fonward contracts (ix) 

Renewable energy certificates (xi) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xii) 

Options (xiii) 

Physical gas forward contracts (xiv) 

Transportation forward contracts (xv) 

Heat rate swaps (xvi) 

Fixed financial swaps (xvii) 

Foreign exchange fonward conlracts (xviii) 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of discontinued hedges 

Other comprehensive income 

orded against other assets 

For the 
year ended 
MarchSI, 

2009 

$ (75,354) 

-
-

: ' • : » - . . : 

(31:3,071) 

(5,958) 

(40,473) 

(30,573) 

(4,743) 

For tiie 
yearended 
Mafchsi, 

2009 (USD) 

' $ ' ' ^ •• - n / a 

n/a 
n/a 

-•'rWa. 
: ' : • : : . , n/a 

n/a 

(39,808) 

(30,071) 

(4,565) 

(124,760) 

7,022 

(4,550) 

(122,711) 

6,907 

$ (592,450) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financialass^ arid li^ilities recorded in the financial statements as at 

March 31, 2010: 

Canada 
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 
Renewable energy certificates (ii) 
Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 
Options (iv) 

Physical gas forward contracts M 
Transportation forward contacts (vi) 

United States 
Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (vii) 
Physical electridty fonwards (viii) 
Unforced capacity fonward contracts fix) 
Unforced capacity physical contracts (x) 
Renewable energy certificates (xi) 
Verified emission-reduction credits (xii) 
Options (xiii) • 

Physical gas forward contracts (xiv) 
Transportation forward contracts (xv)-^.]• ' . . 
Heat rate swaps (xvi) 
Fixed finandal swaps (xvii) 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xviii) 

As at March 31,2010 $ 2.703 $ 5,027 $ 685,200 $ 590.572 

Other 
assets 

(current) 

$ 
350 

2 

757 
-
-

_ 
-

523 

33 
107 

_ 
-
_ 
_ 

Other 
assets 

(long term) 

$ 
621 

7 

416 

-
-

_ 
-

102 

146 
130 

_ 
-
~ 

' • -

Other 
liabilities 
(current) 

$ 244,563 
30 

_ 
-

237,145 

11,060 

3t,291 
38,015 

445 

731 
918 
167 

912 

96,933 
1.265 

other 
liabitrties 

(long term) 

$ 212,920 
139 

-
-

203.08S 

8.439 

30.464 
39,035 

9 

» 
945 
447 

915 
75,142 

2.262 

654 

277 

3,605 
21,720 16,767 

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the finandal assets and liabilities recorded in the finandal statements as at 

March 31, 2009; 

Other,,: 

Canada 
Fl.xed-for-floafing efectricity swaps (i) 
Renewable energy certificates (ii) 
Options (iv) 
Physical gas forward contracts (v) 
Transportation forward contracts (vi) 

United States 
Fixed-for-floating electridty swaps (vii) 
Physical electridty forwards (viii) 
Unforced capacity forward contracts (ix) 
Renewable energy certificates (xi): . ' 
Options (xiii) 
Physical gas forward contracts (xiv) 

Transportation forward contracts (xv) 
Heat rate swaps (wi) 
Fixed financial swaps (xvii). 
Foreign exchange forward contracts (xviii) 

As at March 31, 2009 

Other 
assets 

(current) (longterm) 

Other Other 
liabilities liabilities 
(currenO (long term) 

94 

792 

787 

~ $ 149,476 $ 158,289 

251:; - 23 

23 237 997 
- :. 198.329 103,734 

2,t60 927 163 

• ..V. -

...:-^ - „ 

:]S:^: 

"'• /57^ '̂  ' 

395 

-
4 

72 

-
3,324 

^ ,: ':-r?;;. 

' / : • - ' ' :• 

2 1 3 •'• 

' 19T .-

T" . ' ' 

• _ 

1,171 

863 
275 

. 34.997 

48.242 

3S6 
19 

204 

84,0t0 
961 

956 
628 

-

24,577 

41,456 

-
48 

1.349 

69,627 

1,457 

-
_ 
.-

5,544 $ 5,153 $ 519.352 $ 401,720 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following table summarizes finandal instruments classified as held'^for-rtrMling as at March 31,2010, to which the Fund 

has committed: 

: Tbtal Fairvalue 
:\Notiorral rennaining fawur^ :^ Notiwial 

Contract type ^ ::::vblun-ie: \.:.~:~m\^rr^' . - : . - -,-;MatMritydate Fixed price (Qnfavour^^) valia 

Canada 

(j) fixed-for-floating 0,0001-50 12,873,605 AprilBO, 2010- S23.00-$128.13 ($457,453) $933,845 

electricity swaps* , MWh : ; MWh : March 1.2016 

(ii) Renewable energy ' ^ 10-90,000: : ; 1,210,017 ;Dei:embs^ $3.00-$26.0D $302 $7,604 

certificates M\Nh MWh December 31,2014 

(iii) Verified emission- 3,000-55,000 505;000 December 31,2010- $9.34-$11.50 $9 $5,236 

reduction credits tonnes tonnes December 31,2014 

m Options 46^0,500 5,590,040 April 30,2010- $6,35-$12.40 $1,173 $10,234 

GJ/month GJ February 28 ,2014 

(v) Physical gas 5-16,862 145,443.234 April 3 0 . 2 0 1 0 - t3 .31-$10.00 ($440,233) $1,133,277 

forward contracts GJ/day GJ June 30 ,2015 

(vi) Transportation 11-465,000 69,017.545 April 3 0 , 2 0 1 0 - $a.01-$1.S7 ($19,499) $52,657 

forward contracts GJ/day GJ MayJI, 2015 

United States 

(vii) Fixed-for-floating ../ 0:10-28 2,271,140 April30,2010- $37.S3-$138.91 ($61,755) $184,587 

electridty swaps* MWh MWh March31,2015 (US$37.25-$136.75) (US{$60.794)) (US$l8l,7ie) 

(viii) Phî ical electricity 1-33 4,813,387 April 30,2010- $^.98-$111.99 ($77,050) $299,561 

forwards MWh MWh January 31,2015 (US$30.50-$110.25) • {US($75,S52)) (US$294,902) 

(«) Unforced capacity : 5-35 1.275: ; April 30; 2010- $3,047-$8,126 $171 $6,306 

forward contracts; MWCap :MWCap; ; November30,2012: : (US$3,00O-$8,000) (US$168) pJS$6,7aQ) 

(x) Unforced capacity ::: TD-60 2,065 ;; ; April 30; 2010- $1,016-$3,017 ($552) $6,028 

physical contracts MWCap; : MNCap \: \ [ l { : : . \my3r .WA\y [ (US$1,000-$2,g7a) (US$543) {US$5,934) 

M Renewable energy 2,2OO-i:tO,000:;: ; ^ ;2,030,265 ; Oecerr̂ fer 31,2010- ; :: ; $1.63-$22.a6 ($1,626) $14,147 

certificates j M W h ; MWh December31,2014 : : (US$1.60-$22.50) ftJS($l,6011) (US$13,927) 

(xii) Verified emission- 1Q,00;0-50,000 615,000 December3t,2010- i i : :: $6.45-58.89 ($614) $4,770 

reduction credits /tonnes tonnes Deeerhber31,20r4 {US$6.35-$8.75) (US($604)) aiS$4,696) 

(xiiO Options 5-120,000 6,236,595 : April 30,2010- $6.50-$14.02 ($1,827) $9,774 

mmBTU/month mmBTU December31,2014 (US$6.4&-$13.S0) (US($1,799)) ^$9,622) 

(xiv) Physical gas 5-22,970 53,078,540 ApriM,2010- $3.76-$12.07 ($172,080) $458,177 

fonward contracts mmBTU/day mmBTU July 31,2014 (US$3.70-$ 11.88} (US($ 169,403)) (US$451,050) 

(w) Transportation 35-9,300 41,'137,356 April!, 2010- $0,01-$0,61 ($3,527) ($33,738) 

forward contracts mmBTU/day nrniBTU March31,2015 (US$0.01-$0.60) CUS{$3,473)) (US$33,213) 

(xvi) Heat rate swaps 1-30 2,991,002 April30,201Q- $26.9S-$70.99 $4,259 $133,444 

MWh MVVh February 28,2015 :: (US$26.56-$69.89) (US$4,193) (US$131,368) 

(xvii) Fixed financial swap 100-7,700 36.033,542 . April 30; 2010 ~ $4.00-$7.S3 ($38,4S7) $238,550 

mmBTU/day mmBTU March 31,2015 (US$3.94-$7.71) (US{$37,888)) (US$234,840) 

(xviii) Foreign exchange $1,981-52,258 n/a / ipr i l7,20lp- $0.9905-$ 1.1289 $277 $4,063 

forward contracts** (US$2,000) _ : . . , /\pril7^201Q ™ „ „ „ _ O^^*^'^^^ 

* The electricity fixed-for-fioating contracts related to the Province of Alberta ffl^ predominantly toad-folowing and some contacts in Onlario, v^iwan 
the quantity of electndty contained in the supply contract "foftovffi''the; usage of custoniers^ag^ by the supply ccaltract. Notional wjlumes 
associated with these contracts are estinrtates and subject to change with customer usage requirements. There are alKi load-shaped fixed-foF-ftoating 
contracts in the rest of Just Energy's eiearicity rnarket wherein the quantity of electricity is estaMished but varies throughbut the term of tfie mntracte. 

'* Hedge accounting was af^lied to most of these fonArards up to September 30, 2006. However, the hedge was de-de^gnated and a los of $19S for 
the year ended March 31, 2007, was recorded in other liabilities. As the reiquired hedge accounting effectiveness was achieved for certain quarter 
of fiscal 2007, a $1,933 gam was deferred and recorded in AOCl and is bemg recognized in the Statement of Operatiohs over the remaining term of 
each hedging relationship. The term expii^ in /^ri l 2010. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS^ 

The following table summarizes the nature of finandal assets and liabilities recorded in the finandal statements few the year ended 

March 31,2010. 

Canada 
Fixed-for-floating electridty swaps (i) 
Physical gas fonward contracts and transportation 
fonward contracts (v) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electridty swaps (vii) 
Physical electricity contracts (viii) 
Unforced capadty forward contracts (ix) 
Physical gas forward contracts and transportation 
foward contrarts (xiii) 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of discontinued hedges 

Total realized and unrealized gains/Oosses) 

Loss CHI cash 
flow hedges 
transferred 
from Other 

Comprehensive 
Income to 

the Statement 
of Operations 

$ 

-

-

-

_ 
(203,562) 

$ (203,562) 

March 31,2010 ^ 

Unrealized 
gain recorded 

in Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 

$ 

$ 

_ 

-

." 

_ 

_ 
~ 

.„„ . - „™„ 

$ (19,208) 

(135,808) 

(13,826) 
(30,6^9) 

-

(26,1 S4) 

1211,776) 

$ (437,461) 

M^h 31.2009 

Unrealized 
gainraiBrded 

in Other 
Comprehensive 

Inojme 

$ 94,562 

454.838 

54,299 
61,232 

4,743 

143.922 

-
$ 813.596 

"^e estimated amortization of def^red gains arid losses reported iri acCumUlatî d other comprehensive inccme that is e>^ctecl to 
be amortized to net income wtthin the next 12 months is a gain of $120,204. 

These derivative financial instruments create a credittisk for Just Energy since they havebeen transacted with a ^mriited ntmnba-of 
counterparties. Shouid any counterpartybe unable tofulflli Its obligations under the contracts. Just Energy may^not be able to 
realize the other asset balance recogniz^in the finandalstatements; 

In Illinois, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland, California arid Alberta, Just Energy assuriies the credit risk associated w i ^ cash oaltection 
from its customers. Credit review processes have been put in place for these maricets where Just Energy has credit risk to manage the 
customer default rate. If a significant number of customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adveî e effect 
on Just Energy's operations and cash flow. Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations for these mark^ 

Fair value ("FV") hierarchy 
Level 1 ; 

The fairvalue measurements are classified as Level 1 in the FV hierarchy if the fairvalue is determined using qudted, unadjustKi 
market prices. Just Energy values itscash, restricted cash, accounts n^eivaili^iank irvdebtedness, accounts payable and accrued 

liabiiities, unit distributionspayableandtong-termdebturid^ Level t-.;;;; .:.- '• 

Level2 

Fair value measurements which require inputs o^erthan quoted prices in Level 1,eitherdirertly or i ^ 

Level 2 in the FV hierarchy. This could indude the use of statistical techniques to derive the FV cun/e from observable market 
prices. However, in order to be dassified under Level 2; inputs must be:substantially observaWein the marltet. Just Energy values 
its New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX") finandal gas fixed for floating swaps under Level 2. 

Levels 

Fair value measurements which require unobsenrable rnarket data or use statistical techniques to derive forward' curves from 
observable market data and unobservable inputs are dassified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy. For the electricity supply contracts. 
Just Energy uses quoted maricet prices as per available market fonward data and applies a price-shaping prafile to calculate the 
monthly prices from annual strips and hourly prices from: block strips for the purposes of mark to market calculartions. The profite 
is based on historical settlements with counterparties or with the systan operator and: is considered an unobseryable input For 
the natural gas supply contracts, JustEnergy uses tfiree different mari<etobsen/able cun/es: 1} Commodity (predominately 
NYMEX), 2) Basis, and 3) Foreign exchange. NYMEX cunres extend for over five ̂ ars (tfwreby covering the length of Just Enemy's 
contracts); however, most basis curves only extend; 12 to 15 months into the future. In order to calculate basis curves for 
remaining years, Just Energy uses extrapolation which leadsto naturafgas supply contracts to be dassified under Level 3. 
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The main cause of changes in fair value of derivative instruments is the forward curve prices used for the fair value calculations. 

Just Energy provides a sensitivity arialysis of these fonward curves under the commodity price risk section of this note. CHher 

inputs, induding volatility and correlations, are driven off historical settlements. 

The following table illustrates the classification of financial assets/(liabilrties) in the fair value hierarchy as at March 31, 2010: 

• ; • ' " • ' March31,:2dlO' 

Level 1 Lewel2 : Level 3 : Total 

Financial assets 

Trading assets $ 78,782 $ 

Loans and receivable 348,892 

Derivative financial assets 

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial liabilities - (38,487) 

Other financial liabilities (543.034) 

_ 
_ 

7,730 

,237.285) 

-

$ 78,782 

348.892 

7,730 

(1,275,772) 

(543,034) 

Total net derivative liabilities $ (115.360) $ (38,487) $(1,229,555) $(1,383,4{K!) 
• • • • • • • • " ' • " ' • - — — • — • i i M H I i i i i K j i i l l . . i i w i — i i i i i r i i r i r » m iiiiwiii.iiii..i —mimiiniiiiiiiiiiiiu imi i i i in i i i i i i—ii i . | • • iimiiiiliWIIlnllMII [ • 

The following table illustrates the changes in net fair value of finandal assets/Oi^ilities) dassified as Lev^ 3 in the fatf value 

hierarchyfortheyearendedMa;rch31,2010: : ; 

March 31.2010 

Opening balance, Apri l 1. 2Q09 $ (908.100) 

Total gain/dosses) - Net income (433,577) 

Purchases : (402,608) 

Sales 2.653 

Settlements: 512,077 

Transfer out of Levels ' -

Closing balance, :March 31,2010 $(1,229,555) 
• — • ' " - " • . IU . . I . - I IUWII - . . II . „ . m m ^ llll. — — — I I I • . I I . I I . . M M I I . . I I M M M . I I I . I I . I I I . I I I I . I W . I I I I I I I — • • • m i l — . — • • 

(b) Classification of financial assets and liabHities 

The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value or 

amortized cost; 

AsatMarch31,2010 

Cash and restnrted cash 

Accounts receivable 

Other assets 

Bank indebtedriess, accounts payaWe and accrued liabilities and unit distribution payable 

Long-term debt 

Other liabilities 

Carrying 
amount 

$ 78,782 

348,892 

7,730 

248,368 

294,666 

1,275,772 

Fair value 

$ 78.782 

348,892 

7.730 

248.368 

302,689 

1,275,772 

For the years ended 

2010 

$ 16,134 

2009 

$ 3,857 Interest expense on finandal liabilities not hetd-for-trading 

The carrying value of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and urwt dlstrfeutiEm 

payable approximate their fair value due to their short-term liquidity. 

The carrying value of the long-tenn debt approximates its fair value as the interest pa^ble on outstanding ammjnts is at rates 

that vary with Bankers' Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate with the exception for the JEEC 

convertible debentu re which is fair valued based on market 

JUST ENERGY INCOME PUHD:» ANWUM::REPORT 2010 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(c) Management of risks arising f rom financiat Instruments 

The risks assodated with the Fund's financial instruments are as follows: 

(i) Market risk 

Market risk is the potential lossthat may beijncurred as a result of changes in thetnarket or fair value of a particular 
instrument or commodity. Components of marketrisk to:v>/hich the Fund is e)q30sed are discussed below: 

Foreign currency risk :.>.r̂ ^̂  •; 
Foreign currency risk is created by fluctuatî ons in the fairyalue orcash flows of firianciat in^ruments due to changes in f<M^gn 
exchange rates and exposure as a resuK Of investrrierit in US, operations;: ; ;; : 

A portion of Just Energy's earnings is generated iri U.S. dollarsanid'is subjectto cyrrency fluctuations. The p^ormance of the 
Canadian dollar relative to the U.S; dollar could positively or negatively affect Just Energy's earnings. Due to its growing 
operations in the U.S. and recent acquisitionof UEG, iust Energy expects to have a greater exposure in the future to U.S. 

fluctuations than in prior years. ^ 

The Fund may, from time to time, experience losses resulting from fluctuations in the values of its foreign currency 

transactions, which could adversdy affect operating results. 

With respert to translation exposure, as at March 31,2010, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or weaker against 
the U.S. dollar, assuming that all the other variables had ranained constant, net income for the year ended March 31,2010, 
would have been $662 lower/higher and other comprehensive income would have been $8,146 lowerfliigher. 

/nterest rate r/sĴ  
Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate flurtuations associataj with its floating rate credit fadiity. Just Energy's currwit 
exposure to interest rates doK not economically warrant tiie use of derivative instruments. The Fund's exposure to interest 
rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. As such, the Fund does not believe that this long-term debt exposes it 
to material financial risks and has determined that there is no need to set out parameters to actively manage this risk. 

A 1% increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in income before taxes for the year 
ended March 31,2010, of approximately $421. 

Commodity price risk 

Just Energy is exposed to market risks assodated with commodity;pricK and market volatility where estimated custcwner 
requirements do not matcti actual customer requirements. JustEf̂ !'gy:'S exposure:toimarket risk is afferted fay a number of 
factors, induding accuracyof estimatiori of dJstGHTter ccHTimoditj'Tequirernents, ccMTirnodity fwices, volatility and liquidity of 
markets. Just Energy entersinto derivative ins^b^ments iri Order: to manage exposures to changes in commocfi^ prices. The 
derivative instruments that are used: aredesigri©ci:to;fB<the price of sijpply for estimated customer commodity demand in 
Canadian dollars and thereby fix margins such that lteithc^der:di#ibytibns Can be appmpriately establishedJ Derivative 
instruments are generally transarted over the courvfer. fheinabilityctf: failure of Just Energy to manage and rnonitor the above-
market risks could have a materialadverseeffert on theoperatidnsand cash flow of Just Energy. 

Commodity price sensitivity ~~AU derivative financiat instruments 

As at March 31, 2010, if the energy prices including natural gas, elertricity, green natural gas credits and green elertridty 
certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before taxes fortiie 
yearended March 31, 2010, would have increased (decreased) by $188,537 ($187,592) primarily asa result of the change in 

the fair value of the Fund's derivative instruments. 

Commodity price sensitivity - Level 3 derivative financial instruments 
As at March 31. 2010, if the energy prices induding natural gas, elertridty, green natural gas credits and green elertridty : : 
certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming tiiat all the otiier variables had remained constant, income before taxes for the 
year ended March 31, 2010, would have increased (decreased) by $170,287 ($169,495) primarily as a result of the chaige in 
the fairvalue of the Fund's derivativeinstruments. 

Changes in energy pricesWillnpt significantly impart the Fund's gross margin. 
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<ii) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a finandal instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes ffnandal loss to 
another party, just Energy is exposed to credit risk in two spedfic areas: customer credit risk and coiffiterparty credit ride 

Customer credit risk 

In Alberta, Texas, illinois, Pennsylvania, California and Maryland, Just Energy has customer credit risk̂  and therefore, credit 
review processes have been implemented to perform credit evaluations of customers and manage customer default, tf a 
significant number of customers were to default On their payments, it could have a material adverse,effect on the operattons 
and cash flows of Just Energy Management factors default from; credit risk in its margin ©cpertattonsior all the above maricets. 

As at March 31, 2010, accountsreeeivabtes from tiie above markets with a carrying value of $20,23^ (March 31, ZOOS-
SI 7,022) were past due but not impaired. As at March 31,2010, the aging of the accounts recdvables from the above 
markets was as follows: 

Current , $ 44,531 

1-30 days 13,873 
31-60 days 4,598 
61-90 days 1,768 
Over 90 days 3.9y^ 

\ J S 68,743 

For the year ended March 31, 2010, changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows: 

Balance, beginning of year $ 8,657 
Provision for doubtful accounts , 17,939 
Bad debts written off (14,880) 
Others (1,866) 

Balance, end of year $ 9.850 

For the remaining markets, the LDCs provide collertion sen̂ ices and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy's 
customers for a fee. Management brieves that the ri^ of the LDCs failing to deliver parent to Jusi Ener^ is minimal. There 
is no assurance that the LDCs that provide these sen/ices will continue to do so in the future. 

Counterparty credit risk 
Counterparty Credit risk represents the loss tfrat Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perrform under its contractual 
obligations. This risk wouldmanifestitself in Just Energy repladng contrarted supply at prevailing maricet rates thus intpacting 
the related customer margin or repladng contrarted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates imi^arting the related 
Canadian dollar denominated distributions. Couriterparly limits are established wtthin the Risk Man^ement Policy. Ar^ 
exceptions to these limits require approvalfrom the Board of Directors of JEC. The Risk Office and Rijsk Committee monitor 
current and potential credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterpart exposure. 
However, the failure of a counterparty to meetlts contractual isblfgations could have a material adverse effert on the 
operations and cash flows of Just Energy. 

As at March 31,2010, the maximum counterparty aedit risk exposure amounted to $76,473, representing Ihe risk rdating to 

its derivative finandal assets and accounts receivable. 
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(iii) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the potentiarinabiBtytd meet financial Obligations as they fall due. The Fund manages this risk by mcaiitoring 

detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling:six-week period, monthly cash forecasts for the next 12 montiis, and 

quarterly forecasts for the followirig twchyeai' p«1od to;erisure adequate and efficient use of cash resources md credit fadlities. 

The following are the contrartual maturities, excluding interest payments, reverting undiscounted disburswiiente of the Fund's 

financial liabilities at March 31. 2010: 

Canying Contractual Less than More than 
atnount MSJTflows 1 year T to3^ars 4to 5ye3rs Syeac 

Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities and 

unit distribution payable $ 240,132 $ 240.132 $ 240.132 $ - $ - $ 

Bank indebtedness 8,236 8,236 8,236 _ _ „ 

Long-term debt 294,666 301,249 62.829 120,475 117,945 

Derivativeinstruments: 

Cash outflow _,.,..l'.2Z.̂ iZ7i,.,.„. '̂'533,371 1,494.003 1.621.623: : 415.680 2,065 

$1,818,806 $ 4,082,988 $ 1.8Q5.200 $ 1,742,Ci98 $ : 533.6?5 $ 2,065 

In addition to the amounts noted above, at March 31, 2010, net interest payments over the life of the long^rm debt and 

bank credit facility are: 

Lessthsn Mowtiian 
1 year t to3:y^rs : 4to5yeafs Syears 

Interest payments : : ^ $: : :16;040 $ 24,466 $ ;̂  12,260 $ 1,546 

(iv) Supplier risk 

Just Energy purchases the majority:of the gasandelectrid^tleliyereidto its custom thrQWgh;tengrterm cohtracts entered 

into with various suppliers. Just En^^y has an exposure to SMPf î̂  risk as,;tiie ability to continue to cfcliver gas and dectricity 

to its customers is reliant upon the ongoing operatiprisof these sujspliers and their ability to fulfill their contrartual obltgaticms. 

Just Energy has discounted the fair valu? of its financial assets ;by;i672 to; accommodate for its cbyriterparties" risk of default. 
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NOTE 14 CAPITAL DISCtOSURE 

Just Energy defines capital as Unitholders' equity (exduding accumulated other comprehensive income) and Icwig-tenn dd3t The 

Fund's objertives when managingcapital are to malmain flexibility between: : 

(a) enabling it to operate eflidently; 

(b) providing liquidity and access to capital for growth opportunities; and 

(c) providing returns and generating predirtaWe cash f low for distribution to ynitholders. 

The Fund manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and tire risk 

chararteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Dirertors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 

management, but rather promotes year over year sustainable profitable growrth. The Fund's capital mariagement objertives have 

remained Unchanged from the prior year. The Fund is not subjert to any externally imposed capital requirem^ts other than 

finandal covenants in its credit fadlities and as at March 31,2010 a i d 2009, all of these covenants had been met 

NOTE IS I N C O M E (LOSS) PER UNIT 

Basic income (loss) per unit 

Net income (loss) available to Unitholders 

Weighted average number of units outstanding 

Weighted average numt^r of Class A preference shares 

Weighted average number of Exchangeable Shares 

2010 2009 

£ 231.496 $ (1.107.473) 

117,674,000 104,841,000 

5,264,000 5,623,CK)0 

5,028.000 

Basic units and shares outstanding 

Basic income (loss) per unit 

Diluted income (loss) per uni t ' 

Net income (loss) available to Unitholders 

Basic units and shares outstanding. 

Dilutive effert of: 

Unit options 

Unit appreciation rights 

Deferred unit grants 

Convertible debentures 

Units outstanding on a diluted basis 

Diluted income (loss) per unit" 

127.966,000 

$ 1.81 

$ 231.496 

127,966.000 

-
1.392,000 

71.000 

-
129,429.000 

5 • 1-79 

110,464,000 

$ (10.03) 

$ (1,107,473) 

110,464,000 

^ 
_ 
-
_ 

110,464,000 

$ (10.03) 

' Conversion of convertible debentyres isiariti-cliiutive to income per unit for the year ended MarchBI. 2010. Conversctfl of witc^icms. urst 
appreciation rights and deferred unit grants are anti-d'tOtive to inconie (iQSsJfor the year ended:March 31, 2009. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FirMANClAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 16 REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS 
Just Energy operates in two reportable gec^raphic segments. Canada and the United States. Reporting by geographic region is in 
line with Just Energy's performance measurement paraneters. The gas and electridty buaness segment have operations in both 
Canada and United States. 

Just Energy evaluates segmwit performance based on geographic segments and operating segments. 

The following tables present Just Energy's results by geographic segments and operating segments: 

Gas and electricity marketing Ethanol Home services 
2010 

Sales-gas 
Sales - electridty 
Ethanol 
Home sen/ices 

Sales 

Gross margin 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Amortization of intangible assets :̂, 
Other operating expenses 

Income before the undernoted 

Interest expense 

Change in fairvalue of derivative Instruments 
Other income \ : • 
Non-controlling interest 
Provision for (recovery of) income tax 

Canada 

$ 788,661 
637,580 

-
-

$1,426,241 

$ 231,147 

(5,768) 
(34,959) 

(68,156) 

122,264 

9,079 
37,058 
(3,122) 

_ 
(123.113) 

United States 

$ 

;̂ $^ 

$ 

425.975 
381,674 

-
_ 

807-649 

t72,627 

(262) 
(22.402) 

(121,394) 

23,569 

1,130 
(35,776) 

(82) 

-
24,415 

$ 

$ 
$̂ " 

Canada 

- $ 
-

56,455 

-
56;455 $ 

4,510 $ 
(1.079) 

-
(9,089) 

(5.658) 
5.107 

_ 
(311) 

(3,593) 

-

Canada 

-
™ 

-
8,886 

8.886 

7,049 
(788) 

(1.187) 
(3,760) 

0,686) 

818 

-
_ 

(55) 
(1.562) 

Consolidated 

$ 1.214,636 

1.019,254 
56,455 

8.886 

$2,299,231 

$ 415.333 
(7,897) 

(58,548) 
(207,399) 

141.489 

16.134 
1,282 

(3.515) 
(3,648) 

(100,250) 

Net income (loss) 

Additions to capital assets 

Total goodwill 

Total assets 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

202.362 

11.267 

138.905 

727,395 

$ 
$ 
$ 
:$, 

38,882 

797 

31,053 

373.180 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

(5.861) $ 

4.599 $ 

J 

161,028 $ 

(2,887) 

24,544 

7,929 

91,492 

$ 231,496 

$ 41,207 

$ 177.887 

$ 1,353,095 

Gas and eiectrioTy nrarketing 

2009 

Sales - gas 
Sales - electricity 

Sales 

Gross margin 

Amortization of gas contracts 
Amortization of electricity contrarts 
Amortization of capital assets 
Other operating expenses 

income before the undernoted , 
Interest expense 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 
Other income 
Non-controlling interest 
Recovery of income tax 

Net loss 

Cariada 

$ 814,275 
518i388 

$1,332,663 

$ 231.720 
710 
178 

4,660 

89.889 

136,283 
2,479 

872,402 
(7,574) 

(58) 
(1,971) 

United States 

$ 343,889 
222,661 

$ 566,550 

$ 91,096 

_ 
2,706 

440 
55.995 

31,955 
1,378 

464.574 

m) 
(55.4$9) 

ConsĜ idated 

$1,158,154 
741,049 

$1,893,213 

$ 322,816 

710 
2,884 

5,100 
145,884 

158,238 
3,857 

1,336,976 
(7,604) 

(58) 
(57,460) 

$ (728,995) $ (378.478) $(1,107,473) 

Additions to capital assets 

Total goodwill 

Total assets 

$ 6,169 

$ 94.576 

$ 368,873 

% 175 

$ 22.435 

$ 166.882 

$ 6,345 

$ 117.061 

$ 535,755 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLffi)ATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 17 GUARANTEES 

(a) Of f icers a n d d i rec to rs 

Corporate indemnities have beeh prQvided by tiie Fund to all dirertorsand certain officers of its subsidiaries and affHiates for 

various items induding, but not limited t6.;a[l! costs to settle suits or actions due to tiieir assodation with the Fmd caid its 

subsidiaries and/or affiliatesisubjerttdcertainrestrirtions. the Fund has purchased dirertors' and officers' liabiBty insuraice to 

mitigate the cost of any potentlalfuture suits or artions. Each inderr^nity. subjert to certain exceptions, applies for so bng as the 

indemnified person is a director or officer of one of the Fund's subsidiaries and/or afffliates. I he m3ximi|im amount of any 

potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated. 

(b) O p e r a t i o n s 

In the normal course of business, the Fund and/or the Fund's subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements that indude 

guarantees in favour of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and transportation agreements. 

These guarantees mayrequirethe Fund an^ritslsubsidiaries to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by the 

counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of litigation daims or statutory sanctions that 

may be suffered by the counterpart as a consequence of the transartion. The maximum payable under these guarantees is 

estimated to be $69,174. 

NOTE 18 COMMITMENTS 

Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

Premises and 
equipment 

leasing 

2on 
2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

Thereafter 

Gram Ma$ter Serwss 
production Agreement 

contracts with EPCOR 

Long-temi 
gas and 

contracts 
witii varitHjs 

stippfiers 

$ 8,084 $ 

6,186 

4,357 

3,026 

2,304 

4,828 

36,059 $. 

19.720 

1,718 

396 
„ 

_ 

12,132 

8,088 

» 
-
_ 
-

$1,494,003 

1.001.759 

619,864 

323,362 

92,318 

2.065 

$ 28,785 $ 57,893 $ 20,220 $3.533371 

Just Energy is also committed under long-term contracts with customers to suppJy gas and electridty. These contracts fwve various 

expiry dates and renewal options. 

NOTE 19 CONTINGENCIES ' 

The State of California has filed a number of comf^aints to the Federal Regulatory Energy Commission ("FREC") against many 

suppliers of elertridty, induding Commerce, a subsidiary of the Fund, with respert to events stemming frpm the 2001 en^^gy crises 

in California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FREC's enforcement of its market-tesed rate 

system, Ahhough Commerce did not own generation, tiie State of California is claiming that Commerce Was unjustly i n c h e d by 

the run-up caused by the alleged market manipulation by otiier market participants. The proceedings are currentiy ongoing. On 

March 18, 2010. the Administrative Law Judge granted the motion to strike for all parties in one of the oimpiaints holding that 

California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market power California has appealed tiie decision. 

At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if any, with respert to this litigation is not 

determinable; however, an estimated amount has been recorded in these consolidated finandal statements as at March 31.2010. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMB^TS 

NOTE 20 ADJUSTMENTS REQUIRED TO REFLECT NET CASH RECEIPTS FROM GAS SALES 

Changes in: 

Accrued gas accounts payable 
Unbilled revenues 
Gas delivered in excess of consumption 
Deferred revenue 
Other 

2010 2009 

$ (26.^6) $ 2,857 
36,986 (10.480) 
(8,508) 
8.^7 

$ 10.549 $ (7,623) 

NOTE 21 CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL 

Accounts receivable 
Gas in storage 
Inventory 

Prepaid expenses 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Corporate taxes payable (recoverabfe) 
Other , - ' ' ; ; , ' >;/,̂  

2010 2009 

$ mm) i 
2,430 

(41) 
25,869 

5.^1 
(8.3D3) 
(1.388) 

(17,251) 
(1,288) 

029) 

381 
18,989 
4,447 
1,132 

$ (35,S23) $ 6,181 

NOTE 22 COMRARAHVECONSOUDiS^EDFINANC^^LSTO 
Certain figures from the eomparative finandal statemwits have beerireelassifled from statements previously pmsented to ccffifcwm 
tc) the presentation of the currentyeisî 's consolidated financial statements. 

NOTE 23 SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

On May 7,2010, Just Energy complete! the acquisition of all of the common shares of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC and Hudson 
Energy Corp. (collectively, "Hudson") with an effertive date of May 1,2010. Hudson is a privately hdd ener^ mari<eting company 
operating in New York, New Jersey, Illinois and Texas, primarily focused on the small to mid-size commercial customer market. 

In order to fund the purchase for the acquisition and related costs. Just Energy has entered into an agreement to sell to a 
syndicate of underwriters $330 million aggregate principal amount of 6.00% Convertible Extendible Unsecured Subordinated 
Debentures (the "Convertible Debentures"). The Convertible Debentures will bear interest at a rate of 6.00% per annum p ^ ^ l e 
semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31. 

The consideration for the acquisition will be approximately US$304.2 million, subject to customary wroridng capital adjustments. 
payable as to US$295.0 million in cash at closing anda post-closing deferred payment of US$9.2 million, payafĉ e In four equal 
quarterly instalments during the first year follcwing dosing. Just Energy anticipates that associated transaction $nd finandng costs 
will bring the total purchase cost to approximately $330 million. 
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EXHIBIT C-2 
SEC FILINGS 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

Please refer to Exhibit C-1 for the applicant's parent company's most recent securities 
filing information. Also attached is a copy of a recent press release where the 
applicant's parent company. Just Energy Income Fund receives court and security holder 
approvals for conversion from a fund to a corporation pursuant to which Just Energy's 
trust structure will be converted to a publicly traded corporation named Just Energy 
Group, Inc. The applicant's annual report is the last report filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. 



JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND RECEIVES COURT AND SECURITYHOLDER 
APPROVALS FOR CONVERSION TO A CORPORATION 

TORONTO, July 2, 2010 - Just Energy Income Fund (TSX - JE.UN) ("Just Energy") is pleased 
to announce that on June 30, 2010, it obtained a final order from the Court of Queen's Bench of 
Alberta approving its previously announced plan of arrangement under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act pursuant to which Just Energy's trust structure will be converted to a publicly 
traded corporation named Just Energy Group Inc. The plan of arrangement was approved by Just 
Energy's voting securityholders by a majority of 99.9% at Just Energy's annual and special 
meeting held on June 29, 2010. The holders of the Exchangeable Shares of Just Energy 
Exchange Corp. also approved plan of arrangement at the meeting by a 100% majority. The 
conversion is expected to become effective on or about January 1, 2011. 

About the Fund 

Just Energy's business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and 
commercial customers under long-term fixed-price and price-protected contracts. By fixmg the 
price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a 
period of up to fivQ years, Just Energy's customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of 
these essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin 
or gross profit from the difference between the fixed price at which it is able to sell the 
commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the associated voliunes 
from its suppliers. 

Just Energy also offers "green" products through its Just Green program. The electricity Just 
Green product offers the customer the option of having all or a portion of his or her electricity 
sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or biomass. The gas 
Just Green product offers carbon offset credits which will allow the customer to reduce or 
eliminate the carbon footprint for their home or business. Management believes that these 
products will not only add to profits, but also increase sales receptivity and improve renewal 
rates. 

In addition, through National Home Services, Just Energy sells and rents high efficiency and 
tankless waterheaters and, through Terra Grain Fuels Inc., produces and sells wheat-based 
ethanol. 

Forward-Loo king Statements 

This press release may contain forward-looking statements including statements relating to the 
expectations of Just Energy regarding the proposed conversion including, but not limited to: 
timing, completion and receipt of necessary approvals. These statements are based on current 
expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to 
differ from those anticipated. Additional information on these and other factors that could affect 
Just Energy's operations, financial results or distribution levels or the timing and completion of 
the conversion, are included in Just Energy's annual information form and other reports on file 
with Canadian securities regulatory authorities including Just Energy's management information 



circular dated May 27, 2010 which can be accessed through the SEDAR website at 
www.sedar.com or through Just Energy's website at www.justenergy.com. 

The Toronto Stock Exchange has neither approved nor disapproved of the contents of this 
release. 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION PLEASE CONTACT: 

Ms. Rebecca MacDonald 
Executive Chair 
Phone: (416) 367-2872 

Mr. Ken Hartwick, C.A. 
Chief Executive Officer & President 
Phone: (905) 795-3557 

or 

Ms. Beth Summers, C.A. 
Chief Financial Officer 
Phone: (905) 795-4206 

http://www.sedar.com
http://www.justenergy.com


EXHIBIT C-3 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC, D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

Please see Exhibit C-1 -Armual Reports and please refer to Page 57-90 of the applicant's 
2010 Annual Report and page 53-80 of the 2009 Annual Report for the consolidated 
financial statements. 



EXHIBIT C-4 
FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

Attached please find the parent company's. Just Energy's Annual Information Form, filed 
on June 19, 2010 (copy enclosed) that describes credit facilities currentiy in place and 
shows that the applicant has sufficient financial arrangement in place to conduct business 
activities in Ohio and other markets. Also attached, please find a copy of current Letter of 
Credit in place with Colimibia Gas of Ohio. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements contained in this Annual Information Form and documents incorporated by reference herein 
constitute forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events and future performance. Forward-
looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those included in the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, 
identified by the use of words such as "seek", "anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "may", project", "predict", 
"potential", targeting", "intend", "could", "might", "should", "believe" and similar expressions. The Fund believes 
the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable but no assurance can be given that 
these expectations will prove to be correct. In particular, this Annual Information Form, aad the documents 
incorporated by reference herein, contain forward looking statements pertaining to customer revenues and m^ins , 
customer additions and renewals, customer attrition, customer consumption levels, distributable cash, tiie ability to 
compete successfully and treatment under govemmental regimes. Some of the risks that could affect the Fund's 
future results and could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements 
include, but are not limited to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, rates of customer 
additions and renewals, rates of customer attrition, fluctuation in natural gas and electricity prices, changes in 
regulatory regimes and decisions by regulatory authorities, competition, difficulties encotmtered iri the integration of 
acquisitions, dependence on certain suppliers. See "Risk Factors" for additional information on these and other 
factors that could affect the Fund's operations, financial results or distribution levels. These risks include, but are 
not limited to, risks relating to: credit, commodity and other market-related risks including availability of supply, 
volatility of commodity prices, availability of credit, market risk, energy trading inherent risk, customer credit risk, 
counterparty credit risk, electricity supply balancing risk, and natural gas supply balancing risk; operational risks 
including, reliance on information technology systems, reliance on third party service providers, outsourcing and 
offshoring arrangements, dependence on independent sales contractors, electricity and gas contract renewals and 
attrition rates, cash distributions (and following the conversion transaction, dividends) are not guaranteed and will 
fluctuate with the performance of the Fund, earnings volatility; model risk, commodity alternatives, capital asset and 
replacement risk, credit facilities and other debt arrangements, disruptions to infrastructm-e, expansion strategy mid 
future acquisitions; legal, regulatory and securities risks including legislative and regulatory environment, 
investment eligibility, nature of Units, Fund Convertible Debentures and Exchangeable Shares, redemption right, 
unitholder limited liability, distribution of securities on termination of the Fund, dilution from the issue additional 
Units; restrictions on potential growth, changes in legislation, risks relating to certain of the Fund's subsidiaries 
including in the case of TGF, leverage and restrictive covenants, reliance on proprietary technology, risk of claims 
for infringement, dependence on commodity prices, sensitivity to gasoline prices and demand, sensitivity to wheat 
prices and supply, natural gas prices and supply, sensitivity of distillers grain prices to the price of other commodity 
products, dependence on federal and provincial legislation and regulation, environmental, health and safety laws, 
regulations and liabilities, disruptions to infrastructure or in the supply of fuel or natiu-al gas and technological 
advances, and, in the case of NHS, buyouts and returns of water heaters, social or technological changes affecting 
the water heater market, concentration of water heater suppliers and product faults and geographic concentration of 
the Canadian water heater market; possible failure to realize aiticipated benefits of the Hudson Acquisition, reliance 
on key Hudson personnel, potential undisclosed liabilities associated vrith the Hudson Energy Acquisition, failure to 
protect Hudson's intellectual property; changes in tax laws, possible failure to realize anticipated benefits of the 
Conversion Transaction, certain risks inherent in an mvestment in the Fund Debentiu'es Given these risks and 
uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of future 
results. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Annual Information Form and, except as 
required by law, the Fund does not imdertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking 
statements. 



STRUCTURE OF THE FUND 

General 

Just Energy Income Fund 

The following description of the Fund and its business is provided as at the date hereof. 

The Fund is an open-ended limited purpose trust governed by the Declaration of Trust and by the laws of the 
Province of Ontario. The Fund is administered by JEC, which is managed by the Board. The Fund was established 
to hold, directly and indirectly, securities of operating Subsidiaries and other Affiliates and to distribute the income 
of such entities. See Schedule "C" for a detailed description of the Declaration of Trust, the Units and the Fund. 

The principal business of the Fund's Subsidiaries and other Affiliates involves the sale of natural gas and/or 
electricity to residential and small to mid-sized commercial customers of approximately 3.0 million RCEs, under 
long-term, fvxed-price and price-protected Energy Contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under 
its fixed-price or price-protected program Energy Contracts for a period of up to five years, the Fund's customers 
offset their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. The Fund, which commenced business 
in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between the fixed-price at which it is able to sell the 
commodities to its customers and the fixed-price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its Suppliers. 

In the Province of Ontario, the Fund also sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters through its 
Subsidiary, NHS. In addition, the Fund's two-thirds-owned Subsidiary TGF owns and operates a wheat-based 
ethanol facility in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. 

The Fund also offers green products through its JustGreen program formerly known as the Green Energy Option or 
GEO. JustGreen is a program giving customers the option to have all or a portion of their electricity sourced from 
renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or biomass and/or their gas consumption offset by 
carbon credits, thus allowing the customer to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of their homes or businesses. 

Just Energy has a head office staff of approximately 900 employees. Sales are undertaken through a sales team of 
more than 1,500 Independent Contractors who sell largely door to door and, with the Hudson Energy Acquisition 
effective May 1, 2010: (i) through 550 Independent Broker companies representing in excess of 1,000 individual 
Independent Brokers utilizing a web based sales portal, (ii) a Florida based telemarketing centre and (iii) an internal 
sales team. The Fund's Affiliates also market to customers via Internet sales through its partnership with Red 
Ventures Inc., a North Carolina Internet sales company. In April 2010, the Fund commenced marketing Eneigy 
Contracts through Momentis' multi level marketing Subsidiaries utilizing a sales team which currenUy consists of 
approximately 500 Independent Representatives. Because of a non-compete covenant, Momentis may not market 
in the State of Texas imtil at least May, 2011 and for related reasons will not market in tiie State of Georgia until that 
date. 

Approximately 66% of the Fund's customers are residential customers, with the balance being commercial, and 
approximately 65% of the Fund's customers are located in Canada, with the remainder in the United States. The 
Fund's customer base is currently comprised of approxunately 1.23 million natural gas RCEs and approximately 
1.76 million electricity RCEs. 

The Fund's operating Subsidiaries and other Affiliates currently carry on business in Canada in the provinces of 
Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec, British Columbia and Alberta and in the United States in the states of Illinois, New 
York, Indiana, Michigan, Ohio, New Jersey, California, Maryland, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts and Texas. As and 
to the extent that natural gas and electricity utility deregulation extends into new jurisdictions in the United States, 
the Fund intends to expand into new markets to meet customer demand for retail natural gas and electricity products. 

The head office of tiie Fund and JEC is located at Suite 200, 6345 Dixie Road, Mississauga, Ontario L5T 2E6. 

For further information regarding the Fund and its Subsidiaries (including JEEC) and other Affiliates, and their 
respective business activities, see "General Development of the Fund" and "Business of Just Energy" herein aid in 
the other documents incorporated by reference herein. 



Organizational Structure of the Fund 

The following diagram sets forth the simplified organizational structure of the Fund. 

Holders of Class A 
Preference Shares 

Holders of JEEC 

, < ' ) , /'> 
Just Energy Coip. 

(Ontario) 

100% 

Canadian Subsidiaries*^' 

„«) [ m 
Just &iergy Exchange Corp, 

(Canada) 

1 
Canadian Subsidiaries*^* 

U.S. Subsidiaries'̂ *' U.S. Subsidiaries'*' 

Notes: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

The Fund owns all of the voting and equity securities of JEC, except forthe 5,263,728 outstanding Class A Preference 
Shares, each of which is non-voting and exchangeable for one Unit. 
The Fund owns all of die voting and equity securities of JEEC, except, at June 19, 2010, the 4,286,000 outstanding 
Exchangeable Shares, each of which is non-voting and exchangeable for one Unit. 
The Canadian subsidiaries are corporations, trusts, limited partnerships, and unlimited liability companies directiy or 
indirectly wholly-owned by the Fund: ESIF Commercial Trust I (Ontario); OESC Exchangeco U Inc. (Ontario); Just 
Energy Ontario L.P. (Ontario); Just Energy Alberta L.P, (Alberta); Alberta Energy Savings L.P. (Alberta); Just Energy 
Manitoba L.P. (Manitoba); Just Energy B.C. Lunited Partnership (British Columbia); Just Energy Quebec L.P. 
(Quebec); Ontario Energy Commodities Inc. (Ontario); Just Energy Trading L.P. (Ontario); UEGL ExchangeCo Corp. 
(Canada); Just Energy Alberta Corp. (Alberta); Just Energy B.C. Corp. (British Columbia); La corpwation d'̂ conoraie 
d'̂ nergie du (^6bec (Qu6bec); Just Energy Group Inc.; Momentis Canada Corp. (Ontario); GEO Capital Ventures 
Corp. (Ontario), Hudson Energy Canada Corp. (Canada) and Just Energy Finance Canada ULC (Nova Scotia). 
The U.S. subsidiaries are corporations, limited liability companies and limited partnerships mdhectiy wholly-owned by 
the Fund: Just Energy (U.S.) Corp.; Just Energy Illinois Corp.; Just Energy Indiana Corp.; Just Energy Massachusetts 
Corp.; Just Energy New York Corp.; Just Energy Texas I Corp.; Just Energy Texas LP; Just Energy, LLC; Just Energy 
Pennsylvania Corp.; Commerce Energy, Inc.; Just Energy Marketing Corp.; Just Energy Michigan Corp.; Just Energy 
Maryland Corp.; Momentis US. Corp.; Just Energy Connecticut Corp.; Hudson Energy Corp.; Hudson Parent 
Holdings, LLC; HE Holdings LLC; Drag Marketing LLC; Hudson Energy Services LLC; Hudson Energy JV LLC; Just 
Energy Limited; and Just Energy Finance LLC. All U.S. subsidiaries are incorporated or formed, as applicable, under 
the laws of the State of Delaware except Just Energy LLC (Texas), Just Energy Texas LP (Texas) and Commerce 
Energy, Inc. (California). 

The Canadian subsidiaries are NHS (Ontario) and Universal Energy Corporation (Canada), each of which is wholly-
owned by JEEC. JEEC also holds 66^3% of flie issued and outstandmg shares in the capital of TGF. 
The U.S. subsidiaries are corporations directiy or indirectiy wholly-ovmed by JEEC: Universal Gas & EletAric 
Corporation; UG & E Holdings Inc.; Wholesale Energy New Yoric Inc.; Wholesale Energy Illinois Inc.; National Home 
Services U.S. Corp.; and UG & E Texas Inc. All U.S. subsidiaries are incorporated under the laws of the State of 
Delaware. 



GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE FUND 

The Fund completed its initial public offering of Units on April 30, 2001 at a price of $2.50 per Unit (post-splits) 
pursuant to a final prospectus dated April 20, 2001 and completed a subsequent sale of Units (post-splits) pursuant 
to the exercise of an over-allotment option on May 16, 2001. The Fund and JEC have subdivided their units and 
shares twice since July 17, 2002. 

During the past three years the Fund has been involved m several significant events, includmg internal 
reorganizations, a re-branding, the expansion of its business by organic growth and acquisitions, and related 
financings, and is seeking approval for the Conversion Transaction. These events are described below in 
chronological order. The Fimd's business is described in detail under the heading "Business of Just Energy" 

commencing on page 7. 

Three Year History 

April 30, 2007 Reorgattization 

The Fund has completed several internal reorganizations in order to: (i) facilitate the expansion of the Fund's 
business in Canada and the United States, whether organic or through acquisitions, (ii) conserve cash flow, and (iii) 
ensure the continuity of distributions to Unitholders. Two uitemal reorganizations of the Fimd have been completed 
in the last three years. 

The objective of the April 30, 2007 Reorganization and the transactions related thereto was: (i) to reorganize the 
structure of the Fund and its Affiliates into a structure suited to the profitable, expansionary development of the 
Fund's business in Canada and the United States, and (ii) to protect the expectation of Unitiiolders regarding the 
returns on their investment in the Fimd. As a result of the April 30, 2007 Reorganization, the Fund's holding 
company structure in Canada was replaced with a trust and partnership structure. 

To accommodate the April 30, 2007 Reorganization: (i) amendments were made to the JEC Shareholders' 
Agreement and to the Declaration of Trust, (ii) additional Subsidiaries were incorporated and (iii) the ESIF Note 
Indenture and the Exchangeco II Note Indenture were created. 

The principal changes to the Declaration of Trust included amendments: (i) to permit the creation and issuance of a 
second class of Units designated as "Special Units" to facilitate the completion of the reorganization; (ii) to 
gradually shift the value of the Fund's business to ESIF CT over time, the Declaration of Trust was amended to 
provide that where the redemption of Units is not paid in cash, each Unit tendered for redemption will be redeemed 
by way of a distribution in specie of ESIF Notes issued by ESIF CT; (iii) to permit the consolidation of Units; and 
(iv) to permit the distribution of securities owned by the Fund to Unitholders resident in Canada only in 
circumstances where non resident Unitholders are not prejudiced by such distributions. 

On December 20, 2007, the Declaration of Trust was further amended by Special Resolution for the sole purpose of 
providing the Administrator with the discretion to determine that there not be a consolidation of Units on z^pro-rata 
distribution of additional Units to all Unitholders. 

On May 14,2009, the Declaration of Trust was again mnended by a supplemental indenture between the Trustee and 
JEC for the sole purpose of changing the name of the Fund to Just Energy Income Fund. 

Acquisition of JustEnergy Texas 

On May 24, 2007, Energy Savings Texas Corp. (now Just Energy Texas), purchased all of the partnership units of 
Just Energy Texas L.P. for a consideration of U.S. $34 million and 1,169,399 Units 



Establishment of 80% Interest in Newten Home Contfort and Subsequent Acquisition of Minority 29% Interest 

On June 26, 2008, the Fund's Affiliates entered into a partnership agreement to form Newten Home Comfort L.P., a 
business involving the marketing, lease, sale and installation in Ontario of tankless and high efficiency water 
heaters. On July 2, 2009, immediately after the Universal Acquisition, NHS, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Universal, acquired the remaining 20% equity interest in Newten Home Comfort L.P., which was subsequentiy 
wound-up and dissolved and its business merged with NHS. 

Acquisition of Assets of CEG Energy Options Inc. 

On August 14,2008, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial and residential customer contracts of 
CEG Energy Options Inc. in British Columbia for $1.8 million. CEG was a Western Canada marketer of natural 
gas. The customer contracts had annualized volumes of approximately 4.9 million GJs. 

Name Change 

The name of the Fund was changed from Energy Savings Income Fund to Just Energy Income Fund pursuant to an 
amendment to the Fund's Declaration of Trust dated May 14, 2009 and effective June I, 2009, at which time tiie 
TSX trading symbol was changed from SIF.UN to JE.UN. At approximately the same time or shortly thereafter the 
corporate names of most of the operating Subsidiaries of the Fund were changed to incorporate the Just Energy 
name. The Fund holds the registered trademark "Just Energy" in the United States and is in the final process of 
obtaining it in Canada. The Fund intends to use the Hudson Eneigy name in association with tiie Fund's 
commercial division. 

Universal A cquisUion 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the Universal Acquisition pursuant to the Universal Acquisition Agreement, 
acquiring all of the outstanding common shares of Universal in accordance with a plan of arrangement. Under the 
plan of arrangement. Universal shareholders received 0.58 of an Exchangeable Share for each Universal common 
share held. In aggregate, 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to tiie plan of arrangement. On July 
1, 2009 a total of 4,348,314 of Exchangeable Shares were exchanged for a total of 4,348,314 trust units of Just 
Energy in accordance with elections made by certaui Universal shareholders. Each Exchangeable Share is 
exchangeable for one Unit at any time at the option of the holder and entitles the holder to a monthly dividend equal 
to 66^3% of the monthly distribution (including any special distribution) paid by Just Energy on a Unit. JEEC also 
assumed all of the covenants and obligations of Universal in respect of the JEEC Convertible Debentures. On 
conversion of the JEEC Convertible Debentures, holders will be entitied to receive 0.58 of an Exchangeable Share in 
lieu of each Universal common share that the holder was previously entitied to receive on conversion, subject to 
adjustment for dividends paid on the Exchangeable Shares. The JEEC Convertible Debentures mature on 
September 30, 2014. 

At the time of the Universal Acquisition, Universal's business involved the sale of electricity and natural gas in 
Ontario to residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers, the sale of natural gas in British 
Columbia to residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers and the sale of natural gas and 
electricity in Michigan to small to mid-size commercial and industrial customers. Through Universal's acquisition 
of Commerce on December 11, 2008, Universal also marketed electricity in Maryland, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, 
Ohio and California and natural gas in Maryland, Pennsylvania, Nevada and California. In addition. Universal 
owned a 66%% interest in TGF, which owns the Belle Plaine Facility. Universal also marketed a water heater rental 
programme to residential customers in the Province of Ontario which, as described above was merged with the 
waterheater business carried on by the Fund through Newten Home Comfort. See "Establishment of 80% Interest 
in Newton Home Comfort and Subsequent Acquisition of Minority 20% Interest" above and "NHS Water Heater 
Financing Agreement" below. The Universal acquisition increased Just Energy's market share and provided entry 
into new geographic markets as well as accelerating Just Energy's entry into the water heater rental business. 

The Fund has filed a Business Acquisition Report in respect of the Universal Acquisition which is available on the 
SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 

http://www.sedar.com


December 2009 Reorganization 

The December 2009 Reorganization was implemented as part of an overall plan to grow tiie Fund's business in the 
United States through the Universal Acquisition and Universal's wholly-owned subsidi^. Commerce Energy, Inc. 
("Commerce"). The December 2009 Reorganization involved a number of transactions commencing with the 
incorporation of Just Energy Finance Canada ULC ("JEFC") and Just Energy Finance LLC ("JEF"), and culmmating 
with the purchase and wind-up of Commerce Gas & Electric Corporation (the direct parent of Commerce) from 
JEEC by Just Energy (U.S.) making Commerce a wholly owned dhect subsidiary of Just Energy (U.S.) on 
December 15, 2009. 

As part of the December 2009 Reorganization, Just Energy (U.S.) and Commodities (the parent of Just Energy 
(U.S.)), entered into a Guarantee, Put and Call Agreement (tiie "GPC Agreement") dated as of December 14,2009. 
Pursuant to the GPC Agreement, Just Energy (U.S.) agrees tiiat if JEFC shall at any time fail to (i) make full 
payment of any declared dividends that holders of preferred shares of JEFC are entitled to receive and that JEFC is 
obligated to pay pursuant to its preferred share terms; or (ii) make full payment of miounts payable by JEFC 
following the presentation and surrender for redemption or Just Energy (IJ.S.) liquidation of any JEFC preferred 
shares pursuant to the preferred share terms (collectively, the "Guaranteed Obligations"), then it irrevocably and 
unconditionally guarantees to pay or cause to be paid the Guaranteed Obligations. TTie GPC Agreement also 
provides that Just Energy (U.S.) grants to Commodities or any holder of preferred shares a right ("Put right") to 
require Just Energy (U.S.) to purchase all of the preferred shares held by Commodities or any holder of preferred 
shares upon a number of events, including (x) a failure of JEFC to meet the Guaranteed Obligations, (y) a change of 
control of Just Energy (U.S.), or (z) Just Energy (U.S.) fails to maintain certain financial coven^ts. Additionally, 
the GPC Agreement provides Just Energy (U.S.) the right ("Call right") to require Commodities or any holder of 
preferred shares to sell all of the preferred shares of JEFC held by it to Just Energy (U.S.) in accordance with the 
terms of the GPC Agreement. 

NHS Water Heater Financing Agreement 

On January 18, 2010 NHS and Home Trust Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Home Capital Group Inc., 
entered into a long-term financing agreement to finance current and future water heater installations by NHS. Under 
the agreement, NHS receives an amount equal to the five year cash flow from each NHS water heater customer 
rental contract discounted at an ^ e e d rate. Home Trust then receives an amount equal to the customer payments 
on the contracts for the five years. The residual rental payments over the life of the water heaters reverts to NHS 
(the expected life of the water heaters is 15 years). The fmancing commitment is for water heater contracts entered 
into until January 2011 Funding for future years is to be negotiated and both parties have the right to terminate 
fiirther funding on 180 days notice. To date, approximately $70 million has been funded. 

Establishment of Momentis 

In January 2010 the Fund established two Subsidiaries (Momentis U.S. Corp. and Momentis Canada Corp.) to cany 
on business related to the multi-level marketing of Energy Contracts in Canada and the United States (except in 
Texas and Georgia until May 2011). 

Financing of Hudson Energy 

On May 5, 2010, the Fund completed a public offering of $330 million aggregate principal amount of Fund 
Convertible Debentures to finance the purchase price and related costs of the Hudson Energy Acquisition (see 
"Hudson Energy Acquisition" below). 

Hudson Energy Acquisition 

On May 7, 2010 (effective May 1, 2010), Just Energy completed the indirect acquisition of Hudson Energy in 
accordance with the Hudson Acquisition Agreement. Hudson Energy sells natural gas and electricity primarily to 
small to mid-size commercial customers in New York, New Jersey, Texas, and Illinois. The consideration for the 
acquisition was approximately U.S.$304.2 million, adjusted by customary working capital adjustments, payable as 
to U.S.$295 million in cash at closing, and a post-closing deferred payment of U.S.$9.2 million, payable in four 
equal quarterly instalments during the first year following closmg. An additional U.S. $600,000 was paid at closing 



as an adjustment of $100,000 multiptied by the aggregate number of calendar days that el^sed during the period 
beginning on and including May 2, 2010 and ending on and including May 7, 2010. The acquisition agreement 
contemplates an assumed net working capital of Hudson Energy equal to U.S.$40 million. The purchase price will 
be adjusted on a dollar for dollar basis in favour of the vendors if the net working capital on April 30,2010 is greater 
than U.S.$40 million and in favour of Just Energy if net working capital on April 30, 2010 is less than U.S.$40 
million. Of the aggregate purchase price, U.S. $22.5 million is being held in escrow for 18 months as security for the 
vendors' indemnity obligations under the acquisition agreement. 

The Fund has filed a Business Acquisition Report in respect of the Hudson Energy Acquisition which is available on 
the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 

Proposed Conversion Transaction 

On February 3, 2010, the Fund announced its plans to reorganize its income trust structure into a publicly-traded 
dividend-paying corporation. Unitholders, the holder of Class A Preference Shares and the holders of Exchangeable 
Shares will be asked to approve the proposed Conversion Transaction (to be effected pursuant to a plan of 
arrangement) at the Fund's annual and special meeting of Unitholders scheduled for June 29,2010. 

The decision to propose the Conversion Transaction results from the changes to Canadian federal income tax 
legislation announced on October 31, 2006 relating to specified investment flow through trusts and the subsequent 
limitations placed on them after 2010. If approved and implemented, the Conversion Transaction vrill result in the 
reorganization of tiie Fund into a publicly-traded dividend paying corporation named "Just Energy Group Inc." 
effective on or about January 1, 2011. 

Pursuant to the proposed Conversion Transaction, if approved, among other things, each outstanding Unit and Class 
A Preference Share will be exchanged for one common share of New Just Energy, and, provided the holders of the 
Exchangeable Shares, voting as a separate class, approve tiie Conversion Transaction, each outstanding 
Exchangeable Share will also be exchanged for one New Just Energy common share. Followmg the Conversion 
Transaction, the board and management of New Just Energy will be comprised of the current members of the Board 
and management of JEC, and, subject to the approval of its Board, it is expected that New Just Energy will establish 
a dividend policy similar to the Fund's current distribution policy pursuant to which it is anticipated it will initially 
declare monthly dividends of $0.10333 ($1.24 annually) per common share of New Just Energy. 

In order for the Conversion Transaction to proceed, it must be approved by not less than 66y3% of the votes cast at 
the meeting by Unitholders, the Class A Preference Shareholder and Computershare as the holder of the special 
voting right of die Fund (the beneficiaries of which are the holders of Exchangeable Shares), voting together as a 
single class, either in person or by proxy. In order for the Conversion Transaction to be effective upon tfie holders 
of Exchangeable Shares, it must also be approved by not less than 66%% of the votes cast by holders of 
Exchangeable Shares. 

The proposed Conversion Transaction is subject to court, TSX and other necessary approvals. 

The above referenced acquisitions and organic growth during the past three years have significantly expanded the 
business of the Fund so that at the date hereof the Fund, through its Affiliates: (i) held Gas Contracts in Canada and 
the United States representing approximately 1.23 million RCEs; (ii) held Electricity Contracts in Canada and the 
United States representing approximately 1.76 million RCEs and (iii) held approximately 77,000 contracts for leased 
waterheaters through NHS. 

BUSINESS OF JUST ENERGY 

General 

Just Energy's business involves: (i) the sale of natural gas to residential and commercial customers under long-term 
and short-term Gas Contracts; (ii) the sale of electricity to residential, commercial and small industrial customers 
under long-term and short-term Electricity Contracts; (iii) the sale of related JustGreen products; (iv) sale and lease 
of tankless and high efficiency water heaters; and (v) the operation of an ethanol fecility. Just Energy's price 

http://www.sedar.com


protection programs reduce or eliminate customers' exposure to fluctuating energy prices, providing peace-of-mind 
fi-om volatile energy prices and the ability to plan and budget more effectively. 

It is Just Energy's policy to match the estunated energy requirements of its customers by purchasing offeetting 
volumes of natural gas, electricity and JustGreen products fi-om Commodity Suppliers. Just Energy derives its gross 
margins from the difference between the price at which it is able to sell gas and electricity to its customers and the 
price at which it purchases the offsetting volumes from Commodity Suppliers. In addition to revenues emtied by 
Just Energy based upon its ability to lock in margins between the price it pays for gas and electricity supply and the 
price it charges its customers. Just Energy's cash flows are impacted by the sale and purchase of excess gas and 
electricity supply. 

Natural Gas 

Just Energy, through its Affiliates, has been continuously marketing Gas Contracts since JEC's inception in 1997. 
Gas Contracts have historically been primarily for a four or five year term after which time they are eligible for 
renewal. However, short-term products are now also being offered. Just Energy's natural gas customers are, in most 
cases, charged a fixed gas price for the full term of their contracts as opposed to a variable gas price (WACOG) 
charged by the LDCs, such as, among others. Union Gas and Enbridge Gas in Ont^io, Terasen in British Columbia, 
Con Edison in New York, and Peoples Gas in Illinois. Although customers purchase their gas supply through 
Affiliates of Just Energy, the LDC is still mandated, on a regulated basis, to distribute the gas. Except in Alberta, 
the LDCs provide billing and, except in Alberta and Illinois, the LDCs provide collection services, including the 
collection and remittance to Just Energy's Affiliates or their Gas Suppliers of the commodity portion of each 
customer's account for a small monthly fee. In Illinois, the LDC provides collection services only until the account is 
delinquent. In Ontario, British Columbia, Manitoba and Quebec, each LDC assumes 100% of the credit (receivable) 
risk associated with default in payment by residential and commercial customers. 

In Alberta, Alberta Energy Savings and Just Energy Alberta receive cash only when the customer has ultimately 
consumed the gas. Alberta's regulatory envirorunent is different from other Canadian markets where the Fund 
through its Affiliates in Alberta is required to invoice and receive payments directiy from its customers. To 
facilitate this obligation. Alberta Energy Savings entered into a five year agreement witii EPCOR for the provision 
of billing and collection services in Alberta. The five year agreement with EPCOR for the provision of billing and 
collection services for all of Just Energy's customers in Alberta was amended and extended in December 2008 so 
that EPCOR will continue to provide billing and collection services for Alberta Energy Savings' existing customers 
until November 30, 2011. In August of 2009, Just Energy, through Just Energy Alberta (a limited partnership 
formed on January 23, 2009 separate and distinct from Alberta Energy Savings), commenced selling natural gas to 
new Alberta customers and has commenced billing and collection services directly for all new customers signed and 
renewed customers. 

Just Energy Illinois obtained its gas marketers licence and started test marketing the sale of Gas Contracts in January 
2004 and is currently operating in the NICOR, Peoples and North Shore territories. In Illinois the available natural 
gas market is approximately 4.0 million customers. While the LDCs in Illinois can be responsible for billing 
customers for Just Energy Illinois' commodity charges, Just Energy Illinois is exposed to the risk of non-payment. 

Just Energy New York obtained the necessary New York licences and registrations by March 2005 and commenced 
marketing gas in the State of New York in November 2005. The New York market has 4.8 miUion natural gas 
customers. 

On December I, 2006, Just Energy Indiana entered into a supplier aggregation services arrangement with Northern 
Indiana Public Service Company (NIPSCO) and commenced marketing Gas Contracts to residential, small to mid­
size commercial and small industrial customers in tiie NIPSCO territory in the State of Indiana. The Indiana market 
has approximately one million natural gas customers of which management estimates that approximately 9% of 
residential customers and 21% of commercial customers are on long term contracts. 

Through the acquisition of Universal Energy on July 1, 2009, Just Energy gained immediate access to several new 
deregulated natural gas markets in Ohio, Michigan, Pennsylvania, Georgia, Maryland and California, Just Energy 
has expanded quickly in Michigan and Ohio with market sizes of 3.2 million and 3 million customers respectively. 



In each of these states, the utility is responsible for billing Just Energy customers and Just Energy is not exposed to 
the risk of bad debt. 

Just Energy purchases gas supply in advance of marketing. The utility regularly provides marketers with monthly 
and annual forecasts so Just Energy can maintain its supply purchases in line with utility requirements on an 
ongoing basis. LDCs require some of Just Energy's Affiliates to inject gas into storage in the summer for delivery to 
customers in the winter pursuant to a preset delivery schedule. In New York, Consolidated Edison does not provide 
gas storage capacity to marketers. Mi gas requirements are met witii flowing gas deliveries. In all Canadian 
markets except for Alberta, the LDCs pay Just Energy for the gas when it is delivered. In other jurisdictions Just 
Energy is paid upon consumption by the customers. 

At the date hereof. Just Energy, through its Affiliates, had Gas Contracts in Canada representing approximately 
734,000 RCEs and in tfie United States representing approximately 501,000 RCEs. 

Electricity 

Just Energy, through JEOLP, has been actively marketing for commercial and retail electricity customers in Ontario 
since December, 2005 (JEC had commenced marketing for commercial and retail electricity customers in Ontario in 
May, 2002, but indefinitely suspended its marketing activities in late 2002 as a result of provincial regulation). 
There are approximately 9.6 million RCEs of electricity available for marketing in Ontario. The principles relating 
to the marketing of natural gas equally apply to tiie marketing of electricity, except that ratfier than offering 
customers a fixed price, as is generally the case for natural gas, the Electricity Contracts offer customers price 
protection for approximately 90 - 95% of their electricity requirements. Customers may experience a small 
balancing charge or credit each billing due to fluctuations in prices applicable to their load requirements not covered 
by fixed pricing. In 2008, Just Energy began marketing an indexed product to electricity customers ui Ontario, 
pursuant to which customers can pay the market price and may choose to receive Just Energy's JustGreen product 
for electricity at a marginal premium. 

Alberta Energy Savings commenced marketing Electricity Contracts in Alberta in February 2005. The Alberta 
market has a total of approximately 2.1 million electricity RCEs. The Alberta electricity market is open for 
residential, commercial and industrial customers. In the late summer of 2009, Just Energy, tiirough Just Energy 
Alberta commenced selling electricity to Alberta customers and has commenced billing and collection services 
directly for all new customers signed and renewal customers. 

The New York market has approximately 8.1 million electricity RCEs. Just Energy New York has six offices in 
New York State. Electricity consumption attributable to Just Energy's customers is settled through the New York 
Independent System Operator. 

Through the Just Energy Texas acquisition (see "General Development of the Fund - Three Yem* History"), Just 
Energy commenced marketing Electricity Contracts in Texas on May 24, 2007. Just Energy Texas L.P. has been 
marketing electricity pursuant to predominantly short term commercial contracts in the State of Texas since 
November, 2002. The Texas market consists of more than 16.0 million residential, small commercial and small 
industrial RCEs. Just Energy Texas is exposed to the risk of non-payment in the Texas market. 

Electricity accounts are automatically balanced daily. In real-time, any supply greater than consumption is 
immediately sold off into the open market at the spot price, while any shortfall is immediately purchased m tiie open 
market at the spot price. 

At the date hereof, Just Energy, through its Affiliates, had Electricity Contracts in Canada representing 
approximately 760,000 RCEs and in the United States representing approximately 997,0000 RCEs. 

On May 7, 2010 Just Energy acquired Hudson Energy effective May 1, 2010 with a significant book of Energy 
Contracts in New York, New Jersey, Illinois and Texas. The management of Just Energy believes that Hudson 
Energy is a strong strategic fit and will significantly accelerate Just Energy's development as a leading North 
American energy marketing business and add significant depth and focus to the Fund's energy marketing business. 
Eighty-five percent of Hudson Energy's customers are commercial while 65% of Just Energy customers are 
residential. Hudson generates its sale through its Independent Broker marketing channels. Just Energy has not 
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meaningfully utilized the broker chaimel as an aggregation tool. With its sales portal technology, Hudson Energy 
also has technology that enables more efficient selling of Hudson Energy's products to commercial customers 
through the Independent Broker channel and through du-ect sales. The Fund's management believe titat this 
technology can be used in all of the jurisdictions in North America where Just Energy currently operates. 

JustGreen Products 

Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen product program. Sales of the JustGreen products 
continue to support and reaffirm the strong demand for green energy products in all markets. The electricity 
JustGreen product offers the customers the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from 
renewable green sources such as wind, hydro or biomass. The gas Just(3reen product offers carbon offeet credits 
which will allow the customer to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint for their home or business. Just Energy 
believes that these JustGreen products will not only add to profits, but also mcrease sales receptivity and improve 
renewal rates. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy (gas or electricity), it creates a contractual 
obligation for Just Energy to produce a supply of green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer's 
purchase. The Fund has retained an independent auditor to validate its renewables and carbon offset purchases. The 
Fund currently sells JustGreen gas m Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta, Michigan, New York, Ohio and Illinois 
and JustGreen electricity in Ontario, Alberta, New York and Texas. JustGreen sales are expanding in the remaining 
markets. Of all customers who contracted with Just Energy in the year ending March 31, 2010,39% took JustGreen 
for some or all of their energy needs. On average, these customers elected to purchase 81% of th^ir consumption as 
green supply. 

Overall, JustGreen now makes up in excess of 2% of the Fund's overall gas portfolio, up from 1% for the year 
ending March 31, 2009. JustGreen supply makes up in excess of 5% of the Fund's electricity portfolio, up from 2% 
for the year ending March 31, 2009, For this reason, the ma-gins on new customer additions continued to exceed 
target levels despite certain focused price discounts to stimulate sales in markets with very low utility prices 
resulting in high five year premiums. 

Waterheaters - the National Home Services Division 

NHS was acquired on July 1, 2009 as part of the Universal Acquisition and was subsequently merged with the 
business of Newten Home Comfort L.P. NHS provides Ontario residential customers long-term water heater rental 
programs offering conventional tanks, power vented tanks and tankless water heaters in a variety of sizes, in 
addition to offering furnaces and air conditioners. The combined installed water heater base on July 1, 2009 was 
38,000. NHS continues to ramp up its operations and, as at March 31, 2010, had a cumulative installed base of 
77,000 water heaters in residential homes. NHS earns revenue from its installed base. Currently, NHS is installing 
approximately 900 water heaters per week. 

Because NHS is a high growth, relatively capital intensive business. Just Energy management believes that in order 
to maintain stability of distributions, separate non-recourse financing of this capital was appropriate. On January 18, 
2010, NHS announced that it had entered into a long term financing agreement with Home Trust Company.. Under 
the agreement, NHS will receive an amount equal to the five year cash flow of the water heater contract discounted 
at an agreed upon rate. Home Trust Company will then in retum receive the customer payments on tiie water 
heaters for the next five years. The funding received to-date is approximately $70 miUion. 

The growth of NHS has been rapid and, combined with the Home Trust financing, is expected to be self-sustaining 
on a cash flow basis. A number of Independent Contractors, previously marketing gas and electricity, have been 
redeployed to water heaters resulting in lower Ontario customer additions in energy marketing. Management 
believes this is the best utilization of the sales force in the Ontario market given the existing gas and electricity 
market conditions. 

Terra Grain Ethanol FaciUty 

As part of the Universal Acquisition, Just Energy acquired a 66y3% equity interest in TGF, a 150 million litre 
capacity, wheat-based ethanol facility located at Belle Plaine Saskatchewan. The plant produces wheat-based 
ethanol and high protein distillers dried grain. Production levels were and continue to be below capacity due to 
bottlenecks in grain milling and weather related issues. The first phase of the mstallation of a new gram milling 



11 

facility was completed in March 2010 and production in May/June 2010 has now reached 75% of edacity. TGF 
receives a federal subsidy based on ethanol production of $0.10 per litre produced, reducing to $0.09 per litre 
through fiscal 2011 and reducing to $0.05 per litre in fiscal 2015 when the subsidy ends. 

Marketing 

Just Energy's growth through its Affiliates has been achieved primarily through their own marketing uiitiatives. 
Residential customers are solicited primarily on a door-to-door basis by Independent Contractors, who are not 
employees of Just Energy. Commencing in April 2010, customers are also solicited through a midti-level marketing 
program by Momentis utilizing Independent Representatives. Hudson Energy also employs Independent Brokers 
utilizing a web based sales portal and a Florida based telemarketing centre to solicit Energy Contracts. Marketing 
also involves Internet sales through a partnership arrangement with Red Ventures Inc. The el^jsed period between 
the time when a customer is signed to when the ffrst payment is received from the customer varies with each market. 
The time delays per market are approximately two to six months. The cost for obtaining a new customer and related 
expenses currently includes commissions payable to Independent Conti'actors, Independent Brokers and Independent 
Representatives, salaries paid to the marketing and customer service departments which support the Independent 
Contractors, Independent Brokers and Independent Representatives, salaries paid to customer service representatives 
who verify the customer contracts, the costs of printing contracts, bonus awards, advertising costs and the costs of 
promotional materials. The ability of Just Energy through its Affiliates to contract large numbers of customers at a 
reasonable cost has been a key ingredient in the success of Just Energy. 

Renewals 

Legislation and regulations related to the renewal of consumer contracts in general or Energy Contracts in particular 
can affect Just Energy's ability to automatically renew customers upon notice, thereby affecting the percentage of 
existing customers whose Energy Contracts are renewed at the end of their initial term. Ontario's energy regulations 
permit automatic renewal under specified conditions, but automatic renewal of Electricity Contracts for those who 
consume less than 150,000 kWh per year is not permitted. On July 30, 2005, consumer protection regulations came 
Into force in Ontario that prevent the automatic renewal of contracts to which the legislation applies (which includes 
consumer Energy Contracts entered into after July 30, 2005). On November 30, 2005, Alberta's energy regulations 
were amended to permit the automatic renewal for up to one year of Energy Contracts, provided automatic renewal 
is permitted by the terms of the contract itself 

In the Province of British Columbia, the Code of Conduct for Gas Marketers provides for the automatic renewal of 
Energy Contracts. In the Provinces of Quebec and Manitoba, the renewal of Energy Contracts is permitted by means 
of an original signature. 

In New York, Ohio, Illinois and Indiana, existing Energy Contracts may be automatically renewed for up to 5 ye^s. 
In Texas and Michigan Energy Contracts may be renewed, however, automatic renewals are restricted to monthly 
terms. 

In fiscal 2009, the renewal rate for Gas Contracts was 61% in Canada and 67% in tfie United States and the renewal 
rate for Electricity Contracts was 73% in Canada and 79% in the United States. 

Secured Supply Arrangements 

To enable it to meet its supply obligations to its customer base and fix its margins. Just Energy enters into supply 
contracts with Commodity Suppliers to purchase the natural gas and the electricity required to supply its customers. 
Just Energy purchases gas and electricity in laige volumes on a wholesale basis and is therefore able to secure 
favourable long-term fixed price supply contracts. By following a policy of purchasing its estimated customer 
supply obligations in advance. Just Energy is able to achieve stable and predictable cash flows. Additional cash 
flows may be achieved through signing up new customers and renewuig existing customers to new four or five year 
Gas Contracts and Electricity Contracts. 

Just Energy transacts with a number of different counterparties for its energy supply, however its primary suppliers 
are part of an intercreditor arrangement pursuant to which the suppliers and creditors of Just Energy share in the 
collateral provided by Just Energy. The supply participants to the intercreditor agreement are Shell, BP, 
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Constellation, Soci^t^ G^n^rale and Bruce Power. Certain of these suppliers also assist in managmg, balancing 
and/or scheduling gas and/or power requirements in certain markets for a fee pursuant to additional agreements. In 
addition to these suppliers, ttiere are certain arrangements with Sempra that continued as part of the Universal 
Acquishion. 

As indicated above, each transaction is specific as to price, volume and term. Just Energy's financial obligations to 
Shell, BP, $oci6t6 G^ndrale, Bruce Power, and Constellation (collectively, the "Secured Suppliers") are secured by a 
general security agreement providing for, among other things, a priority security interest over all customer contracts 
and a second charge over those associated with Sempra (except for those owned by Alberta Energy Savings) 
pursuant to the intercreditor agreement and related security agreements described under the heading "Credit 
Facility". If the Secured Suppliers default in their obligations to deliver gas and electricity to Just Energy, or if Just 
Energy or its Affiliates defauH in their obligations to accept delivery of gas or electricity, under a transaction, the 
contractual arrangements between them contain provisions requiring, subject to force majeure, the payment of 
various amounts by the defaulting party to the non-defaulting party, including liquidated damages. To date, neither 
the Secured Suppliers nor Just Energy or its Affiliates have failed to fulfil their respective obligations. 

Just Energy, through its Affiliates, has also entered into contractual arrangements for the physical purchase or 
financial hedge of gas and electricity supply from other Commodity Suppliers, including EPCOR in Alberta. 
Altfiough the contractual arrangements witii these other Commodity Suppliers are not secured on the same basis as 
the transactions with the Secured Suppliers, in certain circumstances, security for the obligations of Just Energy and 
its Affiliates to these other Commodity Suppliers is provided by way of letter of credit. In addition, EPCOR has 
security over the customer contracts of Alberta Energy Savings. 

Competition - General 

Management of Just Energy believes it has significant competitive advantages over other energy retailers in tiiat it 
has: (i) a marketing and sales organization which has achieved significant success in commodity and green product 
sales; (ii) a responsive customer care and customer service process; (iii) a disciplined management of commodity, 
green product and waterheater purchases; (iv) products priced to achieve stable margin growth vs. customer growth 
in all business sectors. The industry credibility of Just Energy's Affiliates is based on the long-term experience of its 
management team relating to the deregulation of natural gas and electricity and their innovations in providing 
consumer choices including its JustGreen product offerings within the direct purchase market. 

To the extent that Just Energy is successful through its marketing program in educating customers, it believes that it 
can be successful in signing LDC customers to Gas Contracts and Electricity Contracts. Just Energy offers its 
customers protection against price volatility through fixed price, fixed term supply arrangements, providing peace-
of-mind and the ability to plan and budget more effectively. Just Energy does not view the LDCs as true 
competitors, but rather as a supplier of last resort for customers. The LDCs are cinrently not permitted to make a 
profit on the sale of the gas and electricity commodity to their supply customers. 

Industry Competition - Natural Gas, Electricity, Waterheaters and Ethanol 

Natural Gas and Electricity 

Other than LDCs (discussed below) Just Energy's largest competitors in Canada and the United States are Direct 
Energy Marketing Ltd.(which is owned by Centrica pic), IGS Energy Inc., Gateway Energy Services Corporation, 
MXenergy Inc. and MXenergy Electric Inc. (which are owned by MXenergy Holdings Inc.) and Superior Energy 
Management (a division of Superior Plus LP, which is owned by Superior Plus Corp.). 

Just Energy has natural gas and electricity competition in every jurisdiction in which it carries on business. 
Generally, competitors are local in nature with a few extending to multiple jurisdictions. There can be upwards of 
twenty competitors in many markets. The nature and product offermgs vary by jurisdiction both in the term of an 
offering and the security provided over changing commodity prices. It is possible that new entrants may enter the 
market and compete directly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing or reducing its market share. If 
the LDCs are permitted by changes in the current regulatory fi^amework to sell natural gas at prices other than cost, 
their existing customer bases could provide them witii a significant competitive advantage. This may limit the 
number of customers available for marketers including Just Energy. 
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Waterheaters 

As alternatives to renting waterheaters from NHS, persons may purchase or ovm a waterheater, or rent a waterheater 
fi-om a competitor. Direct Energy (Enbridge territory) and Reliance Home Comfort (Union Gas territory) operate 
waterheater rental programs for Ontario residents (including the new home construction market) which compete 
with NHS' waterheater rental program, as do several smaller rental providers, including Planet Energy Corporation. 

Ethanol 

The largest Canadian ethanol producers in Canada witii whom TGF competes are Greenfield Ethanol, Suncor and 
Husky Energy. If TGF sells ethanol in the United States, it would compete with, among others. Archer Daniels 
Midland Company (the single largest producer in the ethanol industry). The North American ethanol industry also 
includes many small, independent firms and farmer-owned cooperatives. Management believes that tiie Belle Plaine 
Facility's capacity is generally comparable to the capacity of the facilities owned by TGF's primary competitors. 
There has been considerable consolidation of ethanol producers in the United States as a result of declining 
commodity prices and tightening credit markets. 

TGF believes that its ability to compete successfully in the ethanol production industry depends upon many factors, 
including the price of feedstock, reliability of its production processes and delivery schedule, transportation costs 
and volumes of ethanol produced and sold. 

With respect to distillers grains, TGF competes with other ethanol producers, as well as a number of large and small 
suppliers of competing livestock and dairy feed. TGF believes the principal competitive factors are price, proximity 
to purchasers and product quality. 

Energy Source Competition 

Natural gas enjoys advantages over electricity and otiier fossil fuels, including the fact that it is readily available 
through vast transmission and distribution systems &nd has significant environmental advantages compared to other 
fossil fuels, which management believes should resuh in consumers continuing to switch to natural gas for their 
energy needs. However, the price advantage which natural gas at one time enjoyed over these other forms of energy 
will bediminishedifthepriceof natural gas increases and, to the extent that consumers have the capacity to switch 
to tiie use ofother forms of energy, such increases in the price of natural gas could result in other sources of energy 
providing more significant competition to Just Energy's natural gas offering. With regard to Just Energy's customer 
base, while some of its mid-sized indusd-ial and commercial customers may be in a position to select an altemate 
energy source, this option would normally not be available to its residential, small to mid-size commercial and small 
industrial customers without significant capital cost. Accordingly, while major industrial users (a market segment 
not served by Just Energy) can indeed change from one source of energy to another to take advantage of commodity 
price differentials, this requires installation of equipment which is generally not economic for residential or small to 
mid-size commercial and small industrial users, oirtently, there is no foreseeable altemative for power. 

Environmental Protection 

With respect to the sale of natural gas and electricity. Just Energy does not view potential environmental liabilities 
as a significant concern. The Affiliates of Just Energy never have physical custody or control of the natural gas or 
electricity or any facilities used to transport it and pass title to the gas and electricity sold to their respective 
customers at the same point at which they accept titie from their respective Conunodity Suppliers. Therefore, any 
potential liability to the Affiliates of Just Energy for gas leaks or explosions during transmission and distribution is 
considered to be remote. 

In connection with TGF's Belle Plaine Facility, the Fund is subject to various federal, provincial and local 
environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to the discharge of materials into the ah-, water and 
ground; the generation, storage, handling, use, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials; and the health and 
safety of its employees. These laws and regulations require TGF to obtain and comply with numerous 
environmental permits to operate its Belle Plaine Facility. These laws, regulations and permits can often require 
expensive pollution control equipment or operational changes to limit actual or potential impacts on the 
environment. A violation of these laws, regulations or permit conditions can result in substantial fmes, criminal 
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sanctions, permit revocations and/or facility shutdowns. The Fund does not anticipate a material adverse effect on 
its business or financial condition as a result of TGF's efforts to comply with these requirements. 

Employees 

As at the date hereof. Just Energy employs approximately 898 persons, of which 8 constitute the Fund's executive 
group, 54 are employed in the finance and risk management departments, 30 are employed in tiie legal and 
regulatory departments, 104 are employed in the infonnation technology group, 175 are employed in the operations 
department, 12 are involved in the human resources and facilities department and over 515 are employed in the 
customer service, marketing and processing group. Approximately 1,500 Independent Contractors are involved in 
the door-to-door marketing of Gas Contracts and Electricity Contracts. In addition, approximately 500 Independent 
Representatives are associated with Momentis and approximately 550 Independent Broker companies representing 
in excess of 1,000 individual Independent Brokers are associated with Hudson Energy. 

Real Property 

As at June 19,2010, Just Energy and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates lease approximately 311,127 square feet of space 
consisting of 106,364 square feet of head office and administrative space, 48,512 square feet near its Mississauga 
head office to serve as a call and customer service centre, 139,319 square feet (46 offices) as centres for the 
contracting of Independent Contractors in Canada and the United States, 10,204 square feet m Houston Texas to 
serve as its head office in the United States and 6,728 square feet of the Texas head office serves as a call and 
service centre. 

Just Energy, through its 66y3% interest in TGF, also holds an interest in tfie Belle Plaine Facility. Additionally, 
through the Hudson Energy Acquisition, Just Energy indirectiy holds title to a one story office building in Largo, 
Florida consisting of approximately 4,800 square feet of office space situated on a parcel of land of approximately 
22,000 square feet. 

Industry Regulation 

The OEB is the primary government body responsible for the regulation of the natural gas and electricity 
distribution industry within Ontario. Pursuant to tfie Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 and the Energy Competition 
Act, 1998 (Ontario), the OEB regulates virtually all aspects of the industry including transmission, distribution, 
storage, and supply of natural gas and electricity to Ontario consumers. The regulation of the British Columbia 
natural gas and electricity industry is the responsibility of the British Columbia Utilities Commission pursuant to the 
Utilities Commission Act (British Columbia). The sale of electricity and natural gas in Alberta is regulated by the 
Alberta Utilities Commission pursuant to the Electric Utilities Act (Alberta)) and the Gay Utilities Act (Alberta), 
respectively. The marketing of energy products in Alberta is regulated by The Ministry of Service Alberta pursuant 
to the Fair Trading Act (Alberta). The Manitoba Public Utilities Board regulates tiie natural gas and electricity 
industry in the Province of Manitoba pursuant to the Public Utilities Board Act (Manitoba). The Board oversees all 
aspects of natural gas marketing within the Province. Marketing natural gas by Energy Savings Quebec m the 
operating territory of Gaz Metro, in the Province of Quebec, was approved by the R6gie de I'̂ nergie under Decision 
D-2003-IS0. The Decision provides that Gaz Metro may administer and oversee directly a program to allow 
commercial consumers (within certain rate classes) to receive natural gas from altemative suppliers. The mles and 
practices which govern the program are described in mi approved service agreement executed between the marketer 
and the utility. 

The New York Public Service Commission regulates natural gas and electricity in the State of New York pursuant to 
the Public Service Law. In the State of Illinois, the sale of natural gas is regulated by the Illinois Commerce 
Commission pursuant to tfie Public Utilities Act. The regulation of the sale of natural gas in the State of Indimia is 
regulated under the Indiana Code, by the Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission. Pursuant to the Texas Public 
Utilily Regulatory Act, the Public Utility Commission of Texas regulates the sale of electricity in the State of Texas. 

Just Energy has obtained and maintains all of the licenses required to undertake its business in all of the jurisdictions 
in which it operates. 
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Credit Facilities 

JEOLP and Just Energy (U.S.) have entered into a credit agreement pursuant to which a group of financial 
institutions have made a $250 million operating facility available to JEOLP and Just Energy (U.S.) (the "Credit 
Facility"). Securities (including notes issued pursuant to the JEC Note Indenture and the Exchangeco II Note 
Indenture) owned directiy or indirectly by the Fund in "restricted" entities (including without limitation JEC, ESIF 
CT, Exchangeco II, ESLP, JEOLP, Just Energy B.C., Just Energy Quebec, Commodities, Just Energy Manitoba, 
Just Energy (U.S.), Just Energy Illinois, Just Energy Indiana, Just Energy New York, Just Energy Texas L.P., Just 
Energy Alberta, JEUSC, Commerce and Hudson Energy Services LLC) have been pledged to CISC, as the 
collateral agent, as security for the Credit Facility. CIBC, as collateral agent, also holds as security for the Credit 
Facility all Energy Contracts owned directly or indirectiy by the Fund, except for those customer contracts owned by 
Alberta Energy Savings. To complement the Credit Facility, Shell, BP, Constellation, Soci^^ G6n6rale, Bmce 
Power and the lenders have entered into an intercreditor agreement (the "Intercreditor Agreement") pursuant to 
which Shell, BP, Constellation, Soci6t^ G6n6rale, Bruce Power and the lenders jointly hold security over 
substantially all of the assets of the Fund and its active Subsidiaries and Affiliates (other than Alberta Energy 
Savings, NHS and TGF and a second charge over tiie assets associated with continuation of the Sempra 
arrangement.). All LDC receipts are directed to bank accounts over which CIBC, as collateral agent, has a blocked 
account agreement (each a "Blocked Account"). Gas Suppliers and Electricity Suppliers invoice the Affiliates and 
Subsidiaries of the Fund directly and, provided that no event of default exists under the Credit Facility, the 
Intercreditor Agreement, the Energy Contracts or the related security agreements, the Affiliates and Subsidiaries of 
the Fund, on a monthly basis, pay the cost of commodity and related administration fees directiy fi^m the Blocked 
Accounts and remit the remaining proceeds to the Affiliates and Subsidiaries of the Fund. Where an event of default 
exists, CIBC, as collateral agent, has the right to exercise control over each Blocked Account in any manner and in 
respect of any item of payment or proceeds tiiereof in accordance with the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement. To 
date, JEOLP and Just Energy (U.S.) have complied with all covenants under the Credit Facility. 

TGF Credit facility 

A credit facility of up to $50.0 million was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit 
Union to finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was further revised on March 18, 2009, 
and was converted to a fixed repayment term of 10 years commencing March 1, 2009 which mcludes uiterest costs 
at a rate of prime plus 2%, with principal repayments commencing on March 1,2010. The credit facility is secured 
by a demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all assets and undertakings of TGF and a 
general security interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF. The credit facility includes cert^n 
financial covenants, tiie more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to equity ratio, debt service coverage 
and minimum shareholder's equity. The lenders have deferred compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 
2011. The credit facility was further revised on March 31, 2010 postponing the principal payments due for April 1 
to June 1, 2010 and to amortize them over the six montfi period commencing October 1, 2010 and ending March 31, 
2011. 

TGF Debentures 

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40.0 million 
aggregate principal amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. The mterest rate is 10.5% per annum, 
compounded annually and payable quarterly in the amount of $1.0 million per quarter. The agreement includes 
certain financial covenants the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capitalization ratio, debt 
service coverage, debt to EBITDA and minimum shareholder's equity. The lenders have deferred compliance with 
the financial covenants until April 1,2011. On Mach 31, 2010, TGF entered mto an agreement with the holders of 
the debentures to defer scheduled principal payments owing under the Debenture until April 1,2011. 

TGF Term/Operating Facilities 

TGF also maintains a working capital facility for $10.0 million with a thhd party lender bearing mterest at prime 
plus 1% due in full on December 31,2010. This facility is secured by liquid investments on deposit with the lender. 
In addition, TGF has a working capital operating line of $7.0 million bearing interest at a rate of prime plus 1%, of 
which $3.2 million was drawn via overdraft and $1.6 million is drawn pursuant to letters of credit. 
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RISK FACTORS 

The business of the Fund and an investment in securities of the Fund or JEEC are subject to certain risks. 
Prospective purchasers of securities of tiie Fund or JEEC should carefully consider the risk factors set forth under 
the headings "Information Conceming the Fund and JEEC - Risk Factors" and "Information Conceming New Just 
Energy - Risk Factors" at pj^es 52 through 56 and at page 63, respectively, of the Fund Information Circular, under 
the heading "Risk Factors"" at pages 54 through 65 of the Fund Prospectus and under tiie heading "Risk factors" at 
pages 42 tiirough 51 of tfie Fund MD&A, which portions of such documents are incorporated by reference ui this 
Annual Information Form and are available on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. The principal risks and 
uncertainties thiit Just Energy can foresee are described in the above referenced excerpts, which are qualified in their 
entirety by reference to, and must be read in conjunction with, the detailed information appearing elsewhere in tiiis 
Annual Information Form. The list may not be an exhaustive list as some future risks may be as yet unknown. Otiier 
risks currently regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be material. If any such risks actually occur, the business, 
financial condition and/or liquidity and results of operations of the Fund could be materially adversely affected and 
the ability of the Fund to make distributions on the Units and JEEC to pay dividends on the Exchangeable Shares 
could be materially adversely affected. 

DISTRIBUTIONS AND DIVIDENDS 

Distributions On Units 

The Fund's current distribution policy is described under the heading "Cash Distributions" in Schedule "C" -
Declaration of Tmst and Description of Units. In addition, the Board of Directors of JEC, as admmistrator of the 
Fund, has adopted a distribution policy which contains quantitative and qualitative guidelines which are reviewed 
regularly to ensure the Fund is in compliance with the policy. 

The Unitholders of record on a distribution record date are entitled to receive distributions paid by the Fund in 
respect of that month. Cash distributions are made on the last business day of the calendar month to the Unitholders 
of record on the 15th day of such month. 

In 2010, the Fund has declared regular distributions of $0.10333 per Unit for the months of January through June. 
In addition, on January 31, 2010, the Fund paid a special distribution of $0.20 per Unit to Unitholders of record at 
the close of business on December 31, 2009. For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Fund declared aggregate 
distributions of $1.44 per Unit (including the special distribution). 

The following table sets forth the month of payment and the distributions per Unit paid by the Fund on the Units for 
the three most recently completed financial years of the Fund and for the months from April 2010 to June 2010. 

Record of Cash 
Distributions ^̂^ 

Fiscal 2011 
S Per Unit 

Fiscal 2010 
% Per Unit 

Fiscal 2009 
$ Per Unit 

Fiscal 2008 
$ Per Unit 

Notes: 

(1) 
(2) 

April 
May 
June 
July 
August 
September. 
October 
November. 
December. 

January 
February... 
March 

0.10333 
0.10333 

0.10333̂ *̂ 

0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.20*** 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 

0.10083 
0.10083 
0.10083 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 
0,165 f̂̂  
0.10333 
0.10333 
0.10333 

0.09292 
0.09292 
0.09292 
0.09708 
0.09708 
0.10083 
0.10083 
0.10083 
0.10083 
0.4100<^ 
0.10083 
0.10083 
0.10083 

All distributions are paid on the last day of the month to Unitholders of record on the 15th day of the month. 
Special distribution declared December 20,2007, payable to persons who were Unitholders at December 31,2007 as to 
50% ($0205) in cash (payable as to l/3rd thereof on the last day of each of January, February and March of 2008) and 

http://www.sedar.com
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as to 50% ($0,205) in Units payable by the issuance of Units as to l/3rd thereof on tiie lasts days of each of June, 
September and December of 2008) based on tfie $16.70 closing TSX price for Units on December 31, 2007. Similar 
arrangements were made by JEC to ensure that tfie special distribution was made available in 2008 to the holders of 
Cla.«s A Preference Shares, unit appreciate rights and deferred unit grants on the December 31,2007 record date. 

(3) Special distribiUion declared December IS, 2008, to persons who were Unitholders at December 31,2008 payable as to 
100% in cash on January 31,2009. Similar arrangements were made by JEC to ensure that the special distribution was 
made available in 2009 to tfie holders of Class A Preference Shares, unit appreciation rights and deferred unit grants on 
the December 31,2008 record date. 

(4) Special Distribution declared December 15,2009, to persons who were Unitholders at December 31, 2009 payable as 
to 100% in cash on January 31, 2010. Similar arrangements were made by JEC to ensure lhat the special distribution 
was made available in 20i0 to tfie holders of Class A Preference Shares, unit appreciation rights and deferred unit 
grants on the December 31,2009 record date. 

(5) Regular monthly distribution declared June 4th, 2010, payable on June 30, 2010 to persons who were Unitiiolders on 
June 15, 2010. 

Dividends on Exchangeable Shares 

The holders of Exchangeable Shares are entitled to receive dividends in an amount equal to 66^3% of the amount of 
any distributions made by the Fund to Unitholders. Accordingly, in 2010 JEEC declared regular dividends of 
$0.06889 per Exchangeable Share for the months of January through May and a special dividend of $0.13333 per 
Exchangeable Share to the holders of Exchangeable Shares of record at the close of business on December 31,2009, 
For the period from July 1, 2009 to December 31, 2009, JEEC declared aggregate dividends of $0.54667 per 
Exchangeable Share (including the special dividend). 

The distributions and dividends anticipated to be paid to Unitholders and the holders of Exchangeable Shares, 
respectively, during the remainder of 2010 will not be affected by the proposed Conversion Transaction and it is 
expected that they will be paid in the usual marmer. Following completion of the Conversion Transaction the Fund 
anticipates a monthly dividend in the amount of $0.10333 per New Just Energy Share ($1.24 per aimum) will be 
paid to New Just Energy Shareholders. 

The historical distribution and dividend payments made by the Fund and JEEC, respectively, may not be reflective 
of fiiture dividend payments of New Just Energy and future dividends are not assured or guaranteed. The amount of 
future cash dividends on the New Just Energy Shares will be subject to the discretion of the New Just Energy board 
and may vary depending on a variety of factors including, among other things, profitability, fluctuations in working 
capital and capital expenditures. 

MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

Units of the Fund 

The Units of the Fund are listed for trading on the TSX under the symbol JE.UN. The following table sets forth the 
price range and trading volume of Units traded on the TSX for the periods indicated as reported by the TSX. 

Period 

2010 
January 
February 
March 
April 
May 
June (1-18) 

2009 
April 
May 
June 
July 
Aupust 
September 

HighCS) 

14.50 
14.49 
14.38 
14.24 
13.50 
13.25 

12.75 
12.60 
11.62 
12.55 
13.05 
14.40 

Low($) 

13.65 
13.64 
13.95 
13.32 
11.17 
12.75 

10.36 
11.00 
10.16 
10.80 
12.39 
12.34 

Volume 

4,928,604 
7,191,702 
7,610,196 

11,715,138 
9,973,354 
5,133,100 

4,987,212 
6,921,103 
8,334,612 
5,729,743 
6,962,854 

11,931,121 
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Period 
October 
November 
December 

HiRh(S) 
14.02 
13.80 
14.50 

Low($) 
12.95 
12.58 
12.90 

Volume 
4,914,869 
7,798,136 
7,075,545 

Exchangeable Shares 

The Exchangeable Shares, each of which is exchangeable for one Unit at any time at the option of the holder for no 
additional consideration, began trading on the TSX under the trading symbol JEX on July 6, 2009. The following 
table sets forth trading information for the Exchangeable Shares for the periods indicated as reported by the TSX: 

Period 

2010 
January 
February 
March 
April 
May 
June (1-18) 

2009 
July (6-31) 
August 
September 
October 
November 
December 

HiRh(S) 

14.85 
14.45 
15.62 
14.35 
13.36 
13.15 

12.43 
13.01 
14.31 
14.25 
13.63 
14.35 

Low($) 

13.51 
13.66 
13.36 
13.35 
11.80 
12.76 

10.51 
12.26 
12.40 
13.00 
12.60 
12.86 

Volume 

26,014 
12,306 
54,510 
32,095 
17,962 
29,600 

149,565 
99,068 

300,778 
168,173 
259,691 
218,348 

Fund Convertible Debentures 

The Fund Convertible Debentures began trading on tiie TSX under the trading symbol JE.DB on May 5,2010. For 
the period from May 5, 2010 to June 18, 2010, mclusive, $24,298,000 aggregate principal amount of Fund 
Convertible Debentures were traded on the TSX witii a high trading price of $97.80 and a low trading price of 
$93.00. 

JEEC Convertible Debentures 

JEEC assumed the JEEC Convertible Debentures from Universal, and the Fund unconditionally and irrevocably 
guaranteed the payment and performance of all obligations of JEEC under the JEEC Convertible Debentures, on 
July 1, 2009 in connection with the Universal Acquisition. The JEEC Convertible Debentures began trading on the 
TSX under the symbol JEX.DB on July 6, 2009 following the Universal Acquisition. Prior tiiereto, tiie JEEC 
Convertible Debentures traded on the TSX under the symbol UEG.DB. The following table sets forth trading 
information for the JEEC Convertible Debentures for the periods indicated as reported by the TSX: 

Period 

2010 
January 
February 
March 
April 
May 
June 1 -18 

2009 
July 
August 
September 
October 

High($) 

100.5 
102.0 
102.9 
102.0 
100.0 
100.3 

90.5 
95.0 
95.0 
96.5 

Low {$) 

98.0 
99.5 

100.8 
98.0 
97.0 
97.0 

85.0 
90.0 
92.0 
93.5 

Volume 

4,507,000 
424,000 

1,430,000 
1,848,000 
2,495.000 
2,521,000 

937,000 
1,365,000 
6,292,000 
7,922,000 
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November 
December 

98.3 
100.0 

95.6 
96.8 

1,923,000 
2.868,000 

PRIOR SALES 

The Fund issued the following securities during the most recently completed financial year, none of which are listed 
or quoted on a marketplace: The grant date value of the UARs is based on the closing price of the Units on the TSX 
on the day prior to the grant date. 

1. 11,500 UARs were granted on June 26, 2009 having a grant date value of $11.28 per UAR. 

2. 12,070 UARs were granted on August 6,2009 having a grant date value of $10.70 per UAR. 

3. 3,000 UARs were granted on September 17,2009 having a grant date value of $12.74 per UAR. 

4. 13,000 UARs were granted on November 6,2009 having a grant date value of $13,65 per UAR. 

5. 20,000 UARs were granted on December 2, 2009 having a grant date value of $12.89 per UAR. 

6. 1,245,643 UARs were granted on March 31,2010 having a grant date value of $14.30 per UAR. 

In addition, as part of their fee based compensation, DUGs are issued to directors at the end of each quarter at a 
value per DUG equal to the 20 day simple average closing price of the Units on the TSX preceding the quarter end. 

The following table describes the number of DUG's granted, the date granted, and the 20 day simple average closmg 
price of Units used to determine the number of DUGs granted. 

Quarter Ended 

June 30,2009 
September 30, 2009 
December 31,2009 

March 31, 2010 

Total Number of DUGs Granted 

4,907 
3,865 
3,870 
3,851 

20 Day Average Closing Price 

$10.77 
$13.67 
$14.23 
$14.24 
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SHARE AND LOAN CAPITAL STRUCTURE OF THE FUND AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

The Fund 

1. Units, Special Units and Special Voting Rights: The Fund is authorized pursuant to the Declaration of 
Trust, to issue an unlimited number of Units and Special Units and an unlimited number of Special Voting 
Rights of which at May 23, 2010 124,857,456 Units, no Special Units and one Special Voting Right were 
issued and outstanding. See Schedule "C" for a more detailed description of the Units. The Special Voting 
Right was issued in connection with the issue of the Exchangeable Shares and entitles the holders tiiereof to 
one vote at meetings of Unitholders and in respect of any written resolution of Unitholders for each 
Exchangeable Share held. 

2. Fund Convertible Debentures: The Fund issued $330 million aggregate principal amount of 6.00% 
convertible, unsecured, subordinated debentures on May 5,2010 to finance the Hudson Energy Acquisition 
and costs related thereto. The Fund Convertible Debentures are governed by the Fund Debenture 
Indenture- The Fund Convertible Debentures mature on June 30, 2017 and are convertible at the option of 
the holder into Units at a conversion price of $18.00 per Unit any time prior to maturity or redemption. 
The Fund Convertible Debentures are not redeemable by Just Energy before June 30,2013, except upon the 
satisfaction of certain conditions after a change of control of Just Energy has occurred. On or after June 30, 
2013 and prior to June 30,2015, Just Energy has the option to redeem the Fund Convertible Debentures in 
whole or in part, from time to time, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accmed interest, provided 
that the volume weighted average trading price for the Units is not less than 125% of the conversion price. 
On or after June 30, 2015, Just Energy may redeem the Fund Convertible Debentures in whole or in part, 
from time to time, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accmed and unpaid interest. In addition, 
the Fund may, at its option, subject to applicable regulatory approval md provided that no event of default 
has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to pay, in whole or in part, the principal 
amount of the Fund Convertible Debentures that are to be redeemed or that have matured by issumg to the 
holders thereof that number of freely tradeable Units determined by dividing the principal amount of the 
Fund Convertible Debentures being repaid by 95% of tfie cmrent market price on the date of redemption or 
maturity, as applicable. In addition, subject to applicable regulatory approval, freely tradeable Units may 
be issued to the Debenture trustee and sold, with the proceeds used to satisfy tiie obligation to pay interest 
on the Fund Convertible Debentures. 

Just Energy Corp. 

Share Capital of JEC 

The authorized share capital of JEC consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares, an unlimited number of 
Class A Preference Shares, an unlimited number of Class B Preference Shares and an unlimited number of Class C 
Preference Shares of which, as at tiie date hereof, 100 Common Shares, 5,263,728 Class A Preference Shares, no 
Class B Preference Shares and no Class C Preference Shares were issued and outstanding. No additional Class A 
Preference Shares, Class B Preference Shares or Class C Preference Shares may be issued. The voting rights 
attached to the Common Shares are subject to the terms of the JEC Shareholders' Agreement. See Schedule B 
hereto. The following is a description of the rights attached to such shares. 

Common Shares 

Each Common Share entitles the holder thereof to receive notice of and to attend all meetings of shareholders of 
JEC and to one vote per share at such meetings (other than meetings of another class of shares of JEC). The holders 
of Common Shares are, at the discretion of the board of directors of JEC and subject to applicable legal restrictions, 
entitled to receive any dividends declared by the board of directors on the Common Shares. In the event of tiie 
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of JEC or other distribution of its assets among its shareholders, holders of the 
Common Shares shall be entitled to receive the amounts specified below under the heading "Liquidation, 
Dissolution or Winding-up". 
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Preference Shares 

Class A Preference Shares 

Except where specifically provided by the OBCA, the holders of the Class A Preference Shares shall not be entitled 
as such to receive notice of or to attend any meeting of the shareholders of JEC and shall not be entitled to vote at 
any such meeting. However, pursuant to the Declaration of Tmst, the holders of the Class A Preference Shares will 
be entitied to vote in all votes of Unitholders (including resolutions in writing) as if they were the holders of the 
number of Units which they would receive if they exercised all of their Shareholder Exchange Rights as of tiie 
record dates for such votes and shall be tteated in all respects as Unitholders for the purposes of any such votes. The 
Class A Preference Shares are exchangeable at the holders option for Units pursuant to the Shareholder Exchange 
Rights. 

The Class A Preference Shares shall entitle the holders thereof to receive in any year as and when declared by the 
board of directors of JEC cash distributions in a maximum amount per share equal to the disttibution entitlement per 
share of the Class B Preference Share less 56% of the management bonus payable in respect of each Class A 
Preference Shares pursuant to the Special Management Incentive Program of JEC for such year. See "JEC 
Shareholders' Agreement - Special Management Incentive Program" below. Holders of Class A Preference Shares 
will receive, collectively from dividends and payments under the Special Management Incentive Program of JEC, m 
any period an amount not greater than tht distributions they would have received if they exercised all of their 
Shareholder Exchange Rights at the commencement of such period. 

In tiie event of tfie liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of JEC or other distribution of its assets among its 
shareholders, holders of Class A Preference Shares shall be entitled to receive the amount specified b>elow under the 
heading "Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up". Such amount will effectively be the same as, and will in no 
circumstances exceed, the amount per Class A Preference Share that the holder of such Class A Preference Share 
would have received had JEC and the Fund been liquidated, dissolved or wound-up on the same date and the 
Shareholder Exchange Rights relating thereto been exercised unmediately prior thereto. 

All outstanding 5,263,728 Class A Preference Shares are owned by Rebecca MacDonald a Director and Executive 
Chair of JEC. 

Class B Preference Shares 

Class B Preference Shares are non-voting and are redeemable at the option of JEC and retractaWe at the option of 
the holder, at a price of $0.01 per Class B Preference Share together with all accmed and unpaid dividends, subject 
to consent of the bolder or JEC, respectively. No Class B Preference Shares were outstanding at year end and no 
additional Class B Preference Shares may be issued. 

Class C Preference Shares 

Class C Preference Shares are non-voting and are redeemable at the option of JEC and retractable at the option of 
the holder, at a price of the fair market value of tfie issued and outstanding Common Shares and JEC Notes on the 
date such Common Shares and JEC Notes were transferred to a predecessor of the JEC. During the April 30,2007 
Reorganization all issued and outstanding Class C Preference Shares were redeemed by JEC. As a result, no Class 
C Preference Shares were outstanding at year end. No additional Class C Preference Shares may be issued. 

Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-up 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of JEC or other distribution of its assets among its 
shareholders, the holders of the Class A Preference Shares and Common Shares shall be entitied, after payment of 
all liabilities of JEC, to share in all remaining assets of JEC as follows: 

(a) the holders of the Class A Preference Shares shall be entitled to share in all such assets to the 
extent of their pro rata share thereof determined by multiplying the amount of such assets by a 
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of Units which the holders of the Class A 
Preference Shares would be entitied to receive if they exercised their Shareholder Exchange 
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Rights on the date of such liquidation, dissolution or wuiding-up of JEC or other distribution of its 
assets amongst its shareholders, and the denominator of which shall be the number of Units tiiat 
would be outstanding on such date if all the Shareholder Exchange Rights had been exercised on 
such date; and 

(b) the holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled to share m all such assets to the extent of their 
pro rata share thereof determined by multiplying the amount of such assets by a flection, the 
numerator of which is the number of Units outstanding on the date of such liquklation, dissolution 
or winding-up of JEC or other distribution of its assets amongst its shareholders, and the 
denominator of which shall be the number of Units that would be outstanding on such date if all 
the Shareholder Exchange Rights had been exercised on such date. 

Distribution Policy 

The distribution policy of JEC is to distribute all of its available cash, subject to applicable law, by way of monthly 
dividends on its Common Shares after; (i) satisfaction of its debt service obligations, if any (and provided no event 
of default exists under the Credit Facility); (ii) satisfaction of its interest and other expense obligations; (iii) making 
any principal repayments in respect of the JEC Notes and the Exchangeco II Notes (if any) considered advisable by 
the board of directors of JEC, with the consent of the Fund and the holders of the JEC Notes and the Exchangeco 
Notes (if any) by Extraordinary Resolution and Exchangeco II Extraordinary Resolution, respectively; and (iv) 
setting aside the amounts necessary to pay the bonuses to the holders of Class A Preference Shares under the Special 
Management Incentive Program (which will in no circumstances amount to a payment in any year in respect of each 
Class A Preference Share in excess of the distributions paid on a Unit in such year), and subject to JEC retaining 
such reasonable working capital reserves as may be considered appropriate by the board of dhectors of JEC. JEC 
does not intend to pay dividends on its Preference Shares. 

As a result of the March 2004 Reorganization, the August 2005 Reorganization and the April 2007 Reorganization 
resulting in the creation of JELP and JEOLP respectively, to the extent funds are available, distributions are also 
paid on the various classes of units of all limited partnerships and tmsts to enable the Fund to meet its obligations to 
pay distributions on Units to Unitholders. 

JEC Notes 

The following is a summary of the material attributes and characteristics of the JEC Notes, and is qualified in its 
entirety by reference to the provisions of the JEC Note Indenture which contains a complete statement of such 
attributes and characteristics. 

The JEC Notes authorized are unlimited and will mature on April 30, 2031, subject to prepayment from time to time 
as considered advisable by the board of directors of JEC, with the consent of the Fund and the holders of the JEC 
Notes by Extraordinary Resolution, and subject to extension for an additional ten year term with tfie consent of the 
holders of the JEC Notes by Extraordinary Resolution. On December 19,2007, the Note Indenture was amended by 
the Second Supplemental Note Indenture to eliminate all interest on any outstanding JEC Notes as of December 19, 
2007. All interest payable on the outstanding JEC Notes to December 19,2007 had been paid in full. 

The JEC Notes are issuable only as fully registered Notes in mmimum denominations of $10 and for amounts above 
such minimum only integral multiples of $1. 

The principal of the JEC Notes is payable in lawful money of Canada, All JEC Notes are registered in the name of 
the Fund and have been pledged to one of the lenders in its capacity as collateral agent pursuant to the Credit 
Facility. 

Payment upon Maturity 

On maturity, JEC will repay tfie indebtedness represented by the JEC Notes by paying to the Note Trustee in lawful 
money of Canada an amount equal to the principal amount of the outstanding JEC Notes, together with accmed and 
unpaid interest, if any, thereon. 
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Redemption 

From time to time the board of directors of JEC will review the status of JEC's assets and the economic condition 
relating to JEC's busmess and the industry within which it operates. If this review, m the opinion of the board of 
directors of JEC, indicates that it is unlikely that tiie indebtedness of JEC evidenced by the JEC Notes could be 
refinanced on the same terms and conditions upon maturity of such notes, then JEC may, subject to the consent of 
the Tmstee and the holders of the Notes by Extraordinary Resolution, commence principal repayments on the JEC 
Notes such that in the opinion of tiie board of dfrectors of JEC, the JEC Notes will be fully repaid upon maturity. In 
that event, the available cash of JEC will be utilized to the extent required to fimd such repayments in lieu of 
dividends on the Cormnon Shares. In addition, if JEC has available cash, but is prohibited from declaruig or paying 
a dividend or reducing its stated capital under applicable corporate laws, the board of directors of JEC may make 
principal repayments on the JEC Notes to the extent of such available cash. Except as aforessdd, the JEC Notes will 
not be redeemable at the option of JEC or by the holders thereof prior to maturity. 

Ranking 

The JEC Notes are unsecured debt obligations of JEC and are subordinate in right of payment to ottier direct 
unsecured indebtedness of JEC and all secured debt of JEC. 

Default 

The Note Indenture provides that any of the following shall constitute an Event of Default (as defined in tiie Note 
Indenture): (i) default in payment of the principal of the JEC Notes when the same becomes due; (ii) the failing to 
pay the interest obligations, if any, of the JEC Notes when the same becomes due, for a period of 12 months; (iii) 
default on any indebtedness exceeding $5,000,000; (iv) certain events of winding-up, liquidation, bankmptcy, 
insolvency or receivership; (v) the taking of possession by an encumbrancer of all or substantially all of the property 
of JEC; (vi) JEC ceasing to carry on its business, or a substantial or significant part thereof, in the ordinary course; 
or (vii) default in tfie observance or performance of any other covenant or condition of the Note Indenture and the 
continuance of such default for a period of 30 days after notice in writing has been given by the Note Tmstee to JEC 
specifying such default and requiring JEC to rectify ttie same. 

The Note Indenture also provides that the Note Tmstee shall not take steps or actions with respect to an Event of 
Default without tiie prior consent of the Fund provided the Fund holds, directly or induectly, at least 25% of the 
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding JEC Notes. Certain other provisions under the Note Indenture require 
the prior consent or authorization of the Fund if the Fund holds, dhectiy or indirectly, at least 25% of the aggregate 
principal amount of the outstanding JEC Notes. 

Trustee and General Partner 

JEC serves as the tmstee of ESIF CT and as tfie general partner of each of JEOLP, JETLP, Just Energy Manitoba, 
Just Energy Quebec, Alberta Energy Savings, Just Energy Alberta and Just Energy BC. See "Organization Chart". 
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SHARE AND LOAN CAPITAL STRUCTURE OF JUST ENERGY EXCHANGE CORP. 

1. Common Shares: JEEC is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without nominal or 
par value of which 100 are outstanding and owned by the Fund. The holders thereof are entitied: (a) to vote 
at any meeting of shareholders, (b) to receive any dividends declared by JEEC and (c) to receive the 
remaining property of JEEC upon dissolution. 

2. Exchangeable Shares: JEEC is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Exchangeable Shares without 
nominal or par value. As part of the Universal Acquisition, the shareholders of Universal received 0.58 of 
an Exchangeable Share for each common share of Universal, Among other terms and conditions each 
Exchangeable Share is exchangeable for a Unit on a one for one basis at any time at the option of the holder 
and entitles the holder to dividends equal to 66y3% of any distribution paid by the Fund on a Unit. Other 
than as required by applicable law and the articles of JEEC, the holders of Exchangeable Shares are not 
entitled to receive notice of, to attend or to vote at any meeting of tfie shareholders of JEEC. However, 
pursuant to the Declaration of Tmst and a voting and exchange tmst agreement, the trustee under the voting 
and exchange tmst agreement is entitied to notice of, to attend and to one vote per outstanding 
Exchangeable Share at any meeting of the Unitholders. Each holder of Exchangeable Shares is entitied to 
instmct the tmstee how to vote in respect of his or her shares, and tfie tmstee will not exercise the voting 
rights associated with such shares absent such instmctions. 

3. JEEC Convertible Debentures: As part of the Universal Acquisition, JEEC assumed all of the covenants 
and obligations of Universal in respect of the $90 million aggregate principal amount of 6% convertible 
unsecured subordinated debentures of Universal issued by it in October 2007 in accordance with tiie JEEC 
Debenture Indenture. In addition, tfie Fund has guaranteed JEEC's performance of such obligations. The 
JEEC Convertible Debentures mature on September 30,2014 and are convertible at the option of tfie holder 
into Exchangeable Shares at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately 
preceding the maturity date or the date called for redemption. The JEEC Convertible Debentures are not 
redeemable by JEEC before October I, 2010. On or after October I, 2010 and prior to September 30, 
2012, JEEC has the option to redeem the JEEC Convertible Debentures m whole or in part, from time to 
time, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accmed interest, provided tfiat the 20 day volume 
weighted average ttading price for the Exchangeable Shares is not less than 125% of the conversion price. 
On or after September 30, 2012, JEEC may redeem the JEEC Convertible Debentures in whole or in part, 
from time to time, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accmed and unpaid interest. In addition, 
the JEEC may, at its option, subject to applicable regulatory approval and provided that no event of default 
has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to pay, in whole or in part, the principal 
amount of the JEEC Convertible Debentures that are to be redeemed or that have matured by issumg to the 
holders thereof that number of freely tradeable Exchangeable Shares determined by dividing the principal 
amount of the JEEC Convertible Debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date of 
redemption or maturity, as applicable. In addition, subject to applicable regulatory approval, freely 
tradeable Exchangeable Shares may be issued to the Debenture tmstee and sold, witfi the proceeds used to 
satisfy tiie obligation to pay interest on the JEEC Convertible Debentures. 
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SHARE AND LOAN CAPITAL STRUCTURE OF OESC EXCHANGECO II INC. 

Internal Reorganization 

Exchangeco II was incorporated to replace Exchangeco as the agent to facilitate the exchange of Preference Shares 
for Units pursuant to, and to assume its obligations under, the Shareholder Exchange Rights described under the 
heading "JEC Shareholders' Agreement" in Schedule "B". On April 30, 2007, Exchangeco II entered into tfie 
Exchangeco II Note Indenture. The material attributes and characteristics of the Exchangeco II Notes are similar to 
the material attributes and characteristics of the JEC Notes issued under the Note Indenture (described above under 
the heading "JEC Notes"). 

Share Capital of Exchangeco II 

The authorized share capital of Exchangeco II consists of an unlimited number of common shares, of which 100 
common shares are issued and outstanding and owned by the Fund. The voting rights attached to the common 
shares are subject to the terms of the JEC Shareholders' Agreement. The following is a description of the rights 
attached to such shares. 

Common Shares 

Each common share entitles the holder thereof to receive notice of and to attend all meetings of shareholders of 
Exchangeco II and to one vote per share at such meetings (other than meetings of a class of shares of Exchangeco 
II). The holders of common shares are, at the discretion of the board of directors of Exchangeco II and subject to 
applicable legal restrictions, entitled to receive any dividends declared by the board of directors on the common 
shares. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Exchsmgeco 11 or other distribution of its assets 
among its shareholders, holders of the common shares, after payment of all of the liabilities of Exchangeco II, are 
entitled to share rateably in all remaining assets of Exchangeco II. 

Exchangeco II Notes 

The terms and conditions of the Exchangeco II Notes are similar to the terms and conditions of the JEC Ncrtes. The 
Exchangeco II Notes will be issued in connection with tiie exercise of the Exchangeco II Exchange Rights designed 
to facilitate the exchange of Preference Shares for Units pursuant to the Shareholder Exchasnge Rights. See 
"Schedule "B" JEC Shareholders' Agreement" below. 

ESIF CT TRUST AND LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS 

Background 

When the Fund became a reporting issuer in April 2001, a simple stmcture was in place, utilizing ortfy one Chitario 
corporation, a predecessor of JEC, to carry on the business which, at the time, involved the marketing of Gas 
Contracts to residential, mid-sized commercial and small industrial customers solely in the Province of Ontario. In 
early 2002, a decision was made to expand JEC's business beyond Ontario into other provinces of Canada through 
greenfield operations and acquisitions. A subsidiary, Manitoba Corp., was incorporated to expand the business into 
Manitoba which is now carried by Just Energy Manitoba. To expand the business into the Provinces of Quebec, 
British Columbia and Alberta, separate limited partnerships were created. Subsidiary corporations were established 
in several States in the United States (Illinois, Indiana, New York, Texas, Massachusetts, Connecticut, Maryland, 
Virginia and the District of Columbia), to market Gas Contracts and Electricity Contracts commencmg with the 
marketing of Gas Contracts in Illinois in early 2004. 

CONSTRAINTS ON OWNERSHIP 

In order for the Fund to maintain its status as a mutual fund tmst under the Tax Act, the Fund must not be 
established or maintained primarily for the benefit of non-residents of Canada within the meaning of the Tax Act. 
Accordingly, tiie Declaration of Trust provides that at no time may non-residents of Canada be the beneficial owners 
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of a majority of the Units. In connection therewith, the tmstee of the Fund Convertible Debentures may requu^ 
declarations as to the jurisdictions in which holders or beneficial owners of Units and Fund Convertible Debentures 
are resident. If the Fund becomes aware that 49% of the Units (on either a basic or fully-diluted basis) then 
outstanding are held, or may be held, for the benefit of non-residents or partnerships which are not Canadian 
partnerships or that such a situation is imminent, the Fund may make a public announcement thereof and will notify 
the tmstee in writing and the tmstee shall not accept a subscription for Fund Convertible Debentures from or issue or 
register a transfer of Fund Convertible Debentures to a person unless the person provides a declaration that the 
person is not a non-resident of Canada or partnerships which are not Canadian partnerships. If, notwithstandmg the 
foregoing, the Fund determines that more than 49% of the Units (on either a basic or fully-diluted basis) are held for 
the benefit of non-residents or partnerships which are not Canadian partnerships, the Fund may send a notice to non­
resident debentureholders, chosen in inverse order to the order of acquisition or registration or in such mminer as the 
Fund may consider equitable and practicable, requiring them to sell their Fund Convertible Debentures or a portion 
thereof within a specified period of not more than 60 days. If the debentureholders receiving such notice have not 
sold the specified number of Fund Convertible Debentures or provided the Fund with satisfactory evidence that they 
are not non-residents of Canada or partnerships which are not Canadian partnerships and do not hold tfieir Fimd 
Convertible Debentures for the benefit of non-residents of Canada or partnerships which are not Canadimi 
partnerships within such period, the Fund may sell such Fund Convertible Debentures on behalf of such 
debentureholders to a person or persons that are not non-residents and, in the interim, all rights attaching to such 
Fund Convertible Debentures (including any right to receive payments of interest) will be immediately suspended 
and the rights of any such debentureholders in respect of such Fund Convertible Debentures will be limited to 
receiving the net proceeds of sale (net of any withholding tax). 

Also see "Declaration of Tmst and Description of Units - Limitation on Non-Resident Ownership". 

ESCROWED SECURTTIES 

In connection with the Universal Acquisition, 5,436,226 Exchangeable Shares were placed in escrow with 
Computershare as escrow agent, of which 2,718,113 Exchangeable Shares will be released from escrow on July I, 
2010 and the balance of the escrowed Exchangeable Shares will be released on July 1, 2011. The Exchangeable 
Shares held in escrow may be exchanged for Units or, upon completion of the proposed ConvCTsion Transaction, 
New Just Energy Shares; however, the securities issued in exchange for such escrowed Exchangeable Shares will 
continue to be held in escrow pursuant to the escrow agreement 

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF JEC 

The Fund is administered by JEC pursuant to the Administration Agreement. The names, municipalities of 
residence, year of appointment (in the case of dnectors) and the principal occupations of the directors and executive 
officers of JEC during the five preceding years are as follows: 

Name, Municipality of 
Residence and Year of 

Appointment for Directors '^ 
Position with the Company (or a 

wholly owned subsidiary) 
Principal Occupation(s) 

During Five Preceding Years 

John A. Brussa *̂ *̂*' 
Calgary, Alberta, Canada 
2001 

Director Partner, Buraet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP (law 
firm) 

B.Bruce Gibson '̂**̂ ' 
Austin, Texas, U.S.A. 
2010 

Director Principal, Ryan Inc. (public affairs and legislative 
consulting) 

Chief of Staff, Lieutenant Governor, State of Texas 
(2003 to January 2008) 

The Hon. Gordon D. Giffm *̂'***' 
Atlanta, Georgia, U.S.A. 
2006 

Director Senior Partner, McKeima, Long & Aidridge LLP 
(law firm) 
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Name, Municipality of 
Residence and Year of 

Appointment for Directors *̂  

Ken Hartwick, C.A. 
Milton, Ontario, Canada 
2008 

Position with tlie Company (or a 
wholly owned subsidiary) 

Principal Occupation(s) 
During Five Preceding Yeare 

The Hon. Michael Kirby "'̂ '•̂  
Ottawa, Ontario, Canada 
2001 

Rebecca MacDonald 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
2001 

The Hon. R. Roy McMurtry <̂ ^̂ ' 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
2007 

TheHon. Hugh D.Segal 
<(l)2X3)(4X5)(fi) 

Kingston, Ontario, Canada 
2001 

Brian R.D. Smith QC. *̂ '̂̂ '̂ ''* 
Victoria, British Columbia, 
Canada 
2001 

Director, Chief Executive Officer President and ChiefExecutive Officer of the 
and President Company (currentiy) 

President of the Company (March, 2006 to March 
2008) 

Chief Financial Officer of tfie Company (April 2004 
to March 2006 and from July 2007 until December 
2007) 

Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, 
Finance of Hydro One Inc. (electric utility) (October 
2001 to April 2004) 

Director Corporate Director and Chair - The Mental Health 
Commission of Canada (currently) 

Member of the Senate of Canada (1984 to October 
2006) 

Chair of the Standing Senate Committee on Social 
Affau ,̂ Science and Technology (until 2006) 

Director and Executive Chair of Executive Chair ofthe Company (currenUy) 
Board 

Chief Executive Officer ofthe Company (until April 
2005) 

Director Counsel, Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP (law 
fimi) (currentiy) 

Chief Justice, Province of Ontario (February 1996 to 
May 2007) 

Lead Director and Vice Clhair of SeniorFellow, School of Policy Studies, (Jueens 
Board University (currentiy) 

Member ofthe Senate of Canada (currentiy) 

Senior Research Fellow at McMillan LLP (currentfy) 

President ofthe Institute of Research on Public 
Policy (research institute) (until May 31, 2006) 

Director Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy 
Consultant (currentiy) 
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Name, Municipality of 
Residence and Year of 

Appointment for Directors ̂ ^ 

Stephanie M. Bird 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada 

Deryl K. Brown 
Southlake, Texas, U.S.A. 

Jonah T. Davids 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada 

Chris C. Domhoff 
Dallas, Texas, U.S.A. 

Jason A. Herod 
Unionville, Ontario, Canada 

Richard R. Early 
Markham, Ontario, Canada 

Position with the Company (or a 
wholly owned subsidiary) 

Principal Occupation(s) 
During Five Preceding Ycai^ 

Senior Vice-President 
Corporate Risk Officer 

and 

Senior Vice-President 
Commercial Division 

Vice President and General 
Counsel 

Executive Vice President Network 
Marketing - Momentis 

Senior Vice President, Sales and 
Marketing 

Vice-President, Human Resources 

Senior Vice-President and Corporate Risk Officer of 
the Company (currentiy) 

Vice-President and Corporate Risk Officer of the 
Company 
(April 2006 to March 2010) 

Director and Corporate Risk Officer ofthe Company 
(April 2005 to March 2006) 

Senior Vice-President - Commercial Division ofthe 
Company (currently) 

Chief Executive Officer - Hudson Energy (^ergy 
retailer) 
(April 2006 to May 2010) 

Vice-President and General Manager of Direct 
Energy (energy retailer) (November 2002 to August 
2005) 

Vice President and General Counsel ofthe Company 
(currently) 

Senior Legal Counsel and Assistant Secretary ofthe 
Company 
(April 2009 to March 2010) 

Counsel and Assistant Secretary of tfie Company 
(December 2007 to March 2009) 

Lawyer, McMillan LLP (law firm) 
(February 2002 to November 2007) 

Executive Vice President Network Marketing of 
Momentis (currentfy) 

Chief Executive Officer, Ignite (Stream Energy), 
(energy sales/network marketing) 
(November 2004 to November 2009) 

Senior Vice President Sales and Marketing ofthe 
Company (currentiy) 

Vice President Sales and Marketing ofthe Company 
(August 2008 to March 2010) 

Vice President, Corporate Planning and Forecastmg 
ofthe Company 
(November 2006 to August 2008) 

Director of Operations, Financial Reporting ofthe 
Company 
(April 2004 to November 2006) 

Vice-President, Human Resources ofthe Company 
(currently) 
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Name, Municipality of 
Residence and Year of 

Appointment for Directors ̂ ^ 

Martin A. Johnson 
Ottawa, Ontario, Canada 

R. Scott Gahn 
Houston, Texas. U.SA. 

James W. Lewis 
Pearl and, Texas, U.S.A. 

Christian R. McArthur 
Georgetown, Ont^o, Canada 

Deborah Merril 
Houston, Texas, U.S.A. 

Position with the Company (or a 
wholly owned subsidiary) 

Senior Vice President, Customer 
Service 

Principal Occupation(s) 
During Five Preceding Years 

Executive Vice-Presidwit 
Chief Operating Officer 

Senior Vice President, Operations 
and Retention 

Senior Vice President, Customer Service of flie 
Company (currentfy) 

Director of Sales ofthe Company 
(May 2008 to July 2009) 

Director of Operations, PLC Global Energy 
Management (energy management) 
(November 2006 to October 2007) 

Energy Savings Advantage (energy bnaker) 
(September 2004 to November 2006) 

and Executive Vice-President and Chief Operating 
Officer ofthe Company and President - Just Energy 
Group (currently) 

Executive Vice-President, Just Energy (U.S.) Corp. 
(currentiy) 

Chief Executive Officer, Just Ener©' Texas, 
(currently) 

Chief Executive Officer, Just Energy Texas LP 
(energy retailer) (until May 2007) 

Senior Vice President, Operations and Retention of 
the Company (currentiy) 

Senior Vice President, Supply 

Executive Vice-President, 
Commercial 

Vice President, Retail Consolidated Billing Markets 
of die Company (May 2007 to March 2008) 

Vice President, Texas Operations of Just Energy 
Texas LP (May 2002 to May 2007) 

Senior Vice President, Supply ofthe Company 
(currently) 

Director, Load Forecasting and Supply of flie 
Company (April 2006 to October 2007) 

Manager, Load Forecasting and Supply ofthe 
Company (April 2005 to April 2006) 

Executive - Vice-President, Commercial Division of 
the Company and Executive Vice President Hudson 
Energy (currentiy) 

Vice President, Sales and Marketing of Texas 
Energy Savings (May 2007 to April 2008) 

Vice President, Sales and Marketing of Just Energy 
(May 2002 to May 2007) 
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Name, Municipality of 
Residence and Year of 

Appointment for Directors *̂  

Gord Potter 
Richmond Hill, Ontario, Canada 

Position with the Company (or a 
wholly owned subsidiary) 

Executive Vice-President, 
Regulatory and Legal Affairs 

Darren Pritchett 
Kilbride, Ontario, Canada 

Andrew E. Schneider 
Oakville, Ontario, Canada 

Executive Vice-President, 
Consumer Sales 

Principal Occup^ion(s) 
During Five Preccduig Years 

Executive Vice-President Regulatory and Legal 
Affau^ ofthe Company (currentfy) 

Senior Vice-President, Regulatory Affairs ofthe 
Company (April 2007 to April 2009) 

Vice President, Regulatory Affairs of flie Company 
(April 2005 to March 2007) 

Director, Regulatory and Utility Management ofthe 
Company (June 2003 to April 2005) 

Executive Vice-President, Consumer Sales ofthe 
Company (currentfy) 

Self-employed National Distributor for Just Energy 
(until April 30 2008) 

Senior Vice-President and Chief Senior Vice-President and Chief Information Officer 
Information Officer ofthe Compaiy (currentiy) 

Shelley Sheppard 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada 

Senior Vice-President, Finance 

Beth Summers, C.A. 
Oakville, Ontario, Canada 

Chief Financial Officer 

Notes: 

(I) 
(2) 

(3) 
(4) 
(5) 

Vice-President and Chief Information Officer ofthe 
Company (to April I, 2007) 

Senior Vice-President, Finance ofthe Company 
(currentfy) 

Vice-President, Finance of tfie Company 
(September 2006 to April 2007) 

Vice-President, Finance, CHUM Radio 
(broadcasting) (2002 to 2005) 

Chief Financial Officer of the Company (currentiy) 

Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice 
President, Hydro One Inc. (electric utility) fix>m 
March 2004 to January 2009 and Corporate 
Controller from January 2003 to Febniary 2004 

Senior Vice-President, Commercial Marketing, 
Canada ofthe Company (currentiy) 

Senior Vice-President Constellation NewEnergy 
Canada and other positions with Constellation 
(natural gas and electricity retailer) in Canada and 
die United States prior to October 29,2008 

Member of Uie Audit Committee. Mr. Ku-by is flie Chair of flie Committee. 
Member of the Compensation, Human Resources, Environmental, Health and Safety Committee. Mr. Smifli is the 
Chair ofthe Conmiittee. 
Member of flie Nominating and Corporate Govemance Committee. Mr. Segal is flie Chair ofthe Committee. 
Member of flie Risk Committee. Mr. Kirby is flie Chair and Mr. Giffin is tfie Vice-Chau- of tfie Committee. 
Each of flie persons, who are directors of JEC, became a director on flie Amalgamation of April 30,2001 exc^t for: (i) 
Mr. Smifli who was appointed to flie Board of JEC on August 21, 2001, (ii) Mr. McMurtiy who was elected to flie 
Board on June 28, 2007, (iii) Mr. Giffm vfho was elected to flie Board on June 29, 2006, (iv) Mr. Hartwick who was 
each appointed to tfie Board on August 8, 2008 and Mr. Gibson who was appomted to flie Board on January 1, 2010. 
Each ofthe persons who is listed above as a director has continued as a director of JEC since their initial ^ipointment. 

Robert K. Weir 
Burlington, Ontario, Canada 

Senior Vice-President, Commercial 
Marketing, Canada 
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The present term of office of each director will expire immediately prior to the election of directors at the next annual 
meeting of Unitholders. 

(6) Appointed lead director by the Board on January 17,2005 and Vice Chair ofthe Board on May 20,2010.. 

As at May 30, 2010 the above directors and executive officers of JEC, as a group, beneficially owned, or exercised 
control or direction over, directly or indirectly, an aggregate of approximately 1,660,481 Units, 5,263,728 Class A 
Preference Shares and no Exchangeable Shares, representing approximately 1.3% and 100% ofthe issued and 
outstanding Units and Class A Preference Shares, respectively 

Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions 

Other than &s set forth below, no director or executive officer of JEC, or a securityholder holding a sufficient 
number of securities ofthe Fund or JEEC to affect materially the control ofthe Fund is, as at the date hereof, or has 
been within the 10 years before the date hereof, a dhector, or executive officer of any company that, while such 
person was acting in that capacity: (i) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive 
days; (ii) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director or 
executive officer, in the company bemg the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant company any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive day; or (iii) 
within a year of such person ceasing to act in that capacity become bankmpt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, artangement or compromise 
with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

No director or executive officer of JEC, or a securityholder holding a sufficient number of securities ofthe Fund or 
JEEC to affect materially the control of the Fund (or any personal holding company of such person), has been 
subject to any penahies or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority or any other penalties or 
sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor 
in making an investment decision. 

John A. Bmssa, a director of JEC, was a director of Imperial Metals Limited, a corporation engaged in both oil and 
gas and mining operations, in the year prior to that corporation implementing a plan of arrangement under the 
Company Act (British Columbia) and under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) (the "CCAA") 
which resulted in the separation of its two businesses and the creation of two public corporations: Imperial Metals 
Corporation and lEI Energy Inc. (which became Rider Resources Ltd). The plan of arrangement was completed in 
April 2002. 

The Hon. Gordon D. Giffm, a director of JEC, was a director of Abitibi Bowater Inc. from October 29, 2007 until 
his resignation on January 22, 2010. In April 2009, AbitibiBowater Inc. and certain of its U.S. and Canadian 
subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions in the United States Bankmptcy Court for the District of Delaware for relief 
under the provisions of Chapter 11 and Chapter 15 of the United States Bankmptcy Code, as amended, and sought 
creditor protection under the CCAA witii the Superior Court of Quebec m Canada. 

Personal Bankruptcies 

No director or executive officer of JEC, or a securityholder holding sufficient securities of the Fund or JEEC to 
affect materially the control ofthe Fund, or a personal holding company of any such persons, has, within the 10 
years preceding the date of this document, become bankmpt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankmptcy or insolvency, or became subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise witii 
creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets ofthe individual. 

Conflicts of Interest 

There are potential conflicts of interest to which the directors and officers of JEC will be subject in cormection with 
the operations of JEC. In particular, certain of the directors and officers of JEC are involved in managerial or 
director positions with other energy companies whose operations may, from time to time, be in direct competition 
with those of JEC and the Fund or with entities which may, from time to time, provide financing to, or make equity 
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investments in, competitors of JEC and the Fund. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procecfores and remedies 
available under the OBCA. The OBCA provides that in the event that a director has an interest in a contract or 
proposed contract or agreement, the director shall disclose his interest in such contract or agreement and shall refrain 
from voting on any matter in respect of such contract or agreement unless otherwise provided in the OBCA. As at 
the date hereof, JEC is not aware of any existing material conflicts of interest between the Fund or a subsidiary of 
the Fund and any director or officer ofthe Fund or a subsidiary ofthe Fund. 

TAX ON INCOME TRUSTS 

The Fund is a mutual fund tmst for income tax purposes. As announced by the Fund in its news release of Febmaiy 
3, 2010 and pursuant to the proposed Conversion Transaction, it plans to reorganize its income tmst stmcture and 
convert into a corporation on or before January 1,2011, Until January I, 2011, the Fund is only subjecttocurrent 
income taxes on any taxable income not distributed to Unitholders. Beginning on January 1,2011, the Fund vrill be 
subject to current income taxes on all of its taxable income. If the Fund's equity capital grows beyond certain dollar 
limits prior to January 1, 2011, the Fund would become a Specified Investment Flow Through ttust ("SIFT") and 
would commence in that year being subject to tax on income disttibuted. The Fund expects that its income 
distributed will not be subject to tax prior to 2011 and intends to disttibute all its taxable income earned prior to 
then. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 

.Other than as set forth below, there are no outstanding legal proceedings or regulatory actions to which the Fund or 
any of its Affiliate is a party or in respect of which any of their respective properties are subject, which are either: (a) 
individually, for claims in excess of 10% ofthe current asset value ofthe Fund, or (b) material to the Fund or any of 
its Affiliates, nor are there any such proceedings known to be contemplated. 

On March 3,2008, tfie Citizen's Utility Board, AARP and Citizen Action/Illinois filed a complaint before the Illinois 
Commerce Commission ("ICC") alleging tfiat independent sales agents used deceptive practices in the sale of Just 
Energy contracts to Illinois customers. On October 14, 2009, the complaint proceeded to a hearing by the ICC. On 
April 14, 2010, the ICC released its order finding that Just Energy had committed ten violations and imposed a 
penalty of $0.1 million. Pursuant to the order. Just Energy is required to undertake an independent audit to confirm 
its compliance with the regulations and to change certain sales and marketing processes. In June, 2010 tiie ICC 
refused an application made by the Citizen's Utility Board to amend or vary its order. 

The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Regulatory Energy Commission ("FREC") 
against many suppliers of electricity, includmg Commerce, a subsidiary of the Fund, with respect to events 
stemming from the 2001 energy crises in California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is 
challenging FREC's enforcement of its market-based rate system. Although Commerce did not own generation, tfie 
State of California is claiming that Commerce was unjustiy enriched by the run-up caused by the alleged mm*ket 
manipulation by other market participants. The proceedings are currently ongoing. On March 18, 2010, the 
Administrative Law Judge granted the motion to strike for all parties in one ofthe complaints holding that California 
did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market power. California has appealed the 
decision. 

Just Energy will resolve or vigorously contest the claims in these matters and in any other non-material litigation 
matters. Management believes that the pending legal actions against Just Energy Illinois Corp. md Commerce are 
not expected to have a material impact on the financial condition ofthe Fund at this time 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

There were no material interests, dnect or indirect, of directors or executive officers of JEC, any person that 
beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectiy, more than 10% ofthe Units, Class A Preference 
Shares or Exchangeable Shares, or any known associate or affiliate of such persons, in any transaction within the 
three most recentiy completed fmancial years or during the current financial year which has materially affected or is 
reasonably expected to materially affect the Fund. 
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AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

The auditors ofthe Fund are KPMG LLP, Chartered Accountants, Toronto, Ontario. Based on the recommendation 
of the Audit Committee of JEC, the Board has proposed tiiat Ernst & Young LLP be appointed as auditors of tiie 
Fund at the Annual and Special Meeting ofthe Fund to take place on June 29,2010. 

Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal transfer offices in Toronto, Ontario acts as the transfer agent 
and registrar for the Units, the Fund Convertible Debentures and the JEEC Convertible Debentures. 

INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

There is no person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement, report or valuation made 
by such person or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a statement, report or valuation 
described or included in a filing, or referred to m a filing, made under National Instrument 51-102 by the Fund 
during, or related to, tiie Fund's most recently completed financial year other than KPMG LLP, the Fund's current 
auditors and the former auditors of Universal. KPMG LLP have confirmed that they are independent within the 
meaning ofthe mles of professional conduct ofthe Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario. In addition, none 
of the aforementioned persons or companies, nor any director, officer or employee of any of the aforementioned 
persons or companies, is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or employee of 
JEC or of any associate or affiliate of JEC. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Except for contracts entered into by the Fund in the ordmary course of business or otherwise disclosed herein, the 
only material contracts entered into by the Fund and/or its Affiliates and Subsidiaries are: the Declaration of Tmst, 
the Credit Facility, the Fund Debenture Indenture, the Universal Acquisition Agreement, the Hudson Acquisition 
Agreement and the ESIF Tmst Indenture, each of which is described herein. Copies ofthe Declaration of Trust, the 
Credit Facility, the Fund Debenture Indenture, the Universal Acquisition Agreement, the Hudson Acquisition 
Agreement and the ESIF Tmst Indenture are available on the Fund's SEDAR profile at vyww.sedar.com. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE INFORMATION 

Multilateral Instrument 52-110 ofthe Canadian Securities Administrators requires tfie Fund to disclose annually m 
its AIF certain information relating to JEC's Audit Committee and its relationship with its independent auditors. 
Schedule "D" contains the additional information contemplated by Form 52-llOFl - "Audit Committee Information 
required in an AIF", including information with respect to the financial literacy and experience of each member of 
the Audit Committee. The text ofthe mandate for the Audit Committee is included in Schedule "E". 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Additional information relating to the Fund may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Additional information, 
including directors' and officers' remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of the Fund's securities and 
securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, is contained in the Information Circular ofthe 
Fund for its most recent annual meeting of Unitholders that involved the election of dhectors of JEC. Additional 
financial and other information is contained in the Fund Financial Statements and the Fund MD&A. 

http://www.sedar.com
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SCHEDULE "A" - GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

In this Annual Information Form (including the Schedules hereto), the following terms shall have the meanmgs set 
forth below, unless otherwise indicated: 

"ABMs" means Agents/Brokers/Marketers such as JEOLP and its Affiliates. ABMs are market aggregators meaning 
that they aggregate downstream customers into groups. 

"Administration Agreement" means the administration ^eement between the Fund and JEC (as Administrator), 
dated April 30, 2001, as amended from time to time. 

"Administrator" means JEC in its capacity as administrator ofthe Fund pursuant to the Admmistration Agreement. 

"Affiliate" shall have tiie meaning ascribed thereto in the OBCA and includes all direct and indirect Subsidiaries of 
the Fund. 

"Alberta Energy Savings" means the limited partnership formed under the laws ofthe Province of Alberta with the 
name Alberta Energy Savings L.P. pursuant to a limited partnership agreement dated March 18, 2004, as amended 
from time to time. 

"Amalgamation of April 25, 2007" means the amalgamation pursuant to the provisions of the OBCA of Energy 
Savings (Manitoba) Corp. and JEC as one corporation under the name "Ontario Energy Savings Corp.". 

"Amalgamations of April 30, 2007" means the amalgamations pursuant to the provisions ofthe OBCA as part of 
the April 30, 2007 Reorganization, concluding with the amalgamation on April 30, 2007 of OESC Amalco and 
OESC GP as one corporation under the name "Ontario Energy Savings Corp.". 

"Amended and Restated JEC Shareholders' Agreement" means the agreement dated March 1, 2005 among the 
Fund, Exchangeco, JEC and the persons who held all of the outstanding Class A Preference Shares as further 
amended and restated effective April 30,2007. 

"April 30, 2007 Reorganization" means the corporate reorganization of the Fund and certain of its Affiliates 
approved by Unitholders and holders of Preference Shares at tiie annual and special meeting on June 29, 2005 and 
completed on April 30,2007. 

"Belle Plaine Facility" means TGF's ethanol facility and related infrastmctures and fiicilities located in Belle Plame, 
Saskatchewan. 

"Board" and "Board of Directors" means the board of directors of JEC. 

"Book-Entry Only System" means the book-based system administered by CDS. 

"BP " means collectively BP Energy Company, BP Clanada Energy Marketing Corp., and BP Corporation NorUi 
America and any other related affiliate with which Just Energy contracts. 

"Bruce Power" means Bmce Power L.P. 

"CIBC" means Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, a Canadian chartered bank. 

"CDS" means The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited. 

"Clarification and Restatement Agreement" means the agreement dated as of April 30, 2001 among tfie persons 
who were the original parties to the JEC Shareholders' Agreement. 

"Class A Preference Shares" means the Class A preference shares in the capital of JEC. 
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"Class B Preference Shares" means the Class B preference shares in the capital of JEC. 

"Class C Preference Shares" means the Class C preference shares in the capital of JEC. 

"Commodities" means Ontario Energy Commodities Inc., a corporation incorporated under the OBCA on January 

25, 2002. 

"Commodity Suppliers" means Gas Suppliers and Electricity Suppliers. 

"Common Shares" means the common shares in the capital of JECC. 
"Consent and Approval Agreement" means the agreement between tfie Fund, JEC, Exchangeco and the holders of 
the Class A Preference Shares dated April 30, 2007 as part of tiie April 30, 2007 Reorganization. 

"Constellation" means collectively Constellation Energy Group Inc. and Constellation Energy Commodities Group, 
Inc. or any other related affiliate with which Just Energy contracts, 

"Conversion Transaction" means the proposed conversion ofthe Fund from an mcome tmst structure to a publicly 
- traded corporation pursuant to the plan of arrangement. 

"Credit Facility" shall have the meaning attributed thereto under the heading "Credit FaciUty". 

"Declaration of Trust" means the amended and restated declaration of tmst for the Fund dated April 30, 2001 as 
amended and restated from time to time. 

"DUGs" means Director deferred unh grants issued pursuant to the Fund's Dhector Companion Plan.. 

"Electrico" means Ontario Electric Savings Corporation, a corporation incorporated under the OBCA on Febraary 
15,1999 and which amalgamated with a predecessor of JEC pursuant to the Amalgamation of July 1,2002. 

"Electricity Contracts" means contracts entered mto from time to time by Just Energy with customers for the 
supply of electricity and/or JustGreen products. 

"Electricity Supplier" means a person who is an electricity producer or an electricity supply aggregator. 

"Energy Contracts" means customer Gas Contracts and Electricity Contracts. 

"EPCOR" means collectively or respectively, as the case may be, EPCOR Utilities Inc., EP Energy Marketing L.P., 
Capital Power EP Holdings Inc. and/or EPCOR Energy Alberta Inc., as applicable. 

"ESIF CT" means ESIF Commercial Tmst I, an open ended investment tmst established under the laws of the 
Province of Ontario pursuant to the ESIF Tmst Indenture. 

"ESIF Note Indenture" means tiie note indenttire dated April 30,2007 between OESC, as trustee for ESIF CT, and 
the ESIF Note Tmstee. 

"Exchange" means OESC Exchange Inc., a corporation which amalgamated with a predecessor of JEC on March 1, 
2005 and now Exchangeco II. 

"Exchangeable Shares" means exchangeable shares, series 1 in the capital of JEEC. 

"Exchangeco II Note Trustee" and "Exchangeco Note Trustee" means Computershare Tmst Company of 
Canada. 

"Exchangeco" means OESC Exchangeco Inc., a company incorporated pursuant to the OBCA on February 23,2005 
and amalgamated with a predecessor of JEC pursuant to the Amalgamation of April 30, 2007. 
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"Exchangeco Notes" means the unsecured notes of Exchangeco issued by Exchangeco to the Fund from time to 
time pursuant to the Exchangeco Note Indenture. 

"Exchangeco Note Indenture" means the note indenture dated Febmaiy 23, 2005, as amended by a supplemental 
indenture dated March I, 2005, providing for the issuance of Exchangeco Notes made between Exchangeco and the 
Exchangeco Note Tmstee. 

"Exchangeco II" means OESC Exchangeco II Inc., a corporation incorporated pursuant to the OBCA on April 25, 
2007. 

"Exchangeco II Common Shares" means the common shares in the capital of Exchangeco II, 

"Exchangeco II Exchange Rights" means the rights granted by tiie Fund pursuant to the JEC Shareholders' 
Agreement entitling Exchangeco II to acquire Units in order to fulfil its obligations under the Shareholder Exchange 
Rights and to satisfy the purchase price for such Units by the issuance of Exchangeco II Notes to tfie Fund. 

"Exchangeco II Extraordinary Resolution" means a resolution passed by the holders of not less than 66y3% ofthe 
principal amount of Exchangeco II Notes outstanding, either in person or by proxy at a meeting of holders of 
Exchangeco II Notes called for the purposes of approving such resolution, or approval in writmg by the holders of 
not less than 66y3% ofthe principal amount of Exchangeco II Notes then outstanding. 

"Exchangeco II Notes" means the unsecured notes of Exchangeco II issued by Exchangeco II to the Fund from time 
to time pursuant to the Exchangeco II Note Indenture, 

"Exchangeco II Note Indenture" means tiie note indenture dated April 30, 2007 providing for the issue of 
Exchangeco II Notes and made between Exchangeco II and the Note tmstee. 

"Extraordinary Resolution" means a resolution passed by the holders of not less than 66̂ /̂ /n of the principal 
amount of JEC Notes outstanding, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of holders of JEC Notes called for tiie 
purpose of approving such resolution, or approval in writing by the holders of not less than 66̂ /̂ A ofthe principal 
amount of JEC Notes then outstanding. 

"Fund" or "Just Energy" means Just Energy Income Fund, a tmst established under the laws of the Province of 
Ontario and governed by the Declaration of Trust. 

"Fund Convertible Debentures" means the $330 million aggregate principal amount of 6.0% extendible unsecured 
subordinated debentures of Fund issued on May 5,2010 pursuant to tfie Fund Debenture Indenture. 

"Fund Debenture Indenture" means the trust indenture dated as of May 5, 2010 between the Fund and 
Computershare Tmst Company of Canada pursuant to which the Fund Convertible Debentures were issued. 

"Fund Financial Statements" means the audited comparative consolidated financial statements of the Fund as at 
and for the years ended March 31,2010 and 2009, together with the notes thereto and tiie auditor's report thereon. 

"Fund Information Circular" means the management information circular of the Fund dated May 27, 2010 m 
respect ofthe annual and special meeting of securityholders ofthe Fund to be held on June 29, 2010. 

"Fund MD&A" means management's discussion and analysis ofthe financial condition and operations ofthe Fund 
for tiie year ended March 31, 2010. 

"Fund Prospectus" means the short form prospectus of tfie Fund dated April 28, 2010. 

"Gas Contracts" mean customers Gas contracts entered into from time to time by Just Energy with customers for 
the supply of natural gas and/or JustGreen products. 

"Gas Supplier" means a person who is a natural gas producer or natural gas supply aggregator. 
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"GJ" means gigajoules (one billion joules). A joule is a measurement of energy, with one gigajoule being equal to 
0.95 million British thermal units or 26.53 m̂  of natural gas. 

"Hudson Acquisition Agreement" means the equity interest purchase agreement dated April 19,2010 among Just 
Energy (U.S.) Corp. ("JEUSC"), Hudson Energy, the stocWiolders and members of Hudson Energy and Lake 
Capital Partners LP, pursuant to which JEUSC acquired Hudson Energy. 

"Hudson Energy" means collectively, Hudson Energy Corp. and Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC. 

"Hudson Energy Acquisition" means the indirect acquisition by the Fund of Hudson Energy. 

"Independent Broker" means a person who serves in the capacity of an independent broker to solicit Energy 
Contracts using among other things, a web based sales portal to small to mid-size commercial and small mdustrial 
customers primarily associated with Hudson Energy Services 

"Independent Contractor" means a person who serves in the capacity of an independent contractor to solicit 
Energy Contracts (including JustGreen products), to residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial 
customers. 

"Independent Representative" means a person who serves in the capacity of an independent representative under 
the multi-level marketing division to solicit Energy Contracts (mcluding JustGreen products), to residential and 
small to mid-size commercial customers. 

"Intercreditor Agreement" means the intercreditor agreement made as of July 1, 2009 between certain Just 
Energy Affiliates, CIBC, Shell, BP, Constellation, Soci6t6 G^n^rale and Bruce Power. 

"JEC" or the "Company" means Just Energy Corp. (formerly Ontario Energy Savings Corp.), the admmistrator and 
a subsidiary ofthe Fund. 

"JEC First Supplemental Note Indenture" means the first supplemental note indenture between OESC smd the 
Note Trustee dated March 1, 2005. 

"JEC Note Trustee" means Computershare Tmst Company of Canada. 

"JEC Notes" means the unsecured, subordinated notes of JEC issued by JEC pursuant to the Note Indenture. 

"JEC Note Indenture" means tiie note indenture dated April 30, 2001 providing for the issuance of OESC Notes 
between OESC and the Note Tmstee as supplemented and amended by the OESC First Supplemental Note 
Indenture and the OESC Second Supplemental Note Indenture. 

"JEC Second Supplemental Note Indenture" means tfie second supplemental note indenture between JEC and the 
Note Tmstee made as of December 19, 2007. 

"JEC Shareholders' Agreement" means the shareholders' agreement dated April 30, 2001 among the Fund, a 
predecessor of JEC, Exchange and the shareholders and former shareholders of JEC as amended by the Clarification 
and Restatement Agreement and the Consent and Approval Agreement. 

"JEC Trust Indenture" means the tmst indenture dated March 16, 2004 between the Fund, as the initial unitholder 
and JEC as tmstee, as amended from time to time. 

"JEEC" means Just Energy Exchange Corp., a corporation amalgamated under the laws of Canada on July 1,2009. 

"JEEC Convertible Debentures" means the $90 million aggregate principal amount of 6.0% convertible unsecured 
subordinated debentures of JEEC. 
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"JEEC Debenture Indenture" means the tmst indenture dated as of October 2, 2007 between Universal 
(predecessor to JEEC) and Computershare Tmst Company of Canada, as amended and supplemented from time to 
time. 

"JEOLP" means the limited partnership formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario vrith tiie name Just 
Energy Ontario L.P. (formerly Ontario Energy Savings L.P.) pursuant to the JEOLP Lunited Parmership Agreement. 

"JEOLP" Acquisition Agreement" means the acquisition agreement between JEOLP and a predecessor of OESC 
dated August 1, 2005 pursuant to which JEOLP acquired substantially all ofthe assets and certain related liabilities 
of JEC's predecessor. 

"JEOLP Limited Partnership Agreement" means the limited partnership agreement dated June 1, 2005 between a 
predecessor of JECC, as general partner, and ESIF CT, as the limited partner, as amended by amending agreement 
#1 dated August 1,2005. 

"JETLP" means Just Energy Trading LP, (formerly Energy Savings L.P.) the limited partnership established under 
the laws ofthe Province of Ontario pursuant to the JEC Partnership Agreement. 

"JETLP Partnership Agreement" means the limited partnership agreement dated March 17, 2004 between ESIF 
CT as the initial limited partner and JEC as the general partner, as amended. 

"Just Energy" means all or any one or more ofthe Fund and the Affiliates thereof as the context implies or may 
require. 

"Just Energy Alberta" means the limited partnership formed under the laws of the Province of Alberta with the 
name JustEnergy Alberta L.P. 

"Just Energy B.C." means the limited partnership formed under the laws ofthe Province of British Columbia with 
the name Just Energy B.C. Limited Partnership pursumit to a limited partnership agreement dated March 18, 2004, 
as amended. 

"Just Energy Illinois" means Just Energy Illinois Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws ofthe State of 
Delaware on August 29,2003. 

"Just Energy Indiana" means Just Energy Indiana Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws ofthe State of 
Delaware on August 29,2003, 

"Just Energy Manitoba " means the limited partnership formed pursuant to the laws of tiie Province of Manitoba 
with the name Just Energy (Manitoba) LP pursuant to a limited partnership agreement dated October 31,2006 

"Just Energy Marketing" means Just Energy Marketing Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws of tiie 
State of Delaware on December 24, 2003. 

"Just Energy New York" means Just Energy New York Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws ofthe 
State of Delaware on July 22, 2004. 

"Just Energy Quebec " means the limited partnership formed under the laws of the Province of Quebec with the 
name Just Energy (Quebec) L.P. pursuant to a limited partnership agreement dated March 18, 2004. 

"Just Quebec Inc." means La Corporation d'̂ conomie d'̂ nergie du Quebec Inc. a company incorporated under the 
laws ofthe Province of Quebec on March 11, 2004. 

"Just Energy Texas" means Just Energy Texas 1 Corp., a company incorporated under the laws ofthe State of 
Texas on January 27, 2006. 
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"Just Energy Texas L.P." means Just Energy Texas L.P. a limited partnership formed under tfie laws ofthe State of 
Texas on May 30, 2006 as a result ofthe conversion on March 30,2006. 

"Just Energy (U.S.)" means Just Energy (U.S.) Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws of tiie State of 
Delaware on December 4, 2001. 

"kWh" means a kilowatt hour, tfie standard commercial unit of electtic energy, with one kilowatt hour being the 
amount of energy consumed by ten 100 watt light bulbs burning for one hour. 

"Large Volume User" means an electricity consumer who consumes more than 250,000 kWh of electricity per 

year. 

"LDC" means local distribution company, the natural gas or electricity distributor for a geographic franchise area. 

"m "̂ means a cubic meter or 0.03769 GJs. 

"March 2004 Reorganization" means the internal reorganization ofthe Fund described on page 23 hereof 

"Momentis" means, collectively, Momentis Canada Corp., a corporation established m January, 2010, and 
Momentis U.S. Corp., a corporation incorporated established in January, 2010. 

"New Just Energy" means Just Energy Group Inc., which will be the publicly-traded, dividend paying corporation 
the Fund's income tmst sttucture is converted into if the Conversion Transaction is completed. 

"New Just Energy Shares" means common shares of New Just Energy. 

"Newten" means Newten Home Comfort Inc., a company incorporated under the laws of Canada. 

"Newten Home Comfort L.P." means a limited partnership formed under the laws ofthe Province of Ontario. 

"NHS" means National Energy Corporation, a corporation doing business as National Home Services and a 
subsidiary of JEEC. 

"Note Trustee" means Computershare Tmst Company of Canada. 

"OBCA" means the Business Corporations Act (Ontario), as amended from time to time, including the regulations 
promulgated thereunder. 

"OEB" means the Ontario Energy Board, a regulatory body which regulates, inter alia, the distribution and 
marketing of natural gas and electricity in the Province of Ontario. 

"OESC Amalco" means OSEC Amalco Inc. the corporation created by the amalgamation of a predecessor to OESC 
and OESC Newco pursuant to tiie OBCA on April 30,2007 as part of tiie April 30,2007 Reorganization. 

"OESC GP" means OESC GP Corp., a corporation incorporated under the OBCA on Febmaiy 21,2004 and which 
amalgamated with OESC Amalco as part ofthe April 30, 2007 Reorganization to form JEC. 

"OESC Newco" means OESC Newco Inc., a corporation incorporated pursuant to the OBCA on April 25, 2007 as 
part ofthe April 30,2007 Reorganization. 

"person" includes any individual, firm, partnership, jomt venture, venture capital fimd, association, trust, trustee, 
executor, administrator, legal personal representative, estate, group, body corporate, corporate, unincorporated 
association or organization, govemmental entity, syndicate or other entity, whether or not having legal status. 

"Preference Shares" means, collectively, the Class A Preference Shares, the Class B Preference Shares and the 
Class C Preference Shares. 
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"RCE" means a residential customer equivalent which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as 
regards natural gas, 2,815 m̂  (or 106 GJ's) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity, 10,000 kWh 
of electricity on an annual basis, which represents respectively the approximate amount of gas and electricity used 
by a typical household. 

"Sempra" means Sempra Energy Trading Corp. 

"Shareholder Exchange Rights" means the rights granted by Exchange (now Exchangeco II), to the holders of 
Preference Shares pursuant to the JEC Shareholders' Agreement entitling the holders thereof to require Exchange 
(now Exchangeco II), to purchase their Preference Shares and to satisfy the purchase price for such Preference 
Shares by the transfer of Units to them. 

"Shell" means Shell Energy Nortii America (Canada) Inc., Shell Energy North America (U.S.) L.P. and any other 
related affiliate with which Just Energy cond*acts. 

"Special Management Incentive Program" means the bonus which each of the holders of Class A Preference 
Shares is entitled to receive, on a quarterly basis, equal to the amount he would have received had he been a holder 
of record on the record date for all distributions made on Units in respect of such quarter of a number of Units 
equivalent to the number of Class A Preference held by him. 

"Special Resolution" means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than 66^3% ofthe votes cast, either in 
person or by proxy, at a meeting of Unitholders, called for the purpose of approving such resolution, or approved in 
writing by tiie holders of not less than 66̂ /3% ofthe Units entitled to be voted on such resolution. 

"Subsidiary" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the OBCA. 

"Suppliers" means Gas Supplier and Electricity Suppliers. 

"Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended, and the regulations thereunder. 

"TGF " means Terta Grain Fuels Inc., a corporation amalgamated under the CBCA and a subsidiary of JEEC, 

"Trustee" means Montreal Tmst Company, trustee pursuant to the Declaration Trust. 

"TSX" means the Toronto Stock Exchange. 

"UARs " means unit appreciation rights ofthe Fund granted pursuant to the Fund's 2004 Unit Appreciation Rights 
Plan, as amended. 

"Unitholders" means the holders from time to time of Units and includes, while the Units are registered in the 
Book-Entry Only System, the beneficial owners of Units. 

"Units" means the units ofthe Fund, each unit representing an equal undivided beneficial interest therein. 

"Universal" means Universal Energy Group Ltd. 

"Universal Acquisition" means the indirect acquisition by the Fund of all of the outstanding common shares of 
Universal. 

"Universal Acquisition Agreement" means the amended and restated arrangement agreement dated effective as of 
April 22,2009 among the Fund, JEC, UEGL Acquisition Corp. and Universal, pursuant to which the Fund indirectly 
acquired all ofthe outstanding common shares of Universal. 

"WACOG" means, for any period, the weighted average cost of gas for such period, which is generally derived by 
weighting the gas volumes by the gas prices paid under specific gas contracts to produce one average price for a gas 
supply portfolio. 
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Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa and words importing any gender include all genders. 

All dollar amounts herein are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

All share and unit amounts relating to Preference Shares, Common Shares and Units reflect each ofthe 2:1 
subdivisions effective July 29, 2002 and January 30,2004. 
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SCHEDULE "B" - JEC SHAREHOLDERS' AGREEMENT 
(March 31,2010) 

On April 30, 2001 the Fund, a predecessor of JEC, the shareholders of a predecessor of JEC (including former 
shareholders who were issued Units in lieu of Preference Shares), Exchange, Electrico and tiie shareholders of 
Electrico entered into the JEC Shareholders' Agreement which Agreement was amended and restated by the 
Clarification and Restatement Agreement and further amended by the Consent and Approval Agreement. The 
following is a summary of the material provisions of the JEC Shareholders' Agreement as amended and restated 
which does not purport to be complete. Reference is made to the JEC Shareholders' Agreement for a complete text 
of its provisions. 

Directors of OESC 

The JEC Shareholders' Agreement provides that the board of directors of JEC shall consist of a minimum of three 
and a maximum often directors, with the initial number of directors set at eight. The JEC Shareholders' Agreement 
provides that at least a majority ofthe directors shall be persons who are not officers or employees of JEC or my of 
its affiliates (as defined in the OBCA) or persons who beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or who exercise 
control or direction over. Units representing more than 10% ofthe outstanding Units on a fiilly-diluted basis or 
directors or officers of any such person or any of its affiliates. 

Transfer of Common Shares and Preference Shares 

On March 20, 2008, the JEC Shareholders' Agreement was amended to permit the transfer of Preference Shares to 
persons who were not parties thereto contingent on such parties' simultaneous exchange of such Preference Shares 
for Units. 

Other than the above-indicated transfer, until the Fund is liquidated, the Class A Preference Shares may only be sold 
or otherwise disposed of pursuant to the Shareholder Exchange Rights and the related purchase for cancellation of 
such shares by JEC or in the event of: 

(a) a successful takeover bid for all of the Units, in which case the holders of Class A Preference 
Shares are obligated to sell their Preference Shares to: 

(i) the successfiil bidder; or 

(ii) the Fund, if that takeover bid is not also made to the holders ofthe Class A Reference 
Shares or if the price ofthe bid for the Class A Preference Shares is less than the price 
per Class A Preference Share described below, in which case the Fund is obHgated to 
purchase the Class A Preference Shares; 

at a cash price per share equal to the price paid per Unit pursuant to the successful takeover bid 
multiplied by the number of Units which the holders ofthe Class A Preference Shares would be 
entitied to receive if they exercised the Shareholder Exchange Rights relating to the Class A 
Preference Shares on the date of purchase divided by the number of Class A Preference Shares 
outstanding; or 

(b) a takeover bid, amalgamation, plan of arrangement or other business combination involvmg all of 
the shares of JEC. 

If a takeover bid is made for all ofthe Units and not less tiian 90% ofthe Units on a fully-diluted basis (otiier than 
Units held at the date ofthe takeover bid by or on behalf of the offeror or associates or affiliates ofthe offeror) are 
taken up and paid for by the offeror, the Fund shall have the option, exercisable within 60 days ofthe termination of 
the takeover bid, to require the holders ofthe Class A Preference Shares to sell their Class A Preference Shares to 
the Fund at a price per Class A Preference Share determined on the same basis as set forth in paragraph (a) above. 
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Shareholder Exchange Rights 

Pursuant to flie JEC Shareholders' Agreement, the ShE^eholder Exchange Rights granted to holders of Class A 
Preference Shares entitie tiie holders thereof to require Exchangeco II to acquire Class A Preference Shares in 
exchange for Units. The Shareholder Exchange Rights may be exercised with respect to such number of Preference 
Shares up to the number of Preference Shares held by the relevant holder at such time on the last day of any calendar 
quarter upon 10 days written notice to the Fund, JEC and Exchangeco IL 

In the case ofthe Class A Preference Shares, the Shareholder Exchange Rights entitle the holder of such shares to 
receive a number of Units equivalent to the number of Class A Preference Shares in respect of which the 
Shareholder Exchange Rights have been exercised. 

Exchangeco II Exchange Rights 

To enable Exchangeco II to honour its obligations pursuant to the Shareholder Exchange Rights, the Fund has 
granted to Exchangeco II, the Exchangeco II Exchange Rights, providing Exchangeco 11 the right to purchase from 
treasury, that number of Units required by Exchangeco II from time to time to fulfill its obligations under the 
Shareholder Exchange Rights. The purchase price for such Units is the market price ofthe Units to be purchased as 
at tiie date of exercise by tiie Shareholder ofthe Shareholder Exchange Rights which they are bemg issued in respect 
of (determined on the basis set fortii under "Declaration of Tmst Kid Description of Units - Redemption Right") and 
shall be satisfied by the issuance by Exchangeco II to the Fund of Exchangeco II Notes with a principal amount 
equal to such market price. 

JECC is required, subject to applicable law, to purchase from Exchangeco II for cancellation all Preference Shares 
acquired by Exchangeco II from time to time pursuant to the exercise of the Shareholder Exchange Rights for an 
amount equal to (tfie "Preference Share Purchase Price") which as regards: (i) Class A Preference Shares is equal to 
the market price of the Units exchanged by Exchangeco II for such Class A Preference Shares, (ii) Class B 
Preference Shares is equal to the redemption price, i.e., $2.50 per Share, togetfier with all accmed and unpaid 
dividends tiiereon, if any, and (iii) Class C Preference Shares, and OESC will satisfy the purchase price by the issue 
to Exchangeco II of additional JEC Notes in a prmcipal amount equal to the total Preference Share Purchase Price. 
Once all of the Shareholder Exchange Rights have been exercised and all of the Preference Shares have been 
purchased for cancellation, JEC and Exchangeco will amalgamate. 

Pursuant to the terms of tiie JEC Shareholders' Agreement, on tfie earlier of (i) March 31, 2016, (ii) the date ofthe 
termination ofthe employment or consulting arrangement with JEC and a holder of Class A Preference Shares for 
any reason, (iii) the date of death of a holder of Class A Preference Shares, and (iv) the date upon which a holder of 
Class A Preference Shares becomes a non-resident of Canada within the meaning of the Tax Act, all of the 
Shareholder Exchange Rights held by such holders relating to Class A Preference Shares which have not been 
exercised by such date shall be deemed to have been exercised. 

All ofthe Shareholder Exchange Rights relating to Class B Preference Shares were exercised on or before J a n u ^ 1, 
2004. 

Special Management Incentive Program 

Each ofthe holders ofthe Class A Preference Shares is entitled to receive, on a quarterly basis, a management bonus 
equal to the amount that such holder would have received had he been a holder of record on the record date for all 
distributions made on Units in respect of such quarter of a number of Units equivalent to the number of Class A 
Preference Shares held by the individual. 

Other Matters 

The JEC Shareholders' Agreement also provides that no additional Preference Shares may be issued and that the 
Fund will not accept an offer or agree to support any proposal involving its Common Shares or Preference Shares 
unless the same offer or proposal is made to the holders of Preference Shares for tfieir Preference Shares for a 
consideration based on the consideration for the Common Shares which reflects the percentage indirect interest of 
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the holders of the Preference Shares in JEC tiirough the Fund on the basis that they had exercised all of the 
Shareholder Exchange Rights. 

All 5,263,728 outstanding Preference Shares are owned by Rebecca MacDonald, Executive C3iair and a director of 
JEC. 
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SCHEDULE "C" - DECLARATION OF TRUST AND DESCRIPTION OF UNITS 
(March 31,2010) 

Declaration of Trust 

The Fund is an open-ended, limited purpose tmst established under the laws of the Province of Ontario and is 
governed by tfie Declaration of Tmst. The Fund qualifies as a mutual fund trust for the purposes ofthe Tax Act. 
The following is a summary ofthe material attributes and characteristics ofthe Units and certain provisions ofthe 
Declaration of Tmst which does not purport to be complete. Reference is made to the Declaration of Tmst for a 
complete description ofthe Units and the full text of its provisions. 

Activities ofthe Fund 

The Declaration of Trust provides that the Fund is restricted to: 

(a) investing in securities, including those issued by JEC and Exchangeco 11; 

(b) temporarily holding cash in interest-bearing accounts or short-term government debt for the 
purposes of paying the expenses ofthe Fund, paying amounts payable by the Fund in connection 
with the redemption of any Units and making distributions to Unitholders; and 

(c) issuing Units (i) for cash or in order to acquire securities including those issued by JEC and (ii) 
upon the exercise ofthe Exchangeco II Exchange Rights granted by the Fund to Exchangeco II 
pursuant to the JEC Shareholders' Agreement. 

Units 

An unlimited number of Units may be issued pursuant to the Declaration of Tmst, Each Unit fe transferable and 
represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in any distributions from the Fund whether of net income, net 
realized capital gains or other amounts, and in the net assets ofthe Fund in the event of termmation or windmg-up of 
the Fund. All Units are ofthe same class with equal rights and privileges. The Units are not sutgect to future calls 
or assessments, and entitle the holder thereof to one vote for each whole Unit held at all meetings of Unitholders. 
Pursuant to the Declaration of Tmst, the holders of the Preference Shares will be entitled to vote in all votes of 
Unitholders (including resolutions in vmting) as if they are the holders ofthe number of Units which they would 
receive if they exercised their Shareholder Exchange Rights as ofthe record dates for such votes and will be treated 
in all respects as Unitholders for the purposes of any such vote. Except as set out under "Redemption Right" below, 
the Units have no conversion, retraction, redemption or pre-emptive rights. 

Issuance of Units 

The Declaration of Tmst provides that Units or rights to acquire Units may be issued at the times, to the persons, for 
the consideration and on the terms and conditions that the Administrator determines. Units may be issued in 
satisfaction of any non-cash distribution ofthe Fimd to Unitholders on dipro rata basis. The Declaration of Tmst 
also provides that immediately after any pro rata distribution of Units to all Unitholders in satisfaction of any non­
cash distribution, the number of outstanding Units will be consolidated such that each Unitholder will hold after the 
consolidation the same number of Units as the Unitholder held before the non-cash distribution, providing however 
that the Administrator may in its sole discretion as part of a resolution ofthe Administrator approving any/^ro rata 
distribution of additional Units determine there be no such consolidation of Units, 

Trustee 

The Tmstee ofthe Fund is Montreal Tmst Company of Canada, 100 University Avenue, U* Floor, Toronto, 
Ontario, M5J2Y1. 

The Declaration of Tmst provides that, subject to the terms and conditions thereof̂  the Tmstee may, in respect ofthe 
tmst assets, exercise any and all rights, powers and privileges that could be exercised by a legal and beneficial owner 
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thereof and shall supervise the investments and conduct the affeirs ofthe Fund. The Declaration of Tmst prohibits a 
non-resident of Canada (as that term is defined in the Tax Act) from acting as the Trustee. The Trustee is 
responsible for, among other things: (i) actmg for, voting on behalf of mid representing the Fund as a shareholder 
and noteholder of JEC and Exchangeco; (ii) maintaining records and providing reports to Unitholders; (iii) 
supervising the activities of the Fund; (iv) effecting payments of disttibutable cash from the Fund to Unitholders; 
and (v) voting in favour ofthe Fund's nominees to serve as directors of JEC. 

The Trustee may resign upon 60 days' v*Titten notice to the Fund and may be removed by an ordinary resolution of 
the Unitholders and the vacancy created by such removal or resignation must be filled at the same meeting, felling 
which it may be filled by the former Tmstee. 

The Declaration of Trust provides that the Trustee shall act honestly and m good ftiith with a view to the best 
interests of the Fund and in connection therewith shall exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill that a 
reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. The Declaration of Tmst provides that the 
Tmstee shall be entitled to indemnification from tiie Fund in respect ofthe exercise of its powers, and the discharge 
of its duties provided that it acted honestiy and in good faith with a view to the best interests of all the Unitholders. 

Administration ofthe Fund 

The Fund entered into the Administration Agreement with a predecessor of JEC on April 30,2001 pursuant to which 
JEC has agreed to act as Administrator ofthe Fund. The Administrator will provide or arrange for the provision of 
services required in the administration of the Fund. These services may include artanging and payir^ for annual 
audit and regulatory public reporting services and costs, arranging for, and paymg the cost of, legal counsel, 
monitoring and co-ordinating the activities of, and paying the fees of, the transfer agent and registrar for the Units, 
arranging for disttibutions to Unitholders, and providmg reports to Unitholders, All such costs, other than the 
amounts of the distributions to the Unitholders, are the responsibility of the Administrator. Unitholders may 
terminate the Administration Agreement by Special Resolution. The Administration Agreement has been amended 
from time to time. 

Cash Distributions 

The amount of cash to be distributed monthly per Unit shall be equal to a pro rata share of mterest and principal 
repayments on the JEC Notes and Exchangeco II Notes and distributions, if any, on or in respect of tiie Common 
Shares of JEC and the conmion units of ESIF-CT ovraed by the Fund (including distributions received by ESIF-CT 
from the businesses carried on by subsidiaries and Affiliates ofthe Fund ESLP), received by the Fund less: (i) 
administrative expenses and other obligations ofthe Fund; (ii) amounts which may be paid by the Fund, directiy or 
indirectly, in connection witii any cash redemptions of Units; and (iii) any other interest expense incurred by the 
Fund between distributions. Any income ofthe Fund which is applied to any such cash redemptions of Units or is 
otherwise unavailable for cash distribution will be distributed to Unitholders in the form of additional Units. Such 
additional Units will be used pursuant to applicable exemptions under applicable securities laws, discretionary 
exemptions granted by applicable securities regulatory authorities or a prospectus or similar filing. 

The Fund receives proceeds from dividends on the Common Shares and may receive distributions on the common 
units of ESIF-CT owned by tiie Fund. 

Redemption Right 

Units are redeemable at any time on demand by the holders thereof As the Units are issued in book entry form, a 
Tmst Unitholder who wishes to exercise the redemption right will be required to obtain a redemption notice form 
from his or her investment dealer who will be required to deliver the completed redemption notice form to CDS. 
Upon receipt ofthe redemption notice by the Fund, all rights to and under the Units tendered for redemption shall be 
surrendered and the holder thereof shall be entitled to receive a price per Unit (the "Redemption Price") equal to the 
lesser of: (i) 90% of tfie "market price" of the Units on the principal market on which the Units are quoted for 
trading during the 10 trading day period commencing immediately subsequent to the date on which the Units were 
surrendered for redemption (the "Redemption Date"); and (ii) the "closing mcu-ket price" on the principal market on 
which the Units are quoted for trading on the Redemption Date. 
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For the purposes of this calculation, "market price" will be an amount equal to the simple average ofthe closing 
price of flie Units for each ofthe trading days on which there was a closing price; provided that if the applicable 
exchange or market does not provide a closing price, but only provides the highest and lowest prices ofthe Units 
traded on a particular day, the "market price" shall be an amount equal to the simple average of the highest and 
lowest prices for each ofthe trading days on which there was a trade; and provided further that if tiiere was trading 
on the applicable exchange or market for fewer tfian five ofthe 10 trading days, tfie "market price" shall be the 
simple average ofthe following prices established for each ofthe 10 trading days: the average of tiie last bid and last 
asking prices ofthe Units for each day there was no ttading; the closing price ofthe Units for each day that there 
was trading if the exchange or market provides a closing price; and the average ofthe highest and lowest prices of 
the Units for each day that there was trading if the market provides only the highest and lowest prices of Units 
traded on a particular day. The "closing market price" shall be an amount equal to the closing price ofthe Units if 
there was a trade on the date and the exchange or market provides a closing price; an amount equal to the average of 
the highest and lowest prices ofthe Units if there was trading and tiie exchange as other market provides only the 
highest and lowest prices of Units traded on a particular day; the average ofthe last bid and last asking prices ofthe 
Units if there was no trading on that date. 

The aggregate Redemption Price payable by the Fund m respect of any Units surrendered for redemption during any 
calendar month shall be satisfied by way of a cash payment on the last day of the month following the quarter m 
which the Units were tendered for redemption, provided that the entitlement of Unitholders to receive cash upon the 
redemption of their Units is subject to the limitations that: (i) the total amount payable by the Fund in respect of such 
Units and all other Units tendered for redemption in the same calendar month shall not exceed $50,000.00; (ii) at the 
time such Units are tendered for redemption, tiie outstanding Units shall be listed for trading on a stock exchange or 
traded or quoted on another market which tiie Admmistrator considers, in its sole discretion, provides representative 
fair market value prices for the Units; and (iii) the normal trading of Units is not suspended or halted on any stock 
exchange on which the Units are listed (or, if not listed on a stock exchange, on any market on which the Units are 
quoted for trading) on the Redemption Date or for more than five trading days during the 10 day trading period 
commencing inimediately after the Redemption Date, 

If a Unitholder is not entitled to receive cash upon the redemption of Units as a result ofthe foregoing limitations, 
then each Unit tendered for redemption shall, subject to any applicable regulatory approvals, be redeemed by way of 
a distribution in specie ofapro rata number of securities of JEC and Exchangeco II held by the Fund. No fimctional 
Common Shares or JEC Notes or Exchangeco II Notes in integral multiples of less than $10 will be distributed and, 
where the number of securities of JEC to be received by a Unitholder includes a fraction or a multiple less than $10, 
such number shall be rounded to the next lowest whole number or integral of $10. The Fund shall be entitled to all 
interest paid on the JEC Notes and the Exchangeco II Notes and the distributions paid on the Common Shju-es on or 
before the date ofthe distribution in specie. 

It is anticipated that the redemption right described above will not be the primary mechanism for holders of Units to 
dispose of their Units. Securities of JEC and Exchangeco II which may be distributed in specie to Unitholders in 
connection with a redemption will not be listed on any stock exchange and no market is expected to develop in 
securities of JEC or Exchangeco II and they may be subject to resale restrictions under applicable securities laws. 

Securities of JEC or Exchangeco II so disttibuted may not be qualified investments for trusts governed by registered 
retirement savings plans, registered retirement income funds and deferred profit sharing plans and registered 
education savings plans, each as defined in the Tax Act, dependmg upon tfie circumstances at the time. 

Meetings of Unitholders 

The Declaration of Tmst provides that meetings of Unitholders must be called and held for the election or removal 
of nominees ofthe Fund to serve as directors of JEC (except filling casual vacancies), the removal ofthe Trustee, 
the appointment or removal of the auditors of the Fund, the appointment of an inspector to investigate the 
perfonnance by the Trustee or Administrator in respect of their respective responsibilities and duties in respect of 
the Fund, the approval of amendments to the Declaration of Tmst (except as described under "Amendments to the 
Declaration of Tmst" below), the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Fund, tiie exercise of certain 
voting rights attached to securities of JEC and Exchangeco II held by the Fund (see "Exercise of Certam Voting 
Rights Attached to Securities of JEC and Exchangeco H" below) and the dissolution ofthe Fund prior to the end of 
its term. A resolution electing or removing nominees of the Fund to serve as directors of JEC and a resolution 
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appointing or removing the Tmstee or the auditors ofthe Fund must be passed by a shnple majority ofthe votes cast 
by Unitholders. The balance of the foregoing matters must be passed by a Special Resolution. Meetings of 
Unitholders will be called and held annually for tiie election ofthe nommees ofthe Fund to serve as directors of JEC 
and the appointment of auditors ofthe Fund. 

A meeting of Unitholders may be convened at any time and for any purpose by the Administrator or the Trustee and 
must be convened, except in certain circumstances, if requisitioned by the holders of not less thmi 5% ofthe Units 
then outstanding by a written requisition. A requisition must state in reasonable detail the business proposed to be 
transacted at the meeting. 

Unitholders may attend and vote at all meetings ofthe Unitholders either in person or by proxy and a proxy-holder 
need not be a Unitholder. Two persons present in person or represented by proxy and representir^ in tiie aggregate 
at least 25% ofthe votes attached to all outstanding Units shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at 
all such meetings. 

Pursuant to the Declaration of Tmst, the holders ofthe Class A Preference Shares will be entitled to vote in all votes 
of Unitiiolders (including resolutions in writing) as if they are the holders ofthe number of Units which they would 
receive if they exercised their Shareholder Exchange Rights as ofthe record dates for such votes and shall be treated 
in all respects as Unitholders for the purposes of any such vote. 

The Declaration of Tmst contains provisions as to the notice required and other procedures with respect to the 
calling and holding of meetings of Unitholders. 

Limitation on Non-Resident Ownership 

In order for the Fund to maintain its status as a mutual fimd tmst under the Tax Act, tfie Fund must not be 
established or maintained primarily for the benefit of non-residents of Canada within the meaning ofthe Tax Act. 
Accordingly, the Declaration of Tmst provides that at no time may non-residents of Canada be the beneficial owners 
of a majority ofthe Units. The Tmstee or the Administrator may require declarations as to the jurisdictions m which 
beneficial owners of Units are resident. If the Tmstee or tiie Administrator becomes aware as a result of requiring 
such that the beneficial owners of 49% of the Units then outstandmg are, or may be, non-residents or that such a 
situation is imminent, the ttansfer agent and registrar shall make a public armouncement thereof and shall not accept 
a subscription for Units from or issue or register a transfer of Units to a person unless the person provides a 
declaration that he or she is not a non-resident. If, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Tmstee or the Administrator 
determines that a majority of the Units are held by non-residents, the Tmstee may send a notice to non-resident 
holders of Units, chosen in inverse order to the order of acquisition or registration or in such marmer as the Trustee 
or the Administrator may consider equitable and practicable, requiring them to sell their Units or a portion thereof 
within a specified period of not less than 60 days. If the Unitholders receiving such notice have not sold the 
specified number of Units or provided the Trustee or the Administrator with satisfactory evidence that they are not 
non-residents within such period, the Tmstee or the Administrator may, on behalf of such Unitholders, sell such 
Units and, in the interim, shall suspend the voting and distribution rights attached to such Units. Upon such sale, the 
affected holders shall cease to be holders ofthe Units and their rights shall be limited to receiving the net proceeds 
of such sale. 

Amendments to the Declaration of Trust 

The Declaration of Tmst may be amended or altered from time to time by Special Resolution ofthe Unitholders. 

The Trustee may, without the approval ofthe Unitholders, make certain amendments to the Declaration of Tmst, 
including amendments: 

(a) for the purpose of ensuring continuing compliance with applicable laws, regulations, requirements 
or policies of any govemmental authority having jurisdiction over the Tmstee or over the Fund; 

(b) which, in the opinion of counsel to the Fund, provide additional protection for Unitholders; 
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(c) to remove any conflicts or inconsistencies in the Declaration of Tmst or to make minor corrections 
which, in the opinion of the Tmstee, are necessary or desirable and not prejudicial to the 
Unitholders; and, 

(d) which, in tfie opinion ofthe Trustee, are necessary or desirable as a resuh of changes in Canadian 
taxation laws. 

On June 27, 2003, the Unitholders and holders of Preference Shares approved a Special Resolution amending the 
Declaration of Trust to permit the Fund to borrow money and guarantee tfie obligations of any subsidiary to provide 
security therefore. On June 29, 2004, the Unitholders and holders of Preference Shares approved a Special 
Resolution to further amend the Declaration of Tmst to expand the investment powers of tiie Fund as set forth on 
pages 19 to 21 ofthe Fund's Management Proxy Circular for its meeting held on June 29, 2004 under the heading 
"Special Items of Business (a) Proposed Amendment to the Fund's Declaration of Tmst" which is mcorporated 
herein by reference (See SEDAR reference and project # 794407 at SEDAR at wvyw.sedar.com). On December 20, 
2007, the Unitholders and holders of Class A Preference Shares approved a Special Resolution amending Section 
3.6(a) ofthe Declaration of Tmst to provide tfiat the Administrator may, in its sole discretion, determme that Units 
issued as part of a distribution not be immediately consolidated after tiie issue thereto. On May 14, 2009 the 
Declaration of Tmst was amended to change the name ofthe Fund to Just Energy Income Fund effective June 1, 
2009. At its Annual and Special Meeting on June 25, 2009 the Fund obtained approval by way of a special 
resolution to amend the Fund's Declaration of Tmst to create special voting rights for tiie holders of exchangeable 
securities to be issued in connection with the acquisition of Universal. 

Term ofthe Fund 

The Fund has been established for a term enduig 21 years after the date of deatii ofthe last surviving issue of Her 
Majesty, Queen Elizabeth II, alive on Febmary 14, 2001. On a date selected by a Trustee which is not more than 
two years prior to the expiry ofthe term ofthe Fund, the Tmstee is obligated to commence to wind up the affeirs of 
the Fund so that it will terminate on the expiration ofthe term. In addition, at any time prior to the expiry ofthe term 
of the Fund, the Unitholders may by Special Resolution require the Tmstee to commence to wiiid up the affairs of 
the Fund. 

The Declaration of Tmst provides that, upon being required to commence to wind up the affauis ofthe Fund, the 
Tmstee will give notice thereof to the Unitholders, which notice shall designate the time or times at which time 
Unitholders may surrender their Units for cancellation and the date at which the register of Units will be closed. 
After the date the register is closed, the Tmstee shall proceed to wind up the affairs ofthe Fund as soon as m ^ be 
reasonably practicable and for such purpose shall, subject to any direction to the contrary in respect of a termination 
authorized by a resolution ofthe Unitholders, sell and convert into money the Common Shares, the JEC Notes, the 
Exchangeco II Common Shares and the Exchangeco II Notes and all other assets comprising tfie Fund in one 
ttansaction or in a series of transactions at public or private sales and do all other acts appropriate to liquidate the 
Fund. After paying, retiring, discharging or making provision for the payment, retirement or (hscharge of all known 
liabilities and obligations of the Fund and providing for indenmity against any other outstanding liabilities ^ d 
obligations, the Trustee shall distribute the remaining part ofthe proceeds ofthe sale ofthe Common Shares, the 
JEC Notes, the Exchangeco II Common Shares and the Exchangeco IJ Notes and other assets fogeftfier witii any cash 
forming part of the assets of the Fund among the Unitholders in accordance with their pro rata interests. If the 
Tmstee is unable to sell all or any ofthe Common Shares, the JEC Notes, the Exchangeco II Common Shares or the 
Exchangeco II Notes or other assets which comprise part of the Fund by the date set for termiriation, tiie Tmstee 
may distribute the remaining Common Shares, JEC Notes, the Exchangeco II Common Shares and the Exchangeco 
II Notes or other assets in specie directly to the Unitholders in accordance with their pro rata mterests subject to 
obtaining all required regulatory approvals. 

Takeover Bids 

The Declaration of Tmst contains provisions to the effect that if a takeover bid is made for the Units and not less 
than 90% of the Units (other than Units held at the date of the takeover bid by or on behalf of tfie offeror or 
associates or affiliates ofthe offeror) are taken up and paid for by the offeror, the offeror will be entitied to acquire 
the Units held by Unitholders who did not accept the takeover bid on the terms offered by the offeror. 
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Exercise of Certain Voting Rights Attached to Securities of JEC and Exchangeco II 

The Declaration of Tmst provides ttiat tiie Fund shall not vote its Common Shares, JEC Notes, Exchangeco II 
Common Shares or Exchangeco II Notes to authorize, among other things: 

(a) any sale, lease or otiier disposition of all or substantially all ofthe assets of JEC or Exchangeco II, 
except in conjunction with an internal reorganization; 

(b) any amalgamation (other than the Amalgmnation or the amalgamation of JEC and Exchangeco 11 
as may be contemplated by the JEC Shareholders' Agreement), arrangement or other merger of 
OESC with any other company, except in conjunction with an internal reorganization; 

(c) any material amendment to the Note Indenture; 

(d) any material amendment to the Exchangeco II Note Indenture; 

(e) any material amendment to the articles of JEC to change the authorized share capital in a manner 
which may be prejudicial to the Fund or amend the rights, privileges and conditions attached to the 
Common Shares or the Preference Shares; 

(f) any material amendment to the articles of Exchangeco II to change the authorize share capital in a 
manner which may be prejudicial to the Fund or amend the rights, privileges and conditions 
attached to the Exchangeco II Common Shares; or 

(g) the removal ofthe Administtator, 

without the authorization ofthe Unitholders by Special Resolution. 

Information and Reports 

The Fund furnishes to Unitholders such consolidated financial statements of the Fund (including quarterly and 
annual consolidated financial statements) and other reports as are from time to time required by applicable law, 
including prescribed forms needed for ttie completion of Unitiiolders' tax returns under the Tax Act and equivalent 
provincial legislation. 

Prior to each meeting of Unitholders, the Tmstee vrill provide the Unitholders (along with notice of such meeting) 
all such information as is required by applicable law to be provided to such holders. 

JEC has undertaken to provide the Fund with (i) a report of any material change that occurs in the affeirs of JEC in 
form and content that it would file with applicable regulatory authorities as if it were a reporting issuer; and (ii) all 
financial statements that it would be required to file with applicable regulatory authorities as if it were a reporting 
issuer under applicable securities laws. All such reports and statements will be provided to the Fund in a timely 
manner so as to permit the Fund to comply with the continuous disclosure requirements relating to reports of 
material changes in its affairs and the delivery of financial statements as required under applicable securities laws. 

Book-Entry Only System 

Registration of interests in and transfers ofthe Units will be made only through a book-based system administered 
by The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited ("CDS") (tiie "Book-Entry Only System"). On April 30, 2001 
the Tmstee delivered to CDS certificates evidencing the aggregate number of Units subscribed for pursuant to a final 
prospectus for the Fund dated April 20, 2001. Snnilar deliveries were made with respect to exercise of tiie over 
allotment option on May 16, 2001 and upon the exchange ofthe subscription receipts for Units on May 8,2002 and 
were and will continue to be made in connection with the issue by the Fund of Units pursuant to; (a) the exercise of 
Exchangeco II Exchange Rights, (b) the exercise of options granted pursuant to the Fund's Unft Option Plan, (iii) the 
exchange of unit appreciation rights granted pursuant to the Fund's 2004 Unit Appreciation Rights Plan and (iv) the 
exchange of deferred unit grants granted pursuant to the Fund's Du*ector Deferred Compensation Plan. Units must 
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be purchased, transferred and surrendered for redemption through a participant m the CDS depository service (a 
"CDS Participant"). All rights of Unitholders must be exercised tfirough, and all payments or other property to 
which such Unitholder is entitied will be made or delivered by, CDS or the CDS Participant tfirough which the 
Unitholder holds such Units. Upon purchase of any Units, the Unitholders will receive only a customer 
confirmation from the registered dealer which is a CDS Participant and from or through which the Units ^e 
purchased. 

The ability of a beneficial owner of Units to pledge such Units or otherwise take action with respect to such 
Unitholder's interest in such Units (other than through a CDS Participant) may be limited due to tfie lack of a 
physical certificate. 

The Fund has the option to termmate registration ofthe Units through the Book-Entry Only System in which case 
certificates for the Units in fully registered form would be issued to beneficial owners of such Units or their 
nominees. 
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SCHEDULE "D" - FORM 52-1 lOFI 

AUDIT COMMITTEE INFORMATION REQUIRED IN AN AIF 
(March 31,2010) 

The Audit Committee's Charter. The text of JEC's Audit Committee's charter as amended on May 20, 2010 is 
attached hereto as Schedule "E". 

Composition ofthe Audit Committee and Relevant Education and Experience. At March 31, 2010, JEC's 
Audit Committee consisted of Michael J.L. Kirby (Chair), Hugh D. Segal, Brian R.D. Smith and B. Bmce Gibson. 
All members of the audit committee are independent and financially literate (as those terms are defmed in 
Multilateral Instmment 52-110 - Audit Committees). Mr. Kirby, Chair ofthe Committee, has a PhD in applied 
mathematics and has been Chair ofthe Audit Committee for over eight years. He has been a member ofthe faculty 
of several business schools, including the University of Chicago. For several years m the 1990's he was Chair ofthe 
Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce, the Senate Committee which is responsible for all 
legislation and regulations affecting business. Until recently, Mr. Ku-by was Vice-Chair of the Accounting 
Standards Oversight Board. Currently, he serves as a director of five TSX Hsted companies and is chair ofthe Audit 
Committee of two of them: The Bank of Nova Scotia and Indigo Books & Music Inc. Mr, Smith became a dhector 
of JEC on August 21, 2001 and a member of tiie Audit Committee on August 13tfi, 2003, Mr. Smitii has had 
significant business experience including serving as Chan of BC Hydro from Febmary 1996 to June 2001 and Chair 
of Canadian National Railways from 1989 to 1994 where, in both positions he was inextricably involved in strategic 
financial planning and reporting. In his role as Minister of Education, Minister of Energy and Mines EUid Attorney 
General in the government ofthe Province of British Columbia between 1979 to 1994, Mr. Smith developed an 
acute understanding of public and private finance matters. Mr. Smith serves on the board of two Canadian publicly 
listed companies and has previously served as a member of the audit committee of a Canadian publicly listed 
company. Mr. Segal was President ofthe Institute for Research on Public Policy until May 31,2006 and has been a 
member ofthe JEC Audit Committee since 2003. Mr, Segal serves as a director of two TSX listed companies, SNC 
Lavalin Inc. and Sun Life Financial Inc. He has served as a member ofthe audit committee of two publicfy listed 
companies. He is a senior fellow at tiie Queen's School of Policy Studies and an Adjunct Professor at the C^een's 
School of Business. Mr. Segal developed the ability to assess tfie general application of accounting principles in 
connection with the accounting for estimates, accmals and reserves as President, between 1982 and 1991 of a 
company with $100 miUion in sales. Beyond his undergraduate degree and business experience, Mr, Segal studied 
trade economics at the graduate level and between 1982 and 1991, advised clients on takeovers and merger activity. 
Between 1996 and 1998 he also served on the staff of a major Bay Street investment firm. Mr. Gibson has been a 
Principal of Ryan Inc. for over three years, became a director of JEC on January 1, 2010 and was appointed a 
member of JEC's Audit Committee on February II, 2010. As Chief of Staff to the Lieutenant Governor, State of 
Texas, Mr. Gibson had oversight responsibility for the budget ofthe State of Texas for four years. As a Principal of 
Ryan, Inc., Senior Vice President of Reliant Energy for five years and in many other business roles he has had 
considerable financial experience in reviewing and responsibility for financial statements of several large private 
enterprises. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures. Recommendations are made from time to time from management to the 
Audit Committee for the engagement of all non-audit services. The Audit Committee considers such 
recommendations for pre-approval at its quarterly meetings or sooner, if necessary providing that where necessary, 
this function may be delegated to the Chair ofthe Audit Committee for approval on the basis that the Chafr reports 
all such approvals to the Audit Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting. 

External Auditor Service Fees (By Category). For fiscal 2010, fees charged by KPMG LLP for the audit and 
related services to tiie Fund and its affiliates were $1,234,400 (2009 - $565,066). Fees for autUt related services 
amounted to $140,095 (2009 - $445,644) and otiier fees were $14,700 (2009 - $27,272). Total fees for fiscal 2010 
were $1,389,195 (2009 - $1,037,982). No otiier services were provided to JEC and its subsidiaries by KPMG LLP. 
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SCHEDULE "E" - AUDIT COMMITTEE MANDATE 

JUST ENERGV CORP. (THE "COMPANY")* 
'̂ (as attorney and administrator for Just Energy Income Fund (the "Fund")) 

1. Composition 

Applicable Canadian corporate and provincial securities legislation, regulation and policies and the Toronto Stock 
Exchange by-laws mles, regulation and policies ("Applicable Legislation") require that an audit committee (the 
"Committee") be comprised of a minimum of three du"ectors, all of whom will be independent as defined by 
Applicable Legislation and each of whom shall not have any material relationship with the Fund or any affiliate 
thereof, i.e., a relationship that could, in the view of tiie Company's board of directors (the "Board") reasonably 
interfere with the exercise of a member's independent judgment. 

The Board of Directors ofthe Company (the "Board") will appoint the members ofthe Committee annually atthe 
first meeting ofthe Board after the annual meeting of unitholders ofthe Fund and shall ensure that the members of 
the Committee meet the qualifications and other requirements outiined in (a) above. 

Committee members will be appointed for a one year term and may be reappointed subject to the discretion ofthe 
Board having regard: (i) to Applicable Legislation and, (ii) the desire for continuity and for periodic rotation of 
Committee members. 

One ofthe members ofthe Committee who is otherwise qualified under Applicable Legislation shall be appointed 
Committee Chair by the Board. The Committee shall ^point a Secretary. Any Committee member, w^o for any 
reason, is no longer independent, ceases to be a member ofthe Committee. 

2. Authority 

The Board may authorize the Committee to investigate any activity ofthe Fund or the Company and any affiliate 
thereof for which the Committee has responsibility or with respect to those responsibilities imposed on audit 
committees herein and by Applicable Legislation. All employees are to co-operate as requested by the Committee. 

The Committee may, without the approval of management, retain persons having special expertise to assist the 
Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities, including outside counsel or financial experts and provide for their 
remuneration. 

The external auditor and internal audit shall report to the Committee. 

3. Meetings 

The Committee is to meet at least four times per year preferably immediately following the meeting of tiie Risk 
Committee. The meetings will be scheduled to permit the review ofthe scope ofthe audit as presented by the Fimd's 
auditor before commencement ofthe audit and the timely review ofthe quarterly and armual financial statements 
and such other annual filings required to be made by the Fund and any affiliate thereof containing financial 
information about the Fund and any affiliate thereof including the AIF, MD&A (quarterly and annual), quarterly 
press releases, reports to Unitholders the management proxy circular and such other disclosure documents applicable 
to the Fund and any affiliate thereof which contain financial data based upon, derived from or to form part ofthe 
financial statements ofthe Fund and contemplated by Applicable Legislation. 

Meetings ofthe Committee shall be validly constituted if a majority of members ofthe Committee are present in 
person or by telephone conference. Additional meetings may be held as deemed necessary by the Committee Chair 
or as requested by any member or the external auditors or any dhector of the Company not a member of the 
Committee. 
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Any member ofthe external auditors ofthe Fund is entitled to receive notice of every meeting ofthe Committee and 
at the Company's expense, to attend and be heard thereat and, if requested by a member ofthe Committee, to attend 
any meeting ofthe Committee. 

The Committee should require the attendance ofthe Fund's auditors at least once each year, and at such other times 
as flie Committee deems appropriate in the context of Applicable Legislation and its responsibilities as outlined 
below. The Fund's external auditor shall be requested to review ^ d comment on all disclosure documents issued by 
the Fund or the Company containing financial statements or mformation derived therefrom. 

The Committee shall meet privately with the external auditor at least quarterly excludmg members of management 
other tiian the Secretary to tiie Committee. The Committee shall meet privately with the internal audit staff at least 
twice yearly excluding other members of management other than the Secretary to the Committee. 

4. Reporting 

The minutes of all meetings ofthe Committee are to be provided to the Board and to the Fund's auditor. Oral reports 
by the Chair on recent matters not yet minuted will be provided to the Board at its next meeting. Minutes of all 
Committee meetings will be subsequently reviewed and approved by the Committee. 

Supporting schedules and information reviewed by the Conunittee will be available for examination by any director 
or the Fund's auditor upon request to the Secretary ofthe Committee. 

Responsibilities 

1. The general responsibility ofthe Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities 
with respect to: (i) the integrity of annual and quarterly financial statements to be provided to unitholders 
and regulatory bodies; (ii) compliance with accounting and finance based legal and regulatory 
requirements; (iii) the independent auditor's qualifications and independence; (iv) the system of mtemal 
accounting and financial reporting conttols that management has established; (v) performance of the 
internal and external audit process and of the independent auditor; (vi) to the extent not addressed by the 
Risk Committee, the implementation and effectiveness of the policies of the Fund relating to Risk 
Management Policy and Procedures, the Policy on Disttibutions and such other policies of the Fund 
approved from time to time by the Board or the Committee; and (vii) as may be required or applicable, 
similar responsibilities with respect to Just Energy Exchange Corp. 

(a) The specific responsibilities ofthe Committee shall be as follows: 

(i) to review the Fund's quarterly and aimual financial statements and any other financial 
statements ofthe Fund and its affiliates required to be prepared by Applicable Legislation 
or otherwise for dissemination to the public, so as to be satisfied they are fairfy presented 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in accordance witii 
Applicable Legislation and to recommend to the Bowd whetfier the quarterly and the 
annual financial statements and any such other financial statements should be approved 
by the Board; 

(ii) prior to the dissemination to the public, to review the financial information and financial 
data contained in the Fund's quarterly financial statements. Annual Report to Unitholders 
and other financial publications ofthe Fund or any affiliate tiiereof (including the Fund's 
interim and year end management discussions and analysis of fmancial condition and 
results of operation, annual information form, proxy information circular, quarterly press 
releases and material and timely disclosure reports containing any financial data) and the 
financial information contained in a prospectus of the Fund or any affiliate thereof or 
other document filed with any regulatory authority so as to be satisfied that the financial 
information and financial data is not significantly erroneous, misleading or incomplete 
and contains full, tme and plain disclosure of all material facts or as otherwise required 
by Applicable Legislation and to make recommendations to the Board with respect to all 
such disclosure documents; 
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(iii) to be satisfied that management ofthe Fund and any affiliate thereof have implemented 
appropriate systems of capture of financial information and internal control over financial 
reporting and that these are operating effectively; 

(iv) to be satisfied that management of the Fund and the Company have implemented 
appropriate systems of internal control to ensure compliance with Applicable Legislation 
and ethical requirements and particularly to be satisfied that internal controls over 
financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures are in place and that internal 
conttols have been designed and implemented to provide reasonable assurance that the 
Fund's financial statements and other documents requu-ed to be mailed to unitholders or 
filed with regulatory authorities are fairiy presented so as to enable the Chief Financial 
Officer and the Chief Executive Officer (and any other officer or director ofthe Company 
as may be required by Applicable Legislation) to personally certify the Fund's financial 
statements as required by Applicable Legislation; 

(v) to the extent not addressed by the Risk Committee, to be satisfied that management ofthe 
Fund, the Company and each affiliate thereof have implemented effective systems to 
identify significant financial and other risks of the business and changes to these risks. 
The Committee will review reports from management related to these risks and to make 
recommendations to the Board with respect to a Risk Management Policy; 

(vi) to recommend to Board the appointment of external auditors nominated at each annual 
meeting of unitholders and provide oversight with respect to the external audit 
engagement. The Committee will also recommend to the Board the re-appomtment or 
appointment of the external auditors and the compensation payable to them. The 
Committee will pre-^prove all non audit services to be provided to the Fund and its 
affiliates by the Fund's external auditors providing that where necessary, this function 
may be delegated to the Chan* ofthe Committee for approval on the basis that the Chan-
reports all such approvals to the Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting; 

(vii) to be satisfied that my significant or material matter brought to the attention of the 
Committee by the Fund's external auditors and internal audit or matters where tiiere is 
significant disagreement between the Fund's external auditors and/or mtemal audit and 
Company officers (including the resolution or proposed resolution thereof) are 
communicated to the Board; 

(viii) to be satisfied that all significant matters raised in any report to management by the 
external auditors and internal audit are being addressed and deah with by management in 
a satisfactory manner and, to the extent they are not, to make a report to the Board; 

(ix) to be satisfied that the declaration and payment of dividends and/or distributions by any 
affiliate of the Fund to the Fund or to any affiliate thereof and the declaration and 
payment of distributions by the Fund to its unitholders, meet applicable legal 
requirements and Applicable Legislation and to make recommendations to the Board 
with respect thereto; 

(x) as and when required by Applicable Legislation or as otherwise required mcluding the 
laws and regulations in all jurisdictions in which it operates to establish mdependent 
procedures (A) for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the 
Fund or any affiliate thereof regardmg accounting, internal accounting controls or 
auditing matters, and (B) for the confidential communication of anon3mious submissions 
to the Fund or any affiliate thereof mid a member ofthe Committee of concerns regarduig 
questionable accounting or auditing matters from employees including the submission of 
those complaints and concerns by logging into www.justenergy,ethicspomt,com, 
selecting the Just Energy Group or JEG as the company and followmg the prompts which 
are available. This service is interactive and anonymous; 

http://www.justenergy,ethicspomt,com
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(xi) as and when required by Applicable Legislation, to be satisfied that disclosure conttols 
and procedures are in place to ensure that material information required to be disclosed 
by Applicable Legislation is recorded, processed and summarized and reported within the 
time periods specified in Applicable Legislation; 

(xii) to ensure that the external auditors report annually on matters of independence; 

(xiii) to ensure that the external and internal auditors prepare an external audit plan which, with 
any changes thereto, is reviewed by and acceptable to the Committee; 

(xiv) to review and approve the hiring policies ofthe Fund and any affiliate thereof regarding 
parttiers, employees (past or current) of the present and former external auditors of the 
Fund; 

(xv) to review semi-annually all expenses relating to consulting and professional services 
including legal and audit; 

(xvi) to review semi annually executive business expenses; 

(xvii) to review, analyse and implement all necessary procedures, controls and other similar 
requirements relating to financial matters arising from proposals to amend or inttoduce 
Applicable Legislation and the implementation or promulgation thereof; 

(xviii) once or more annually, as tfie Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee (CGN 
Committee) decides, to receive for consideration that Committee's evaluation of this 
Mandate and any recommended changes. Review and assess the CGN Committee's 
recommended changes and make recommendations to the Board for consideration. 

(xix) to carry out any other appropriate duties and responsibilities assigned to the Committee 
by the Board. 

(xx) to honour the spirit and intent of Applicable Legislation as it evolves, autfiority to make 
minor technical amendments to this Mandate is delegated to the Corporate Secretary, 
who will report any amendments to the CGN Committee at its next meetmg. 

(b) The Chair of the CGN Committee, in consultation with die Chair of the Committee, will 
periodically review the effectiveness ofthe Committee and the performance of each Committee 
member and report to the Board on their conclusions. 

(Approved as amended by the Board of Directors on May 20,2010) 
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Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce New York Agency 2to6CBiL-o309 

Place and date df Issue 'Haiiat rfatt ^imisaioa 

IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT NO* CMUS 09-0009 

Beneficiary; Applicant; 

Columbia Gas of Ohio» loc Commerce Energy, Enc 
200 Civic Center Drive 6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200 
Columbus, OH 43215 Mississauga, ON 

LST2E6 

Issuance Date: July 22» 2009 ExpiratioB Date: July 31^ 2010 

We, Canadian Imperial Bank of Coixunerce^ hereby establish our Irrevocable Stamlby Letter of Credit No. 
CMUS 09-0009 in favor of Columbia Gas of Ohio, Inc. (herein "Beneficiary.") for the account of 
Commerce Energy, Inc for an amount not exceeding US$ 500,000 (Five Hundred Thousand and 0/100) 
expiring at close of business on July 31,2010? "^^j-*-

This Letter of Credit is available to Beneficiary by payment at sight upon presentation ofthe fotlowitig 
documents by Beneficiary; 

1. The original of Letter of Credit and any amendments thereto, If any. 

2. A dated statement purported to be signed by an authorized representative of the Beneficiary slating 
either: 

A. Wc, Columbia Gas of Ohio, Inc certily thai USD , the amount drawn under this 
Letter of Credit represents an amount due and owing to the Deneficiaiy and unpaid by 
Applicant pursuant to one or more Agreements between Beneficiary and Applicant. 

Or 

6, This Letter of Credit has not been renewed, replaced, or extend within thirty days of Che date 
of expiration hereof and Applicant is required under the terms of one or more agreement(s) to 
have a Letter of Credit in place in an amount not less than the amoum being ditawn 

I * . •• 

3. If Che draw is being made pursuant to 2^A abQ\|g^hen a copy ofthe unpaid invoice(s). 

Partial and /or multiple drawings are permitted. ^ -

We agree to honor and pay any drawing if presented in the manner and at the address set forth below in 
compliance with all ofthe terms of this Letter of Credit. If a drawing is presented prior to 11:00 A.M.. 
Eastern Standard Time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in inunedialely available funds to the 
account number or address designated by the Beneficiary on the same Business Day. If a drawing is 
presented at or af^er 11:00 A.M., Eastern Standard Time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in 
immediately available funds to the account number or address designated by the Beneficiary on the next 
Business Day. The term "Business Day" means any day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday, or a Day on 
which Banking institutions in the state of Indiana are required or authorized by law or executive order to 
remain closed and the Issuing Bank is in fact closed. 

The a s c logo Is a registered tradvmarlc of Banque CIBC t e togo 08C est une m»rque de coflvnerra de la Benque C/8C 



Specification of negotiations made under the instrument 
Detail des n^gociations effectu^es en vertu de cet instrument 

Dale of negotiation 
Dare de n^QO'ation 

Name of negotiating B«ik 
Nom de l» banQuc n^goc^m'cc 

Anf\ount in words 
Montant en tettns 

Amount in figures 
Montant en Khiffres 



Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce New York Agency 3 tC^C 611-0309 

Place and date of issue Lieu et date d'^miision 

DraiU may be presented at our counler in person, or via U.S. certified mail or nationally rccognJKed 
ovemighi courier, or facsimile transmission which must be followed by overnight courier (ihe claim would 
be elTecrive only upon receipt of documents at our counter), at the following address: 

Issuing Bank: Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 
Address: 425 Lexington Avenue, 4* Floor, New York, NY, 10017 
Facsimile No. 905-948-1934 

All costs relnied to drawings under this Lctier of Credit shall be charged to the account ofthe applicant. 

It is a condition ofihis Letter of Credit that it shall be deemed automatically extended without written 
atnendment for one year periods from the present or any future expiry date unless at least Sixty (60) days 
prior to such Kxpiraiion Date, we send the beneficiary notice at the above staled address by ovemiglu cGinrier 
that we elect not to extend this Letter of Credit beyond the initial or any extended expiry date tiiereof. 

We hereby engage with you lhat all documents presented in compliance with the terms of this credit will be 
duly honored ifdrawn and presented for payment'flnjpi^before the Expiry Date of this crcdiC, Bxcc[^ as 
otherwise expressly stated herein, this credit is subject to the International Standby Practices 1998 (ISP 98), 

This Leiler of Credit shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with the laws ofthe stale of Indiana. 
without regard to principles of conflict laws. 

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 

^ 
Authorized Signatory Authorized Signal 

Allen Lozanovski 
Asst. General Manager 

y 

The CtBC iogo is a regisxafesl tfatJemartt of Banque OBC. i t logo OBCest une mar^e tfe <&mmm& d& Is Bsn^m CISC 



Specification of negotiations made under the instrument 
Detail des n^oclations effectuees en vertu de cet instrument 

Date of negotiation 
Date de nigociation 

Name of negotiating Bank 
Nom de /a banque nigodatrke 

• . f - - , r - " f . ; . -J i j i i . 

Amount In word» 
Montant en /etrrcs 

Amount in figure! 
Montant en ehifftcs 



EXHIBIT C-5 
FORECASTED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION 
COMMERCE ENERGY, INC D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

This exhibit contains proprietary and confidential information and is being submitted under seal. 



EXfflBIT C-6 
CREDIT RATING 

EXfflBIT C-7 
CREDIT REPORT 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

The 2010 Dunn and Bradstreet Business Infonnation report for the applicant's parent 
company, Just Energy Income Fund, is attached which contains credit ratings. 



DNBi^ 
Risk Management 

ATTN :Rauf Sheikh 

Report Printed:February 16, 2010 

Live Report: Just Energy Income Fund 
D-U-N-S® Number: 25-193-0624 

Trade Names: No trade names for this company. 

Endorsement/Bil l ing Reference: rsheikh@energ^avings.com 

:D&B Address 
Address 100 King St Suite 3630 

Toronto,ON-M9N1L3 
Phone 416-367-5930 

Fax 416-367-4749 

Location Type Headquerters 
Web 

Company Surnmary 

Score Bar D&B Company Overview 

PAYDEX® 

Commercial Credit Score Class 

Finandal Stress Class 

D&B Rating 

Financial Stress Score Class 

UN 

. 3 . _ 

1 

Financial Stress Score Class: 1 
(Lowest Risk:1; Highest Risk:5) 

Low risk of severe financial stress over the next 12 
months. 

This is a Headquarters Location 

Rebecfca MacDonald Chalrmari of thejBoard 

Year.Started, 2001 

Employees^ 60p„(5,Here) „̂  _,.„ 

SIC 6211 

Line of Engaged as managers or agents for 

business mutualfunds 

Record _ Cjear 

p&B__Ratlng_- „.__, 

Former D&B 5A3 
.f?!itl'*a™„™-„.™_,- .̂,™™.̂ ,,™v.™ .̂~™.v.„..v. „,...™„,.™.,.._^ 
ActM?l M « . $1..89.?,2.13,pppiCADl^ 

Actual Net -$809,647,000 (CAD) 
V y o r t h _ _ . . _ _ „ „ . ^ _ , ^ 

Commercia l Credit Score Class 

Commercial Credit Score Class: 3 

{Lowest Rlsk;1; Highest Risk:5} 
Medium risk of severe payment delinquency over next 
12 months. 

Corporate Linkage 

S u b s i d i a r i e s ( D o m e s t i c ) 

Company 
Just Energy Corp 
Just Energy Exchange Corp 

C i t y , Province 
Mississauga, ONTARIO 
Mis^ssauga, ONTARIO 

D-U-N-S® 
24-885-7518 
24-382-6224 



B r a n d i e s ( D o m e s t i c ) 

Company C i t y , Province D-U-N-S® NUMBER 
Just Energy Income Fund Mississauga, ONTARIO 24-340-3743 

Predictive Scores 

C r e d i t C a p a c i t y S u m m a r y 

This credit rating was assigned because of D&B's assessment of the company's creditworthiness. For more Information, see the 
" D&B Rating Key.". 

Current Rating-
Former Rating 5A3 

Sal̂ s: 
Tot3l Employees 

Net Worth 

Paym(»iiAc^\Riy: 
Average High Credit: 
Urgest High Credit: 

$1,899,213,000 
600( 5 here) 

-$809,647,000 

Basdd on 2 experi<mcti». 
N/A 
$2,500 

Note: The Worth amount in this section may have been adjusted by DSfi to reflect typical deductions, such as certain intangible assets. 

F i n a n c i a l S t r e s s C lass S u m m a r y 

Financial Stress Score Class 

Financial Stress Score Class : 1 

(Lowest Risk:l; Highest Risk:5) 
Financial Stress National Percentile : 52 (Highest Risk: 1 ; Lowest Risk: 100) 
Industry Median Percentile: 43 (Highest Risk: 1; Lowest Risk: 100) 
Financial Stress Score: 1380 (Highest Risk: 1001; Lowest Risk: 1850) 

The Financial Stress Class of this business is based on the follownng factors: 
Yrs. under Current Mgmt. suggests lower risk of financial stress 
Clear D&B Record present for this finn 
Indication of lower risk industry classification. 
No Record of facilities ownership in D&B's file. 
Negative Net worth 
Company Age or Date suggest potential higher risk of tin. stress 
Totdl Assets to Sales ratio suggests higher risk of fin. stress 
Solvency (Cun'ent) ratio suggests higher risk of fin. stress 
Solvency (Quick) ratio suggests higher risk of fin. stress 
No record of open suits/liens/judgements in D&B files in 3 years 

Cred i t S c o r e C lass S u m m a r y 

Credit Score Class 

Cred i t Sco re Class ; 3 & 

(Lowest Ri5k:l; Highest Wsk:5) 

Credit Score National Percentile: 68 (Highest Risk: 1 ; Lowest Risk: 100) 
Industry Median Percentile: 41 (Highest Risk: 1; Lowest Risk: 100) 
Credit Score: 511 ( Highest Risk: 101; Lowest Risk: 660) 
Negative Pay Experience Percent: 100 % 
Bad Rate: 5 

The Credit Score Class of this business Is based on the following factors: 
• Company Type suggests potential higher risk. 
• Company Age or Date suggest potential higher risk of fin. stress 
• Payment experiences suggests potential higher risk. 



• Some trade experiences are slow or negative. 

Trade Payments _ 

D&B PAYDEX<Sl 

Current Paydex is NA 
Industry Median is 79 
Payment Trend currently Is NA 
Indications of slowness can be the result of dispute over merchandise, skipped invoices etc. Accounts are sometimes placed for collection even though 
the existence or amount ofthe debt is disputed. 
Total payment Experiences in D&Bs Flie (HQ) 2 
Payments Within Terms (not dollar weighted) N/A 
Total Placed For Coilection 0 
Average High Credit N/A 
Largest High Credit $2,500 
Highest Now Owing $0 

PAYDEX® Yearly Trend - 24 Month PAYDEX® 

>Top Quartile 80 
>lndustry Median 79 
>Bottom Quartile 68 

P a y m e n t Hab i t s 

12 months ending Feb 2010 
3 months ending Feb 2010 

Credit Extended 
Over 100,000 

50,000 - 99,999 
15,000-49,999 
5,000-14.999 

1,000-4,999 
Under 1000 

Trade at Net tenra 
Trade at Discount 
Cash Experiences 

Placed for Collection 
Unfavorable Comments 

# Payment 
Experiences 

2 
2 

0 
0 
0 
0 
2 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

$ Total Amount 

$5,000 
$5,000 

$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

$5,000 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 
$0 

% Prompt 

100% 
100% 

0 % 
0 % 
0 % 
0 % 

100% 
0 % 
0 % 
0 % 

<31 

0 
0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

Days Slow 
91-60 61-^0 

{%) 
0 
0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

90> 

0 
0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

Based on payments collected over last 12 months. 

For all Payment experiences reflect how bills are met in relation to the terms granted. In some instances, payment beyond terms can be the result of 
disputes over merchandise, skipped invoices etc. 

Industry Payments 

The highest Now Owes on file is $0 . 
The Highest Past Due on file is $0 . 
Below is an overview of the company's dollar-vireighted payments, segmented by its suppliers' primary industries: 

Total ' ^°^^ ' ^ ' ^ ^Wi th in ^ ^ ® ' ° * 
R^H Dollar High l ^ ^ Z <3^ ^1-60 61-90 90> 
f*® *̂* A»t. n ^ u Terms 

(#) *;J5^ ^^" i%) (%) 
Top Industries 
WHL COMMERCL EQUIP 2 $5,000 $2,500 100 0 0 0 
Other payment categories 
Cash Experiences 0 $0$0 
Payment Records Unknown 0 $0$0 
Unfavorable Comments 0 $0$0 
Placed For Collection 0 N/A 

Accounts are sometimes placed for collection even though the existence or amount of the debt is disputed. 

Indications of slowness can be result of dispute over merchandise, skijî sed invoices etc 

Detai led payment h is tory fo r th is company 



0 
0 

Selling 
Terms 

Last 
Sale 
Within 
(month) 
12 
12 

Date 
D«n»^»^D...i» D M ^^9^ Credit Now Owes Past Due 
ReportedPaying Record ' .^. ... ... 
(mm/yy) * " **' ' * ' 
03/08 Ppt 2,500 0 
02/08 Ppt 2,500 0 

Payments Detail Key : • 30 or more days beyond terms 

Payment experiences reflect how bills are met in relation to the terms granted. In some instances payment beyond terms can be the result of disputes 
over merchandise, skipped invoices etc. 

{History and Operations 

Company Overview 

Company Name Just Energy Income Fund 

Address 100 King St Suite 3630 Toronto, ON - M9N 1L3 

Phone 416-367-5930 

Fax 416-367-4749 

History 

Principals and Management 

MacDonald, Rebecca Chdimian ofthe Board, Director. Active since 2001. In cunent position ^nce 2001.1990 to date Ontario Energy Savings 
Corporation, President 

Bnjssa, John A Director. Not active in daily affairs. In cunent position since 2001. Cunently Burnet Duckworth & Palmer LLP, Partner. 

Segal. Hugh D. Director. Not active in daily affairs. In cunent position since 2001. Cunently Institute for Research on Public Policy, President 

Smith. Brian R.D. Director. Not active in daily affaii^. In current position since 2001. 1996-2001 BC Hydro, Chairman ofthe Board. Cunently Federal 
Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy Consultant. 

Kirby, Michael Director. Not active in daily affairs. In cunent position since 2001. CurrenBy Member of the Senate of Canada. 

Giffin, Gordon D. Director In current position since 2006. Currently McKenna, Long & Aidridge LLP, Senror Partner. 

Hartwick, Ken President, Chief Executive Officer, CA. Active sin« 2004. In currKit position since 2006. 2001-2004 Hydro One, Chief Financial 
Officer. 

BACKGROUND / OWNERSHIP 

Public Corporation. Registration Details Unavailable. 

Business Commenced On Feb-14-2001 

Present Control Succeeded 2001 

Operations 

Total Employees 600 
Total Employees 600 
(last year) 

Employees Here 6 

SIC 
6211 0007 Engaged as managers or agents for mutual funds 100 % 

Principal Clients Oommerical Entities. General Public 

Principal Territory North America, Export 



Principal Selling 
Terms 

Special agreement 100% 

Facilities 

Location 

Rents Brick building 

Cenb^l Bu^ness 

Bank Reference 

CIBC 6266 Dixie Rd , Mississauga , ON 
TEL 905-670-1946 

Financial Statements 

D & B F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s 

Current Assets 
Current Liabilities 
Total Assets 
Long Term Debt 
Total Liabilities 
Tangible Worth 
Saies 
Net Income 

w are denominated in Canadian Dollars unless othenwlse stated 
Fiscal Consolidated 2007-03-

33.000's 
$247,328 
$197,560 
$357,227 

$19,509 

$45,582 
$1,532,317 

$93,912 

Fiscal Consolidated 2008-03- Fiscal Consolidsted 2009-03-
31000 's 31000 '5 

$489,825 $388,473 
$263,902 $747,447 
$709,115 $535,755 
$246,246 $480,894 

$82,819 ($809,647) 
$1,738,690 $1,899,213 

$152,761 ($1,107,473) 

Fiscal Financial Statement Mar 31 2009 OOO's Consolidated 

Assets 
Cash 
Accounts Receivable 
Inventory 
Prepaid Expenses 
Other Cunrent Assets 
Total Current Assets 
Fixed Assets 
Goodwill 
Other Assets 
Total Assets 

$66,703 
$249,480 

$6,947 
$2,020 
$5,544 

$388,473 
$19,971 

$117,061 
$10,250 

$535,755 

Fiscal Profit And Loss Mar 31 2009 OOO's Consolidated 
Sales/Revenue 
Net Income after Taxes(Loss) 
At start amount 
Changes in Capital Stock 
Withdrawls 
Extraordinary Items 
Intangible Adjustements 
At end amount 

UabUraes 
Accounts Payable & 
Accoials 
Accruals 
Taxes 
Employees Deduction 
Owing Clients 
Other Current Liabilities 
Total Current Liabilities 
Long Temi Debt 
Minority interest 
Other Non-Cunent 
Liabilities 
Capital Stock 
Accumulated Deficit 
Surplus 
Total Liabilities + Equity 

$165,431 

$41,379 
$1,906 
$1,093 
$7,309 

$519,352 
$747,447 

$76,500 
$292 

$404,102 

$398,454 
($1.105711) 

$14,671 
$535,755 

$1,899,213 
($1,107,473) 

$82,819 
$40,351 

$153,837 
319,067 

($915) 
($809,647) 

Net Worth in Summary Section was computed after dedudaon of Intangibles 
Date Received: Jul 3 2009, Source: publicsources 
Accountant: KPMG LLP, Toronto ON Status: audited 

Jul 03 2009 Attempts to contact principals(s) were unsuccessful 

Key Business Ratios 

Based on this Number of Establishments 42 

Profitability 
Retum on Sales 
Retum on Net Worth 
Retum on Assets 
Short-Term Solvency 
Current Ratio 
Quick Ratio 

The Business 

-58.31 
-268.07 
-206.71 

0.51 
0.42 

industry Median 

2.79 
0.92 
0.36 

1.2 
1.12 

Industry Quartile 

1 
1 
1 

4 
4 



Cun-ent Liabilities/Net Worth 
Cun'ent Liabilities/Inventory 
Fixed Assets/Net Worth 
Efficiency 
Asset /Sales 
Sales/Net Working Capital 
Collection Period 
Sales /Inventory 
Accounts Payable/Sales 
Utilization 
Total Liabs/Net Worth 

180.92 
-999.99 

4.83 

28.2 
-5.29 

47.94 
273.38 

8.71 

129.68 

25.77 
25.77 

8.36 

92.43 
0.82 

61.47 
22.08 
16.16 

125.99 

Request Financial Statements 

Requested financials are provided by Just Energy Income Fund and are not DUNSRIght certified. 

View Siiapshots 

View Snapshots 

This information may not be reproduced in whole or in part t>y any means of reproduction. 

2005-2010 Dun & Bradst ier t , Inc. 



Connmerce ETiergy» Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
CaseNo. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT C-8 
BANKRUPTCY INFORMATION 

Not Applicable. 



EXHIBIT C-9 
MERGER INFORMATION 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

In December, 2008, Commerce Energy, Inc. was acquired by Universal Energy Group Ltd. 
("UEG"), A notice of this acquisition was submitted to the Commission on December 18, 
2008 that explained this transaction. 

In July, 2009 Just Energy Income Fund (formerly Energy Savings Income Fund) acquired all 
outstanding common shares of UEG. A material change notice was filed on July 23, 2009 
that further explained this transaction. 

In May, 2010 the apphcant's parent company, Just Energy Income Fund, indirectly 
acquired all ofthe issued and outstanding shares of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC and 
Hudson Energy Corp. (collectively, "Hudson"). Hudson Energy Services, LLC an 
approved energy supplier and an affiliate of Hudson, is now a subsidiary of Just Energy. 
Hudson Energy Services, LLC, will continue to operate as a separate subsidiary of Just 
Energy and continue to serve its current base of customers as well as market to new 
customers. 



EXHIBIT D-1 
OPERATIONS 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

The applicant is a third party electricity and natural gas supplier that provides 
customer choice and competitive pricing of energy to retail customers. The 
operations department contracts bilaterally with other energy suppliers to serve our 
retail load and to fulfill other company requirements, such as filling storage 
facilities and balancing supply pools. The applicant utilizes these facilities and pools 
to fulfill delivery requirements to various local distribution companies and their city 
gates. Contract purchases range from daily spot structures to yearly supply 
acquisitions. 



EXHIBIT D-2 
OPERATIONS EXPERTISE 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

The applicant's operations department handles all nominations and scheduling of 
the purchases referenced in Exhibit D-1, retail load and other company 
requirements. The analysts monitor the individual markets and the marketplace 
closely. They are on call 24 hours a day io ensure that all necessary pipeline and 
utility requirements are met. The operations department is responsible for 
nominations, balancing, scheduling and purchasing requirements in-house for over 
60,000 customers in several gas markets around the country. 



EXHIBIT D-3 
KEY TECHNICAL PERSONNEL 

COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. D/B/A JUST ENERGY 

KEN HARTWICK, C.A. 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Mr. Hartwick's experience in the energy industry spans several markets having played an integral role as Commerce 
Energy's parent company's Chief Financial Officer since April 2004 and launching Just Energy's businesses in Alberta, 
British Columbia, Indiana, and Texas as well as growing the businesses already established in Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec, 
Illinois, and New York. Mr. Hartwick understands the issues facing generation businesses through his role on the Board 
ofthe Atlantic Power Corporation. He has been engaged in the energy industry with one ofthe largest distribution 
companies in North America, Hydro One Inc, gaining mcreasing executive-level responsibility throughout his career 
there, and providing strategic direction as Ontario transitions towards a competitive energy marketplace. Mr. Hartwick has 
over 13 years of strong management experience in the electric and gas energy sector, and over 20 years demonstrated 
experience in the fmancial and administration sector including profit and loss responsibilities. Please see Exhibit A-14 for 
contact information. 

GORD POTTER 
Executive Vice President Lesal and Regulatory Affairs 
With almost 10 years experience in the energy mdustry, Gord oversees legal, regulatory and government 
relations activity across all 20 markets that Just Energy operates in and this collective expenQnco informs 
credible policy-making decisions. Focused primarily on retail markets, Gord has been actively involved in the 
design & development of policy, industry rules and regulations and the underlying busiiKss and technical 
processes supporting these markets in North America. For several years, Gord has served as a member ofthe 
Alberta Department of Energy's Electric Utilities Act Advisory Committee and the Retail Market Coordinating 
Committee. He has participated in the regulatory rule development and market design for Ontario, British 
Columbia, Alberta and Texas. In Ontario, he played a role in the industry market design and Rule 
development for Ontario Electricity. He was an active contributor in the Electronic Business Transactions Rules 
development under the auspices ofthe OEB as he was a member ofthe OEB EBT Advisory Committee. 
Currently, he is the Chair ofthe Marketers and Retailers Sector Conmiittee ofthe Ontario Energy Association in 
Ontario. Preceding his experience in the deregulated energy market, Gord enjoyed 14 years in the Canadian telecom 
industry. At the time of deregulation of local telecommunications in 1997, Gord held an active leadership role in the 
development of market design, rules regulations, as the Chair of several industry working groups established under the 
auspices ofthe Federal Regulator - the C.R.T.C. Please see Exhibit A-14 for contact infonnation. 

BLAKE LASUZZO 
Vice President. Supply 
Blake Lasuzzo runs the Supply department. This department is responsible for all aspects related to procurement, 
scheduling, pricing, structuring, load forecasting, and monthly rate setting for all ofthe company's Natural Gas and 
Electricity markets. Prior to joining the company, he worked in various arenas ofthe energy business with EOTT Energy 
and Devon Energy. Lasuzzo has over 8 years combined energy operational and sales experience. Lasuzzo earned 
Bachelor of Arts degrees in both Finance and Energy Management from the University of Oklahoma. Please see Exhibit 
A-14 for contact information. 

ROBERT SCOTT GAHN 
Executive Vice President 
Scott was appointed Chief Operating Officer in July 2009. Prior to this Mr. Gahn was Chief Executive Officer and co-
founder of Just Energy Texas LP. He began his career in 1986 at the Virginia State Corporation Commission, where he 
focused on energy utilities with specific focus on the newly deregulated natural gas market. In 1992 he moved from the 
Virginia SCC to New York State Electric & Gas Corporation where he rose to the position of Manager of Rates, with 
responsibility for rate and regulatory matters, commodity risk management and policies related to deregulation and 
customer choice. In 1997, Scott joined Enron Capital & Trade Resources where he worked in various positions leading 
ultimately to Managing Director of Enron Direct, a rapidly growing business focused on selling and supplying natural gas 
and electricity to small and medium sized businesses throughout the United States. Scott has over 20 years of energy 



industry experience. He is a graduate of Virginia Tech and has a Master of Economics degree from Virginia 
Commonwealth University. Please see Exhibit A-14 for contact information. 

DEBORAH D. MERRIL, 
Vice President Marketing and Sales 
Deborah joined Just Energy Corp. in May 2007. She was a founding partner of Just Energy Texas LP where she also ran 
the sales and marketing functions. Deborah has over 13 years of experience in the retail energy industry, ranging from 
Transaction Stmcturing, Large Commercial Sales, Commodity Risk Management and Logistics. She is a graduate of The 
College of Wooster and has a Master of Business Administration from Texas A&M University. Please see Exhibit A-14 
for contact information. 

MICHAEL HAUGH 
Manager of Regulatory Affairs - U.S. Markets 
Michael Haugh has worked in the natural gas and elecfric markets for the past 15 years. During that time he has worked 
in retail and wholesale trading, sales and most recently regulatory affairs. Michael has worked for major electric and 
natural gas utilities, deregulated utility affiliates, stand alone energy marketing companies and also spent four years with 
the Ohio Consumers' Counsel. As M^iager of Regulatory Affairs, Michael is responsible for advocating for competitive 
energy markets on behalf of Just Energy in Ohio, Michigan, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts and New Jersey. He represents 
the company internally and externally across the business spectrum and keeps the company up to date on regulatory 
matters, insures compliance and identification of business risks and opportunities. 
Tel: 614-364-2232 
Email: mhaugh(fl).iustepergY.com 

JEREMY ZAROWITZ 
Senior Trader 
Jeremy Zarowitz joined the company in 2008, He originally held a position as a Gas Trader/Scheduler, managing near-
term gas operations in the California and Ohio markets. He currently holds the position of Senior Trader. He is now 
responsible for the entire long-term management ofthe company's United States natural gas positions. Previously, he held 
a gas trading position and a gas controller position at Southwest Gas Corp. He has over 6 years of energy experience. 
Zarowitz earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical and Environmental Engineering at the University of Arizona. 
Tel: 713-544-8161 
Email: izarowitzf5).iustenergY,com 


